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1. WELCOME MEMBERS OF PUBLIC 
 

2. STREAMING PREAMBLE 
As the meeting Chair, I give my consent for this Open Council Meeting to be streamed live, recorded and 
published online. Anyone who is invited to read out a question or a presentation will be recorded and their 
voice, image and comments will form part of the livestream and recording.  

The Chair and/or the CEO have the discretion and authority at any time to direct the termination or 
interruption of livestreaming. Such direction will only be given in exceptional circumstances where deemed 
relevant. Circumstances may include instances where the content of debate is considered misleading, 
defamatory or potentially inappropriate to be published. 

The stream will stop prior to the closed section of the meeting, and will recommence for the conclusion of 
the meeting.  

The public is able to view this livestream via our website at www.pyrenees.vic.gov.au. Should technical 
issues prevent the continuation of the stream, a recording will be made available on our website. 

 

3. OPENING PRAYER 
Heavenly Father, we ask you to give your blessing to this Council, direct and prosper its deliberations to the 
advancement of your glory, and the true welfare of the people of the Pyrenees Shire. 

Amen 
4. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY 
We acknowledge the people past and present of the Wadawurrung, Dja Dja Wurrung, Djab Wurrung and 
Wotjobaluk tribes, whose land forms the Pyrenees Shire. 
 

We pay our respect to the customs, traditions and stewardship of the land by the elders and people of 
these tribes, on whose land we meet today. 
 
5. APOLOGIES 
 
6. NOTICE OF DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST BY COUNCILLORS AND OFFICERS 
 
7. CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the Minutes of the: 

• Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 19 May 2020; and 

• Closed Meeting of Council held 19 May 2020   
 

as previously circulated to Councillors be confirmed as required under Section 93 (2) of the Local 
Government Act 1989. 

 
  

http://www.pyrenees.vic.gov.au/
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8. BUSINESS ARISING 
Responses to questions taken on notice at the previous ordinary Council meeting on 19 May 2020. 
 

8.1. Mr Steven Gallina 
 

Question 1:  
To supplement the vague general answer previously given to me by Council CEO Mr Jim Nolan, Will 
Council advise me and provide me with documents of what was the original design and constructed 
specifications of the Road Pavement Widths, verges/shoulders for the three Waubra Heights RLZ Roads 
(Mark St, Kimberley Dr & Wilcar Dr)? as the Document (Shire Of Lexton Partial Private Street 
Construction) I received via a FOI request details details All RLZ Road pavement widths to be 6.5m 
which is clearly not the case. 

Response: 
Mr Gowans thanked Mr Gallina for his questions. In direct response to Mr Gallina’s first question the 
seal widths for the three roads in the estate are 5.3m for Kimberley Drive, 5.4m for Mark Street and 
Wilcar Drive, having two segment lengths, are 5.6m and 5.2m respectively.  Also in relation to the first 
part of the question, the current seal widths are considered acceptable seal widths and have been 
conveyed previously.  Road construction seal widths are considered acceptable in residential streets 
and typically vary from 3.8m to 6.2m.  Also, this estate was established in about 1979 and the 
standards of the day, we can only assume, were built to the standards then.  Council’s current practice 
is that we are signed up to the Infrastructure Design Manual which would mean a similar estate would 
have seal widths of 6.2m.  However, Council isn’t in the practice of re-doing previous estate seal widths 
and considered that the seal widths are acceptable and have been that way for some 40 years.   

  
Question 2: 
Will Council make this information and these documents freely available to me without the need for 
me to resort to a formal FOI Request? 

Response: 
In relation to the second part of the question, more than happy to provide documented evidence of 
seal widths which are considered publicly available. 

 
Note: 
The document tabled at Council was sent to Mr Gallina. 
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9. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
Members of the public are encouraged to ask questions of Council at Ordinary Council Meetings.  In normal 
times, questions may be asked by members of the public in person.  However, at present community 
members are not permitted to attend Council meetings in person due the COVID-19 pandemic.   
 

Questions can be submitted online through Council’s website, by mail or hand delivered. 

It is preferred that questions be submitted at least 30 minutes prior to the commencement of the meeting.    

A person can submit a maximum of two questions on any topic and the question(s) and its response shall 
not exceed five minutes. 

Questions are read by the Chairperson during Public Participation.  
 

The Chairperson may accept or reject any question or summarise the question before putting it to the 
meeting. 

The Chairperson may disallow a question if it is: 
▪ Phrased as a statement rather than a question; 
▪ Relates to matters outside the duties, functions and powers of Council; 
▪ Is defamatory, indecent, abusive, offensive, irrelevant or objectionable in language or content; 
▪ Is a repetition of a question already asked or answered (whether at the same or an earlier meeting); 
▪ Is aimed at embarrassing a Councillor or Council officer. 

 

The Chairperson or Councillor or Council officer to whom a question is referred may: 
▪ Immediately answer the question; 
▪ Take the question on notice for the next Ordinary meeting; 
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10. ITEMS FOR NOTING 
 
ASSET AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES  

 
10.1. PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT REPORT 

Katie Gleisner – Manager Planning and Development 
 Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
 File No:  66/02/02 – 08/02/02 – 50/24/02 – 46/02/02 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update on activities within Planning, Development 
and Regulatory Services, during May 2020.  

 
This report includes four parts: 

• Part A: Planning 

• Part B: Building  

• Part C: Environmental Health 

• Part D: Community Safety and Amenities 
 

PART A: PLANNING 
The planning activity statistics for April and May 2020 are summarised in the table below:- 

 

Activity 
April 2020 May 2020 Financial 

Year to date 

Applications received 10 4 73 
Applications completed 8 7 86 
Number of referrals 3 2 28 

Requests for further information 3 6 49 
Estimated cost of works $719,438 344,000 $9.5 million 

 
 

General Enquiries  

Enquiry Type April 2020 May 2020 Financial Year  
to date 

Pre-purchase enquiry 36 38 414 

Pre-application enquiry 41 53 661 

Existing permit enquiry 15 12 216 

Current application enquiry 17 23 305 

All other enquiries 12 24 297 

Total Enquiries 121 150 1893 

 
STATUTORY PLANNING 
The statutory planning department continues to observe a steady increase in the number of general 
enquiries being made in relation to prospective property purchases and pre-permit applications. During 
May officers received the highest number of phone calls per day since December 2019.  
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Despite the COVID-19 pandemic and its associated economic impacts, officers continue to observe steady 
growth within the shire with 30 planning permit applications currently active. There has however been a 
small number of time extensions sought, particularly in instances where applicants are seeking information 
and services from technical specialists. 
  
STRATEGIC PLANNING 
Planning Scheme Amendment C47: Lexton, Snake Valley and Waubra Framework Plans 
The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning has provided advice regarding the draft 
Planning Scheme amendment for C47.  Officers expect to formally commence the amendment process in 
the coming months however this timeline will be subject to COVID-19 restrictions and our ability to 
undertake meaningful engagement with communities. 
 
Avoca Streetscape Plan Project 
Officers continue to respond to enquiries from the community regarding proposed tree and outstand 
locations within High Street, Avoca. Following efforts to locate underground service infrastructure, 
Regional Roads Victoria have been consulted to provide advice on their requirements around outstands, 
trees, safer crossing points and pedestrian crossings. 
 
PART B: BUILDING 
Activity 
The building activity statistics as at 31/05/2020 are summarised in the table below:  

 

CATEGORY APRIL 
2020 

MAY 
2020 

COMMENT 
 

Permits issued by private Building Surveyor 12 1  

‘Property Information Certificates’ prepared and 
issued 

9 17  

‘Report and Consent’ issued 0 0  

Building Notices 
Building Order 
Resolved Building Notices 
Resolved Building Orders 
Direction to Fix Building Work 

0 
0 
1 
3 
0 

0 
0 
1 
0 
0 

 

Building permit inspections undertaken 1   

Council issued permits finalised 2  ** Council has not 
issued building permits 
since June 2018. 

 
KEY PROJECTS & COMPLIANCE 
 
Swimming Pool Registrations 
In a response to the pressures Victorians are experiencing during the COVID-19 pandemic, the Victorian 
Government has determined to extend the date by which pool and spa owners are required to have their 
assets registered with Council. Private pool and spa owners now have until 1 November 2020 to register 
their pools with their local council – an extension of five months from the original 1 June deadline 
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Council plan / legislative requirements 
- Council Plan 2013-2017  
- Building Act 1993 
- Building Regulations 2018 

 
Financial / risk implications 
The Municipal Building Surveyor must have regard to any relevant guidelines under the Building Act 1993 
or subordinate regulations. The building services department must ensure that a responsive service is 
provided that meets the demand of the building industry within the municipality. 

 
PART C: ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
 

Activity: Wastewater 
 

Period 

Applications to 
Install or Alter 
Septic Tanks 

Received 

Permits to 
Install or 

Alter Issued 

Approval 
to Use 
Issued 

Fees Paid 

1st – 31st May 2020 0 1 1 $195 
Wastewater activity statistics for May 2020 

 

 
 Monthly wastewater activity (May 2020)  
 

Wastewater related tasks for May 2020 

Septic Tank Inspections 1 

Domestic Wastewater Management Plan Inspections 28 

Domestic Waste Water Service Agent Reports 18 
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Activity: Food, Health & Accommodation Premises 
Food Act 1984 and Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 Premises activity   

  

Period 

New  
Premises, 
Transfers 

and 
Renewals 

Routine 
Inspection, 

Assessments 
and Follow 

Ups 

Complaints 
Received 

about 
Registered 
Premises 

Food 
Recalls 

Fees Paid 

1st – 31st May 2020 2 15 1 7 $349.50 

  
Mobile and Temporary Food Premises in the Shire (Streatrader) 
Due to the continued cancellation of events and markets across the Shire, Streatrader activity has been 
minimal during May.    

 
Activity: immunisations 
Immunisation sessions in Beaufort and Avoca are not being conducted due to COVID-19 however individual 
appointments continue to be arranged through Council’s Maternal Child Health nurse.     

  

    Session Type 
Number of Clients & 

Vaccines 
2 Month -  4+ 

Yr Old 
Secondary 

School 
Adult 

May 2020 
Clients 31 0 4 

Vaccines 65 0 4 
   Immunisation activity statistics for May 2020 

 
Key Projects 
Council has contacted all registered food, health and accommodation premises to provide advice to assist 
businesses opening back up with the easing of COVID-19 restrictions.   
 
A total of 14 businesses have applied to receive a 25% pro-rata refund of their annual registration fee.  
 
Domestic Wastewater Management Plan (DWMP) inspections will be focusing on areas in the potable 
catchment areas of Lexton and Waubra during June and July.   

 
Council plan / legislative requirements 

- Council Plan 2017-2021 
- Domestic Wastewater Management Plan 2015-2018 
- Food Act 1984 
- Public Health & Wellbeing Act 2008 
- Public Health & Wellbeing Regulations 2019 
- Residential Tenancies (Caravan Parks and Movable Dwellings Registration and Standards) 

Regulations 2010 
- Tobacco Act 1987 
- Environment Protection Act 1970 
- EPA Code of practice – onsite wastewater management 

 
Financial / risk implications 
The Environmental Health Officer (EHO) must work with regard to various legislative requirements with 
respect to Food Safety (Food Act 1984), Public Health (Public Health & Wellbeing Act 2008, Environment 
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Protection Act 1970), Tobacco (Tobacco Act 1987) and Wastewater (Environment Protection Act 1970, 
Domestic Wastewater Management Plan, Code of Practice for Septic Tanks).    
 
It is necessary for the EHO to adapt to any changes in regulations whilst still providing a service that meets 
the demands of residents within the municipality and complies with legislation.     

 
PART D: LOCAL LAWS AND ANIMAL CONTROL 
 
ACTIVITY - Animals 

 April 2020 May 2020 Total Year to date 

Cats Registered 448 513  

Dogs registered 1783 2083  

Cats impounded 2 6 89 

Cats reclaimed 0 1 8 

Cats Euthanised 2 2 72 

Dogs impounded 3 0 35 

Dogs Reclaimed 3 0 24 

Dogs Euthanised/surrendered 0 0 4 

Stock impounded 2 0 126 
Registration and impoundment statistics 

 
ACTIVITY - Infringements 

Infringement Type April 2020 May 2020 Total YTD (2019/20) 

Domestic Animals Act 1 2 70 

Local Laws 1 0 17 

Road Safety Act 0 2 061 

Environment Protection Act 0 0 0 

Impounding of Livestock Act 0 0 0 

Other 3 65 68 

Total Infringements Issues 5 5 147 

Prosecutions 0 0 8 
Infringement statistics 

 
Pet registrations were due in April with renewal notices being sent to pet owners in late February. It has 
been pleasing to see an improved rate of renewal this year and pet owners should be congratulated. 
Officers will continue to undertake property inspections to confirm further pet ownership. 
 
Two heeler type dogs attacked and mauled approx. 20 ewes in lamb on a property near Avoca. Both dogs 
were destroyed by the farmer. The dog’s owner has been investigated and a brief of evidence is being 
prepared. 
 
A Great Dane type dog attacked a sheep at a property in Main Lead. The owner had the dog euthanized at 
the local vet and was issued a fine and ordered to pay costs to the sheep owner. 
 
A number of properties have received notices to formalise the use of shipping containers on their land 
after a complaint was received from a member of the public. 
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Council plan / legislative requirements 

• Council Plan 2017-2021 

• Domestic Animals Act 1994 

• Domestic Animal Management Plan 2017-2021 

• Environment Protection Act 1970 

• Infringements Act 2006 

• Impounding of Livestock Act 1994 

• Road Safety Act 1986 / Road Safety Road Rules 2017 

• Council General Local Law 2019 
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CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES  
  
10.2. CUSTOMER ACTION REQUESTS (CARS) – MAY 2020 

Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 16/08/04 

 
 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to update Council on requests made through the Customer Action Request 
System (CARS) for the month of May 2020. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Council has operated an electronic Customer Action Request System (CARS) for a number of years enabling 
residents to lodge service requests.  Requests can be lodged in person, via telephone, via Council’s website 
or by using a smart phone “Snap Send Solve” application. 
 

Service requests are received for operational issues regarding maintenance, pools, local laws, building 
maintenance and compliance matters.  The system is also used for internal telephone messaging and case 
management of some matters (primarily local laws, dogs and cats). 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
229 customer action requests were received in May 2020.  218 requests were closed during the month 
resulting in 255 outstanding.   
 
Requests by Ward: 
The following table shows an overview of requests received and outstanding by Ward.  Requests received 
over and above these numbers relate to telephone messages which are not allocated by Ward.   

 

 
Avoca 

Ward 

Beaufort 

Ward 

De 

Cameron 

Ward 

Ercildoune 

Ward 

Mount 

Emu Ward 

Number of Requests received in May 2020 (last 

month) 
16 (20) 25 (25) 10 (12) 18 (18) 29 (21) 

Requests received in May still outstanding 6 12 4 7 15 

Outstanding requests older than 1 month 30 23 19 19 7 

Total outstanding requests  44 43 26 31 26 
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Outstanding requests by age

Year Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 % Change

2016 -      -      -           -            -        -        4            4          -             -      -           -          

2017 2          2          2               2                2            1            5            5          2                 2          1               1              0%

2018 15        16        14             13             13          6            5            5          5                 5          4               4              0%

2019 186      236      188           205           222       177       157       107      80              75        57             50            -14%

2020 -      -      -           -            -        -        -        89        134            153      130           174          25%

Total outstanding 203     254     204          220          237       184       171       210     221           235     192          229         16%

Total requests logged 182 258 214 211 219 235 210 263 276 195 227           255          11%
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COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 1 - Roads and Townships. We will plan, manage, maintain and renew infrastructure in a 
sustainable way that responds to the needs of the community. 
 

1.1 - Ensure local roads are maintained and renewed in line with adopted plans and strategy to provide a 
safe transport network and meet community needs. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The Customer Action Request System remains an integral part of Council’s reactive identification of issues 
that need attention, as well as case management of more complex matters.  Ongoing focus and effort 
continues with regard to resolution of customer requests in a timely and effective manner. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council notes the above report. 
 

 

Apr May Change

44 52 8

0 0 0

26 27 1

6 5 -1

9 7 -2

27 24 -3

0 0 0

0 0 0

12 11 -1

19 25 6

Cats 1 3 2

14 16 2

1 1 0

0 0 0

1 2 1

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

1 1 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

Telephone messages 31 55 24

192 229 37Total

Pools

Dogs

Livestock Act

Parking

Council cleaning

Design & Assets

GIS

Community Care

Roads & Rd Maint.

Streetlights

Drainage

31 May 2020 - Open Requests - Type

Footpaths

Local Laws

Fire Hazard

Bld Compliance

EPA - Litter

Waste Management

Natural Disasters

Roadside Veg

Environmental Health

Planning

Bld maint

Park & Reserves

Note: 
• The item ‘Roads’ now represents 

an amalgamation of Roads, Road 
Maintenance, Roads Unsealed 
and Road Maintenance Unsealed. 
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10.3. INTERNAL AUDIT OUTSTANDING ISSUES UPDATE 

Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services 
 Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
 File No: 16/30/06 
  
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council will an update on outstanding recommendations from 
internal audit reports. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Council has a three-year internal audit program provided by AFS & Associates.  The current program ends 
on 30th June 2020 and a new program is being developed in collaboration with the senior leadership team 
and the AFS team members. 
 

The Outstanding Issues Register details recommendations made through the internal audit program.  
Monitoring of completions is undertaken twice per year by Council’s internal auditors with reports made to 
the Audit & Risk Committee to authorise completed items’ removal from the register. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
There are currently 52 outstanding issues on the register, relating to nine separate audits, spanning from 
2017 to 2020.  Ageing of outstanding issues is detailed below: 
 

 Outstanding Recommended for Completion 

2017 4 2 

2018 19 7 

2019 22 2 

2020 7 - 
 

Progress notes are included against individual items in the attached register.  The remaining two issues 
outstanding against 2017 audits relate to: 
 

• IA2017-11 Asset inspection regimes and maintenance / response time recording and 
documentation.  The requirements of this recommendation cannot be achieved with current 
manual processes. 
Mobile technology is planned as part of the Rural Councils Transformation Project but is not part of 
the first tranche of implementation.  A request was made to internal auditors for this to be 
removed but they advised leaving in place until resourcing and technology enabled it to be 
completed. 
The current inability to complete this recommendation was reported to Council in 2019. 

• IA2017-07 Review the ability that allows some ratepayers to opt out of using Council’s kerbside 
waste collection service due to public equity issues.  This will be included within the planned review 
of Council’s waste management strategy. 
This review was delayed through the 2019 recycling crisis. 

 

A review of the register was conducted in February 2020 with three issues confirmed as complete by the 
Audit & Risk Committee in May 2020.   
 

Of the remaining 41 outstanding issues not yet recommended for completion: 
 

• 1 relates to an opportunity, not risk – completion of this is not monitored by auditors 

• 18 relate to audit recommendations made within the last six months 
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• 22 relate to risk recommendations older than six months old 

• They are rated at the following risk / priority level: 
o 1 x High 
o 22 x Moderate 
o 17 x Minor 

• 13 are in progress and likely to be ready for completion by September 2020 Audit & Risk Committee 
meeting. 

 

It is acknowledged that completion of recommendations has been slow in the past due to a lack of 
prominence of the register items.  To improve visibility and completion rates, all outstanding issues will be 
included within individual work plans as part of the 2020 annual review process.   
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 4 - Financially Sustainable, High-performing Organisation. Our organisation will respond 
to community needs, attend to our core business, and strive for excellence in service delivery in an ethical 
and financially responsible manner. 
 

4.2 - Promote learning and growth that will facilitate change, continuous improvement, innovation and 
efficiency. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
10.3.1 - Outstanding Issues Register – June 2020 (circulated separately) 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Financial, operational and governance risks exist if internal audit recommendations are not implemented. 
 
CONCLUSION 
A three-year rolling internal audit program is in place and recommendations arising from internal audits are 
recorded in an Outstanding Issues Register.  Regular monitoring and reporting of completions is 
undertaken. Improvement of completion rates in 2020/21 will be achieved by including outstanding issues 
in individual officer work plans as part of the annual review process. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

It is recommended that Council notes the information provided in this report and supporting 
attachment. 
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10.4. MAV WORKCARE MEMBER REPORT 

Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services 
 Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
 File No: 32/12/18 
 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is provide Councillors with the February 2020 MAV WorkCare Member 
Performance Report for noting. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Council entered a self-funded workers compensation scheme in October 2017.  The scheme has 31 
member councils and is led by the Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV).  The MAV acts on behalf of 
WorkSafe Victoria in monitoring member council injury claims performance and on behalf of member 
councils in providing support in determining and implementing strategies for injury prevention and 
employee safety. 
 

The report provides information on claims and premium and details premium for the 2020/2021 financial 
year. 
 

Council officers met with the MAV to discuss the report and the actions undertaken to address the issues 
highlighted in previous years. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Attached is a report provided by the MAV on Council’s workers compensation claim performance.  The 
information contained within the report is used to calculate workers compensation insurance premium 
payable for the 2020/21 financial year.   
 

Premium 
Information relating to Premium starts on page 24 of the attached report.  Premium is calculated using 
Council’s certified remuneration for the forthcoming year ($8.9m for 2020/21) and the Premium Rate 
(historical premium rates that would have been required to cover under-excess claims). 
 

The Premium payable for 2020/21 is $143,000.  This is an increase from $98,000 in the current financial 
year primarily due to the increase in workforce levels planned. 
 

At the meeting, Council officers questioned the large increase when strong and successful efforts had been 
input to reverse injury claims levels.  As the premium payable each year is based on historical claims 
performance for the previous three years (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) and the claims costs that can 
continue for years following, there is a lag in positive trends impacting upon the Premium amount.  The 
graph below shows the decrease in claim numbers that should have a positive impact in future years. 
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Other factors that should impact positively in future years includes a reduction in claims frequency from 
2018 to 2020; plus the effort being input into proactive management of staff mental health and wellbeing 
and early intervention with potential issues that should reduce the number of related claims.  Over the 
past three years, mental stress has been a leading cause of injury in our workplace, representing four 
claims out of a total of 14; providing clear justification for the increase in effort and resourcing in this area. 
 
Claims and injury performance 
Claim numbers are small in our workplace but, because of low workforce numbers, the percentage of 
claims per 100 FTE (full time equivalent) have been high compared to the scheme average (average of all 
31 member councils).  The graph below shows that proactive work to reduce injuries and claims is having a 
positive effect on numbers with Council’s claims percentage reducing to below the scheme average in 
2018/19. 
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Information in the first part of the report shows a combination of injury type, location, and occupation of 
injured employees, that allows Council to identify where specific injury prevention strategies need to be 
targeted for maximum affect.   
 

At present, five claims remain open. 
 

 
 
Rectification strategies 
The report provides guidance on identifying trends and understanding contributing factors that will assist 
in continuing proactive actions to prevent future injuries, which are already showing a positive downward 
trend in the past two financial years. 
 

An OHS analysis of injuries and causes is demonstrated by the chart below. 
 

 
 
With MAV support, much effort has been input into improving injury prevention processes, risk 
assessments and training for staff – particularly in jobs where physical activity creates higher risk of 
musculoskeletal injuries.  Annual health checks also monitor potential injuries relating to noise and sun skin 
damage. 
 

The biggest challenge for injury prevention is that of mental health and wellbeing, which has only been 
exacerbated by the current COVID-19 working environment.  2017 was an outstanding year for mental 
health claims caused by factors now resolved within the organisation; however mental stress, workload 
pressures and escalation of minor workplace conflicts continue to be an issue. 
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A mental health steering group has been convened, that includes executive team members, to develop 
strategies to address these issues.  To support the steering group, provide operational advice and feedback 
and implement strategies, a mental health working group has also been created representing all parts of 
the organisation.  Recommendations for OHS improvement within the attached report have been taken on 
board by the steering group and will be translated into action. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 4 - Financially Sustainable, High-performing Organisation. Our organisation will respond 
to community needs, attend to our core business, and strive for excellence in service delivery in an ethical 
and financially responsible manner. 
 

4.3 - Provide a safe working environment through the provision of an integrated risk and OH&S 
management system. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
10.4.1 - MAV WorkCare Member Performance Report (circulated separately)  
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Proactive addressing of OHS issues results in a lessening of financial risk and downward pressure on 
WorkCare Premiums and an improved safety outcome for staff injuries.   
 
CONCLUSION 
The MAV WorkCare team provided a report on member injury claims performance as part of 2020/21 
WorkCare Premium discussions.  Council officers met with the MAV team to discuss past performance, 
current positive trends, and improvement strategies for the future.   Recommendations made in the report 
and ongoing support provided by the MAV team, are being utilised to improve injury prevention and 
continue the current downward trend is claims. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

It is recommended that Council notes the information contained within the attached MAV WorkCare 
Member Performance Report. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
10.5. PROJECTS REPORT 

Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
 Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
 File No: 22/22/02 
 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update of the progress of projects funded to $50k 
or more in the current year. 
 
BACKGROUND 
At the 12 November 2019 Ordinary Council Meeting it was resolved that a quarterly report be presented to 
Council for the progress of projects funded to $50K or more in the current year and the next year on a 
rolling basis. The report to show the start date, end date and any change in project details from the last 
report. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
The report details the project name, location, total project cost and the status of the project. This report 
will be presented to Council on a quarterly basis. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 1 - Roads and Townships. We will plan, manage, maintain and renew infrastructure in a 
sustainable way that responds to the needs of the community. 
 

1.4 - Maintain, develop and renew the public amenity of our townships in consultation with our 
communities. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
10.5.1 – Projects Spreadsheet (circulated separately) 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council notes the Projects Report. 
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10.6. RECONCILIATION ACTION PLAN – INCLUSION OF WOTJOBALUK 
Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 16/20/06 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is note the inclusion of Wotjobaluk in Council publications and 
acknowledgements to country. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In February 2019, Council adopted the Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP).  Pyrenees Shire Council was 
required to develop a RAP as per the Recognition and Settlement Agreement between the Dja Dja Wurrung 
People and the State of Victoria (RSA). 
 

The initial RAP (Reflect) is a 12 month action plan that requires the formation of a working group 
(consisting of Traditional Owners, community members and other relevant parties) to implement a number 
of specific actions that focuses on the three pillars of ‘Relationships’, ‘Respect’ and ‘Opportunities.’ The 
action plan commenced from when the RAP was endorsed by Reconciliation Australia. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
The region of Pyrenees falls within the boundaries of four Aboriginal Traditional Custodians including the 
Wadawurrung (towards the South and East of the Shire), Dja Dja Wurrung (towards the Northeast of the 
Shire), Djab Wurrung (towards the Northwest of the Shire) and Wotjobaluk (in a Northwest corner).  A 
further Native Title Claim by the Eastern Maar is currently being reviewed. 

An action in the RAP is to ‘Ensure Acknowledgement of Traditional Owners on Council’s website, Council 
email signatures and public documents (e.g. Community Newsletter and Annual Report)’ which is being 
undertaken.  Council is undertaking an investigation in the RAP on how Traditional Owners are best wish to 
be acknowledged.  As a first step in order to pay respect to all of the Traditional Owners whose land forms 
part of the Pyrenees local government area, Wotjobaluk is now included in all relevant documents and 
publications including Council’s website, when undertaking an acknowledgement to country.   
 

A further report will be presented to Council once a final agreement with Traditional Owner groups has 
been undertaken. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 2 - Relationships and Advocacy. We will build and maintain effective relationships with 
community, government and strategic partners, and advocate on key issues. 
 

2.3 - Maintain strategic partnerships, and participate with peak bodies for support and to enhance 
advocacy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Nil 
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CONCLUSION 
Council has sought to develop and foster strategic partnerships by actively engaging with Traditional Owner 
groups to increase awareness of cultural heritage matters. An outcome from that initiative has been the 
development of this RAP. The RAP is evidence of Council’s commitment to build internal and external 
relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, communities and organisations in 
connection with our reconciliation journey by raising awareness and undertaking actions detailed in the 
RAP. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council note the inclusion of Wotjobaluk in Council publications and acknowledgements to country. 
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11. COUNCILLOR ACTIVITY REPORTS 
 

Cr Tanya Kehoe – Mount Emu Ward 

May 

Mon 02 CEO / Mayor Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 03 Meeting with Cr Own Sharkey Beaufort 

Mon 09 CEO / Mayor Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 10 Councillor Cuppa  Stoneleigh 

Tue 10 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Tue 17 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Mon 16 CEO / Mayor Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 17 Council Meeting Beaufort 

Fri 20 Interviews – The Advocate and Businesses Beaufort 

Mon 30 CEO / Mayor Meeting Phone 

Tue 31 Councillor Briefing Session Virtual 
 

Cr David Clark – Ercildoune Ward 

May 

Wed 04 Farmer Health Programs, Lexton Fire Recovery Beaufort 

Tue 10 Councillor Cuppa  Stoneleigh 

Tue 10 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Tue 17 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Tue 17 Council Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 31 Councillor Briefing Session Virtual 
 

Cr Robert Vance – De Cameron ward 

May 

Tue 10 Councillor Cuppa  Stoneleigh 

Tue 10 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Fri 13 MAV Meeting Melbourne 

Tue 17 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Tue 17 Council Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 31 Councillor Briefing Session Virtual 
 

Cr Ron Eason – Avoca Ward 

May 

Tue 10 Councillor Cuppa  Stoneleigh 

Tue 10 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Thu 12 Activate Avoca Project Meeting Avoca 

Tue 17 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Tue 17 Council Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 31 Councillor Briefing Session Virtual 
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Cr Damian Ferrari – Beaufort Ward 

May 

Tue 10 Councillor Cuppa  Stoneleigh 

Tue 10 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Tue 17 Councillor Briefing Session Beaufort 

Tue 17 Council Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 31 Councillor Briefing Session Virtual 
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12. ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS 
 

MEETING INFORMATION 

Meeting Name Councillor Briefing Session 

Meeting Date 12 May 2020 commenced at 2.00pm and closed at 5.30pm 

Meeting Location Via Zoom 
 

Matters Discussed 1. Western Victoria Transmission Network Project 
2. Stockyard Hill Wind Farm Update 
3. VRC – Property Revaluations 2020 
4. Planning Update 
5. Finance Report 
6. Conduct of Council Meetings by Electronic Means 
7. Avoca Railway Land 
8. Agenda Review (May Council Meeting) 

ATTENDEES 

Councillors Mayor Cr Tanya Kehoe Cr Damian Ferrari 

Cr Ron Eason  Cr David Clark  

Cr Robert Vance  

Apologies Nil 

Staff Jim Nolan (Chief Executive Officer) 
Douglas Gowans (Director Assets and Development Services) 
Kathy Bramwell (Director Corporate and Community Services) 
Katie Gleisner (Manager Planning and Development) – Item 4 
James Hogan (Manager Finance) – Item 5 
Kate Deppeler (Communications Officer) – Item 6 
 

Visitors Danielle Rant, David Grant, Ashley Clifton, Tara Horsnell, Deb Neumann, Niamh 

Moynihan, Paul Ower – Item 1  

Ian Courtney – Item 2 

Chris Barrett – Item 3 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES 

Matter No: Councillor making 
disclosure 

Particulars of disclosure Councillor left 
meeting 

1 Cr David Clark Cr Clark is a landholder impacted by the 
project 

No 

2 Cr David Clark UMEC Landcare Network has been engaged by 
Goldwind to assist with the implementation of 
landholder screening and planting works 

No 
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MEETING INFORMATION 

Meeting Name Councillor Briefing Session 

Meeting Date 19 May commenced at 2.00pm and closed at 4.00pm 

Meeting Location Via Zoom 
 

Matters Discussed 1. Grampians Renewable Energy Roadmap 
2. Working for Victoria Program 
3. Old Beaufort Primary School Site Update 
4. Beaufort Mechanics Institute Update 
5. Agenda Review (May Council Meeting) 

ATTENDEES 

Councillors Mayor Cr Tanya Kehoe Cr Damian Ferrari 

Cr Ron Eason  Cr David Clark  

Cr Robert Vance  

Apologies Nil 

Staff Jim Nolan (Chief Executive Officer) 
Douglas Gowans (Director Asset and Development Services) 
Kathy Bramwell (Director Corporate and Community Services) 
 

Visitors Emma Vogel – Item 1 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES 

Matter No: Councillor making 
disclosure 

Particulars of disclosure Councillor left 
meeting 

Nil    

 

 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That the items for noting be received. 
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13. ITEMS FOR DECISION 
 
ASSET AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES - PLANNING 
 

13.1 PLANNING PERMIT APPLICATION PA2946/20 

Katie Gleisner – Manager Planning and Development 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 604046220 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information on the state and local planning policy that 
is relevant to making a determination on Planning Permit Application PA2946/20 for the Development of a 
single dwelling at Lot 2 on Plan of Subdivision 814588X (Vol: 11975, Fol: 102), Golf Course Lane, Beaufort 
3373.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The planning permit application seeks planning permission for the development of a single dwelling. The 
proposed dwelling is sited 18.3m from the north-western title boundary, 95m from the north-eastern 
boundary and 140m from the southern boundary. The dwelling contains a master bedroom with ensuite 
and walk-in robe, bathroom, laundry, guest bedroom, sitting room, dining, lounge and kitchen areas, 
attached two car carport and shed/garage. The total floor area of the dwelling is 206 square metres which 
includes the deck.  The outbuildings total 110 square metres. 
 

The lot is zoned for Rural Living with no overlays.  
 

A permit is required under: 

• Clause 35.03 – Rural Living Zone 
o Clause 35.03-4 – A permit is required to construct a building which is within: 

▪ 100m from a waterway, wetlands or designated flood plain, and; 
▪ The distance from a dwelling not in the same ownership specified in the schedule to 

the zone (Schedule 1 to the Rural Living Zone specifies 100m).  
 
The application is supported by a Land Capability Assessment prepared by Provincial Geotechnical Pty Ltd.  
 
SITE CONTEXT 
Location: Lot 2 on Plan of Subdivision 814588X (Vol: 11975, Fol: 102), Golf Course Lane, Beaufort 3373 
Area: 2.783 hectares 
Zone: Rural Living Zone (“RLZ”) 
Overlays: N/A 
Current use: Vacant 
Existing structures/features: Constructed gravel driveway  
Access: Via Golf Course Lane which abuts the site on the north-eastern title boundary. 
Other: The site is fenced and contains some scattered vegetation including newly planted landscaping on 
north-western boundary. The site slopes down towards the south-eastern boundary. The site slopes at an 
approximate gradient of 1:11.    
 
Surrounding context 
All surrounding lots are zoned Rural Living, with the exception of the Beaufort Golf, Bowls and Croquet Club 
located to the northeast which is zoned for Special Use – Schedule 1 (Private Golf Club (Beaufort)). A 
description of the surrounding locality is provided below: 
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To the northwest is 43 Golf Course Lane, which contains a single dwelling (double storey) and a number of 
outbuildings. The dwelling is setback approximately 70m from the shared title boundary. 
 

To the southeast is 60 Stockyard Hill Road, which contains an existing single dwelling (single storey) and 
outbuilding sited approximately 30m from the shared title boundary. The lot contains a large dam.  
 

To the northeast is Golf Course Lane which abuts the site, and beyond is the Beaufort Golf, Bowls and 
Croquet Club. The golf course is screened by vegetation, particularly within the road reserve of Golf Course 
Lane. The proposed dwelling is setback approximately 95m from Golf Course Lane.   
 

To the south is 86 Stockyard Hill Road, which contains a single dwelling and a number of outbuildings. The 
lot is subject to a current planning permit which permits a three (3) lot subdivision (as shown by the 
hatched area on the map below) for rural residential development. The land further south of Stockyard Hill 
is also subject to a current planning permit for a six (6) lot subdivision (as shown by the hatched area on 
the map below). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2: Site in Local context (subject site in red) (Vicplan, DELWP).  

Figure 1: The subject site in red (Vicplan, DELWP). 
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REFERRALS AND NOTICE 
Under Section 52 of the Planning & Environment Act 1987 (The Act), notice was sent to eight (8) adjoining 
landowners and occupiers directly abutting the site in accordance with the scheme. Two submissions were 
received which are summarised within this report. Public notice was also provided through Council’s 
website. 
 

The application was subject to an internal referral to Council’s Environmental Health Department, who do 
not oppose the proposed development subject to a range of conditions relating to the treatment of 
wastewater.  
 

There were no required Section 55 referrals under the Act.  
 

Submissions 
Two submissions were received in relation to the application during the notice period. The grounds of the 
submission have been summarised below: 
 

Objection 1 
1.1 Excess height of the building as we believe it will greatly affect the views from our property as 

well as the views from our next-door neighbours property also. 
1.2 Concerns relating to two storeys.  
1.3 Style and design of the home is ultra-modern and does not blend with the environment. 

 
Objection 2 

2.1 Virtually obliterate my view which is paramount to the virtues of my property. 
2.2 Will incur substantial devaluation of my property. 
2.3 As my recent purchase of my property was made on the attributes of the property in its present 

environment, and no mention had been made of any such approval consideration made I consider 
both unfair and unreasonable that approval for such a building in its present format should 
proceed. 
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In response to the above objections, the assessing officer provides the following advice: 
 

1.1 Excess height of the building as we believe it will greatly affect the views from our property as well 
as the views from our next-door neighbours property also. 

 

The subject site slopes down towards the south-eastern corner of the site (see image below). The proposed 
dwelling is sited approximately 91m and 130m from the neighbouring dwellings to the north-west. Given 
an approximate slope gradient of 1:11 (gathered from the plans provided), the proposed dwelling is not 
anticipated to be a prominent feature on the horizon nor impact significantly on the outlook of the existing 
dwellings at 43 Golf Course Lane or 51 Golf Course Lane.  
 

Additionally, as found in the VCAT cases, Tashounidis v Shire of Flinders & Others [1 AATR 116](1987), and 
more recently, J Healy & Other v Surf Coast SC (13 May 2005), objections stating ‘loss of views’ cannot be 
considered as there are “no legal right[s] to a view” and that “the availability of views must be considered 
in the light of what constitutes a reasonable sharing of these views” (Senior Member Marsden).  
 

The Responsible Authority must therefore deliberate the loss of a view in respect to overall amenity to 
surrounding sites as the Scheme does not specifically address views nor the amenity derived from the 
views for property owners. In this case, the proposed dwelling at its tallest point on the slope is 
approximately 5.65m above Natural Ground Level (NGL), whilst the highest point at the most southern and 
downslope point of the building envelope is 7.185m. The assessing officer is satisfied that the dwelling will 
not cause inappropriate or unreasonable adverse impacts on the vistas and “view” of the existing dwellings 
and that the loss of view to the existing dwellings is not significant when balanced with the purpose of the 
zone.  
 

 
 

 
1.2 Concerns relating to two storeys. 

 

The proposed dwelling is a single storey building (with roof space created by the roof structure) (See floor 
plan, TP04 Revision B 03/03/2020, Talina Edwards Architecture). It is on this basis that the objection 
relating to the number of building stories is invalid. 
 

1.3 Style and design of the home is ultra-modern and does not blend with the environment. 
 

The application is supported by a Schedule of proposed colours/materials (See materials schedule, TP09 
Revision B 03/03/2020, Talina Edwards Architecture). The proposed materials and colours include: 

Figure 3: Contours (ten metre contour) shown in site context (subject site in red). (Vicplan, DELWP) 
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a. Recycled brick (varied red) 
b. Cement sheeting (black) 
c. Corrugated steel (grey) 
d. Timber cladding (natural) 
e. Timber decking (natural) 
f. Concrete (natural) 
g. Corten steel (rust) 
h. uPVC framed windows and doors (black). 

 

The assessing officer has considered the colour and material schedule in relation to the grounds of the 
proposed development being “ultra-modern and does not blend with the environment”. It is considered 
that the selection of colours and materials are sympathetic to the rural environment, with the colour 
palette taking cues from the surrounding and rural area (natural timbers, red brick, rusted corten steel, 
corrugated steel). The style and design, whilst different to that of surrounding properties, is respectful in its 
bulk and form by not being of an inappropriate size or by dominating the skyline. Further, the site is not 
subject to any Heritage and Built form Overlays (Clause 43) or stipulated design requirements in the 
schedule to the zone which specifies the colours, materials, bulk, design and sitting of the development.  
 

2.1 Virtually obliterate my view which is paramount to the virtues of my property 
 

As per response provided to point 1. 
 

2.2 Will incur substantial devaluation of my property. 
 

In accordance with Section 57 (Objections to applications for permits) of the Planning and Environment Act 
1987, the Responsible Authority (Pyrenees Shire Council) may reject an “objection which it considers has 
been made primarily to secure or maintain a direct or indirect commercial advantage for the objector”. In 
this case, Council cannot consider “property devaluation” in the assessment of this application. 
 

2.3 As my recent purchase of my property was made on the attributes of the property in its present 
environment, and no mention had been made of any such approval consideration made I consider 
both unfair and unreasonable that approval for such a building in its present format should 
proceed. 

 

The site is zoned for Rural Living which “provides for residential use in a rural environment”. The assessing 
officer does not support claims that this application is “unfair and unreasonable”, particularly when the 
underlying zone permits the proposed use. Council, in its role of the Responsible Authority for this 
application has undertaken all necessary processes as required by the Planning and Environment Act 1987 
and Pyrenees Planning Scheme in considering the application.  
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Planning considerations 
Under Section 60 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, the below planning matters must be taken into consideration by Council when assessing the 
application.  
 

Table 1: Relevant State Planning Policy Framework which must be considered in the context of this application 

STATE PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 

Settlement (Clause 11) 
Anticipate and respond to the needs of existing and future communities through provision of zoned and serviced land for housing, employment, recreation 
and open space, commercial and community facilities and infrastructure. 

Clause 11.02-1S – Supply of 
urban land 

Objectives 
To ensure a sufficient supply of land is available for residential, commercial, retail, industrial, recreational, institutional and 
other community uses. 
Relevant Strategies 

• Ensure the ongoing provision of land and supporting infrastructure to support sustainable urban development. 

• Planning for urban growth should consider:  

• Opportunities for the consolidation, redevelopment and intensification of existing urban areas. 
Neighbourhood character and landscape considerations. 

Clause 11.03-6S – Regional 
and local places 

Objectives 
To facilitate integrated place-based planning.  
Relevant Strategies 

• Integrate relevant planning considerations to provide specific direction for the planning of sites, places, 
neighbourhoods and towns.  

• Consider the distinctive characteristics and needs of regional and local places in planning for future land use and 
development. 

Environmental and Landscape Values (Clause 12) 
Protect, restore and enhance sites and features of nature conservation, biodiversity, geological or landscape value. 

Clause 12.03-1S River 
corridors, waterways, lakes 
and wetlands 

Objective 
To protect and enhance river corridors, waterways, lakes and wetland 
Relevant Strategies 

• Ensure development does not compromise bank stability, increase erosion or impact on a water body or wetland’s 
natural capacity to manage flood flow. 

• Facilitate growth in established settlements where water and wastewater can be managed. 
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Environmental Risks and Amenity (Clause 13) 
Aim to avoid or minimise natural and human-made environmental hazards, environmental degradation and amenity conflicts 

Natural Resource Management (Clause 14) 
Must assist in the conservation and wise use of natural resources including energy, land, stone and minerals to support both environmental quality and 
sustainable development and that planning should ensure agricultural land is managed sustainably, while acknowledging the economic importance of 
agricultural production. 

Built Environment and Heritage (Clause 15) 

• Ensuring all land use and development appropriately responds to its surrounding landscape and character, valued built form and cultural context  

• Supporting the establishment and maintenance of communities by delivering functional, accessible, safe and diverse physical and social 
environments, through the appropriate location of use and development and through high quality buildings and urban design. 

Clause 15.01-5S 
Neighbourhood character 

Objective 
To recognise, support and protect neighbourhood character, cultural identity, and sense of place. 
Relevant Strategies 

• Ensure development responds to its context and reinforces a sense of place and the valued features and characteristics 
of the local environment and place by emphasising the:  

o Pattern of local urban structure and subdivision.  
o Underlying natural landscape character and significant vegetation.  
o Heritage values and built form that reflect community identity 

Clause 15.01-6S – Design 
for rural areas 

Objective 
To ensure development respects valued areas of rural character. 
Relevant Strategies 

• Ensure that the siting, scale and appearance of development protects and enhances rural character. 

• Protect the visual amenity of valued rural landscapes and character areas along township approaches and sensitive 
tourist routes by ensuring new development is sympathetically located.  

• Site and design development to minimise visual impacts on surrounding natural scenery and landscape features 
including ridgelines, hill tops, waterways, lakes and wetlands. 
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Housing (Clause 16) 

• Planning should provide for housing diversity, and ensure the efficient provision of supporting infrastructure.  

• Planning should ensure the long term sustainability of new housing, including access to services, walkability to activity centres, public transport, 
schools and open space.  

• Planning for housing should include the provision of land for affordable housing. 

Clause 16.01-5S – Rural 
residential development 

Objective 
To identify land suitable for rural residential development 
Relevant Strategies 

• Manage development in rural areas to protect agriculture and avoid inappropriate rural residential development. 

• Ensure land is only zoned for rural residential development where it: 
o Is located close to existing towns and urban centres, but not in areas that will be required for fully serviced 

urban development. 
o Can be supplied with electricity, water and good quality road access. 

• Encourage the consolidation of new housing in existing settlements where investment in physical and community 
infrastructure and services has already been made. 

 

Table 2: Relevant Local Planning Policy Framework which must be considered in the context of this application 

LOCAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 

Clause 21.03 Settlement, 
Built Environment and 
Heritage 

Clause 21.03-1 Settlement 
The settlement policies for the Shire are:  

• To encourage the consolidation and enhancement of existing urban centres, through the provision of the widest 
possible range of services and facilities and the provision of a diverse range of housing types and lifestyle opportunities.  

• To encourage new urban development which makes efficient use of existing physical and servicing infrastructure.  

• To allow for urban expansion only in areas which have a suitability for specified uses and which represents an orderly 
extension of existing settlements and infrastructure. 

• To restrict rural residential development to areas which are intrinsically suitable for this type of use, which: 
o Are in close proximity to existing urban centres and have good access to services and facilities. 
o Are not subject to significant land management hazards. 
o Are not subject to flooding. 
o Are aesthetically attractive and are capable of providing appealing lifestyle opportunities or future residents. 
o Are not inappropriately subdivided. 
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Clause 21.03-2 Housing 
Housing policies for the Shire include: 

• Encourage a diverse range of housing, to attract and maintain a socially diverse population base within the Shire. 

• Encourage site-responsive designs for dwellings which are pleasant to live in, are cost-effective, and do not adversely 
impact on neighbours or the surrounding environment. 

Clause 21.04 Environmental 
and Landscape Values & 
Risks 

Clause 21.04-1 Natural environment 
The environmental policies for the Shire are:  

• To minimise the potential of new development and land use causing pollution of waterways, water storages and 
ground water resources, land degradation, fire hazards or other adverse environmental impacts. 

Clause 21.05 Rural 
Development 

Clause 21.05-3 – Rural living areas   
Objective  
To provide for appropriately located rural residential development. 
Strategies 

• Ensure that opportunities for rural residential development continue to be provided in intrinsically attractive areas on 
the periphery of existing townships and settlements so that residents may take advantage of the facilities and services 
available in these communities. 

Implementation 

• Applying the Rural Living Zone to existing areas of rural residential living and to other areas within the Shire where rural 
residential living is considered appropriate 

Clause 21.06 Local areas Clause 21.06-1 Beaufort 
Beaufort functions as a service and community centre to the surrounding rural area and offers an excellent range of services 
and facilities to residents including retail, education, health, recreation and other community services. 
Key Issues (Strengths and opportunities) 

• A potential to accommodate more substantial residential development, ranging from conventional sized lots in the 
town itself, to low-density and rural residential lots on the periphery. 

Objectives 
To maintain Beaufort’s existing function as the Shire’s principal town for urban development. 

Strategies 

• Direct residential development to residential areas that have the potential to accommodate significant infill 
development.  

• Make the areas to the south of the town between Skipton Road and the railway (including the former rifle range site) 
available for rural residential development, together with the areas on the south side of the Western Highway to the 
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east of the Forest Reserve 
 

Table 3: Relevant Zones and Overlays which must be considered in the context of this application. 

ZONE 

Clause 35.03 Rural Living 
Zone 

Purpose 

• To provide for residential use in a rural environment. 

• To encourage use and development of land based on comprehensive and sustainable land management practices and 
infrastructure provision. 
 

Clause 35.03-5 Decision Guidelines 

• The Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework 

• The capability of the land to accommodate the proposed use or development. 

• Whether the site is suitable for the use or development and whether the proposal is compatible with adjoining and nearby 
land uses.  

• The impact on the natural physical features and resources of the area and in particular any impact caused by the proposal on 
soil and water quality and by the emission of noise, dust and odours . 

• The location of on-site effluent disposal areas to 38inimize the impact of nutrient loads on waterways and native vegetation. 

• The impact on the character and appearance of the area or features of architectural, historic or scientific significance or of 
natural scenic beauty or importance 

• The impact of the siting, design, height, bulk, colours and materials to be used, on the natural environment, major roads, vistas 
and water features and the measures to be undertaken to 38inimize any adverse impacts. 

OVERLAYS – N/A 
 

Table 4: Relevant Particular and General Provisions which must be considered in the context of this application. 

PARTICULAR PROVISIONS – N/A 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Clause 65.01 Approval of an 
application or plan 

 

Before deciding on an application to subdivide land, the responsible authority must also consider, as appropriate: 

• The purpose of the zone, overlay or other provision 

• The orderly planning of the area.  

• The effect on the amenity of the area. 

• The proximity of the land to any public land. 

• Factors likely to cause or contribute to land degradation, salinity or reduce water quality.  

• Whether the proposed development is designed to maintain or improve the quality of stormwater within and exiting 
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the site. 

• The extent and character of native vegetation and the likelihood of its destruction.  

• Whether native vegetation is to be or can be protected, planted or allowed to regenerate 
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ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
The Local and State Planning Policy Framework provides for and supports rural residential development 
and rural living opportunities. It also seeks to ensure that planning permit applications for the development 
of land do not compromise the environmental values of an area or create potential for conflict or loss of 
amenity. 
 

The proposed development allows for a suitably located rural residential development within the Rural 
Living Zone on the periphery of the Beaufort township. In principle, this zone is typically applied to the 
outskirts of settlements and township areas to allow for residential living in the rural environment and 
provides for a primarily residential function with urban residential amenity expectations. The proposed 
development is a typical and expected planning outcome for the area, given its zoning and proximity to 
Beaufort which maintains its function as a “service and community centre to the surrounding rural area” 
(Clause 21.06-1 Beaufort, Pyrenees Planning Scheme). The site is surrounded by a number of existing 
dwellings as well as lots arranged/prepared for development (lots greater than the specified 2 hectares). 
The site is also located within an area designated for residential development as per the local planning 
policies.  The subject lot is larger than the specified 2 hectares, and as such, the Pyrenees Planning Scheme 
allows for the ‘use’ of a dwelling as of right.  
 

The proposed development is in keeping and compatible with adjoining and nearby land uses and will 
produce a good planning outcome for the area. As specified within the Land Capability Assessment, the site 
is capable of accommodating such development and all ancillary works (wastewater treatment system). 
The dwelling is considerate in its bulk, form, orientation, siting and design to surrounding areas. It does not 
cause an impact on the character and appearance of the area and does not unreasonably impact on 
surrounding properties. 
 

The objections made against the application have been considered, and whilst the majority of grounds 
were made on planning grounds and in line with the Pyrenees Planning Scheme, they are not considered to 
provide a sufficient basis to refuse an application of this kind.   
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and facilitate 
growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
 

5.1 - Provide efficient and effective land use planning, ensuring local policies within the Pyrenees Planning 
Scheme remain relevant and forward looking. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.1.1 - Planning Permit application PA2946/20 (circulated separately) 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
An application determined by council or under delegation of council and which is subject to appeal rights at 
VCAT, may incur costs in the form of representation (consultant) fees and staff resources. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The application for the development of a single dwelling at Lot 2 on Plan of Subdivision 814588X (Vol: 
11975, Fol: 102), Golf Course Lane, Beaufort 3373 meets the requirements of the Pyrenees Planning 
Scheme, including the requirements of the Rural Living Zone and applicable State and Local Planning 
Policies.  



9 JUNE 2020 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL  

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION  

 

41 

Two objections were received, however not deemed to be sufficient, to warrant a refusal of the planning 
permit application. Conditions on the permit will respond to and address a number of matters raised in the 
objections.  
 

The application has been assessed against the Decision Guidelines at Clause 65 and is shown to be 
compliant.  
 

Accordingly, it is recommended that Council issues a notice of decision to grant a permit, subject to 
appropriate conditions as per the officer’s recommendation.  
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council, having considered all matters required under Section 60 of the Planning and Environment 
Act 1987 and the provisions of the Pyrenees Planning Scheme determines to issue a Notice of Decision to 
Grant a Planning Permit under the provisions of the Pyrenees Planning Scheme for the Development of a 
single dwelling at Lot 2 on Plan of Subdivision 814588X (Vol: 11975, Fol: 102), Golf Course Lane, Beaufort 
3373 subject to the following conditions: 
 

Plans  
1. The development as shown on the endorsed plans must not be altered without the prior written consent 

of the Responsible Authority.  

 
Building and works 
2. The layout of the site and size of the development hereby permitted must be generally in accordance with 

the plans submitted with the application and endorsed by the Responsible Authority. 

 
Construction Waste  
3. The applicant shall be responsible for the control of construction waste during construction and its 

removal upon completion and the reinstatement of damaged areas about the site to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority.  

 
Easements 
4. All buildings and works must be located clear of any easements or water and sewer mains unless written 

approval is provided by the relevant authority. 

 
Storm water management 
5. No storm water from the development shall drain or discharge from the land to water ways or adjoining 

properties, without the prior approval of the Responsible Authority. 

 
Vehicle Access 
6. A Road Excavation Permit will be required for any works to install or upgrade a driveway. 
7. Vehicle access to the proposed development shall be constructed at an approved location to the 

satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.  
8. All vehicle access works shall be completed to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority prior 

to the development hereby approved commencing  
 

Note: Please contact Council's Engineering Department as the construction or altering of a vehicle 
crossing, footpath and/or any other works or alterations within a road reserve or any other Council 
asset may require either a Road Excavation Permit (which includes a driveway and new crossover), or 
other approval to be obtained from the Pyrenees Shire Council. This Planning Permit does not 
constitute such approval. Failure to obtain an appropriate permit or damaging Council infrastructure, 
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including footpaths, kerbs, drains, street trees, nature strips etc. or failing to remove redundant 
crossings and reinstate the kerb, drain, footpath, nature strip or other part of the road is a breach of 
the Pyrenees Shire Council development requirements. 

 
Services 
9. The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as it is: 

a) Connected to a reticulated potable water supply or have an alternative potable 
water supply with adequate storage for domestic use as well as for firefighting 
purposes 

b) Connected to reticulated electricity services (or an alternative electricity supply 
approved by the responsible authority); 

c) Access to the dwelling must be provided via an all-weather road with dimensions 
adequate to accommodate emergency vehicles to the dwelling site.  

d) Connected to a reticulated sewerage system or if not available, the waste water 
must be treated and retained on-site in accordance with the State Environment 
Protection Policy (Waters of Victoria) under the Environment Protection Act 1970. 

 
10. All service works must be completed to the satisfaction of the responsible authority, prior to the 

occupation of the dwelling. 
 

Vegetation protection works 
11. The following vegetation protection works shall be undertaken during site construction including: 

a) No stockpiling around the base of any vegetation; 
b) No excavation works shall be carried out within the drip line of any tree canopy; 
c) No damaging roots greater than 50mm in diameter; 

12. Weeds around the construction area are to be removed and controlled. 
13. All vegetation protection works shall be undertaken to the satisfaction of the Responsible 

Authority. 
14. No trees are permitted to be removed from within the development area without the further 

approval of the Responsible Authority. 
 

Time for starting and completion 
15. This permit will expire if one of the following circumstances applies: 

a) The development and use is/are not started within two years of the date of this 
permit; 

b) The development is not completed within four years of the date of this permit. 
 

The Responsible Authority may extend the period for starting the development if a request is made in 
writing before the permit expires, or within 6 months afterwards. The Responsible Authority may 
extend the timeframe for completing the development (or any stage of it) provided the development 
has been lawfully started before the permit expires, and the request for an extension is made within 
12 months after the permit expires. 
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Permit Notes 
 
Building approval 

a) All building works associated with this development must be in accordance with the 
Building Act 1993 and Building Regulations 2018.  

 
Effluent Disposal Permit 

a) A separate permit must be obtained from Council’s Environmental Health Department 
prior to the installation of any effluent disposal system 
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13.2 TREE OUTSTANDS PRIORITIES FOR THE ACTIVATE AVOCA PROJECT 

Douglas Gowans – Director Asset and Development Services 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 58/16/06 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council’s support for priority components of the Streetscape Plan for 
Avoca to be undertaken as part of the Activate Avoca Funding with a specific focus on tree outstands and 
safe crossing points. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Avoca Streetscape Project was developed as an outcome of the Pyrenees Futures strategic planning 
project that was established to guide the growth and development of nine key settlement areas within the 
Shire, including the township of Avoca. 
 

The project focuses on incorporating community feedback, local stories, and natural landscapes into a 
place-based and strategic plan for development. The project intends to support community growth by 
enhancing existing attributes and ensuring the sustainability of towns. 
 

Consultation for Pyrenees Futures began in December 2017, where the Avoca community sought a solution 
to the hazardous traffic conditions of High street. Concerns were raised around traffic safety, a lack of 
shade and shelter, limited seating, footpath surface quality and the general amenity of the town centre. A 
Draft Streetscape Plan was placed on public exhibition during 2019. 
 

Following extensive consultation on the Draft Plan, including a well-attended community meeting, the 
concept of enhancing the aesthetics of High Street was supported. However, the community did not 
support a single lane treatment.  In response to Council’s enquiries, Regional Roads Victoria advised that a 
modified street environment is a positive step towards improving driver behaviour and compliance, 
indicating that such modifications need to be designed on a town-by-town basis. 
 

In November 2019, Council resolved to: 
1. Continue to support amendments to the Avoca Streetscape Plan; 
2. Amend the Avoca Streetscape Plan to reflect a retention of the current two lane in each direction 

carriageway configuration; 
3. Support a draft plan that shows: 

a) the Cambridge Street Civic Spine concept;   
b) safe crossing points; 
c) tree outstands in current kerbside parking bays; 
d) a retention of parking within the median strip; 
e) the retention of the existing public toilet location; 
f)  a reviewed tree planting concept. 

4. Continue to deliver the replacement BBQ shelter as a separate project to the Avoca Streetscape 
Plan review. 

5. Continue to deliver the inclusive play space as a separate project to the Avoca Streetscape Plan 
review and give further consideration to any additional safety measures that may be taken to 
alleviate concerns. 

 

In order to implement the tree outstands as indicated on the Streetscape Plan, Council engaged a 
contractor to determine where underground infrastructure was located, including the exact location and 
depth of the gas pressure main.  
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While undertaking this work, several community members raised concern about the specific location and 
quantity of proposed street trees and associated infrastructure.  Council officers endeavoured to engage 
individuals who raised concerns and has been working with affected business and landowners to address 
concerns raised.  
 

An online meeting was held with representatives of Advance Avoca on Monday 25 May who further raised 
concerns and expressed that some of the early communication requesting increased shade within the 
Avoca Streetscape had been interpreted in a way that was different to what some members of the 
community envisaged. Representatives of Advance Avoca suggested that shade improvements were 
intended to be focused on the replacement of the BBQ shelter to provide shade.  
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Council is in receipt of funds to implement elements of the Avoca Streetscape Plan that will improve safety 
outcomes and support a lower speed limit.  

 

Council at its July 2019 meeting resolved to support a reduced speed limit on High Street, Avoca and seek a 
formal response from Regional Roads Victoria (RRV) regarding design condition requirements to support a 
reduced speed limit, pedestrian crossing points, and outstands. 
 

Following the above resolution, Council subsequently wrote to RRV and has since received a response in 
relation to the design considerations and an improved traffic treatment at the intersection of the Sunraysia 
and Pyrenees Highways. RRV’s response confirmed that it in principle supports speed limit reductions in 
town centres due to the significant safety benefit to all road users, but that speed reductions should be 
accompanied by a suitably modified road environment to influence road user expectation, promote 
appropriate driver behaviour, and enhance compliance from drivers. RRV provided potential road 
modification options as being a reduction in traffic lanes and widths and the provision of kerb outstands 
and pedestrian-friendly treatments. RRV also confirmed that it is supportive of reviewing the Sunraysia and 
Pyrenees Highway intersection for possible improvements but advised that a roundabout was unlikely to 
be funded under current funding programs.  Discussions are continuing with RRV on the basis of the 
underground services that have been located. 
 

The following options are now proposed: 
 

Option One 
In order to implement Council’s November 2019 resolution, some of the tree outstands need to be 
installed to support an improved road safety environment. The key elements that have been identified 
include the eight outstands (four in each direction) that create safe crossing points at strategic locations 
along High Street. Officers recommend that these eight outstands be prioritised for delivery. Any remaining 
funds from the Activate Avoca grant would be concentrated on addressing any existing infrastructure 
issues such as footpath defects, kerb and channel defects, and linking the key crossing points through 
improved footpath networks.  
 

Option Two 
Council implements as many outstands as practically possible, taking into account the specific feedback 
from business owners, location of underground services, and advice from RRV.   
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and facilitate 
growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
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1.5- Prepare and implement township framework plans to guide future development in Beaufort, Avoca, 
Snake Valley, Lexton, Waubra / Evansford, Landsborough, Moonambel, Amphitheatre, and Raglan, and 
then consider extending the planning to include other towns 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Complete implementation of the Avoca Streetscape Plan is currently unfunded and will take multiple years 
and external grant to deliver. 
 

Council is in receipt of a $250,000 grant which will be used to deliver specific elements, including 
improvements to pedestrian infrastructure, the installation of street furniture and tree planting. 
 

Council will continue to advocate for and attract further grants to assist with further implementation. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The Avoca Streetscape Plan represents a balance of community sentiment and an opportunity to enhance 
Avoca’s vitality and streetscene aesthetic while improving road safety for all users. 

 

Prioritising safety improvements to pedestrians and supporting a lower speed limit will reflect feedback 
received from the community.  
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council prioritises Activate Avoca funding towards safe crossing point outstands.  
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13.3 UNUSED ROAD LICENCE AND PROPERTY ACCESS - WATERLOO 
Katie Gleisner – Manager Planning and Development 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 30/02/08 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information relevant to allowing further consideration 
of the matter of an unused road reserve that adjoins the northern boundaries of lots 1 and 2 on plan of 
subdivision PS611079, parish of Raglan, in the location of Waterloo. 
 

BACKGROUND 
In February of 2015, the owner of lot 1 PS611079 (shown red below) wrote to Council, requesting that the 
section of unused government road licence (shown purple below), be cancelled to facilitate access to their 
property. 
 

At this time, the property was subject to a range of building and planning enforcement action, and it was 
Council’s resolution to not give further consideration to the request for cancellation until such time as the 
non-compliance matters had been resolved. 
 

In May of 2017, Council was advised that the matters of non-compliance had been resolved, following the 
issuing of a planning permit to authorise the ‘use and development of a dwelling and ancillary buildings’ 
and the removal of all Building Notices and Building Orders relevant to the property. 
 

Upon achieving compliance, the property owner again raised the matter of the unused road licence with 
Council and it was listed at the August, September and October meetings of 2017. Council resolved on the 
17th October 2017 to “not cancel the road licence…” on the following basis: 

• That the property owner had access to their property via Elimination Track; and  

• That cancellation would cause a financial impost to the licensee by way of mandatory fencing and 
the removal of any improvements. 

 

The matter has also been raised with the Victorian Ombudsman and the Department of Environment, Land 
Water and Planning (DELWP), who have provided opinions on the matter.   
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
In May 2020, Council received correspondence from a solicitor acting on behalf of the owner of lot 1 
PS611079, requesting that the unused road licence be cancelled ‘…in the public interest…” The solicitor’s 
correspondence claims that the licensee’s stock pose a hazard to road user whilst the road remains under 
licence for agricultural purposes.  
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Site context plan 

 

 
Locality plan 

 
Elimination Track has been discussed as an alternative means of access to the described property, however 
given this track has not been surveyed, gazetted and proclaimed as government road, it cannot be 
considered a means of Legal Access. 
 

Despite being physically formed, Elimination Track remains State Forest, managed by DELWP. The track is 
maintained by DELWP to a standard suitable to their land management and operational needs and not to a 
standard that complies with the access requirements associated with a dwelling. 
 

The planning permit that was issued in 2016 over lot 1 PS611079, to permit the use and development of a 
dwelling and associated outbuildings, was conditioned with a range of access requirements. 
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As the lot is subject to the Bushfire Management Overlay, the planning permit was conditioned as per 
requirements of the Country Fire Authority. These include: 

Condition 4.1.d Access for fire fighting purposes which meet the following requirements: 

• Curves must have an inner minimum radius of 10 meters 

• The average grade must be no more that 1 in 7 (14.4 per cent) (8.1 
degrees with a maximum of no more than 1 in 5 (20 per cent) (11.3 
degrees) for no more than 50 meters. 

 

The Pyrenees Planning Scheme requires that all dwellings within the Rural Conservation Zone be accessible 
via an all-weather road with dimensions adequate to accommodate emergency vehicles in accordance with 
clause 35.06-2. As such a further access condition was included in the planning permit requiring that: 

Condition 7 (c) An all-weather access way with a minimum 4 metre width must be provided 
to the shed and dwelling sites  

  

Section 400 of the Land Act 1958 allows a municipal Council to give notice that any road or part of a road 
which is within the municipal district of that municipal Council and which it considers is not required for 
public traffic, is an ‘unused road’. 
 

Council have previously declared that this section of road is not required for public traffic in accordance 
with section 400 of the Land Act 1958. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 1 - Roads and Townships. We will plan, manage, maintain and renew infrastructure in a 
sustainable way that responds to the needs of the community. 
 

1.1 - Ensure local roads are maintained and renewed in line with adopted plans and strategy to provide a 
safe transport network and meet community needs. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.3.1 Solicitor’s Letter 1 May 2020 (circulated separately) 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
In accordance with current Council practice, the construction and ongoing maintenance of the described 
road remains the responsibility of the property owner requiring access to the dwelling. The road must be 
constructed in accordance with Council’s Infrastructure Design Manual, to the satisfaction of Council.  
There are no intentions to have this road listed on Council’s road register and it is on this basis that the 
financial risk to Council is minimal. 
 
CONCLUSION 

Alternative access via Elimination Track 
As the property owner has no authority to undertake works within the State Forest to facilitate compliance 
with the above two planning permit conditions, it is not reasonable to require that access to the property 
be via Elimination Track. 
 

Is the licensed section of road unused? 
Due to this section of licensed road being the sole means of legal access to the described property and 
dwelling, and as such is required for public traffic, it cannot be considered as an ‘unused road’ in 
accordance with Section 400 of the Land Act 1958. 
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Financial impost on licensee through cancellation of the licence 
It is acknowledged that a cancellation of the described licence would require the current licensee to cease 
occupation. It is also noted that Crown land tenures of this nature are subject to cancellation in instances 
where the primary purpose of that land, in this case a road, prevails over any secondary uses that have 
been permitted via a non-exclusive, fixed term licence. The risk of cancellation is clearly reflected in the 
licence agreement between the land owner and tenant, and like with all tenures, there is a risk of ongoing 
security to all parties involved. 
 

Should Council resolve to cancel the licence, the licensee will be provided with 90 days to cease occupation 
of the government road. In the instance where stock are capable of accessing the road, it would be 
reasonable to expect that a stock proof fence be erected in accordance with requirements of the Land Act 
1958. The fence that may be required is estimated to be 540 meters in length. Due to it being a straight 
span and adjoining a single large paddock, the requirements for gates and end assembly infrastructure is 
minimal. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council: 
 

1. Determine that the described section of unused government road is required for public traffic. 
2. Resolve to inform the Minister (or any person authorised to grant licenses) that the described 

section of government road licence should be cancelled in accordance with section 407(1) of the 
Land Act 1958. 
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CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

13.4 AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE MEETING ESTABLISHMENT AND CHARTER 

Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 16/30/04 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to gain Council approval to re-establish its Audit & Risk Committee and 
approve the draft Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020 in accordance with s54 (7) of the Local 
Government Act 2020. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) was proclaimed on 6 April 2020.  Section 54 (7) of the Act 
requires Council to: 
 

“…approve the first Audit & Risk Committee Charter and establish the first Audit and Risk 
Committee on or before 1 September 2020.” 

 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Re-establishment of the Audit & Risk Committee 
Although Council has a long-established Audit & Risk Committee, section 54 (7) of the Local Government 
Act 2020 obliges all Victorian councils to re-establish their Audit & Risk Committees, and approve an Audit 
& Risk Committee Charter, on or before 1 September 2020.  This is to ensure that Audit & Risk Committees 
meet the obligations proscribed by the new legislation. 
 

This requirement was tabled at the Audit & Risk Committee meeting on 26 May 2020 and the Committee 
put forward the following recommendations to Council: 
 

• The Audit & Risk Committee approved the revised Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020 and 
recommended that this be tabled for Council adoption in June 2020. 

• The Audit & Risk Committee recommended that the Pyrenees Shire Council re-establishes its Audit 
& Risk Committee in accordance with s.54(7) of the Local Government Act 2020 in the same format 
and structure as existing as this meets the obligations under the Act; to operate under the revised 
Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020. 

• The Audit & Risk Committee recommended to the Pyrenees Shire Council that the tenure of 
Committee Members continue with the timeframes originally implemented by the former Audit & 
Risk Committee established under the Local Government Act 1989. 

 

Tenure of current Audit & Risk Committee independent members expires as follows: 
 

• Mr Geoff Price – 30/08/2020 

• Ms Wendy Honeyman – 22/04/2021 

• Mr Rod Poxon – 22/05/2021 
 

Councillor Committee Members are assigned annually. 
 

A process to request expressions of interest in membership of the Committee from 1 September 2020 will 
commence shortly.  Mr Geoff Price has indicated his intention not to re-nominate for Committee 
membership post 30 August 2020. 
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Adoption of the Audit & Risk Charter 2020 
This report provides a copy of the draft Audit & Risk Charter 2020, reviewed and revised to meet all 
obligations detailed in the Act, and requests that Council resolves to accept the officer’s recommendations 
relating to adoption of the Charter. 
 

The Audit & Risk Charter 2020 remains like the document adopted in 2019 with the following changes 
made to comply with the 2020 Act: 
 

• Inclusion of key objectives to reflect the Act in sections 54 (2) [section 1.1 of the draft Charter].   

• Section 4 of the Charter and its sub-sections (Roles and Responsibilities) has been amended to 
ensure compliance with the wording within the Act, yet maintain the majority of the current 
Charter content. 

• Section 4.3 of the Charter now includes a new requirement (under section 54 (5) of the new Act) for 
the Audit & Risk Committee to provide a biannual Audit & Risk Committee Activities Report to 
Council (twice per year instead of annually). 

• Section 5 of the Charter (Administrative arrangements) has been amended to ensure compliance 
with the Act, including obligations under the Act’s integrity provisions: 

o Section 5.3.1 of the Charter (Conflicts of Interest) reflects section 53 (5) of the Act, which 
requires Division 2 of Part 6 of the Act to be included within the revised Charter. 

o Section 5.3.2 of the Charter (misuse of position) reflects section 53 (5) of the Act, which 
requires section 123 of the Act to be included within the revised Charter. 

o Section 5.3.3 of the Charter (Confidential Information) reflects section 53 (5) of the Act, 
which requires section 125 of the Act to be included within the revised Charter. 

 

All other provisions within the 2020 Act remain similar to provisions already within the Audit & Risk Charter 
which remain, therefore, compliant. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Local Government Act 2020 – section 54 (7) requires a council to approve an Audit & Risk Committee 
Charter and establish an Audit & Risk Committee on or before 1 September 2020. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.4.1 - Draft Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020 (circulated separately)  
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
All risks have been discussed in the body of the report. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The Local Government Act 2020, proclaimed on 6 April 2020, requires councils to establish an Audit & Risk 
Committee and adopt an Audit & Risk Committee Charter prior to 1 September 2020.   This report provides 
details of a revised draft Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020 and requests that Council resolves to accept 
the officer recommendation as detailed below. 
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OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 
 

That Council: 
 

a) Adopts the revised Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020;  
 

b) Establishes the Audit & Risk Committee to operate in accordance with the provisions detailed in 
the Audit & Risk Committee Charter – its composition and tenure to be as follows: 

i. The Committee will consist of five members, comprising two Councillors and three 
independent members; 

ii. The Chairperson of the Committee will be an independent member, elected by Committee 
members annually; 

iii. A Committee quorum will be three members – one Councillor and two independent 
members; 

iv. Independent members will be appointed for an initial three years, after which they will be 
eligible for two further three year extensions.  At the end of three consecutive terms, 
independent member positions will be advertised seeking expressions of interest.  This 
does not preclude the existing member re-applying. 

v. Councillor members will be appointed to the Committee by the full Council on an annual 
basis. 

vi. No Council staff will be appointed to the Committee. 
vii. The Chief Executive Officer will be required and entitled to attend all meetings of the 

Committee. 
viii. The Director of Corporate & Community Services, Director of Assets & Engineering, 

Manager Finance and Manager Governance Risk & Compliance with attend meetings in an 
advisory capacity. 

ix. Council’s internal and external auditors will be invited to attend all meetings of the 
Committee; and 

 

c) That the three-year tenure schedule from the former Audit & Risk Committee (established under 
the Local Government Act 1989) be carried forward to the new Committee. 
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13.5 AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE  
Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services  
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 32/04/04 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update of the Audit & Risk Committee meeting held 
on 26 May 2020. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In accordance with s.53 of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) Council is required to establish an 
Audit & Risk Committee.  Council’s Audit & Risk Committee meets three times per year and the attached 
report is a summary of the meeting held on 26 May 2020. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
As required by s.53(4) of the Act, the Chairperson of the Audit & Risk Committee must be an independent 
member.  At the meeting on 26 May 2020, Ms Wendy Honeyman was elected as Chairperson for the 2021 / 
2022 year.  In accordance with the Audit & Risk Committee Charter, this appointment is re-elected annually 
in the first meeting of the year. 
 

The meeting was attended by Committee Members, Council Officers and Council’s internal and external 
auditors (Internal Auditors – AFS & Associated; External Auditors – Crowe Melbourne). 
 

A summary of the issues considered by the Audit & Risk Committee is provided for Council’s information: 
 

• VAGO Audit Strategy Memorandum 2019/20 Financial Year and Interim Management Letter was 
presented to the Committee and discussion led by Crowe Melbourne. 

• Proposed 2020/21 Pyrenees Shire Council budget was presented by the Manager Finance. 

• Q3 2019/20 Quarterly Finance Report was presented by the Manager Finance.   

• Two internal audit reports were presented by Internal Auditors AFS & Associates: 
o Business Continuity & Disaster Recovery – disappointment was expressed by the Committee 

on the findings of this report and officers advised of the following actions to rectify and 
implement recommendations: 

▪ Training and capability building of officers  
▪ External expertise to be sought to get business continuity plans and testing processes 

up to date as quickly as possible 
o Project Management – discussion centred around Council’s intention to appoint additional 

project management expertise during the 2020/21 financial year and improved governance 
steps already implemented. 

• A report on outstanding issues recommended closures was provided by AFS & Associates with three 
matters confirmed as closed. 

• A report on the Victorian Ombudsman on alleged improper conduct at the Ballarat City Council was 
tabled. 

• A request to extend the current contract with internal audit provider AFS & Associates for a further 
12 months was endorsed, and a recommendation made for Council approval. 

• Officers provided an overview of the Local Government Act 2020 and implementation actions 
currently underway. 
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• Local Government Act 2020 requirements under s.53 and s.54 to re-establish the Audit & Risk 
Committee and review the Audit & Risk Committee Charter were discussed and three 
recommendations made for Council resolution (provided under separate report). 

• A draft Audit & Risk Committee Annual Work Plan for 2020 was agreed. 

• A report was provided on Council’s annual performance review of the Audit & Risk Committee 
during 2019. 

• The outcomes of the frontline services review were reported by officers. 

• The outcomes of the review into the aged care services provision and ongoing government reform 
in this space were reported by officers. 

• Updates on governance, risk & compliance were provided by officers. 

• A quarterly update on recent reports and publications of interest was tabled by AFS & Associates. 

• A verbal report was provided by the CEO. 

• The opportunity to hold closed discussions with internal and external auditors was deferred to the 
September meeting due to the impracticability of this during a virtual environment. 

 
Extension of Internal Audit Contract 
The current contract for internal audit services provision ends on 30th June 2020.  The current contract, 
with AFS & Associates of Bendigo, was awarded in 2017 as a result of a public tender process.  Annexure A 
of the current contract, item 11, allows for a further term to be awarded of 1 x 1 x 1 year options. 
 

To maintain consistency of approach and building upon the organisational knowledge developed over the 
past three years by AFS & Associates, it is considered appropriate that the term extension option in the 
current contract be utilised to extend the contract by a further 12 months to 30th June 2021.  The Audit & 
Risk Committee, at its meeting on 26 May 2020, recommended that Council extends the current internal 
audit services contract accordingly. 
 

The next meeting of the Audit & Risk Committee is scheduled for Tuesday, 22 September 2020. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 4 - Financially Sustainable, High-performing Organisation. Our organisation will respond 
to community needs, attend to our core business, and strive for excellence in service delivery in an ethical 
and financially responsible manner. 
 

4.4 - Develop our systems to support and enable our people to deliver efficient and quality services which 
are cost effective. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.5.1 - Draft Minutes of the Audit & Risk Committee Meeting of 26 May 2020 
13.5.2 - VAGO Audit Strategy Memorandum 
13.5.3 - VAGO Interim Management Letter 
13.5.4 - Internal Audit Report – Business Continuity & Disaster Recovery 
13.5.5 - Internal Audit Report – Project Management 
13.5.6 - Audit & Risk Workplan 2020 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
All financial issues have been addressed in the Issues/Discussion section. 
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CONCLUSION 
In accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 the Pyrenees Shire Council’s Audit & Risk Committee 
met on the 26 May 2020.  This report summarises the items considered by the Committee and provides 
appropriate documents and reports for noting by Council and a request for a Council resolution. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council: 
 

1. Notes the minutes of the Audit & Risk Committee meeting held on 26 May 2020 and the 
following documents and reports provided for information: 

a. The VAGO Audit Strategy Memorandum and Interim Management Letter; 

b. Internal Audit Report – Business Continuity & Disaster Recovery; 

c. Internal Audit Report – Project Management; and 

d. Audit & Risk Committee Annual Work Plan 2020. 

3. Accepts the recommendation from the Audit & Risk Committee and resolves to extend the 
current contract with AFS & Associated for internal audit services by a further 12 months to 30 
June 2021. 
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13.6 RATING STRATEGY 2019 ADDENDUM 
James Hogan – Manager Finance 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 52/04/02 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider altering the Rating Strategy 2019, in response to the 
rapid increase in valuations of Farm Properties in Pyrenees Shire Council. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Council, at its January 2019 meeting, approved the adoption of the Rating Strategy 2019. 
 

The Rating Strategy explains how Council will determine what money will be raised from different types of 
properties within the municipality, whilst acknowledging the difficulties in linking property values to an 
assumption about the individual’s ability to pay. 
 

Good governance requires Council to provide ongoing or periodic monitoring and review of the impact of 
major decisions. Over time policies and other circumstances are subject to refinement and change. It is 
therefore incumbent upon Council to evaluate on a regular basis whether the current rating system best 
satisfies the legislative objective to which it must have regard and other objectives which Council believes 
are relevant. 
 

Rating authority valuations are legislated under the provisions of the Valuation of Land Act 1960 (VLA). An 
amendment in December 2017 introduced the framework for centralised and annualized valuations, 
commencing in 2019. It was expected that annual property valuations would ensure that the valuations 
used for property rating were reflective of current market trends in the municipality and that large spikes 
in value would be smoothed. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
A Draft Budget was endorsed, by Council, for community consultation on 14 April 2020.  Feedback to the 
Draft Budget, highlighted a significant shift in the rate burden from the Residential sector to the Farming 
sector. In response to this feedback, Councillors proposed deviating from the 2019 Rating Strategy.  
 

The 2019 Rating Strategy was first used for the 2019/20 financial year, with 2020/21 being the second year 
of a four year strategy. 
 

In the 2020 Revaluation the overall increase in valuation across all assessments was 15.2%. The Rural 
properties experienced a sharp rise in valuation (23.8%) in comparison to the Residential property 
valuations (7.2%). Commercial, Industrial and Specialist properties experienced a decrease in valuation (-
4.2%).  
 

A revised Rating Strategy has been developed with rating differentials adjusted to shift the burden of 
increased rates payable from the rural sector, redistributed more evenly across all assessments. A 
comparison of the adopted 2019 Rating Strategy to the proposed 2020/21 Addendum is as follows: 

 

 2019 Rating Strategy 
(% on General Rate) 

2020/21 Addendum 
(% on General Rate) 

Vacant Land <2Ha 305.10% (or 400% of lowest differential) 
 

(20/21 – 312.56%) 

296%  
 

(or 400% of lowest 
differential) 
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Vacant Land Between 2 & 
40Ha 

228.83% (or 300% of lowest differential) 
 

(20/21 – 234.42%) 

234.42% 

Vacant Land >40Ha 152.55% (or 200% of lowest differential) 
 

(20/21 - 156.28%) 

156.28% 

Residential 100% 100% 

Commercial 110% (to be increased by 2.5% annually –  
19/20 – 102.5% 
20/21 – 105.0% 
21/22 – 107.5% 
22/23 – 110.0%) 

110% 

Industrial 110% (to be increased by 2.5% annually –  
19/20 – 102.5% 
20/21 – 105.0% 
21/22 – 107.5% 
22/23 – 110.0%) 

110% 

Farms 76.28% (to be decreased by 0.93125% 
annually –  
19/20 – 79.07% 
20/21 – 78.14% 
21/22 – 77.21% 
22/23 – 76.28%) 

74% 

Undevelopable Land 100% 100% 

 
A new 2020/21 Draft Budget has been prepared in line with the Rating Strategy 2020/21 Addendum. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Part 8 of the Local Government Act 1989 provides Council setting of Rates and Charges on rateable land, 

including the declaration on how general rates will be raised. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.6.1 Rates Strategy 2019 - 2020 Addendum - Full Document v2 (circulated separately) 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Council must ensure that differentials within the Rating Strategy must be balanced to ensure a consistent 
revenue stream to minimise risk to its long term financial sustainability, yet ensure that annual increases in 
revenue are kept within the annual Rate Cap. 
 
CONCLUSION 
Council has undertaken a review of its 2019 Rating Strategy, including consideration of annualised 
revaluations. An Addendum for 2020/21 has been developed in response to the sharp valuation rises in the 
Rural demographic of the Pyrenees Shire Council in comparison to other demographics. The alteration of 
rating differentials allows Council to shift the burden of increased rates payable from the rural sector, to 
distribute it more evenly across all assessments. 
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OFFICERS RECOMMENDATION 
 

That Council; 
 

1. Adopts the 2020/21 Addendum to the 2019 Rating Strategy. 
2. Consults with the public on the changes in the 2020/21 Addendum to the 2019 Rating Strategy 

within the 2020/21 Draft Budget consultation. 
3. Publishes the Rating Strategy on Council’s website and places hard copies at public counters for 

maximum public accessibility. 
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13.7 REVISED PROPOSED BUDGET 2020/21 
James Hogan – Manager Finance 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 38/08/18 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider the revised Proposed Budget for 2020/21 for approval 
to exhibit, in accordance with the requirements of section 127 of the Local Government Act (the Act). 
 
BACKGROUND 
Section 127 of the Act requires Council to prepare a budget for each financial year and provide the 
opportunity for people to make a submission under section 223 of the Act on any proposal contained in the 
budget. 
 

The revised Proposed Budget for 2020/21 has been prepared by Councillors and Council Officers and 
guided by Community Action Plans and Strategies.  
 

Council is required to give public notice that copies of the revised Proposed Budget are available for 
inspection for a minimum period of 28 days and invite submissions. 
 

The Council Budget is the tool which guides Council’s operations throughout a twelve month period.  The 
revised Proposed Budget has been drawn up after significant discussion with Council staff and Councillors 
and contains information as to how Council will direct its financial resources during the next twelve 
months. 
 

The revised Proposed Budget document sets out the reasoning behind the many decisions Council has 
made in order to arrive at this point of its Budget.  Council must now seek further community input before 
determining its Budget. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
A Draft Budget was endorsed, by Council, for community consultation on 14 April 2020.  Feedback to the 
Draft Budget, highlighted a significant shift in the rate burden from the Residential sector to the Farming 
sector. In response to this feedback, Councillors proposed deviating from the 2019 Rating Strategy.  
 

A revised Rating Strategy has been developed with rating differentials adjusted to shift the burden of 
increased rates payable from the rural sector, redistributed more evenly across all assessments. A new 
2020/21 revised Draft Budget has been prepared in line with this revised Rating Strategy.  
 

As the change to original Draft Budget is deemed significant, in the interest of transparency, it is 
recommended that Council re-advertise a revised Draft Budget based on the proposed changes to the 
Rating Strategy. 
 

Since Schedule of fees and user charges contained in the original Draft Budget, received no feedback from 
the community during the initial consultation phase it is recommended that Council adopt the Fees and 
Charges contained in the draft budget for 2020/21.  
 

The revised Draft Budget for 2020/21 has been prepared by Councillors and Council officers. 
 

The budget includes a rate increase of 2.00%, which is the rate cap set by the Minister for Local 
Government under the Fair Go Rates System.  

 

 
 



9 JUNE 2020 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL  

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION  

 

61 

Rate revenue from rate increases above rate cap in the previous 4 years have been reserved specifically for 
capital expenditure on renewing Council's road infrastructure assets.  In order to balance the remainder of 
the budget, Council has continued to pursue operational savings and efficiencies which will enable it to 
deliver high quality, responsive and accessible services to the community. 
 

In response to the rapid increase of valuations in the Farming sector of Pyrenees Shire Council in the 2020 
Revaluation, Councillors proposed a deviation from the 2019 Rating Strategy that was adopted by Council 
in January 2019. The alteration of rating differentials allows Council to shift the burden of increased rates 
payable from the rural sector, to distribute it more evenly across all assessments. The 2020/21 budget has 
been prepared in line with the Revised Rating Strategy.  
 

Council's waste management service is fully funded by waste service and user charges.  The 2020/21 
Charge includes additional costs related to Glass collection and disposal, e-Waste Collection and Disposal, 
and an increase to the EPA Levy. Residents with kerbside collections will experience a 16% increase in their 
garbage charges, residents on improved properties without kerbside collections will experience a 27% 
increase to their garbage charges, and unimproved properties will experience a 0% increase in their 
garbage charges. 
 

The Draft Budget includes Capital Works of $7.041M. Highlights of the 2020/21 Capital Program include: 
 

• Gravel Roads $953,000 

• Reseals at various locations $846,000 

• Council funded Bridge and Drainage works of $708,000 

• Roads to Recovery funded works of $2.09M 

• Swimming pool upgrades of $60,000 
 

Additionally, the Draft Budget includes $1M in projects to be delivered under the second round of 
Economic Stimulation Funding for Drought Effected Communities. Projects to be delivered with the 
assistance of this funding include: 

 
Round 1 Funding 

• Improved water infrastructure $280,000 

• Footpath improvements $150,000 

• Sewer extension at Carngham Recreation Reserve $90,000 

• Caravan Park Improvements $270,000 

• Car Park at Natte Yallock Recreation Reserve $110,000 

• Future Building in Small Towns $100,000 
 

Round 2 Funding 

• Avoca Bowls Club Facility Upgrade $275,000 

• Footpath improvements $100,000 

• Hall Improvements $250,000 

• Beaufort Lake Foreshore amenity improvements $125,000 

• Tree Planting $50,000 

• Improved Water Infrastructure $95,000 

• Snake Valley Linear Park – Paths $60,000 

• Waubra Recreation Reserve – Tennis Facility Upgrade $45,000 
 

The focus for the next year is to continue to deliver on the projects and services that make the Shire a 
great place to live, work and invest in, and respond to the challenges we are currently facing.  
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These challenges include: 

• Rate capping 

• State government cost shifting 

• Maintaining our road infrastructure 

• Climate change impacts  
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Under Section 127 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council must prepare a Budget for each financial 
year.  There are stipulations as to what must be included in the Budget and the Budget document meets 
those requirements. Any person has the right to make a submission on any proposal contained in the 
Budget. Following completion of the statutory obligations Council may adopt the Budget. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.7.1 - Proposed Budget 2020-21 (circulated separately) 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
All financial implications associated with this report have been accounted for within the 2020/21 Proposed 
Budget.   
 
CONCLUSION 
The Proposed Budget 2020/21 has been developed in alignment with the Revised Council Plan 2017 to 
2021. The proposed 2020/21 budget as tabled provides guidance on how Council intends to deliver its 
strategic objectives over the next twelve months. 
 
OFFICERS RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council; 
 

1. Adopts the Schedule of Fees and User Charges contained in the Draft budget for use in 2020/21. 
2. Endorses the 2020/21 revised Proposed Budget for advertising and that Council give public notice of 

its preparation and invite public submissions to be received up until 5.00 PM Friday 10 July 2020. 
3. Releases the revised Proposed Budget documents to the public on Wednesday 10 June 2020. 
4. Will meet to hear any submissions in person or consider any submissions received at 4.00pm on 

Tuesday 14 July 2020, at the Council Chambers, Beaufort Council Offices, 5 Lawrence Street, 
Beaufort. Under current COVID-19 arrangements, anyone wishing to make a personal presentation 
to Council will be invited to do this via virtual means (audio / visual teleconference). Arrangements 
for this will be facilitated by Council staff. 

5. At its Ordinary Meeting on Tuesday, 21 July 2020, resolves to adopt with or without amendments, 
the 2019/20 Budget. 
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13.8 COMMUNITY GRANTS ALLOCATION – ROUND 2 2019/20 FINANCIAL YEAR 
Martin Walmsley – Manager Community Wellbeing 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 32/14/35 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider allocation of Round 2 of the 2019/20 Community and 
Community Capital Grants Programs. 
 

BACKGROUND 
Council provides grants to the community in recognition and support for the work undertaken by 
community groups, services and organisations located or operating within the Pyrenees Shire.  These 
grants are designed to enable the provision of activities and events which promote community activity, 
achievement, participation, and wellbeing.  Grants are allocated under the following streams: 
 

• Community Grants 
o Grants of up to $1,500 for programs and equipment 
o Grants of up to $750 for community events 

• Community Capital Grants 
o Grants of up to $5,000 for projects involving capital works or infrastructure improvements 

 
Council allocated $93,000 in the 2019/20 budget to fund the community grants program.  This was split 
between the two grants programs as follows: 
 

• Community Grants – $40,000 for the year 

• Community Capital Grants - $53,000 for the year 
 

At its meeting in May 2019, Council approved the deferred allocation of $22,383.48 against the 2019/20 
allocation for Community Capital Grants, leaving an allocation in the 2019/20 financial year of $30,616.52. 
 

In Round 1 Community Grant allocations, Council approved the allocation as follows: 
 

• Community Grants - $6,060 

• Community Capital Grants - $23,650 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Round 2 of the Community Grants Program for 2019/20 was opened in March 2020.  Following allocations 
in Round 1, the following amounts were available for Round 2: 
 

• Community Grants - $33,940 

• Community Capital Grants - $6,966.52 
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Community Grants and Events 
12 applications for community grants, including events, were received as follows: 
Community Group Township Purpose $ Sought 

Lexton Landcare Group Lexton Weed clearance project $1,000 

Carngham Recreation Reserve Carngham Outdoor seating $1,500 

Waubra Recreation reserve Waubra Hot water service $1,000 

Beaufort Community House Beaufort Publication of recipes and illustrations $1,500 

Beaufort Food Pantry Beaufort Refrigerator purchase $1,3276 

Eureka Community Kindergarten Beaufort Outdoor Resource Storage Shed $1,105 

Raglan Hall & Recreation Reserve Raglan Hot water unit  $1,186 

Avoca Cricket Club Avoca Practice wicket upgrade $1,500 

Avoca Friends of the Pool Avoca Avoca Blue Light Disco Event $600 

Avoca Chinese Garden 
Association 

Avoca Asking for Trouble Event $750 

Casablanca Movie Night Avoca Seniors Week Movie Festival $750 

Beaufort Municipal Band Beaufort Beaufort Brass in the Rotunda $1,500 

Total requested 13,767 

 
Total community and events grants requested total $13,767.  $33,940 is available for community and 
events grants in Round 2.  Subject to Council resolution, it is recommended that all applications be 
considered for approval except for the following: 
 

• Lexton Landcare Group request for $1,000 funding to provide landholders with a 50/50 subsidy for 
week control on property boundaries – this project was unclear on how it would work, and more 
work could be done to develop the project further. 

• Carngham Recreation Reserve request for outdoor seating funding of $1,500 – this project received 
$1,500 funding for this purpose in Round 1 of this financial year.  Council officers will support the 
group in utilising future funding rounds to obtain funding for their whole seating requirements: and 

• Beaufort Municipal Band $1,500 funding request for the band performances – this project is 
considered an event and therefore limited to a funding threshold of $750. 

 

A total of $10,517 is therefore recommended for approval in community and events grants for Round 2 
2019/20, leaving an unspent amount of $23,423 from the 2019/20 annual allocation. 
 
Community Capital Grants 
11 applications for community capital grants were received as follows: 
Community Group Township Purpose $ Sought 

Central Grampians LLEN Ararat L2P Pyrenees $5,000 

Lake Goldsmith Steam 
Preservation Association 

Lake 
Goldsmith 

Replacing electrical cabling for lights at Rally 
Arena 

$5,000 

Beaufort Veggie Patch Beaufort New Timber Veggie Boxes (through Beaufort 
Progress Association) 

$1,892 

Beaufort Progress Association Beaufort New steel security gates for co-working space 
and Indigenous gardens 

$4,400 

Moonambel Arts & History Group Moonambel Installation of Wire Children for Moonambel $4,000 

Avoca Community Arts & 
Gardens 

Avoca Sound and lighting for Avoca Silo Projection 
Project 

$5,000 

Avoca Community Arts & 
Gardens 

Avoca Lighting Avoca Avenue of Honour and Place of 
Contemplation 

$1,500 

Moonambel Events Moonambel Solar system upgrade at Moonambel pavilion $5,000 



9 JUNE 2020 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL  

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION  

 

65 

Amphitheatre Mechanics 
Institute 

Amphitheatre Upgrade of hall toilet facilities $5,000 

Waubra Bowling Club Waubra Replace bank edges $3,250 

Avoca Country Golf Bowling Club Avoca Energy saving project $4,350 

Total requested $44,392 

 
Total community capital grants requested totalled $44,392.  Available funds in Round 2 of this financial 
year amount to $6,996.52, leaving a shortfall (if all projects were accepted) of 37,395.48.  $23,423 is 
currently unallocated from the community and events grants category which could be utilised, still leaving 
a shortfall of $13,942.48.   
 

Two grant applications are not recommended for approval: 
 

• Central Grampians LLEN – to support the L2P learner driver program in the Pyrenees.  Although 
scoring highly in the worth of the project to the community, the funding request is for ongoing 
expenses for the program (e.g. car leases, insurance, fuel, maintenance and salaries) which are not 
usually accepted for funding under this program.  $5,000 
It is recommended that further discussion takes place on how support can be provided via alternate 
means because of its value to the Shire’s youth. 

• Amphitheatre Mechanics Institute – upgrade of hall toilet facilities.  This application was received 
late without required documentation and was considered an ineligible application.  $5,000.  This 
funding could be re-applied for in a future round. 

 

Two grant applications have been received from the Avoca Community Arts & Gardens.  It is not usual to 
provide funding more than once in a financial year to a community group.  Further information is being 
sought on prioritisation of these projects before providing a final recommendation. 
 

The above applications were assessed against documented criteria and reviewed by Council at its briefing 
session on 2nd June 2020. 
 

A summary of the grant applications is provided in the attached document. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 3 - Community Connection and Wellbeing. We will engage with communities to provide 
responsive, efficient services that enhance the quality of life of residents and promote connected, active 
and resilient communities. 
 

3.3 - Community Development - Supporting communities to build connections, capacity and resilience. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.8.1 Community Grants Round 2 Allocation 2019/20 (circulated separately) 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
The budget provides for a financial allocation for community grants in two rounds per year, across two 
streams.  Grants are allocated to community grant applications that meet documented criteria. 
 
CONCLUSION 

Grant applications were received for Round 2 of the 2019/20 financial year community grants programs 
and recommendations have been made for Council to consider. 
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OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 
 

That Council: 
 

1. Resolves to allocate community and events grant funding for Round 2 2019/20 as follows: 
Community Group Township Purpose Approved $Allocated 

Lexton Landcare Group Lexton Weed clearance project   

Carngham Recreation 
Reserve 

Carngham Outdoor seating   

Waubra Recreation reserve Waubra Hot water service   

Beaufort Community House Beaufort Publication of recipes and illustrations   

Beaufort Food Pantry Beaufort Refrigerator purchase   

Eureka Community 
Kindergarten 

Beaufort Outdoor Resource Storage Shed   

Raglan Hall & Recreation 
Reserve 

Raglan Hot water unit    

Avoca Cricket Club Avoca Practice wicket upgrade   

Avoca Friends of the Pool Avoca Avoca Blue Light Disco Event   

Avoca Chinese Garden 
Association 

Avoca Asking for Trouble Event   

Casablanca Movie Night Avoca Seniors Week Movie Festival   

Beaufort Municipal Band Beaufort Beaufort Brass in the Rotunda   
 

2. Resolves to re-allocate unassigned funds from the Community and Events Grant allocation to the 
Community Capital Grants Program to cover a shortfall of funds. 

3. Resolves to allocate community capital grants funding for Round 2 2019/20 as follows: 
Community Group Township Purpose Approved $Allocated 

Central Grampians LLEN Ararat L2P Pyrenees   

Lake Goldsmith Steam 
Preservation Association 

Lake 
Goldsmith 

Replacing electrical cabling for lights 
at Rally Arena 

  

Beaufort Veggie Patch Beaufort New Timber Veggie Boxes (through 
Beaufort Progress Association) 

  

Beaufort Progress 
Association 

Beaufort New steel security gates for co-
working space and Indigenous 
gardens 

  

Moonambel Arts & History 
Group 

Moonambel Installation of Wire Children for 
Moonambel 

  

Avoca Community Arts & 
Gardens 

Avoca Sound and lighting for Avoca Silo 
Projection Project 

  

Avoca Community Arts & 
Gardens 

Avoca Lighting Avoca Avenue of Honour 
and Place of Contemplation 

  

Moonambel Events Moonambel Solar system upgrade at 
Moonambel pavilion 

  

Amphitheatre Mechanics 
Institute 

Amphitheatre Upgrade of hall toilet facilities   

Waubra Bowling Club Waubra Replace bank edges   

Avoca Country Golf Bowling 
Club 

Avoca Energy saving project   
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4. Resolves not to provide funding in this round to the following community groups and request 
officers to respond to these groups advising of the reasons why: 

Community Group Township Purpose 

Lexton Landcare Group Lexton Weed clearance project 

Carngham Recreation Reserve Carngham Outdoor seating 

Waubra Recreation reserve Waubra Hot water service 

Beaufort Community House Beaufort Publication of recipes and illustrations 

Beaufort Food Pantry Beaufort Refrigerator purchase 

Eureka Community Kindergarten Beaufort Outdoor Resource Storage Shed 

Raglan Hall & Recreation Reserve Raglan Hot water unit  

Avoca Cricket Club Avoca Practice wicket upgrade 

Avoca Friends of the Pool Avoca Avoca Blue Light Disco Event 

Avoca Chinese Garden Association Avoca Asking for Trouble Event 

Casablanca Movie Night Avoca Seniors Week Movie Festival 

Beaufort Municipal Band Beaufort Beaufort Brass in the Rotunda 
   

 
Community Group Township Purpose 

Central Grampians LLEN Ararat L2P Pyrenees 

Lake Goldsmith Steam Preservation 
Association 

Lake 
Goldsmith 

Replacing electrical cabling for lights at Rally 
Arena 

Beaufort Veggie Patch Beaufort New Timber Veggie Boxes (through Beaufort 
Progress Association) 

Beaufort Progress Association Beaufort New steel security gates for co-working space 
and Indigenous gardens 

Moonambel Arts & History Group Moonambel Installation of Wire Children for Moonambel 

Avoca Community Arts & Gardens Avoca Sound and lighting for Avoca Silo Projection 
Project 

Avoca Community Arts & Gardens Avoca Lighting Avoca Avenue of Honour and Place of 
Contemplation 

Moonambel Events Moonambel Solar system upgrade at Moonambel pavilion 

Amphitheatre Mechanics Institute Amphitheatre Upgrade of hall toilet facilities 

Waubra Bowling Club Waubra Replace bank edges 

Avoca Country Golf Bowling Club Avoca Energy saving project 
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13.9 PROPOSED CHANGES TO OPENING HOURS OF BEAUFORT COUNCIL OFFICE 
Michelle Richards – Manager Governance, Risk & Compliance 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 16/20/35 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider proposed changes to the opening hours of the 
Beaufort Shire Council Office to the public from the current (Pre COVID-19) arrangement of 8:30 to 5:00pm 
to 9:00am to 4:30pm. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Frontline customer service is one of the most important roles that Council undertakes and is considered a 
core or mandatory service. It supports Council’s governance functions, key legislated roles and all the many 
services and programs delivered under policy. In 2019 Mach 2 Consulting was engaged to undertake a 
review of Council’s Frontline services. The resulting report provided in March 2020 recognised the many 
relationships Council has with citizens (applicant, customer, seeking information etc) and the channels 
through which customers want to interact with Council. 
 

The Review established clear objectives in its early stages, these were: 
 

• a significant change in service outcomes 
• to deliver a financially sustainable outcome for the community 
• to build a customer-centred organisational culture 
• to deliver a ‘best value’ customer service function, and 
• align with and leverage opportunities from the Rural Council Transformation Project 

 

The entire review process was conducted in a manner that respected the scale of the organisation and the 
level of discretionary resourcing that might be available. 
 

Key directions from the review detailed the need to implement a service model that encourages on-line 
delivery of information and access to services and an organisational mobility strategy for staff based on 
improved technology by developing capability in improving business processes and that work redesign will 
be required to effectively implement new arrangements. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Currently (Pre COVID-19) Customer Service Officers at the Beaufort Council Office arrive at 8:15am to 
commence the set up required (opening computers and systems, set up the cash register and receipting 
machines, meeting rooms, procure milk and office supplies, etc.) for the opening of the building at 8:30am. 
At the end of the day Customer Service Officers remain behind until 5:15pm to undertake end of day 
activities including the mail, counting and balancing of the register, completion of outstanding actions to 
allow for the efficient opening of the building the following day.  
 

Customer Service Officers are paid as per normal operational office hours from 8:30am to 5:00pm. 
 

Customer Service Officers undertake activities to fulfill the requirements of the role in their own time, 
without being renumerated accordingly.  The proposed changes to the opening hours of the Beaufort 
Council Office will allow Customer Service to undertake activities essential to the role within rostered hours 
while providing further benefits such as: 
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• The opportunity to undertake training and attend meetings. Currently there is limited opportunity 
to hold “all of team” meetings with Customer Service Officers without being constantly 
interrupted by the phone or a customer coming into the office.  There would also be 
opportunities for staff from other areas to provide updates/training which would fit with a “single 
source of information” model. 

• All staff would have the opportunity to schedule meetings without impacting on our customers 
and all rostered CS Officers could attend organisational meetings instead of the current 
limitations of having to choose a representative. 

• Allow time for CS Officers to walk to the supermarket for milk and set up meeting rooms before 
customers arrive.    

• Regular team meetings for CS staff would improve morale and a sense of belonging. 
• CS staff currently count and balance cash whilst the door is open which presents security issues. 
• Phone services could still be available from 9-5. 
• Customers could come into the office after 4:30pm by appointment, if necessary, e.g. meeting 

with Planning or Rates officers. 
• Most CS interactions are by phone (with emails increasing) which will have minimal impact on 

Customers – data from the Frontline review detailed 150 face to face transactions per month 
compared to 335 by phone. 

• Will complement the desired model of “educating/encouraging self-service” by customers. 
 

The “No Wrong Door” Policy to be implemented as a result of the Review will include expanding Council’s 
services to be delivered from the Resource Centres while providing an online platform for customers to 
undertake payments, requests and activities, reducing the need for customers to travel to the Beaufort 
Council Office and therefore limiting the need for face to face interaction.  
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 4 - Financially Sustainable, High-performing Organisation. Our organisation will respond 
to community needs, attend to our core business, and strive for excellence in service delivery in an ethical 
and financially responsible manner. 
 

4.4 - Develop our systems to support and enable our people to deliver efficient and quality services which 
are cost effective. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial implications associated with the proposed changes to the opening hours of the 
Beaufort Council Office.   
 
CONCLUSION 
Customer service staff play an important role in frontline service to the community.  There needs to be a 
balance between required duties and the ability for staff to be remunerated for hours worked.  The 
proposed changes balance the competing interests. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council adopts the proposed changes to the opening hours of the Beaufort Council Office to 
9:00am to 4:30pm. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

13.9 LOCAL ROADS AND COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM 
Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 32/13/02 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to inform Council about a recent funding allocation from the Commonwealth 
Government and to seek direction about how the funding is to be used. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Pyrenees Shire Council has been allocated $1,394,921 through the Local Roads and Community Infrastructure 
Program (LRCIP) which has been designed by the Commonwealth Government as part of its economic stimulus 
package. Background to the program has been copied below from the program fact sheet: 
 

As the closest tier of government to the community, local governments have a critical role in delivering 
vital services and ensuring the quality of life for communities across Australia. Local governments are 
now also playing a key role in protecting the community from the impacts of COVID-19.  
 

The Australian Government has committed $500 million to the Local Road and Community 
Infrastructure Program (LRCI Program) to support jobs, businesses and the resilience of local 
economies.   
 

From 1 July 2020, councils will be able to access funding to support delivery of priority local road and 
community infrastructure projects.  Who will receive funding?  
 

All local councils will be eligible for funding under the LRCI Program.   
 

State governments and the shires of Christmas Island, Cocos (Keeling) Islands and Norfolk Island and 
the Lord Howe Island Board that deliver council services to unincorporated areas in their jurisdiction 
will also be eligible for funding.   
 

In addition, the Northern Territory Government will be eligible for funding for roads in areas which until 
2008 were unincorporated and for which responsibility has not been transferred to relevant councils. 
How much funding will each council receive?  
 

Each council will receive a share of funding under the Local Roads and Community Infrastructure 
Program (see Local Roads and Community Infrastructure Program: Funding Allocations).  
 

A council’s share of funding has been calculated in a similar way to how the Roads to Recovery 
Program and the road component of the Financial Assistance Grants works. This formula takes into 
consideration road length and population and is based on recommendations of Local Government 
Grants Commissions. How can councils apply for funding?  
 

Councils will be able to select the projects to be funded in their community according to priorities at the 
local level.   
 

Similar to the Roads to Recovery Program, councils will need to submit a Work Schedule that outlines 
the project(s) they plan to undertake.  
 

As long as these projects are eligible local road or community infrastructure projects, they will receive 
funding.  
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Funding is available for local road and community infrastructure projects that involve the construction, 
maintenance and/or improvements to council-owned assets (including natural assets) that are 
generally accessible to the public.  
 

Projects will need to deliver benefits to the community, such as improved accessibility, visual amenity 
and safety benefits.  
 

Eligible local road projects could include works involving any of the following associated with a road:   

• traffic signs;  

• traffic control equipment;  

• street lighting equipment;  

• a bridge or tunnel;   

• a facility off the road used by heavy vehicles in connection with travel on the road (for example, a rest 
area or weigh station);  

• facilities off the road that support the visitor economy; and  

• road and sidewalk maintenance, where additional to normal capital works schedules.   
 

Eligible community infrastructure projects could include works involving:  

• Closed Circuit TV (CCTV);  

• bicycle and walking paths;  

• painting or improvements to community facilities;  

• repairing and replacing fencing;  

• improved accessibility of community facilities and areas;  

• landscaping improvements, such as tree planting and beautification of roundabouts;  

• picnic shelters or barbeque facilities at community parks;  

• playgrounds and skateparks (including all ability playgrounds);   

• noise and vibration mitigation measures; and  

• off-road car parks (such as those at sporting grounds or parks). When will funding be available?  
 

Funding will be available from 1 July 2020.  
 
Further details on the program can be found from the following links: 
 

Announcement - https://minister.infrastructure.gov.au/mccormack/media-release/18-billion-boost-local-
government?utm_source=miragenews&utm_medium=miragenews&utm_campaign=news  
 

Funding Allocations: https://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/files/local-roads-community-infrastructure-
program/lrci-funding-allocations.pdf  
 

Fact Sheet: https://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/files/local-roads-community-infrastructure-program/lrci-
program-factsheet.pdf  

   
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Direction is sought from Council on specific projects to be delivered under the program and the following 
suggestions are made for Council consideration. 
 

It is suggested that Council consider the following principles when determining projects: 
 

1. Projects that have previously been identified in a forward works program. 
2. Projects that renew existing infrastructure. 
3. Projects that create local employment. 
4. Projects that are relatively easy to deliver and generally shovel ready. 

https://minister.infrastructure.gov.au/mccormack/media-release/18-billion-boost-local-government?utm_source=miragenews&utm_medium=miragenews&utm_campaign=news
https://minister.infrastructure.gov.au/mccormack/media-release/18-billion-boost-local-government?utm_source=miragenews&utm_medium=miragenews&utm_campaign=news
https://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/files/local-roads-community-infrastructure-program/lrci-funding-allocations.pdf
https://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/files/local-roads-community-infrastructure-program/lrci-funding-allocations.pdf
https://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/files/local-roads-community-infrastructure-program/lrci-program-factsheet.pdf
https://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/files/local-roads-community-infrastructure-program/lrci-program-factsheet.pdf
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5. Projects that help to deliver identified community needs or plans that have been endorsed by 
Council. 

6. Projects that reduce Council’s long-term financial burden.  
 
At the time of preparing this report a list of projects is being prepared and costed by Council’s Assets and 
Infrastructure Team for Council consideration. Some of the projects include: 
 

• Contribution towards the completion of the Lexton Community Hub (noting that a funding 
application for $500,000 through the state Regional Infrastructure Program was recently 
unsuccessful thereby leaving a funding shortfall to be met by Council). 

• Replacement of streetlights with energy efficient lights – program facilitated by Central Victorian 
Greenhouse Alliance. 

• Construction of Snake Valley Intersection to improve traffic safety. 

• Additional footpath construction (including in Avoca and Snake Valley). 

• Completion of the Langi Kal Kal Road (southern section). 

• Replacement of swimming pool fencing at Beaufort, Avoca and Landsborough pools to meet new 
pool fence standards, and to upgrade other pool infrastructure. 

• Major upgrades to community halls and facilities 
 

It is anticipated that other stimulus funding may be made available by the State and Commonwealth 
Governments including through existing programs such as the Bridges to Renewal Program, and through 
Sport and Recreation Victoria (for which applications have been invited in June 2020). 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 1 - Roads and Townships. We will plan, manage, maintain and renew infrastructure in a 
sustainable way that responds to the needs of the community. 
 

1.1 - Ensure local roads are maintained and renewed in line with adopted plans and strategy to provide a 
safe transport network and meet community needs. 
1.2 - Maintain and renew Council's facilities and built assets in line with community service needs. 
1.4 - Maintain, develop and renew the public amenity of our townships in consultation with our 
communities. 
1.5- Prepare and implement township framework plans to guide future development in Beaufort, Avoca, 
Snake Valley, Lexton, Waubra / Evansford, Landsborough, Moonmabel, Amphitheatre, and Raglan, and 
then consider extending the planning to include other towns 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.10.1 – Grampians Regional Roadmap to Net Zero Emissions (circulated separately) 
 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
There is an opportunity to reduce Council’s financial burden through the renewal and improvement of 
Council managed assets funded under the Local Roads and Community Infrastructure Program. 
 
CONCLUSION 
Council direction is sought on projects to be funded under the Local Roads and Community Infrastructure 
Program. It is intended that the options for funding be workshopped by Council at scheduled Briefing 
sessions. 
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OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council supports the principals contained in this report in determining which project should be 
funded under the Local Roads and Community Infrastructure Program. 
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13.10 G-NET ROADMAP TO ZERO EMISSIONS 
Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
File No: 30/24/04 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to inform Council about the Grampians Renewable Energy Roadmap and   
 
BACKGROUND 
The Grampians New Energy Taskforce, GNET, has been formed to represent, lead and advocate for the 
development of a net zero carbon economy in the Grampians region. GNET are planning for a net zero emissions 
economy by 2050 and are working with communities, the renewables industry and the Government to maximise 
the long-term benefits of this investment to the Grampians region and its people. (https://www.gnet.org.au/) 
The Grampians New Energy Taskforce (GNET) commissioned Victorian based and nationally recognised think 
tank; Beyond Zero Emissions, to develop Australia’s first regionally focused ‘Roadmap to Zero Emissions by 2050 
for the Grampians Region’ (R2Z). The R2Z will envision and guide the decarbonising of the complete Grampians 
region, which includes Ballarat, Central Highlands and Wimmera Southern Mallee. 
 

The R2Z illustrates the pathways and recommended actions for the region to take, as it transitions to a net zero 
emissions economy.  
 

The R2Z explores opportunities that will help the region transition to net zero carbon emissions and provides the 
social, technical and policy foundations needed for empowered local communities to make clear choices about 
their future.  
 

The R2Z and subsequent work will be used to inform community, industry and government of the individual and 
collective change, and resourcing that will need to be implemented to achieve the net aspiration of zero 
emissions by 2050. (https://www.gnet.org.au/roadmap-to-zero-page) 
 

Fact sheets have been prepared on key aspects of the roadmap and are available online via the above link. The 
key aspects include: 

• GNet 

• Energy 

• Transport 

• Agriculture and Land Use 

• Buildings 

• Industry 

• Circular Economy 

• Jobs and Training 

• Community 
 

ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
It is expected that the initiatives contained in the Roadmap (Grampians Regional Roadmap to Zero Net 
Emissions) will be used by government to assist stimulate activity which helps to achieve Victoria’s 
renewable energy target. 
 

There are opportunities for Pyrenees Shire Council to participate in a range of activities which are aligned 
with the Council Plan and assist Council to achieve long term environmental outcomes, and to prepare 
itself for a future low carbon economy. 
 

https://www.gnet.org.au/
https://www.gnet.org.au/roadmap-to-zero-page


9 JUNE 2020 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL  

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION  

 

75 

It is suggested that Council continues to monitor the activities of GNet and seeks further information on 
specific initiatives contained in the Roadmap which help to achieve the Council Plan objectives. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and facilitate 
growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
 

2.3 - Maintain strategic partnerships, and participate with peak bodies for support and to enhance 
advocacy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.10.1 – Grampians Regional Roadmap to Net Zero Emissions (circulated separately) 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Nil 
 
CONCLUSION 
The Grampians Regional Roadmap to Zero Net Emissions has been prepared and is available online. The 
Roadmap will be used by government to assist stimulate activity which helps to achieve Victoria’s 
renewable energy target. There are opportunities for Pyrenees Shire Council to participate in a range of 
activities which are aligned with the Council Plan and assist Council to achieve long term environmental 
outcomes, and to prepare itself for a future low carbon economy. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Council continues to monitor the activities of GNet and seeks further information on specific 
initiatives contained in the Roadmap which help to achieve the Council Plan objectives. 
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14. COUNCILLOR REPORTS AND GENERAL BUSINESS 
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15. CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS 
 
CLOSURE OF MEETING TO MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

That pursuant to the provisions of Section 89(2) of the Local Government Act 1989, the meeting be closed 
to the public in order to consider contractual matters. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the meeting be closed to members of the public under Section 89(2) of the Local Government Act 
1989, in order to discuss personnel matters considered in the reports on:- 
 
15.1  Preferred Suppliers – Professional Services Tender 
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16. CLOSE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting closed at       

 
Minutes of the meeting confirmed  

  
 2020                             Mayor 

 
  
 





Auditor
AltusERM 
Audit Ref 
Number


Recommendatio
n Number Report Dated Title Audit Recommendation Council Comment Action Undertaken Risk Rating Responsible 


Officer
Target due 


date
Sign Off 


Recommendation Internal Auditor Comments


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-05 3, 4 Jun-2018 Council will ensure separation of general ledger line items to identify 
each waste charge and cost for collection and disposal - within a Waste 
Services Section.


Management agree James Hogan - Item complete (see 3.4 - Waste 
charges evidence)


Moderate James  Sep-2018 Recommended for 
completion


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-05 5 Jun-2018 Internal Audit - 
Review of Waste 
Charges


Council will include data analysis of each waste charge as part of 
budget preparation process and quarterly budget reviews.


Management agree James Hogan - Item complete (see 3.4 - Waste 
charges evidence)


Moderate James  Sep-2018 Recommended for 
completion


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-04 3
Jun-2019 IA - Risk 


Management 
Framework


Following review of the Risk Management Framework, those charged 
with risk management responsibilities should be provided with training 
around the risk management process.


Agreed - a training program will be 
implemented in the 2019/20 financial 
year.


Ongoing - mid-way through Certificate IV in Risk 
Management


Minor Sean Mar-2020 Underway - 
Recommended for 


completion
AFS - 


Internal 
Auditor


A2018-07 4 Oct-2018 IA - Human 
Resources 
Management


Human Resources policies overdue for review - To ensure content 
within policies and procedures is up to date and maintains relevance to 
the organisation's positions and processes, all policies and procedures 
should be reviewed at least once every one to three years.
There may be an opportunity to apply a risk based approach to evaluate 
how often each document should be reviewed.


It is planned to have all policies and 
procedures updated by the end of 
2019.


Feb 2020 - All HR Policies and Procedures are up to 
date, with the exception of the Induction Procedure. 
The Induction Procedure will be updated when the 
Induction process has been reviewed.


Minor Norman  Dec-2020 Substantially 
completed - 


Recommended for 
completion


Internal 
Auditor


A2017-8 03/08/2016 Internal Audit - 
Review of Building 
Services


An essential safety service risk analysis should be progressively 
undertaken of all relevant buildings within the Shire and then an 
inspection plan and schedule developed including an associated 
register.


Management agree that this is high 
priority and is working with the relevant 
officers to implement essential service 
coverage of council's buildings.


An audit of Essential Safety Services for all nominated 
buildings was completed by the Building Surveyor.
Non Compliant issues relating to firefighting services 
and equipment, electrical lighting and signage and 
mechanical ventilation have been rectified.
Issues relating to Paths of Travel need to be 
addressed by the Facility Manager.
Building Maintenance issues 95% completed. 
Remaining building maintenance works to be 
completed 25th February 2020. 


Evidence for Property Loss audit – Sean Leyland.
Evidence for works completed from Altus Register


High Mallee / Sean  Consider completion 
subject to satisfactory 
evidence provision by 


Sean Leyland


 


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-07 1 Oct-2018 IA - Human 
Resources 
Management


Lack of Human Resource and Workforce Strategy - PSC will develop 
and implement a Human Resource and Workforce Strategy.  The 
workforce strategy should also then guide the plans and processes 
implemented for Human Resources across PSC.


Management agree Workforce plan in place - dynamic document 
constantly under revieew.


Moderate Norman Jun-2020 Recommended for 
completion - A 


workforce plan is in 
place which is a 


dynamic document
AFS - 


Internal 
Auditor


A2018-07 2 Oct-2018 IA - Human 
Resources 
Management


Lack of formalised workforce planning - To ensure PSC has an 
adequate supply of people with the skills, knowledge and experience 
required to achieve its strategic objectives efficiently and effectively, 
both in the short and long term, we recommend a formal assessment of 
current and future human capital requirements is conducted and a 
Workforce Plan implemented


Council is planning to formally do 
workforce planning.  It is waiting for the 
outcome of a pilot project run by LG 
Pro.


Workforce plan in place - dynamic document 
constantly under revieew.


Minor Norman Jun-2020 Recommended for 
completion - A 


workforce plan is in 
place which is a 


dynamic document


 


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-07 3 Oct-2018 IA - Human 
Resources 
Management


Lack of formalised succession planning - We recommend PSC give 
consideration to identify all critical roles and implementing succession 
planning for all critical roles and roles with a high likelihood of turnover 
within the organisation.  This process should be formally documented.
Succession planning information and outputs should also then be used 
to inform or to be performed in conjunction with the workforce planning 
activities.


As part of the workforce planning, 
succession planning will be included.


Succession planning is one of the considerations 
undertaken as part of the workforce planning.  


Minor Norman Jun-2020 Recommended for 
completion - 


Succession planning 
is part of the 


workforce plan.


Internal 
Auditor


A2017-10 14/11/2016 Internal Audit - 
Review of 
Council's 
Procurement and 
Contract 
Management 
Processes and 
Systems


An annual internal review should be conducted of any creditors 
providing ongoing services or supplies to Council with an aggregate 
value of $50,000 or more per annum to establish the potential and 
practicality of publicly tendering such services and supplier for contract 
terms of three years or longer in accordance with the requirements of 
S186 of the Local Government Act 1989.


Management agrees with this 
recommendation and will implement an 
annual review of aggregated spend.


June 2019 - List obtained from Finance for all 
aggregate expenditure.  Initial assessment breaking 
them up into contracts, preferred suppliers, flood 
contractors by preferred suppliers. Now completed..
Process development for this underway.


Moderate Kathy / James Mar-2020 Recommended for 
completion.  Audit 


completed.


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-05 3, 4 Jun-2018 Internal Audit - 
Review of Waste 
Charges


Council will consolidate waste charges on rates notices to align with 
S.162(1) of the Local Government Act 1989 (e.g. Waste collection and 
disposal charges).


Management agree April Ure - Will update for August rates notices. Moderate April Dec-2018 In progress - will 
request completion at 


next review
AFS - 


Internal 
Auditor


A2019-04 4


Jun-2019 IA - Risk 
Management 
Framework


A Risk Appetite Statement should be developed reflective of current 
practices.  This should then be integrated into the Risk Management 
Framework and provide a basis for future risk assessments, decisions 
and risk reporting


Agreed - a risk appetite statement will 
be developed with Council in the 
2019/20 financial year.


Council workshop completed in March 2020 to 
develop risk appetite statements and tolerance levels.


Minor Kathy / Sean Jun-2020 Completed


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 10


Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 
Health


Class 4 inspections are not planned in a calendar or similar - To ensure 
inspections are conducted equally across the Class 4 premises within 
the municipality, there is an opportunity for PSC to implement a 
calendar of these inspections


Agreed and accepted recommended 
actions.  Will be included within 
Kernow work plan.


Opportunity Katie Aug-2020 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-05 6 Jun-2018 Internal Audit - 
Review of Waste 
Charges


Council will identify and implement ways to ensure all waste cost items 
are itemised - e.g. waste within cleaning contracts put to specific ledger 
number (NB - cleaning contract waste disposal items includes sharps, 
sanitary products street sweeping)


Management agree Moderate James Aug-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 2


Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 
Health


Lack of secondary review of EHO work - To prevent inconsistent 
completion of documentation on environmental health files, we 
recommend ad hoc quality control reviews of files by management.
In addition, recommended that:
- A signed application renewal form is always followed up, even if 
payment is received;
- Food handler's certificates are kept in Health Manager as a permanent 
file item.The possible introduction of separate inspection checklists for 
(a) follow up inspections after breaches and complaints; (b) tobacco 
education visit / sales to minors testing checklist; (c) waste water / 


Agree and accept recommended 
actions 
1. Kernow to introduce a peer review 
process
2. Occasional spot checks will be 
introduced through new internal 
compliance review process


Moderate 1.Katie 
Gleisner


2.RM Team


Aug-2020 Outstanding


RECOMMENDED FOR COMPLETION IN SEPTEMBER 2020


IN PROGRESS - LIKELY TO BE COMPLETE BY SEPTEMBER 2020







Auditor
AltusERM 
Audit Ref 
Number


Recommendatio
n Number Report Dated Title Audit Recommendation Council Comment Action Undertaken Risk Rating Responsible 


Officer
Target due 


date
Sign Off 


Recommendation Internal Auditor Comments


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-04 1


Jun-2019 IA - Risk 
Management 
Framework


The Risk Management Framework undergo a review and be aligned to 
the current practices and standards.


Agreed - a review of the Risk 
Management Framework will be 
undertaken in the 2019/20 financial 
year


Review underway. Moderate Kathy Aug-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-04 2


Jun-2019 IA - Risk 
Management 
Framework


A formal project management framework should be documented to 
ensure a consistent approach to the identification and management of 
project risks from project to project and project manager to project 
manager.


Agreed - a project management 
framework will be developed, 
documented and implemented in the 
2019/20 financial year.


May 2020 - A project risk management procedure has 
been drafted as part of the Risk Management 
Framework review.  
Also needs to align with project management 
framework development
Reported to ARC May 2020
Approval to be sought at next RM Committee meeting


Moderate Kathy Aug-2020 Awaiting approval  


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 3


Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 
Health


Four food premises were operating unregistered for a period of time in 
2018 - Recommend that PSC implement the process documented for 
late payments and unregistered businesses for the 2019 registration 
period


Agree and accept recommended 
action.  Investigation as to whether 
Kernow may have a process that may 
be utilised


Moderate Katie Aug-2020 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2020-02 3


Feb-2020 IA - Project 
Management


Recommend the Project Risk Management document be implemented 
as part of the Project Management Framework and training provided to 
project staff in its application and use.


Agreed.  A project risk management 
procedure has been drafted for 
implementation as part of both the 
future project management framework 
and as part of the current review of the 
risk management framework.


Moderate Kathy Aug-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 1


Nov-2019 IA - Business 
Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


The Business Continuity Policy should be updated to include:
- criteria for developing a BCP
- testing of BCPs
- review of BCPs
- reporting requirements for BCM


Agreed Moderate Kathy Aug-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 2


Nov-2019 IA - Business 
Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


Business Continuity Plan is still in draft and needs to be approved.  It 
needs to include:
- organisational risks of disruption to services
possible causes
preventative/detection controls
correction controls/actions
minimum resource requirements


Agreed Moderate Kathy Aug-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 3


Nov-2019 IA - Business 
Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


PSC has not developed BCPs for critical functions and services such as 
waste collection and home care.  They should include:
- emergency phase - the iitial response
- continuity phase - strategies and resources needed to continue to 
meet critical business objectives
- recovery phase - focus on re-establishing processes to return to 
optimum performance levels.
It is recommended that fully documented and tested BCPs are in place 
for all critical council functions and services (as determined by a BIA).


Agreed Moderate Kathy Aug-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-03 Jun-2018 Internal Audit - 
Legislative 
Compliance


Council will develop a procedure that provides clear guidance on the 
appointment and use of external legal advisors.


Management agree May 2020 - Procedure development in progress. Minor Kathy Aug-2020 In progress - will 
request completion at 


next review


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 8


Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 
Health


Lack of documented process for complaints management - 
Recommend a process for the handling of complaints for environmental 
health is developed and documented.  This can include the timeline for 
a complaint, the requirement to notify the complainant of the outcome 
and the process in the event of communication breakdowns with a 
complainant.
Customer Service Charter is in the process of being developed which 
may include timelines for follow-up.  This should be factored in to the 


ti f th l i t d


Council has a central complaints 
management process which will be 
reviewed to ensure it meets the 
requirements for environmental health 
complaints.


May 2020 - Central Complaints Management 
Processes under review following Ombudsman report.  
Review will ensure this meets environmental health 
complaints requirements.


Minor Katie / Kathy Aug-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-04 5


Jun-2019 IA - Risk 
Management 
Framework


PSC should consider establishing relevant key risk indicators and 
tolerable ranges to complement the organisation's management and 
monitoring of risks.


Agreed - relevant KRIs will be 
established in the 2019/20 financial 
year and implemented as part of 
review and training processes


May 2020 - Risk KPIs, KRIs and targets plus risk 
appetite statements will be developed in 2020 by the 
Risk Management Committee.  Drafted - awaiting 
revision and approval


Minor Kathy / Sean Aug-2020 In progress  


Internal 
Auditor


A2017-11 15/05/2017 Internal Audit - 
Review of Road 
Management Act 
Compliance 
including 
assessment of 
Council's Road 
Management Plan


Council must ensure that its documentation of asset inspection regimes 
and maintenance and response times (both proactive and reactive) are 
well recorded and documented to a standard capable of withstanding 
insurers audit scrutiny and of being used as defence evidence in 
response to insurance claims. Council's inspection documentation 
should describe e in adequate detail the nature of any defect (eg. height 
of any defect in mm) and its exact location.


Asset inspections are done every three 
years by a contractor.
Management cannot agree to 
implementing this recommendation at 
the present time due to resource 
limitations.  This will be considered if / 
when additional resources are 
available.


Council's current inspection system is a paper based 
system that doesn't allow accurate location of defects. 
We also don't currently have the resources to 
measure each defect. How do we measure seven 
different sections of a gravel road with corrugation all 
at different heights.
Feb 2020 - planned for introduction of mobile 
technology as part of transformation project but not 


t f fi t ll t


Moderate Phillip Hoare Dec-2022 Outstanding Internal Audit preferred for this to remain on the 
outstanding register until sufficient technology in 
place to resolve.


7 Council will incorporate and clarify waste charges within review of 
Waste Management Strategy.


11 Review of the Waste Management Strategy to include a response to the 
management and funding of recyclables disposal.


8 Review of the Waste Management Strategy to align with the outcomes 
of the 2015 independent review.


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-05 10 Jun-2018 Internal Audit - 
Review of Waste 
Charges


Council will review the Waste Management Policy. Management agree Moderate Mallee Jun-2021 Outstanding


Jun-2021 OutstandingInternal Audit - 
Review of Waste 
Charges


Jun-2018A2018-05AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


Management agree - included in 
Council Plan priorities.  Ongoing issues 
exist with regard to the fluidity of waste 
management options and government 
direction.


Douglas / 
Mallee


May 2020 - The waste strategy is under review to 
determine where waste and recycling is heading in the 
next 5-10 years.  
E-waste services has commenced and will be 
incoporated into the strategy after a 'settling in' period.


COMPLETION DEPENDENT ON EXTERNAL FACTORS - TIMEFRAME TO BE DETERMINED


OUTSTANDING
High  







Auditor
AltusERM 
Audit Ref 
Number


Recommendatio
n Number Report Dated Title Audit Recommendation Council Comment Action Undertaken Risk Rating Responsible 


Officer
Target due 


date
Sign Off 


Recommendation Internal Auditor Comments


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 1


Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 
Health


Inadequate segregation of duties surrounding the Health Manager 
system.  Recommend the receipt of payment received by the 
Administration Officer is retained on the Health Manager system as 
evidence of payment received


Agree and accepted recommended 
actions.


Moderate Katie Gleisner TBA Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 4


Nov-2019 IA - Business 
Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


Develop procedures to support implementation of the BCM Policy for 
the 
- performance of BIAs
- developing BCPs
- testing and improving plans
Ensure responsible officers are aware of the procedures and have been 
appropriately trained


Agreed Moderate Michelle Dec-2020 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 5


Nov-2019 IA - Business 
Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


Develop a Policy which defines when a BCP will be developed for 
critical functions identified through the BIA.
BIAs performed in 2017 to be reviewed to confirm that changes to 
services / requirements are captured and updated for completeness 
and accuracy


Agreed Moderate Michelle Dec-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 6


Nov-2019 IA - Business 
Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


Develop of testing schedules and plans for all BCPs
Regularly test all BCPs
Ensure the BCP includes a requirement to report the outcomes of 
testing and any improvement actions arising


Agreed Moderate Michelle Jun-2021 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 7
Nov-2019 IA - Business 


Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


When performing testing of plans, include all participants with 
responsibilies as per the BCP.


Agreed Moderate Michelle Dec-2020 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 8
Nov-2019 IA - Business 


Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


Review the IT DRP annually to ensure that it reflects current IT 
infrastructure, systems and operations.


Agreed In progress - revised draft under review. Moderate Scott  Dec-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 9
Nov-2019 IA - Business 


Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


Develop and implement a formal schedule for regular testing of the IT 
DRP.


Agreed Moderate Scott  Jun-2021 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 10
Nov-2019 IA - Business 


Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


Communication Plan be approved as part of the BCP and responsible 
parties are trained.


Agreed Moderate Michelle Dec-2020 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-06 11
Nov-2019 IA - Business 


Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery


IA clear description of all plans, their purpose, activation and transition 
should be included in each plan to allow for appropriate decision 
making.


Agreed Moderate Michelle Dec-2020 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2020-02 1


Feb-2020 IA - Project 
Management


Recommend a formal Project Management Framework is designed and 
implemented to support the management of all projects.


Agreed.  A new role is being recruited 
within Council whose key initial focus 
will be to develop a project 
management framework.  If this does 
not commence within the next six 
months, some preliminary work will be 
undertaken to cover the key aspects of 
the framework


Project Risk Management Guidelines drafted.
Position Description determined and budget allocated 
in DRAFT budget for 2020-2021.
New position to be appointed in 2020.


Moderate Kathy Jun-2021 In progress  


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2020-02 2


Feb-2020 IA - Project 
Management


Implement a formal project governance structure to support delivery and 
oversight of PSC's project program.


Agreed.  Already identified by the 
Executive Leadership Team.  Will be 
addressed as per Recommendation 1 
above.  Initial discussions being held to 
consider establishment of Project 
Control Group to implement 
overarching governance control over 
major projects


Improved project reporting has commenced to 
Council.


Moderate Kathy Sep 2020
Jun 2021


In progress


Internal 
Auditor


A2017-7 04/05/2016 Internal Audit - 
Review of 
Council's Rates 
and Valuations 
Processes and 
Strategies


It is considered that Council should review the provision whereby some 
ratepayers can choose to opt out of using Council's kerbside waste 
collection service as there are potentially public equity issues 
associated with this provision.


Management agrees with a review of 
this practice.


June 2019 - action transferred to Assets.  Minor Douglas / 
Mallee


Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-02 Mar-2018 Internal Audit - 
Long Term 
Financial Planning


Council will undertake scenario analysis on a needs basis to determine 
the impact of a decrease or increase in funds on the capital works 
program (to reduce the risk of unforeseen circumstances).


Management agree To be discussed with James to determine how this 
can be resolved.


Minor Douglas / 
Mallee / James


As the need 
arises


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-03 May-2018 Internal Audit - 
Legislative 
Compliance


Council will develop a business case for dedicated legislative 
compliance software or pursue the manual corporate calendar.


Management agree June 2019 - Attempts were made in 2018 to develop a 
manual corporate calendar.  These were unsuccessful 
due to the work needed to maintain.
Budgetary constraints have not allowed consideration 
of a compliance software to-date and this will be 
carried forward until the 2020-2021 financial year 
budget bids.
This is unlikely to resolved in the near future


Minor Michelle Dec-2020 Outstanding  


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 4


Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 
Health


Absence of an approved environmental health strategy or policy - 
Recommend PSC identify its strategy in relation to the Environmental 
Health function, including the continuous improvement of health 
compliance of businesses in the community - with established timelines 
for key deliverables


Agree and accept recommended 
action.   


Minor Katie Gleisner Dec-2020 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 5


Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 
Health


Policies and procedures register has not been updated since 2016 - 
Recommend the register is reviewed more regularly than every four 
years to ensure it is up to date.  Also recommend when new policies 
and procedures are implemented, that these are added to the register.


Agree and accept recommended 
actions.


Minor Katie Gleisner Jun-2019 In progress


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 7
Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 


Health
Lack of documented process for Streatrader renewals - Recommend 
Streatrader renewal processes are documented to mitigate the risk of 
key person dependency.


Agree and accept recommended 
actions.


Minor Katie Gleisner TBA Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-01 9


Dec-2018 IA - Environmental 
Health


Missed tobacco sales to minors testing visits - Recommend PSC 
ensure all visits required under the MAV tobacco agreement are 
occurring as required, through updated reporting to Council from 
Kernow


Agreed and accepted recommended 
actions.


Minor Katie Gleisner TBA Outstanding







Auditor
AltusERM 
Audit Ref 
Number


Recommendatio
n Number Report Dated Title Audit Recommendation Council Comment Action Undertaken Risk Rating Responsible 


Officer
Target due 


date
Sign Off 


Recommendation Internal Auditor Comments


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2019-04 6


Jun-2019 IA - Risk 
Management 
Framework


A review and approval process should be implemented for the risk 
creation process within AltusERM, prior to risks being added to the Risk 
Register and the Risk Management Framework incorporate the 
frequency which the Risk Register is to be reviewed for its 
completeness and accuracy


Agreed. Issues with using the AltusERM system has resulted in 
re-transfer to spreadsheet format.  Reschedule target 
due date.  May discontinue use of AltusERM if issues 
not resolved.


Minor Kathy / Sean Dec-2020 Delayed  


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-07 6 Oct-2018 IA - Human 
Resources 
Management


Lack of evidence of review and approval of employee performance 
appraisals - We recommend all employee performance appraisal forms 
are completed, signed and dated in order to ensure completeness.


Annual Review and Performance 
Appraisal procedure is currently under 
review.  Process will change and 
findings will be addressed in the new 
process


Software was purchased but not used in 2020 annual 
reviews because of inability to train virtually.  Annual 
reviews will still go ahead and this will be finalised in 
2021.


Minor Norman  Jun-2021 Delayed  


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2018-07 9 Oct-2018 IA - Human 
Resources 
Management


Manual and inaccurate training register - We recommend that PSC 
investigate the viability of investing in the training module within the 
Payroll system.
Where not possible due to resources or where there are delays, we 
recommend that PSC implements manual review, monitoring and 
update processes to ensure that the training register is current and 
accurately reflects the organisation's current skills / completed training 
and training requirements / plans


Management is aware of the issue.  
Hopefully with the improved annual 
review process / performance 
appraisals and the usage of up to date 
technology the issue can be 
addressed.


Budget bid was successful for 2020/21 financial year 
so can now commence.


Minor Norman  Jun-2021 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2020-02 5 Feb-2020 IA Project 
Management


Recommend leveraging existing tools and templates to assist in the 
creation of suite of documents to support the Project Management 
Framework.


Agreed.  This will form part of the 
project management framework 
development by the Project Specialist 
role to be recruited


 Minor Kathy Jun-2021 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2020-02 6 Feb-2020 IA Project 
Management


Recommend enhancing current reporting over projects across Council 
to ensure consistency.


Agreed.  Reporting template to be 
developed to enable consistent project 
reporting.  This will be initially and may 
be updated when Project Specialist 
Role in place


Minor Kathy Sep-2020 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2020-02 7 Feb-2020 IA Project 
Management


Recommendations as per recommendation 1 above - relating to post 
project reviews which are currently conducted informally and are not 
consistently documented.


Agreed.  As part of establishing the 
central Project Control Group, this will 
be part of that Group's process.


Minor Kathy Jun-2021 Outstanding


AFS - 
Internal 
Auditor


A2020-02 8 Feb-2020 IA Project 
Management


Recommend a procedure is developed to ensure project costs are 
captured consistently, including timely close of accounts once projects 
are complete.


Agreed.  Will be discussed and 
implemented in collaboration with 
Manager Finance.


Minor Kathy / James Jun-2021 Outstanding
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Occupational Health and Safety 


TOP 10 CLAIMS BY OCCUPATION 


 


 
 
The chart above details the top ten Occupations, captured by the number of claims with a date of injury in the period 1 July 2016 to 31 December 
2019.  Data is reported at 31 December 2019.  The small number of claims does not allow a top ten to be generated; all claims are reported here. 
 
The “Labourers” grouping includes workers such as Garbage Collectors, Cleaners, Paving and Surfacing Workers and Nursery and Garden 
Labourers. 
 
The “Professionals” grouping includes workers such as Welfare and Community Workers, Pre-Primary School Teachers, Librarians, Education 
Officers, Registered Nurses, Accountants and Urban and Regional Planners. 
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TOP 10 CLAIMS BY BODY LOCATION 


 


 
 
The chart above details the top ten Body Locations, captured by the number of claims with a date of injury in the period 1 July 2016 to 31 December 
2019.  The small number of claims does not allow a top ten to be generated; all claims are reported here. 
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TOP 10 CLAIMS BY NATURE OF INJURY 


 


 
 
The chart above details the top ten Natures of Injury, captured by the number of claims with a date of injury in the period 1 July 2016 to 31 December 
2019.  The small number of claims does not allow a top ten to be generated; all claims are reported here. 
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TOP 10 CLAIMS BY MECHANISM OF INJURY 


 


 
 
The chart above details the top ten Mechanisms of Injury, captured by the number of claims with a date of injury in the period 1 July 2016 to 31 
December 2019.  The small number of claims does not allow a top ten to be generated; all claims are reported here. 
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CLAIMS PER 100 FTE 


 


 
 
The Claims per 100 FTEs is calculated using the following formula (using FTE data as provided in Annual Reports; the result for the 2019-2020 
accident year uses the FTE as reported in the Annual Report for the 2018-2019 financial year): - 
 


(Number of Claims in the Accident Year X 100) 
Number of FTE for the Accident Year 


 
An Accident Year is the financial year in which the injury occurred, that is the date of injury.  This may be different to the financial year the claim was 
reported. 
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OHS PERFORMANCE REVIEW GUIDE 


What to do with this information 


 


• Conduct an analysis on the information contained within this report to: 


− Identify trends 


− Understand contributing factors from injuries sustained 
 


• Put together a consolidated report of the graphs contained in this report together with your analytical findings and submit as an agenda item for 
the Executive, Senior Management or Leadership Team meetings as well as the Occupational Health & Safety Committee meeting.  (NOTE: 
Provide copies of the consolidated report as an attachment to the agendas.) 


 


• Where high incident rates are identified review the most recent risk assessments to ensure that suitable controls are in place (using the “hierarchy 
of controls”.) 


 


• Where risk assessments haven’t been conducted or are out-of-date, as a priority schedule and conduct risk assessments.  


 


• Conduct Safety Observations against current procedures on activities identfied where injuries are most frequently occurring. 


 


• Ensure the following persons are involved when reviewing Risk Assessments and conducting Safety Observations: 


− Health and Safety Representative for the relevant work area 


− Supervisor and/or Manager of the relevant work area 


− Person/s who carry out the work of the relevant tasks / duties 
 


• Keep your Regional Risk Consultant (RRC) informed – your RRC can assist in the review of this report and provide information / things to 
consider / templates etc. for risk assessments, data analysis, consolidated report writing. 
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Claims and Return to Work 


NEW CLAIMS 


 


 
 
This chart reports the total number of claims received for each accident year as at 31 December 2019.  The 2019-20 accident year is incomplete and 
a projection is provided for 30 June 2020 based on the number of claims received as at 31 December 2019. 
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OPEN CLAIMS 


 


 
 
The chart above details the number of open claims (as at 31 December 2019) by accident year. 
  







 


 


11 
 


OPEN CLAIMS BY DURATION 


 


 
 
The open claims as at 31 December 2019 are reported here by the length of time the claim has been open.  Length of time open is summarised by 
Duration Group.  This chart includes all open claims, regardless of the accident year. 
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EARLY INTERVENTION – MEDICAL CERTIFICATES 


 


  


 
Both charts only include claims received by JLT from 1 November 2017 to 31 December 2019 where a medical certificate was provided and there 


was at least one day of weekly compensation paid.  Claims are reported on the basis of the financial year the claim was received by JLT. 


Captured in the first chart is the average number of days between the date of injury and the date of the first medical certificate submitted by the 


injured worker. 


The second chart examines the average total paid for the claims grouped according to the length of time between the date of injury and the date of 


first medical certificate provided by the injured worker. 
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EARLY INTERVENTION – CERTIFIED WORK CAPACITY 


 


  


 
Both charts only include claims received by JLT from 1 November 2017 to 31 December 2019 where a medical certificate was provided and there 


was at least one day of weekly compensation paid.  Claims are reported on the basis of the financial year the claim was received by JLT. 


The first certified capacity for claims received is reported in the first chart above.  The second chart examines the average total paid for claims 


according to the year the claim was received and the certified work capacity on the first medical certificate. 
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RETURN TO WORK RATES BY KEY DATE 


 


 


 


The table above examines return to work rates (either suitable or pre-injury duties) for injured workers, at key points following receipt of their claim by 


JLT in the period 1 November 2017 to 31 December 2019.  The return to work rate is reported as a proportion of injured workers with one or more 


days of weekly compensation paid who had made a return to work at the key date.  The key dates are 13 weeks, 26 weeks, 52 weeks and 104 weeks 


after JLT received the claim.  As the number of claims is relatively small, the claims are reported by the quarter the claim reached the key date.  The 


data continues to develop; the only claims that have reached 104 weeks since JLT received the claim are those received in November 2017 and 


December 2017, reaching 104 weeks in Quarter 2 of the 2019-20 financial year. 


  


13 Wk RTW 26 Wk RTW 52 Wk RTW 104 Wk RTW


Q3, 2017-18


Q4, 2017-18 100.00%


Q1, 2018-19 100.00% 100.00%


Q2, 2018-19 0.00% 100.00%


Q3, 2018-19 0.00% 100.00%


Q4, 2018-19 100.00%


Q1, 2019-20 0.00%


Q2, 2019-20
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CURRENT RETURN TO WORK STATUS BY CLAIM RECEIVED PERIOD 


 


 


 
The chart above provides the return to work status (what injured workers are doing at work) for all claims with at least one day of weekly 


compensation paid (as at 31 December 2019) by the quarter the claim was received. 
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TIME LOST 


 


 


 
The chart above examines the amount of time off paid as weekly compensation for each accident year of claims.  The 2018-19 and 2019-20 accident 


years have not fully developed and will understandably have a lower number of claims reaching and exceeding 26 and 52 weeks of time lost.  This 


chart is impacted by the employer liability that existed pre-self-insurance, where claims with ten or less days of weekly compensation were recorded 


by the former Agents as no time lost. 
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CONTINUANCE RATE – 13 PAID WEEKS 


 


 


 
The chart above details the proportion of injured workers with at least one day of weekly compensation paid that reached and / or exceeded 13 


weeks of paid compensation as at 31 December 2019.  The claims are reported by accident year. 
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CONTINUANCE RATE – 26 PAID WEEKS 
 


 


 
The chart above details the proportion of injured workers with at least one day of weekly compensation paid that reached and / or exceeded 26 


weeks of paid compensation as at 31 December 2019.  The claims are reported by accident year. The 2019-20 accident year continues to develop; 


as at 31 December 2019, there were no claims in this cohort. 
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CONTINUANCE RATE – 52 PAID WEEKS 


 


 


 
The chart above details the proportion of injured workers with at least one day of weekly compensation paid that reached and / or exceeded 52 


weeks of paid compensation as at 31 December 2019.  The claims are reported by accident year. The 2018-19 and 2019-20 accident years continue 


to develop; as at 31 December 2019, there were few claims in these cohorts. 
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CONTINUANCE RATE – 134 PAID WEEKS 


 


 


 
The chart above details the proportion of injured workers with at least one day of weekly compensation paid that reached and / or exceeded 134 


weeks of paid compensation as at 31 December 2019.  The claims are reported by accident year. The 2017-18, 2018-19 and 2019-20 accident years 


continue to develop; as at 31 December 2019, there were no claims in these cohorts. 
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PAYMENTS BY FINANCIAL YEAR 


 


  


 
The chart “Payments by Financial Year” details all payments made for the financial years from 2016-17 to 2019-20 as at 31 December 2019.  


Payments reported here are for all claims, regardless of the accident year. 


The chart “Payments by Financial Year (Accident Years 2016-17 to 2019-20)” details the payments made for claims within the selected accident 


years only by financial year (the payments detailed in the second chart are a subset of the payments detailed in the first chart). 
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PAYMENTS BY PAYMENT CATEGORY 


 


  


 
The chart “Payments by Payment Category” details all payments made for the financial years from 2016-17 to 2019-20 as at 31 December 2019.  


Payments reported here are for all claims, regardless of the accident year.   


The chart “Payments by Payment Category (Accident Years 2016-17 to 2019-20)” details the payments made for claims within the selected accident 


years only (the payments detailed in the second chart are a subset of the payments detailed in the first chart). 
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PAYMENTS BY PAYMENT CATEGORY BY PAYMENT YEAR 
 


 


 
The table above details all payments made from 1 July 2016 to 31 December 2019, reported by payment year (financial year) and payment category.  


All claims and payments are included here regardless of the accident year of the claim. 


  


Payment Year
Weekly 


Compensation


Medical 


Treatment
Legal Costs


Investigation & 


Medico-Legal
Lump Sum Rehabilitation Travel / Accom Total


2016-17 $86,358.80 $32,241.58 $0.00 $12,477.57 $0.00 $3,341.51 $1,719.90 $136,139.36


2017-18 $79,555.33 $23,372.70 $0.00 $5,670.85 $32,020.00 $12,076.30 $4,438.30 $157,133.48


2018-19 $112,396.35 $22,879.35 $1,126.00 $12,145.52 $25,289.00 $3,319.02 $5,169.50 $182,324.74


2019-20 $24,284.25 $3,363.79 $325.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,119.52 $1,275.60 $30,368.16


Total $302,594.73 $81,857.42 $1,451.00 $30,293.94 $57,309.00 $19,856.35 $12,603.30 $505,965.74
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Premium 
. 


PREMIUM BY POLICY YEAR 


 


 
 
Figures exclude GST and based on the certfied remuneration except for the most recent year. 
Premium is calculated as premium rate times remuneration. 
WorkSafe refers to historical actual premium paid under the WorkSafe Scheme. 
WorkSafe (ground-up basis) is the WorkSafe premium that would have been paid to cover under-excess claims.  A 10% loading has been added to 
the WorkSafe premium. 
MAV WorkCare are the premiums paid under the MAV WorkCare Scheme 
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REMUNERATION BY POLICY YEAR 


 


 
 
Remuneration is certified remuneration except for the most recent year where the remuneration has been estimated.  The certification process will 
occur after financial year end. 
 
The remuneration includes wages, salaries, superannuation and other benefits you pay to your workers before tax.  There are specific inclusions and 
exclusions – please consult MAV WorkCare if required. 
 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


$5.0m


$5.7m $5.8m


$7.0m $6.7m $7.0m $7.0m $7.2m


$6.1m


$7.9m
$7.3m


$8.9m


$0.0m


$1.0m


$2.0m


$3.0m


$4.0m


$5.0m


$6.0m


$7.0m


$8.0m


$9.0m


$10.0m


Remuneration
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PREMIUM RATE BY POLICY YEAR 


 


 
 
Premium Rate is the Percentage Rate that is applied to your remuneration to calculate your premium. 
WorkSafe refers to the historical premium rates that were applied by your WorkSafe agent. 
WorkSafe (ground-up basis) refers to the WorkSafe premium rate that would have been required to cover under-excess claims.  A 10% loading has 
been added to the WorkSafe premium rate. 
MAV WorkCare refers to premium rates under the MAV WorkCare Scheme which provides coverage on a ground-up (no excess) basis. 
  


1.92%


2.28%


1.67%
1.47%


1.30% 1.25% 1.20%
1.09% 1.16%


2.11%


2.51%


1.84%
1.62%


1.43% 1.38% 1.32%
1.20% 1.28% 1.17%


1.35%
1.60%


0.0%


0.5%


1.0%


1.5%


2.0%


2.5%


3.0%


Premium Rates


WorkSafe WorkSafe (ground-up basis) MAV WorkCare
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CLAIMS PERFORMANCE FACTOR BY POLICY YEAR 


 


 
 
Claims Performance Factor is the ratio of the member’s claims cost to the expected claims cost if the member was average member of the Scheme.  
A claims performance factor that is: 


• higher than 100% means the member is worse than the Scheme average.   


• lower than 100% means the member is better than the Scheme average. 


• at 100% means the member is at the Scheme average. 
 
Claim frequency factor is the ratio of actual number of claims to the expected number of claims for an average Scheme member. Again, more 100% 
means worse than Scheme average, lower than 100% mean better than Scheme average and at 100% means at the Scheme average. 
 
Claim size factor is the ratio of average claim size of the member to the expected average claims size for an average Scheme member.  Again, more 
100% means worse than Scheme average, lower than 100% mean better than Scheme average and at 100% means at the Scheme average. 
 
Claims Performance Factor is the mulitiplication of the Claims Frequency Factor and the Claims Size Factor.  
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OHS – ANALYSIS OF INJURIES AND CAUSES 


Occupation 


Other Social Professionals 1 


Other Professionals 2 


4Cooks 1 


Gardeners 1 


Other Miscellaneous Tradespersons and Re 1 


Other Intermediate Service Workers 1 


Truck Drivers 1 


Handypersons 1 


Other Miscellaneous Labourers and Relate 1 


  


Grouped Occupation 
Professionals 3 


Outside - Trade and Labour Workers (Truck 
drivers, gardeners, handypersons) 5 


Other (Service workers, Cooks) 2 


  


Worksite Location  


Road and bridge construction 1 


Government administration 9 
 


Agency 


Agency Not Apparent 2 


Graders, Dozers, Snowploughs etc. 1 


Non-physical Agencies 1 


Other Equipment 1 


Other Materials and Objects 1 


Other Person 3 


Trucks, Semi-trailers, Lorries 1 


 


Grouped Agency  


Vehicles / Equipment (graders, dozers, 
snowploughs / trucks, semi-trailers, lorries / Other / 


Other materials and objects) 4 


Other person 3 


Agency not apparent 2 


Non-physical Agencies 1 


 
 
Nature 


Back pain, strain, sciatica(non-traumatic) 1 


Deafness 1 


Multiple Injuries 1 


Muscle / tendon strain- neck 2 


Other fractures, not elsewhere classified 1 


Other reaction to stressors 4 


Soft Tissue Injury / Bruises / Haematoma 1 
 


Mechanism 


Hitting Stationary Objects 1 


Trapped Between Moving Objects 1 


Exposure to Mechanical Vibration 1 


Long Term Exposure to Sounds 1 


Muscular Stress, Lifting etc. 1 


Work pressure 1 


Other mental stress factors 1 


Work related harassment and/or workplace bullying  2 


Other/multi. Mechanisms of Inj. 1 


 
Grouped Mechanism 


Related to objects/equipment (alighting backhoe / 
vibration) 4 


Work pressure/stress/harassment or bullying 4 


Manual handling (Lifting) 1 


Exposure to noise 1 


 
Body Location 


Ear 1 


Elbow 1 


Fingers 1 


Knee 1 


Lower Back 1 


Other Specified Multiple Loc. 1 


Psychological Sys. In General 4 
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OHS – ANALYSIS OF INJURIES AND CAUSES (Continued) 


 


 


 
 
Psych Injury – Work pressure / stress / harrasment or bullying. 
 
Related to objects / equipment – hitting objects, between moving objects, getting out of backhoe, vibration of equipment. 
 
Manual Handling – (Lifting) i.e. lifting heavy box of equipment (kitchen) 
 
Noise – exposure to industrial noise .  
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Recommendations for OHS Improvement 


Member: Pyrenees Shire Council 


Strategy Action 
Who is 


responsible? 
When Anticipated result Actual result 


Mental Health 
and Wellbeing 


▪ Review (and/or develop) policies and procedures relating to: 
- Anti-Bullying and Harassment Policy and Procedure 
- Reporting unacceptable behaviour 
- Hazard / Risk Reporting 
- Compliments and Complaints registers and reports 


procedures and practices 
- Performance Management and Performance Review 


policies, procedures and processes 


  ▪ Policies, procedures and processes 
are developed, reviewed and where 
required, amended, to address all 
unacceptable behaviour in the 
workplace. 


▪ Appropriate systems and processes 
are developed and implemented for 
managing all unacceptable behaviour 
in the workplace. 


 


▪ Consider developing for all employees a ‘harmony in the 
workplace’ type of program that informs and educates on: 
- Customer Service including dealing with hostility 
- Dealing with occupational violence (physical and non-


physical) 
- Anti-bullying, harassment and discrimination 
- Acceptance and diversity in the workplace 


  ▪ Training and education have been 
developed for addressing and 
managing all unacceptable behaviour 
in the workplace. 


▪ All employees have received training 
and education on policies, 
procedures and processes applicable 
to addressing and managing 
unacceptable behaviour in the 
workplace. 


 


Relating to 
objects / 
equipment 


▪ Investigate work practices to identify factors that may be 
contributing to incidents relating to working with objects and 
equipment.  Consider: 
- Housekeeping practices within the workplace  
- Work planning and mapping, time schedules, resource 


allocations, pre and post work site assessments, etc.  
- Accessing and alighting from large vehicles and equipment. 


  ▪ Housekeeping practices reviewed 
and amended where required i.e. 
storing, placing of and parking 
vehicles/equipment. 


▪ Assessment of work allocation, 
resources, timeframes, assessments 
pre and post undertaking work, 
introduce Take 5 or S.T.O.P. 
program. 


▪ “3-Point contact” program 
implemented. 
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Recommendations for Improvement – Claims and RTW 
Member: Pyrenees Shire Council  


Member Contact:    E:    P:    M:    


MAV WorkCare Contact:   E:     P:    M:  


Strategy Action Who is 
responsible? 


When Anticipated result Actual result 


Policy      


     


     


Procedure Review the RTW procedure and 
assign internal roles and 
responsibilities and update 
document accordingly 


    


Identify staff who may need 
awareness session and/or 
training on r&r’s and deliver 
accordingly 


    


Ensure policy, procedure and 
templates are accessible to staff 


    


Management Review Determine organisational KPIs 
linked to the RTW procedure 


(quantitative and qualitative) 


    


Establish reporting framework     
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Strategy Action Who is 
responsible? 


When Anticipated result Actual result 


Implement management review 
process 
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Contacts 


 
For queries in relation to the specific measures contained within the report 


 


Return to Work and Claims 


 
Jonathon Sanderson 
JLT Claims Manager – WorkCare 


Tel +61 3 8664 9367  Mob +61 429 664 602 
jonathon.sanderson@jlta.com.au 
 


Occupational Health and Safety 


 
Gary Chaplin 
OHS Manager – WorkCare 


Tel +61 3 8664 9335  Mob +61 428 041 788 
gary.chaplin@jlta.com.au 
 
 
To arrange a meeting or for further queries relating to Member performance 


 


Occupational Health and Safety 


 
Bernadette Brennan 
OHS Manager 


Tel +61 3 9667 5576 
bbrennan@mav.asn.au  
 


Return to Work and Claims 


 
Nabeel Nizam 
Claims Manager 


Tel +61 3 9667 5575  Mob +61 438 788 572 
nnizam@mav.asn.au  
 


Premium 


 
Tehn Chin 
Senior Manager – Scheme Performance 


Tel +61 3 9667 5574  Mob +61 448 864 574 
tchin@mav.asn.au  
 



mailto:jonathon.sanderson@jlta.com.au

mailto:gary.chaplin@jlta.com.au

mailto:bbrennan@mav.asn.au

mailto:nnizam@mav.asn.au

mailto:tchin@mav.asn.au






Project Report ‐ May 2020


Project Name Description Location Total Project Cost  Start Date End Date
Reference 
Committee


Status Comments


Activate Avoca Upgrades to railways station carpark, wayfinding 
signage, improvement to main street, reactivation of 
former Shire offices


Avoca  $                 750,000  Dec‐2019 Jun‐2021 yes Commenced Element 1 Railway Precinct ‐ Car Park construction 
completed. Stage 1 Footpath completed. Stage 2 
Footpath Sunraysia Highway to Station Carpark ‐ 
Quotes sought and scope adjusted. Construction in Q3
Element 2 Streetscape ‐ Final plan endorsed by 
Council. Service locations completed at all tree 
planting, pedestrian crossings, minor traffic treatment 
conflict points. Detail plan of this survey available mid 
May
Element 3 ‐Town Hall building ‐ Renovation works well 
placed to be completed Q3.  RFQ for Ramp, plastering, 
windows received. Building Permit sought.


Avoca Inclusive Playspace All inclusive playground in Avoca Avoca Main Street  $                 312,000  Jan‐2020 Dec‐2020 yes In Progress Final concept plans received, documentation for 
tendering underway


Avoca BBQ Shelter Replacement  Avoca Main Street  $                 100,000  Jan‐2020 Dec‐2020 yes In Progress Construction contractor appointed. Shop drawings 
produced. Building Permit being sought. Construction 
to commence in Q3 


Amphitheatre Toilet Block Replacement Facilities Renewal Amphitheatre  $                 150,000  Jul‐2019 Dec‐2019 Completed / Acquitted Works Completed


Stage 1 ‐ Park St & Railway Station, 
Beaufort


 $                 300,000  Stage 1 2017 Stage1 ‐ 2018 Completed / Acquitted Officially opend by Member for Wannon 2019


Stage 2 ‐   $                 106,566  Preliminary Planning Awaiting opportunity for second stage grant in order 
to proceed with project.


Creating Female Friendly Facilities at the Carngham 
Recreation Reserve


Netball Change facitlites Carngham Recreation Reserve  $                 300,000  Mar‐2020 Sep‐2020 yes Approval Final Design approved by SRV. Tendering May 2020


Snake Valley Linear Park Skate Component Skate component of the Linear Park Snake Valley  $                 375,000  Dec‐2019 Aug‐2020 yes Commenced Works scoped. Tree removal works completed.  Final 
design complete.  Soil test completd. Tendering June 
2020 
Contruction in Q3 & Q4.


Lexton Community Hub Development of a new Community Hub Lexton Recreation Reserve  $             2,790,498  Oct‐2019 Jun‐2021 yes Approval Final Design 98% completed. Planning Permit applied 
for . Building Permit ‐May/June  Mortun Dun to 
prepareTender Documents. 
Awaiting advice regarding additional state funding 
application.


Sustainable Community Hubs Improvements to three existing halls Redbank Raglan Barkly  $                 348,400  Jan‐2017  June 2019 Completed / Acquitted Invitation sent to Minister Pulford for official opening. 
Due to inability, Minister instead raised the matter of 
the project in Victorian Parliament.


Bridge 13, Beaufort‐Carngham Road Bridge 13, Beaufort‐Carngham Road Beaufort‐Carnghame Road, 
24.60km from Western Highway 
(Bridge 13)


 $                 445,405  Jan‐2019 Oct‐2019 Completed / Acquitted Road open to traffic


Bridge 91 ‐ Landsborough‐Elmhurst Road Deck Overlay Landsborough‐Elmhurst Road, 
14.02km from Ararat‐St Arnaud 
Road Landsborough (Bridge 91)


 $                 265,072  May‐2019 Dec‐2019 Practically Completed Some works to be undertaken in Defects liability 
Period


Bridge 59 ‐ Eurambeen‐streatham Road Bridge 
Replacement 


Replace existing bridge over Sheepwash Creek  Eurambeem‐Streatham Road   $                 654,458  Mar‐2020 Jul‐2020 Commenced Construction commenced April 2020. Works 
progressing well. Minimal delays due to weather open 
to traffic in June 2020


Eurambeen‐Streatham Road Reconstruction Reconstruction and pavement strengthening of 
2.70km of the above road that is currently 
substandard between the Western Highway and the 
Melbourne‐Adelaide railway line


232 Eurambeen‐Streatham Road, 
Beaufort VIC 3373


 $                 650,000  Jan‐2019 Jun‐2019 Completed / Acquitted Works Completed and road opened to traffic


Eurambeen‐Streatham Road Reconstruction Reconstruction and pavement strengthening of 780m 
of the above road


Eurambeen‐Streatham Road  $                 326,500  Dec‐2019 Mar‐2020 Practically Completed Works Completed and road opened to traffic


Beaufort Walkability Project Implementation of Beaufort Walkability Plan ‐ 
Construction of new walking and cycling paths 
linkiing existing pathways to key infrastructure and 
services
Stage 1 completed 2018
Stage 2 budget allocated subject to securing grant


1 of 3







Project Report ‐ May 2020


Project Name Description Location Total Project Cost  Start Date End Date
Reference 
Committee


Status Comments


Langi Kal Kal Road Reconstruction  Langi Kal Kal Road Reconstruction  Langi Kal Kal Road   $                 693,124  Feb‐2020 Jun‐2020 Practically Completed Works Completed and road opened to traffic
Raglan‐Elmhurst Road Raglan‐Elmhurst Road 1.68km  $                 598,500  Jan‐2020 Jun‐2020 Practically Completed Works Completed and road opened to traffic
Bridge 38 ‐ Chepstowe Pittong Road Replacement  Chepstowe Pittong Road 344,000$                   Apr‐2020 Sep‐2020 Concept Planning Soil tests underway.  Tenders in Q3 for bridge 


componentry.  Commencing in Q4 subject to Council 
decision


Bridge 93 and 94  Replacement of two bridges
Joint project with Ararat Rural City


Landsborough‐Elmhurst Road  1,500,000$               Oct‐2019  April 2020 Completed / Acquitted Bridgeworks and road sealing completed mid Dec 
ahead of schedule.
Opened to traffic Dec 2019.


Vinoca Road Avoca Stages 1  Upgrade Stage 1  Vinoca Road, Avoca  $                 430,135  Mar‐2020 Jun‐2020
Approval Designs underway.  Works in Q3/Q4 subject to Council 


decision


Vinoca Road Stage 2 Vinoca Road, Avoca
Survey completed and Design to be finalised in Q3


Waubra Talbot Road Waubra Talbot Road
Designs underway.  Works in Q3/Q4 subject to Council 
decision


Linton Carngham Road  Linton Carngham Road  Survey and Design to commence Q3
Linton Carngham Snake Valley Smythesdale Rd 
intersection


Linton Carngham Snake Valley 
Smythesdale Rd intersection


 $                   87,009  Oct‐2020 Dec‐2020
Design completed. RFQ and progress works in Q3 and 
Q4


Roadside Weeds & Pests Program Control of roadside weeds & pests Pyrenees Shire  $                   50,000  Jul‐2019 Jun‐2020 commenced 1 year contract with state govt. Main works scheduled 
for Dec 2019


Flood Study ‐ Raglan The study will determine the potential impacts of 
flooding in the town of Raglan.


Raglan  $                 156,000  Jun‐2019 Jun‐2020 In Progress > 50% complete


Flood Study ‐ Upper Avoca River The study will determine the potential impacts of 
flooding at Amphitheatre, Avoca, and Natte Yallock.


Avoca  $                 240,000  Jun‐2019 Aug‐2020 In Progress consultation, research and plan preparation well 
advanced.


Buildings Energy Efficiency project Implement recommendations from stream 2 and 
Implement recommendations from Facility Audits. 
Stream 3


Shire  $                 212,000   July 2019  April 2020 Practically Completed SV Contract 
Works substaantially completed at 8 sites. Works 
include solar panels, improvements of AC and lighting


Turning the Heat on at the Avoca Pools Installation of a heat pump, thermal blankets, shade 
structure and a hot water system to changerooms


Avoca   $                 186,000  Jun‐2018 Jun‐2019 Practically Completed Monitoting post implementation


Beaufort Recycled Water Project treat and reuse wastewater to class 3 for recreation 
space irrigation
Stage 1 ‐ Design
Stage 2 ‐ construct


Beaufort  200,000$                   Oct‐2019 Apr‐2020 Commenced Design commenced
CHIWMF endorsed project to proceed to grant 
application for construction stage for $3M project.
CHW project manager presentation to Council briefing 
in Feb 2020


Correa Park Residential Development  Stage 3 and 4 development  Beaufort 2,500,000$               Jun‐2019 Dec‐2020 Approval Land Purchase finalised.
Detailed design  and specification completed. 
Tenders invited. 
Anticipate site works to commence for s3 and s4 in Q4.


stage1, 2, 3 ‐ Feasibility, Concept and tech 
assessment, business case


350,000$                    Jan 2015  Jun 2019 Completed / Acquitted Advocacy phase


stage 4 detailed design and construct subject to funding
Stage 1 Feasibility study and Business case for a straw  Shire wide $                   85,000  Jan 2017 Dec 2018 yes Completed / Acquitted
Stage 2 ‐ Supply, install and commission new plant at 
Skipton Hospital


Skipton  $                 305,000  Sep‐2019 May‐2020 yes In Progress Tender awarded to Enerbi to supply install and 
commission plant at Skipton Hospital


The Grampians Pyrenees Wine Region Marketing 
Masterplan Implementation


Implentation of Grampains Pyrenees Wine Culinary 
Masterplan


Grampians Pyrenees Region  $                 120,000   June 2019  Dec 2020 In Progress Coordination by Grampians Toutism


Signage improvement project To assess existing signage, remove obsolete signs and 
replce new tourism related signage


Beaufort and Avoca  50,000$                     Jan‐2019 Jun‐2020 Commenced Assessment completed by Driscoll Engineering, 
obsolete signs removed, replacemnt signage in 
progress. 
Additional investigation unfderway regarding shire 
trails signage.


Moonambel


Central Highlands Straw Pellet Project


Moonambel Water Project
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Project Report ‐ May 2020


Project Name Description Location Total Project Cost  Start Date End Date
Reference 
Committee


Status Comments


ICT Strategy Implementation GREXit ‐ transition from GRHA to new Telstra contract  Beaufort and Avoca  430,000$                   Mar‐2019 Mar‐2021 Practically Completed $430k over 3 years includeds capital and op ex.
Increase upload capacity from 60 to 100mbps and 
download from 25 to 100mbps
Includes new internet provision, firewall, telephony, 
switching, and infrastructure


Drought Communities Programme Various Projects funded to provide economic 
stimulus and to asssit drought affected communities


Shire wide 2,000,000$               Dec‐2019 Dec‐2020 Approval Applications made for Council endorsed projects. 
Announcements imanent.


Replacement Briidge 32 Carngham Streatham Road Investigation and Grant Application Carngham 800,000$                   In Progress Investigations and Grant Applications
Replacement Bridge 139 Raglan Elmhurst Rd Investigation and Grant Application Raglan 1,000,000$              In Progress Investigations and Grant Applications
Guardrail upgrade at Bridges 20, 87, 111 and 97 Installation of approach and departure railing at 4 


bridges to remove the risk associated with existing 
ramped bridge rails


Bridge 20 Black Bottom Road, 
Bridge 87 Landsborough Barkly 
Road, Bridge 111 Moonambel 
Warrenmang Road, Bridge 97 
Lexton Ararat Rd 330,000$                  


Feb‐2020 Jun‐2020 no In Progress Works Commenced


Drought Communities Programme Round 1 ‐ 
Connecting Footpaths


Construction of footpath from Linton Carngham Road 
to Carngham Recreation Reserve 


Snake Valley


150,000$                  


January Mar‐2021 no In Progress Survey and design being undertaken


Drought Communities Programme ‐ Round 1 Sewer 
Connection


 Carngham Female Friendly Facility Snake Valley 90,000$                     Dec‐2019 Mar‐2021 yes Practically Completed Works Completed


Drought Communities Programme ‐ Round 1 Better 
Caravan Parks


Avoca Lions Park carpark construction Avoca 46,000$                     Dec‐2019 May‐2020 Practically Completed All on site works completed. 


Drought Communities Programme ‐ Round 1 Carpark Construction of carpark at Recreation Reserve Natte Yallock 110,000$                   Dec‐2019 Sep‐2020 yes In Progress Survey and pavement investigations completed. Draft 
design presented to rec reserve Committee for 
comment


TOTAL 20,936,667$           
Notes:
This report is designed to be a quarterly status report for Council and the Community on Council projects over $50,000 
Details are subject to change from quarter to quarter
TPC are estimated for some projects
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2I¿FH�8VH�2QO\


Application No.: Date Lodged: / /


Application for a 3ODQQLQJ�3HUPLW
If you need help to complete this form, read MORE INFORMATION at the end of this form.


Any material submitted with this application, including plans and personal information, will be made
available for public viewing, including electronically, and copies may be made for interested parties for
the purpose of enabling consideration and review as part of a planning process under the Planning
and Environment Act 1987. If you have any questions, please contact Council’s planning department.


4XHVWLRQV�PDUNHG�ZLWK�DQ�DVWHULVN��*��PXVW�EH�FRPSOHWHG�


,I�WKH�VSDFH�SURYLGHG�RQ�WKH�IRUP�LV�LQVXI¿FLHQW��DWWDFK�D�VHSDUDWH�VKHHW�


Click for further information.L


)RUPDO�/DQG�'HVFULSWLRQ�*
Complete either A or B.


This information can be 
IRXQG�RQ�WKH�FHUWL¿FDWH� 
of title.


If this application relates to more than 
one address, attach a separate sheet 
setting out any additional property 
details.


The Land L


Address of the land. Complete the Street Address and one of the Formal Land Descriptions.


Postcode:Suburb/Locality:


6WUHHW�$GGUHVV�*
St. No.:Unit No.: St. Name:


Lot No.: No.:A


OR


B Crown Allotment No.: Section No.:


Parish/Township Name:


Lodged Plan Title Plan Plan of Subdivision
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)RU�ZKDW�XVH��GHYHORSPHQW��
RU�RWKHU�PDWWHU�GR�\RX��
UHTXLUH�D�SHUPLW" *


L


The Proposal
You must give full details of your proposal and attach the information required to assess the application. 
,QVXI¿FLHQW�RU�XQFOHDU�LQIRUPDWLRQ�ZLOO�GHOD\�\RXU�DSSOLFDWLRQ�


Provide additional information about the proposal, including: plans and elevations; any information required by the 
planning scheme, requested by Council or outlined in a Council planning permit checklist; and if required, a description 
of the likely effect of the proposal.


(VWLPDWHG�FRVW�RI�DQ\�
GHYHORSPHQW�IRU�ZKLFK�WKH�
SHUPLW�LV�UHTXLUHG�*


L
Cost $ You may be required to verify this estimate. 


Insert ‘0’ if no development is proposed.


3ODQQLQJ�(QTXLULHV�
3KRQH�����������������
:HE��ZZZ�S\UHQHHV�YLF�JRY�DX


Golf Course Lane
Beaufort 3373


2 PS814588


Construction of new single story dwelling with carport and garage.


500,000







Title Information L


(QFXPEUDQFHV�RQ�WLWOH�*


Provide a full, current copy of the title for each individual parcel of land forming the subject site.  
The title includes: the covering ‘register search statement’, the title diagram and the associated title documents, known 
as ‘instruments’, for example, restrictive covenants.


Does the proposal breach, in any way, an encumbrance on title such as a restrictrive covenant, 
section 173 agreement or other obligation such as an easement or building envelope?


Yes (If ‘yes’ contact Council for advice on how to proceed before continuing with this 
application.)


No


Not applicable (no such encumbrance applies).
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Applicant and Owner Details
Provide details of the applicant and the owner of the land.


$SSOLFDQW�*


The person who wants the 
permit.


Organisation (if applicable):
Postal Address: If it is a P.O. Box, enter the details here:


Title: First Name: Surname:


Postcode:State:Suburb/Locality:


St. No.:Unit No.: St. Name:


Name:


&RQWDFW�SHUVRQ¶V�GHWDLOV
 Same as applicant


Organisation (if applicable):


Where the preferred contact 
person for the application is 
different from the applicant, 
provide the details of that 
person.


Postcode:State:Suburb/Locality:


St. No.:Unit No.: St. Name:


Name:


Title: First Name: Surname:


&RQWDFW�LQIRUPDWLRQ�IRU�DSSOLFDQW�25�FRQWDFW�SHUVRQ�EHORZ


Business phone:


Mobile phone:


Email:


Fax:


Please provide at least one 
contact phone number *


2ZQHU�*


The person or organisation 
who owns the land


Where the owner is different 
from the applicant, provide 
the details of that person or 
organisation.


Organisation (if applicable):


Owner’s Signature (Optional): Date: 
day / month / year


Postcode:State:Suburb/Locality:


St. No.:Unit No.: St. Name:


Same as applicant
Name:


Title: First Name: Surname:


Postal Address: If it is a P.O. Box, enter the details here:


Postal Address: If it is a P.O. Box, enter the details here:


L


'HVFULEH�KRZ�WKH�ODQG�LV�
XVHG�DQG�GHYHORSHG�QRZ�*
For example, vacant, three 
dwellings, medical centre with 
two practitioners, licensed  
restaurant with 80 seats, 
grazing.


Existing Conditions L


Provide a plan of the existing conditions. Photos are also helpful.


Vacant lot in rural living zone, no livestock on the property.


Talina Edwards
Talina Edwards Architecture


22 PO Box 184
Ballarat Central Vic 3350


0491 241 181 studio@talinaedwards.com.au


Graham Newberry


15 Livingstone Street
Beaufort Vic 3373


✔







Remember it is against 
the law to provide false or 
misleading information, 
which could result in a  
KHDY\�¿QH�DQG�FDQFHOODWLRQ� 
of the permit.


I declare that I am the applicant; and that all the information in this application is true and 
FRUUHFW��DQG�WKH�RZQHU��LI�QRW�P\VHOI��KDV�EHHQ�QRWL¿HG�RI�WKH�SHUPLW�DSSOLFDWLRQ�


Signature: Date: 
day / month / year


Declaration  L
7KLV�IRUP�PXVW�EH�VLJQHG�E\�WKH�DSSOLFDQW�
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Checklist  L


+DYH�\RX�


Filled in the form completely?


Paid or included the application fee?


Provided all necessary supporting information and documents?


A full, current copy of title information for each individual parcel of land forming the subject site.


A plan of existing conditions.


Plans showing the layout and details of the proposal.


Any information required by the planning scheme, requested by council or outlined in a council planning permit checklist.


,I�UHTXLUHG��D�GHVFULSWLRQ�RI�WKH�OLNHO\�HIIHFW�RI�WKH�SURSRVDO��IRU�H[DPSOH��WUDI¿F��QRLVH��HQYLURQPHQWDO�LPSDFWV��


Completed the relevant council planning permit checklist?


Signed the declaration above?


Most applications require a fee to be paid. Contact Council 
to determine the appropriate fee.


Lodgement
/RGJH�WKH�FRPSOHWHG�DQG�
VLJQHG�IRUP��WKH�IHH�
DQG�DOO�GRFXPHQWV�ZLWK�


L


Need help with the Application?  
General information about the planning process is available at planning.vic.gov.au


&RQWDFW�&RXQFLO¶V�SODQQLQJ�GHSDUWPHQW�WR�GLVFXVV�WKH�VSHFL¿F�UHTXLUHPHQWV�IRU�WKLV�DSSOLFDWLRQ�DQG�REWDLQ�D�SODQQLQJ�SHUPLW�FKHFNOLVW�� 
,QVXI¿FLHQW�RU�XQFOHDU�LQIRUPDWLRQ�PD\�GHOD\�\RXU�DSSOLFDWLRQ�


L


+DV�WKHUH�EHHQ�D�SUH�DSSOLFDWLRQ�
PHHWLQJ�ZLWK�D�FRXQFLO�SODQQLQJ�
RI¿FHU"


 No Yes If ‘Yes’, with whom?:


Date: day / month / year


'HOLYHU�DSSOLFDWLRQ�LQ�SHUVRQ��E\�SRVW�RU�E\�HOHFWURQLF�ORGJHPHQW�


3\UHQHHV�6KLUH�&RXQFLO�
��/DZUHQFH�6WUHHW�
%HDXIRUW�9,&������


&RQWDFW�LQIRUPDWLRQ��
3KRQH�����������������
(PDLO��S\UHQHHV#S\UHQHHV�YLF�JRY�DX


12 / 03 / 2020 


Phone calls & Emails with Claire Pepin


✔


✔


✔


✔


✔


✔


✔


Please contact owners for payment
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L   MORE INFORMATION
The Land
Planning permits relate to the use and development of the land. It 
is important that accurate, clear and concise details of the land are 
provided with the application.


+RZ�LV�ODQG�LGHQWL¿HG"
/DQG�LV�FRPPRQO\�LGHQWL¿HG�E\�D�VWUHHW�DGGUHVV��EXW�VRPHWLPHV�WKLV�
DORQH�GRHV�QRW�SURYLGH�DQ�DFFXUDWH�LGHQWL¿FDWLRQ�RI�WKH�UHOHYDQW�SDUFHO�
of land relating to an application. Make sure you also provide the 
formal land description – the lot and plan number or the crown, section 
and parish/township details (as applicable) for the subject site. This 
information is shown on the title.


See ([DPSOH���


The Proposal
:K\�LV�LW�LPSRUWDQW�WR�GHVFULEH�WKH�SURSRVDO�FRUUHFWO\"
The application requires a description of what you want to do with the 
land. You must describe how the land will be used or developed as a 
result of the proposal. It is important that you understand the reasons 
why you need a permit in order to suitably describe the proposal. 
By providing an accurate description of the proposal, you will avoid 
unnecessary delays associated with amending the description at a later 
date.


�3ODQQLQJ�VFKHPHV�XVH�VSHFL¿F�GH¿QLWLRQV�IRU�GLIIHUHQW�W\SHV�RI�XVH�
DQG�GHYHORSPHQW��&RQWDFW�WKH�&RXQFLO�SODQQLQJ�RI¿FH�DW�DQ�HDUO\�VWDJH�
in preparing your application to ensure that you use the appropriate 
terminology and provide the required details.


+RZ�GR�SODQQLQJ�VFKHPHV�DIIHFW�SURSRVDOV"
A planning scheme sets out policies and requirements for the use, 
development and protection of land. There is a planning scheme 
for every municipality in Victoria. Development of land includes the 
construction of a building, carrying out works, subdividing land or 
buildings and displaying signs.


Proposals must comply with the planning scheme provisions in 
accordance with Clause 61.05 of the planning scheme. Provisions may 
relate to the State Planning Policy Framework, the Local Planning Policy 
Framework, zones, overlays, particular and general provisions. You can 
access the planning scheme by either contacting Council’s planning 
department or by visiting the Planning Schemes Online section of the 
department’s website http://planning-schemes.delwp.vic.gov.au


�<RX�FDQ�REWDLQ�D�SODQQLQJ�FHUWL¿FDWH�WR�HVWDEOLVK�SODQQLQJ�VFKHPH�
GHWDLOV�DERXW�\RXU�SURSHUW\��$�SODQQLQJ�FHUWL¿FDWH�LGHQWL¿HV�WKH�]RQHV�
and overlays that apply to the land, but it does not identify all of 
the provisions of the planning scheme that may be relevant to your 
DSSOLFDWLRQ��3ODQQLQJ�FHUWL¿FDWHV�IRU�ODQG�LQ�PHWURSROLWDQ�DUHDV�DQG�PRVW�
rural areas can be obtained by visiting www.landata.vic.gov.au Contact 
\RXU�ORFDO�&RXQFLO�WR�REWDLQ�D�SODQQLQJ�FHUWL¿FDWH�LQ�&HQWUDO�*ROG¿HOGV��
Corangamite, Macedon Ranges and Greater Geelong. You can also use 
the free Planning Property Report to obtain the same information.


See ([DPSOH���


(VWLPDWHG�FRVW�RI�GHYHORSPHQW
In most instances an application fee will be required. This fee must be 
paid when you lodge the application. The fee is set down by government 
regulations.


To help Council calculate the application fee, you must provide an 
accurate cost estimate of the proposed development. This cost does 
not include the costs of development that you could undertake without a 
permit or that are separate from the permit process. Development costs 
should be calculated at a normal industry rate for the type of construction 
you propose.


Council may ask you to justify your cost estimates. Costs are required 
solely to allow Council to calculate the permit application fee. Fees are 
exempt from GST.


�Costs for different types of development can be obtained from 
specialist publications such as Cordell Housing: Building Cost Guide or 
Rawlinsons: Australian Construction Handbook.


�Contact the Council to determine the appropriate fee. Go to  
planning.vic.gov.au to view a summary of fees in the Planning and 
Environment (Fees) Regulations.


Existing Conditions
+RZ�VKRXOG�ODQG�EH�GHVFULEHG"
You need to describe, in general terms, the way the land is used now, 
including the activities, buildings, structures and works that exist (e.g. 
single dwelling, 24 dwellings in a three-storey building, medical centre 
with three practitioners and 8 car parking spaces, vacant building, vacant 
land, grazing land, bush block).


Please attach to your application a plan of the existing conditions of the 
land. Check with the local Council for the quantity, scale and level of 
detail required. It is also helpful to include photographs of the existing 
conditions.


See ([DPSOH���


Title Information
:KDW�LV�DQ�HQFXPEUDQFH"
An ‘encumbrance’ is a formal obligation on the land, with the most 
common type being a ‘mortgage’. Other common examples of 
encumbrances include:


� 5HVWULFWLYH�&RYHQDQWV: A ‘restrictive covenant’ is a written agreement
between owners of land restricting the use or development of the land
IRU�WKH�EHQH¿W�RI�RWKHUV���HJ��D�OLPLW�RI�RQH�GZHOOLQJ�RU�OLPLWV�RQ�W\SHV
of building materials to be used).


� 6HFWLRQ�����$JUHHPHQWV: A ‘section 173 agreement’ is a contract
between an owner of the land and the Council which sets out
limitations on the use or development of the land.


� (DVHPHQWV��An ‘easement’ gives rights to other parties to use the
land or provide for services or access on, under or above the surface
of the land.


� %XLOGLQJ�(QYHORSHV��$�µEXLOGLQJ�HQYHORSH¶�GH¿QHV�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW
boundaries for the land.


Aside from mortgages, the above encumbrances can potentially limit or 
even prevent certain types of proposals.


:KDW�GRFXPHQWV�VKRXOG�,�FKHFN�WR�¿QG�HQFXPEUDQFHV"
(QFXPEUDQFHV�DUH�LGHQWL¿HG�RQ�WKH�WLWOH��UHJLVWHU�VHDUFK�VWDWHPHQW��
under the header ‘encumbrances, caveats and notices’. The actual 
details of an encumbrance are usually provided in a separate document 
(instrument) associated with the title. Sometimes encumbrances are 
also marked on the title diagram or plan, such as easements or building 
envelopes.


:KDW�DERXW�FDYHDWV�DQG�QRWLFHV"
A ‘caveat’ is a record of a claim from a party to an interest in the land. 
Caveats are not normally relevant to planning applications as they 
typically relate to a purchaser, mortgagee or chargee claim, but can 
sometimes include claims to a covenant or easement on the land. These 
types of caveats may affect your proposal.


2WKHU�OHVV�FRPPRQ�W\SHV�RI�REOLJDWLRQV�PD\�DOVR�EH�VSHFL¿HG�RQ�WLWOH�
in the form of ‘notices’. These may have an effect on your proposal, 
such as a notice that the building on the land is listed on the Heritage 
Register.


:KDW�KDSSHQV�LI�WKH�SURSRVDO�FRQWUDYHQHV�DQ�HQFXPEUDQFH�RQ�
WLWOH"
Encumbrances may affect or limit your proposal or prevent it from 
proceeding. Section 61(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 for 
example, prevents a Council from granting a permit if it would result in a 
breach of a registered restrictive covenant. If the proposal contravenes 
any encumbrance, contact the Council for advice on how to proceed.


You may be able to modify your proposal to respond to the issue. If 
not, separate procedures exist to change or remove the various types 
of encumbrances from the title. The procedures are generally quite 
involved and if the encumbrance relates to more than the subject 
property, the process will include notice to the affected party.


�<RX�VKRXOG�VHHN�DGYLFH�IURP�DQ�DSSURSULDWHO\�TXDOL¿HG�SHUVRQ��VXFK�
as a solicitor, if you need to interpret the effect of an encumbrance or if 
you seek to amend or remove an encumbrance.
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:K\�LV�WLWOH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�UHTXLUHG"
7LWOH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�FRQ¿UPV�WKH�ORFDWLRQ�DQG�GLPHQVLRQV�RI�WKH�ODQG�
VSHFL¿HG�LQ�WKH�SODQQLQJ�DSSOLFDWLRQ�DQG�DQ\�REOLJDWLRQV�DIIHFWLQJ�ZKDW�
can be done on or with the land.


As well as describing the land, a full copy of the title will include a 
diagram or plan of the land and will identify any encumbrances, caveats 
and notices.


:KDW�LV�D�µIXOO¶�FRS\�RI�WKH�WLWOH"
The title information accompanying your application must include a 
‘register search statement’ and the title diagram, which together make up 
the title.


In addition, any relevant associated title documents, known as 
‘instruments’, must also be provided to make up a full copy of the title.


Check the title to see if any of the types of encumbrances, such as 
a restrictive covenant, section 173 agreement, easement or building 
envelope, are listed. If so, you must submit a copy of the document 
(instrument) describing that encumbrance. Mortgages do not need to be 
provided with planning applications.


�Some titles have not yet been converted by Land Registry into an 
electronic register search statement format. In these earlier types of 
titles, the diagram and encumbrances are often detailed on the actual 
title, rather than in separate plans or instruments.


:K\�LV�µFXUUHQW¶�WLWOH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�UHTXLUHG"
It is important that you attach a current copy of the title for each 
individual parcel of land forming the subject site. ‘Current’ title 
information accurately provides all relevant and up-to-date information.


Some Councils require that title information must have been searched 
ZLWKLQ�D�VSHFL¿HG�WLPH�IUDPH��&RQWDFW�WKH�&RXQFLO�IRU�DGYLFH�RQ�WKHLU�
requirements.


�Copies of title documents can be obtained from Land Registry: Level 
10, 570 Bourke Street, Melbourne; 03 8636 2010; www.landata.vic.gov.
DX�±�JR�GLUHFW�WR�³WLWOHV�	�SURSHUW\�FHUWL¿FDWHV´�


Applicant and Owner Details
This section provides information about the permit applicant, the owner 
of the land and the person who should be contacted about any matters 
concerning the permit application.


The applicant is the person or organisation that wants the permit. The 
applicant can, but need not, be the contact person.


In order to avoid any confusion, the Council will communicate only 
with the person who is also responsible for providing further details. 
The contact may be a professional adviser (e.g. architect or planner) 
engaged to prepare or manage the application. To ensure prompt 
communications, contact details should be given.


Check with council how they prefer to communicate with you about the 
application. If an email address is provided this may be the preferred 
method of communication between Council and the applicant/contact.


The owner of the land is the person or organisation who owns the land at 
the time the application is made. Where a parcel of land has been sold 
and an application made prior to settlement, the owner’s details should 
EH�LGHQWL¿HG�DV�WKRVH�RI�WKH�YHQGRU��7KH�RZQHU�FDQ��EXW�QHHG�QRW��EH�WKH�
contact or the applicant.


See ([DPSOH���


Declaration
The declaration should be signed by the person who takes responsibility 
for the accuracy of all the information that is provided. This declaration is 
a signed statement that the information included with the application is 
true and correct at the time of lodgement.


The declaration can be signed by the applicant or owner. If the owner is 
not the applicant, the owner must either sign the application form or must 
EH�QRWL¿HG�RI�WKH�DSSOLFDWLRQ�ZKLFK�LV�DFNQRZOHGJHG�LQ�WKH�GHFODUDWLRQ�


 Obtaining or attempting to obtain a permit by wilfully making or 
causing any false representation or declaration, either orally or in writing, 
is an offence under the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and could 
UHVXOW�LQ�D�¿QH�DQG�RU�FDQFHOODWLRQ�RI�WKH�SHUPLW�


Need help with the Application?
If you have attended a pre-application meeting with a Council planner, 
¿OO�LQ�WKH�QDPH�RI�WKH�SODQQHU�DQG�WKH�GDWH��VR�WKDW�WKH�SHUVRQ�FDQ�EH�
consulted about the application once it has been lodged.


Checklist
:KDW�DGGLWLRQDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�VKRXOG�\RX�SURYLGH�WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�
SURSRVDO"


<RX�VKRXOG�SURYLGH�VXI¿FLHQW�VXSSRUWLQJ�PDWHULDO�ZLWK�WKH�DSSOLFDWLRQ�
to describe the proposal in enough detail for the Council to make a 
decision. It is important that copies of all plans and information submitted 
with the application are legible.


7KHUH�PD\�EH�VSHFL¿F�DSSOLFDWLRQ�UHTXLUHPHQWV�VHW�RXW�LQ�WKH�SODQQLQJ�
scheme for the use or development you propose. The application should 
demonstrate how these have been addressed or met.


The checklist is to help ensure that you have:


• provided all the required information on the form


• included payment of the application fee


• attached all necessary supporting information and documents


• completed the relevant Council planning permit checklist


• signed the declaration on the last page of the application form


�The more complete the information you provide with your permit 
application, the sooner Council will be able to make a decision.


Lodgement
The application must be lodged with the Council responsible for the 
planning scheme in which the land affected by the application is 
located. In some cases the Minister for Planning or another body is the 
responsible authority instead of Council. Ask the Council if in doubt.


Check with Council how they prefer to have the application lodged. For 
example, they may have an online lodgement system, prefer email or 
want an electronic and hard copy. Check also how many copies of plans 
and the size of plans that may be required.


Contact details are listed in the lodgement section on the last page of the 
form.


�Approval from other authorities: In addition to obtaining a planning 
permit, approvals or exemptions may be required from other authorities 
or Council departments. Depending on the nature of your proposal, 
these may include food or health registrations, building permits or 
approvals from water and other service authorities.


 







Application for a Planning Permit  |  Regional Council   Addendum


The Land L


Address of the land. Complete the Street Address and one of the Formal Land Descriptions.


Postcode:Suburb/Locality:


6WUHHW�$GGUHVV�*
St. No.:Unit No.: St. Name:


)RUPDO�/DQG�'HVFULSWLRQ�*
Complete either A or B.


This information can be 
IRXQG�RQ�WKH�FHUWL¿FDWH� 
of title.


If this application relates to more than 
one address, attach a separate sheet 
setting out any additional property 
details.


Lot No.: No.:A


OR


B Crown Allotment No.: Section No.:


Parish/Township Name:


 Lodged Plan Title Plan Plan of Subdivision


     4     26          Planmore Avenue
    HAWTHORN 3122


 2 LP935623


'HVFULEH�KRZ�WKH�ODQG�LV�
XVHG�DQG�GHYHORSHG�QRZ�*
For example, vacant, three 
dwellings, medical centre with 
two practitioners, licensed  
restaurant with 80 seats, 
grazing.


Existing Conditions L


Provide a plan of the existing conditions. Photos are also helpful.


Single dwelling.


Applicant and Owner Details
Provide details of the applicant and the owner of the land.


$SSOLFDQW�*


The person who wants the 
permit.


Organisation (if applicable):
Postal Address: If it is a P.O. Box, enter the details here:


Title: First Name: Surname:


Postcode:State:Suburb/Locality:


St. No.:Unit No.: St. Name:


Name:


&RQWDFW�SHUVRQ¶V�GHWDLOV
 Same as applicant


Organisation (if applicable):


Where the preferred contact 
person for the application is 
different from the applicant, 
provide the details of that 
person.


Postcode:State:Suburb/Locality:


St. No.:Unit No.: St. Name:


Name:


Title: First Name: Surname:


&RQWDFW�LQIRUPDWLRQ�IRU�DSSOLFDQW�25�FRQWDFW�SHUVRQ�EHORZ


Business phone:


Mobile phone:


Email:


Fax:


Please provide at least one 
contact phone number *


2ZQHU�*


The person or organisation 
who owns the land


Where the owner is different 
from the applicant, provide 
the details of that person or 
organisation.


Organisation (if applicable):


Owner’s Signature (Optional): Date:    
day / month / year


Postcode:State:Suburb/Locality:


St. No.:Unit No.: St. Name:


Same as applicant
Name:


Title: First Name: Surname:


Postal Address: If it is a P.O. Box, enter the details here:


Postal Address: If it is a P.O. Box, enter the details here:


L


   Mr     Len             Browning
 Responsible Developers P/L


 4 12 Ardour Lane
 Wycheproof  Vic 3527


9123 4567 tcpl@bigpond.net.au
  0412 345 678 9123 4567   


Mr Andrew         Hodge
             Town Planning Consultants


 PO Box 111
         Parkdale Vic 3194


3


)RU�ZKDW�XVH��GHYHORSPHQW��
RU�RWKHU�PDWWHU�GR�\RX��
UHTXLUH�D�SHUPLW" *


L


Provide additional information about the proposal, including: plans and elevations; any information required by the 
planning scheme, requested by Council or outlined in a Council planning permit checklist; and if required, a description 
of the likely effect of the proposal.


Construction of two, double-storey dwellings 
and construction of two new crossovers.


([DPSOH��


([DPSOH��


([DPSOH��


([DPSOH��


EXAMPLES







VOLUME 11975 FOLIO 102                            Security no :  124075062550A
                                                  Produced 24/11/2018 09:18 AM


LAND DESCRIPTION


Lot 2 on Plan of Subdivision 814588X.
PARENT TITLE Volume 03891 Folio 093
Created by instrument PS814588X 18/04/2018


REGISTERED PROPRIETOR


Estate Fee Simple
Joint Proprietors
    GRAHAM PETER NEWBERRY
    LYNNE MICHELLE NEWBERRY both of 1 MYLES COURT BALLAN VIC 3342
    AR573477C 19/10/2018


ENCUMBRANCES, CAVEATS AND NOTICES


MORTGAGE  AR573478A 19/10/2018
    BENDIGO AND ADELAIDE BANK LTD


    Any encumbrances created by Section 98 Transfer of Land Act 1958 or Section
    24 Subdivision Act 1988 and any other encumbrances shown or entered on the
    plan set out under DIAGRAM LOCATION below.


DIAGRAM LOCATION


SEE PS814588X FOR FURTHER DETAILS AND BOUNDARIES


ACTIVITY IN THE LAST 125 DAYS 


NUMBER                                        STATUS          DATE
AR567438X (E)       CONV PCT & NOM ECT TO LC  Completed       18/10/2018
AR573477C (E)       TRANSFER                  Registered      19/10/2018
AR573478A (E)       MORTGAGE                  Registered      19/10/2018


------------------------END OF REGISTER SEARCH STATEMENT------------------------


Additional information: (not part of the Register Search Statement)


Street Address: STOCKYARD HILL ROAD BEAUFORT VIC 3373


ADMINISTRATIVE NOTICES


NIL


eCT Control    18057S BENDIGO BANK
Effective from 19/10/2018


DOCUMENT END


Copyright State of Victoria. This publication is copyright. No part may be reproduced by any process except in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright
Act 1968 (Cth) and for the purposes of Section 32 of the Sale of Land Act 1962 (Vic) or pursuant to a written agreement. The information is only valid at the time
and in the form obtained from the LANDATA REGD TM System. The State of Victoria accepts no responsibility for any subsequent release, publication or
reproduction of the information.


REGISTER SEARCH STATEMENT (Title Search) Transfer of 
Land Act 1958


Page 1 of 1


Title 11975/102 Page 1 of 1







Imaged Document Cover Sheet


The document following this cover sheet is an imaged document supplied by LANDATA®, 
Land Use Victoria.


Document Type Plan


Document Identification PS814588X


Number of Pages


(excluding this cover sheet)


2


Document Assembled 24/11/2018 09:34


Copyright and disclaimer notice:
© State of Victoria. This publication is copyright. No part may be reproduced by any process except
in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright Act and for the purposes of Section 32 of the Sale
of Land Act 1962 or pursuant to a written agreement. The information is only valid at the time and in
the form obtained from the LANDATAÂ® System. The State of Victoria accepts no responsibility for
any subsequent release, publication or reproduction of the information.


The document is invalid if this cover sheet is removed or altered.















TOWN PLANNING
New Residence


Lot 2, Golf Course Lane, Beaufort


for Lynne & Graham Newberry


SITE INFORMATION:


Site Address Lot 2 Golf Course Lane, Beaufort Vic 3373


Site Area 2.783 hectares


Council Pyrenees Shire Council


Zone Rural Living Zone


Overlays None


BAL 12.5
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1.  INTRODUCTION 
 


THE CONSULTANTS 
 


Provincial Geotechnical Pty Ltd has been engaged to undertake a Land Capability 
Assessment (LCA) for a site at Lot 2 Golf Course Lane, Beaufort. The field 
investigation and report have been undertaken and prepared by suitably 
experienced staff.  
 
Provincial Geotechnical Pty Ltd has appropriate professional indemnity insurance for 
this type of work. Our professional indemnity insurance certificate is available. 
 
Andrew Redman BSc (Geology) undertook the site investigation and prepared this 
report.  
 


REPORT SUMMARY 
 


I understand that this report will accompany an application for a Septic Tank Permit 
to Install submitted to Pyrenees Shire Council for an onsite wastewater 
management system for an existing residence at the above address. This document 
provides information about the site and soil conditions. It also provides a detailed 
Land Capability Assessment for the site and includes a conceptual design for a 
suitable onsite wastewater management system, including recommendations for 
monitoring and management requirements. A number of options are provided for 
both the treatment system and Land Application Area (LAA).  
 


In my opinion this site can sustain a conventional septic tank system with primary 
treated waste distribution by absorption trenches which is currently on site. 
 


If preferred, effluent could also be treated to secondary level by an AWTS, single-
pass sand filter or suitable EPA approved alternative and land application by sub-
surface irrigation or other EPA approved method. 
 


Council and/or Referral Authorities may require secondary treatment prior to 
disposal as policy regardless of the results of the Land Capability Assessment.  
 


SITE OVERVIEW 
 


The site is undeveloped and is consistent with a rural setting.   
 


The site has slight to gentle fall to the south-east.     
 


There is sufficient land available for sustainable onsite effluent management that 
maintains the required buffers to protect nearby surface waters and floodways. 
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SITE OVERVIEW CONTINUED 
 


I did not observe any sensitive environmental receptors within a 60m downslope 
setback from the recommended Land Application Area envelope.  
 


2.  DESCRIPTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 
 


Site Address:  Lot 2 Golf Course Lane, Beaufort. A Land Channel Property Report 
is appended and indicates the location of the site (Appendix i).   
 
Client/Agent:   Lynne & Graham Newberry.  
 
Postal Address:   15 Livingstone Street, Beaufort, Victoria, 3373. 
 
Contact:   Mia Radic, Talina Edwards Architecture, 0491 241 181.  
 
Council Area:  Pyrenees Shire Council.              
 
Zoning:  Rural Living Zone (RLZ).    
 
Allotment Size:  2.783 hectares.   
 
Domestic Water Supply: Assume not available at site.   
 
Anticipated Wastewater Load:  Assume a residence with full water-reduction 
fixtures at maximum occupancy.  Wastewater generation = 150 L/person/day 
(source Table 4 of the EPA Code of Practice 891.4).   
 
Availability of Sewer: The area is unsewered and highly unlikely to be sewered 
within the next 10-20 years, due to low development density in the area and the 
considerable distance from existing wastewater services. 
 


3.  SITE AND SOIL ASSESSMENT 
 


I  undertook a site investigation on the 11th February 2020.  
 
SITE KEY FEATURES 
 
Table 1 summarises the key features of the site in relation to effluent management 
proposed for the site.  
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3.  SITE AND SOIL ASSESSMENT CONTINUED: 
 


NOTE: 
 
� The site experiences minor stormwater run-on. 
� There is no evidence of a shallow watertable or other significant constraints, 


and 
� The risk of effluent transport offsite is low. 


 
 
Table 1: Risk Assessment of Site Characteristics 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Feature Description Level of 
Constraint 


Mitigation 
Measures 


Buffer 
Distances 


All relevant buffer distances in Table 5 
of the EPA Code of Practice (2016) 
are achievable from the proposed 
effluent management area. 


Minor Locate Land 
Application 
Area 
appropriately. 


Climate Average annual rainfall 677.2mm 
Beaufort (Climate Station No.089005) 
(Appendix ii). 


Minor NN 


Drainage No visible signs of surface dampness, 
spring activity or hydrophilic 
vegetation in the proposed effluent 
management area or surrounds.  


Nil NN 


Erosion & 
Landslip  


No evidence of sheet or rill erosion; 
the erosion hazard is low. No 
evidence of landslip and landslip 
potential is low. 


Minor NN 


Exposure 


& Aspect 


Recommended Land Application Area 
cleared with good all round aspect 
and has a very good sun and wind 
exposure.   


Nil NN 
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Table 1: Risk Assessment of Site Characteristics Continued: 
 


 
*NN: Not needed 
 
The Site Feature Plan and Existing Site Plans are appended (Appendix iii & iv).  
 
Aerial and site photographs are appended to provide recent and current site context 
(Appendix v).  
 
 
 
 
 
 


Feature Description Level of 
Constraint 


Mitigation 
Measures 


Flooding The proposed effluent management 
area is located above the 1:100 year 
flood level (source WSC). 


Minor NN 


Groundwater No signs of shallow groundwater 
tables to 1.5m depth.  


Nil NN 


Imported Fill No imported fill material on site.  Minor NN 


Land 
Available for 
LAA 


Considering all the constraints and 
buffers, the site has ample suitable 
land for land application of treated 
effluent.  


Nil NN 


Landform Broad wide shallow hillsides and 
gullies.       


Nil NN 


Rock 
Outcrops 


No evidence of surface rocks or 
outcrops. 


Nil NN 


 


Run-on & 
Runoff 


Minor stormwater run-on and minor 
run-off hazard. 


Nil NN  


Slope The proposed effluent management 
area has slight fall to the south-east.    


Nil NN 


Surface 
Waters 


Not applicable.  Nearest surface water 
>60m downslope from Land 
Application Area.  


Nil NN  


Vegetation Mixture of grasses on Land 
Application Area.  


Minor NN 
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SITE ASSESSMENT RESULTS 
 
Based on the most constraining site features the overall land capability of the site to 
sustainably manage all effluent onsite is satisfactory. The proposed effluent 
management area is located above the 1:100 flood level and by using primary 
treatment and absorption trench disposal there will be ample protection of surface 
waters and groundwater.  Nevertheless, authorities may require secondary 
treatment and this can be achieved by the installation of a sand filter system. 
 


SOIL KEY FEATURES 
 
The site’s soils have been assessed for their suitability for onsite wastewater 
management by a combination of soil survey and desktop review of published soil 
survey information as outlined below. 
 
The soils on site have been derived from Cambrian Sediments (MapCode -Ca) which 
is the regional geological setting.  Appended is a Geovic Map indicating the site 
location (Appendix vi).  
 


SOIL SURVEY AND ANALYSIS 
 
A soil survey was carried out at the site to determine suitability for application of 
treated effluent. Soil investigations were conducted at 3 locations in the vicinity of 
the building envelope in areas that may be potential Land Application Areas, as 
shown in the Test Site Location Plan (Appendix vii), using an hydraulic auger to 
1.5m depth. This was sufficient to adequately characterise the soils as only minor 
variation would be expected throughout the area of interest.  
 
Two soil types were encountered in these investigations. Full profile descriptions are 
provided in the appended borelogs (Appendix viii). Samples of all discrete soil 
layers for each soil type were collected for subsequent laboratory analysis of pH, 
electrical conductivity and Emerson Aggregate Class. Table 2 describes the soil 
constraints in detail for each of the soils encountered. 
 
Soils in the vicinity of the building envelope are characterised as clay loam topsoils 
overlying light clay, which becomes heavier with depth. The A1 horizon has a weak 
structure.  
 
Considering the physical and chemical characteristics of the subsoil in this area of 
the site, in my opinion effluent application via an absorption trench is a suitable and 
viable disposal system for this site. 
 
Table 2 below provides an assessment of the physical and chemical characteristics 
of the relevant soil type. 
 
Full Laboratory data results are appended (Appendix ix).  
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Table 2: Risk Assessment of Soil Characteristics 


NN: Not needed 
 
 
 
 


Feature Assessment Level of 


Constraint 


Mitigation 


Measures 


Cation Exchange 


Capacity (CEC) 


2.3 MEQ%. No evidence of restricted 


plant growth on site. 


Minor NN 


Electrical 


Conductivity (ECe) 


0.016 dS/m. No evidence of restricted 


plant growth on site. 


Minor NN 


Emerson Aggregate 


Class 


Topsoil: Not tested Nil NN 


Subsoil: Class 1 Major Apply gypsum 


to trench base 


at 1kg/m². 


pH 4.9 No evidence of restricted plant 


growth on site. 


Nil NN 


Rock Fragments <1% coarse fragments in the B1 


horizon. No coarse fragments 


throughout the remainder of the 


profile. 


Minor NN 


Sodicity (ESP) 4.7%. No evidence of restricted plant 


growth on site. 


Moderate Apply gypsum 


to trench base 


at 1kg/m². 


Sodium Absorption 


Ratio (SAR) 


0.08 No evidence of restricted plant 


growth on site. 


Minor NN 


Soil Depth Topsoil: 300mm to 400mm.  Minor NN 


Subsoil: Total soil depth 1500mm. No 


hardpans occur. 


Minor NN 


Soil Permeability & 


Design Loading 


Rates 


Topsoil: Clay Loam; 10mm/day Design 


Loading Rate (DLR) for absorption 


trenches (Code, 2016). 


Minor NN 


Subsoil: Light Clay; 5mm/day DLR for 


absorption trenches (Code of Practice, 


2016). 


Minor NN 


Soil Texture & 


Structure 


Topsoil (<400mm): Clay Loam 


(Category 4b) 


Minor NN 


Subsoil (>1500mm): Light Clay 


(Category 5b) in accordance with 


AS/NZS/NZS 1547:2012 


Minor NN 


Watertable 


Depth 


Groundwater not encountered.  


Deepest borehole terminated at 1.5m.  


Minor NN 
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OVERALL LAND CAPABILITY RATING 
 
For the soil in the proposed land application area (Light Clay), no features present a 
moderate or major constraint that cannot be mitigated.  
 
Based on the results of the site and soil assessment tabled above and provided in 
the Appendices, the overall land capability of the proposed effluent management 
area is not constrained.  
  
 


4.  WASTEWATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
 
The following sections provide an overview of a suitable onsite wastewater 
management system, with sizing and design considerations and justification for its 
selection. Detailed design for the system should be undertaken at the time of the 
building application and submitted to Council. 
 
4.1 Land Application 
 
A range of possible land application systems have been considered, such as 
absorption trenches, evapotranspiration/absorption (ETA) beds, surface and 
subsurface irrigation, and sand mounds.  
 
The system of conventional absorption trenches for primary treated waste may be 
used. 
 
Should the client prefer to secondary treat the effluent, disposal via shallow 
subsurface irrigation is an alternative recommended method. 
 
4.2 Sizing the Disposal System 
 
ABSORPTION TRENCHES: Primary Treated Effluent 
 
To determine the necessary size of the Land Application Area, preliminary water 
and nutrient balance modeling has been considered. 
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ABSORPTION TRENCHES: Primary Treated Effluent Continued: 
 
The formula for sizing is expressed as follows: 
 
The formula for sizing the length and area of trench and the required using the 
nominated area method using daily flow rate of for example 750L/day and a Design 
Loading Rate of 5mm/day can be expressed as: 
  
L = Q/(DLR x W) 
 
L = Length of require trench (m) 
Q = daily flow (L/day) 
DLR = Design Loading Rate (m/day) 
W = Width of trench 
 
L = 750/(5 x 1) 
= 150m 
 
Calculate trench basal area required: 
 
A = L x W 
= 150 x 1 
= 150m2 


 
The nominated area method is used to calculate the area required to balance all 
inputs and outputs, without the need for wet weather storage. As a result of these 
considerations the following table of trench lengths are recommended for the 
relevant number of bedrooms proposed to achieve zero wet weather storage.  
 
Minimum trench area required for absorption. 
 


 Number of 
Bedrooms 


Number of 
Occupants 


Total Daily 
Wastewater Flow 


Trench 
Basal 


Area Size 


Required 
LAA Size* 


2 3 450 90m² 540m² 


       *3 4 600 120m² 690m² 


4 5 750 150m² 800m² 


5 6 900 180m² 940m² 


6 7 1050 210m² 1100m² 


*Nominated for this site.  Floor Plan appended (Appendix x).  
 
Notes: The above table provides the total envelope size based on a 3m buffer on  


     all 4 sides of the Land Application Area.  
 
     It also adopts a 3m spacing between trenches to allow a reserve field to  
     be configured within the envelope should it be required.  
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4.3 Siting and Configuration of the Land Application Area 
 
Considering the allotment’s size there is considerable space for location of the 
additional effluent disposal trenches on the site. 
 
Due to the lack of sensitive environmental receptors on this site, the waste water 
disposal envelope could be placed in a number of locations but the area 
investigated and nominated is considered most suitable.   
 
Whilst there is ample area for application of effluent, it is important that buffer 
distances be adhered to. It is important to note that buffers are measured as the 
overland flow path for run-off water from the effluent disposal area.  
 
4.4 Disposal System Description 
 
Disposal design can be adopted from Absorption/Transpiration System designs 
within AS/NZS 1547:2012. 
 
If irrigation of secondary treated waste is proposed the design should also be 
sourced from AS/NZ 1547:2012. 
 
4.5 Buffer Distances 
 
Buffer distances from Land Application Areas are required to help prevent human 
contact, maintain public amenity and protect sensitive environments. Council 
generally adopts the following nominal buffers, described in EPA Code of Practice 
891.4 July 2016: 
 
• 20 metres upslope from potable or non-potable groundwater bores; 
 
• 100 metres upslope from watercourses in a potable water supply 


catchment.   
 
• 6 metres if area up-gradient and 3 metres if area down-gradient of property 


boundaries, swimming pools and buildings. 
 
• 60 metres upslope from surface waters (non potable) 
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4.5 Buffer Distances Continued  
 
All nominal buffers are achievable. 
 


Stormwater run-on is not expected to be a concern for the proposed disposal area, 
due to the landform of the site and its relatively gentle slopes. However, upslope 
diversion berms or drains may be constructed if this is deemed to be necessary 
during installation of the system or in the future. Stormwater from roofs and other 
impervious surfaces must not be disposed of into the wastewater treatment system 
or onto the effluent management system. 
 


5. MONITORING, OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE 
 
Maintenance is to be carried out in accordance with the certificate of approval and 
Council's permit conditions. The system proposed above will only function 
adequately if appropriately maintained.  
 
To ensure the land application system functions adequately, residents 
must: 
 
• Regularly harvest (mow) vegetation within the Land Application Area and 


remove this to maximise uptake of water and nutrients. 
 
• Not erect any structures over the Land Application Area. 
 
• Minimise vehicle access to the Land Application Area to prevent compaction. 
 
• Ensure that the Land Application Area is kept level by filling any depressions with 


good quality topsoil (not clay). 
 
• Good water conservation is an important aspect in the overall management of 


onsite systems. It will be important for the ongoing performance of both the 
treatment and application system that they are not overloaded hydraulically. 
AAA rated plumbing is recommended for all future water fixtures. 


 
6. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
 
As mentioned above, stormwater run off is not expected to be a concern in this 
case. However, the construction and maintenance of diversion drains would 
provide precaution against the flow of surface water on to the Land Application 
Area. Roof stormwater must not be disposed in the Land Application Area. 
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7. CONCLUSIONS 
 
As a result of my investigation I am of the opinion that the existing onsite 
wastewater management system can be added to meet the needs of a new 
residence on the allotment. 
 
Specifically, I recommend the following as a minimum requirement: 
 
• Primary treatment of wastewater. 
 
• Location of the Land Application Area as per the recommendations contained 


in this report. 
 
•  Land application of wastewater into an absorption trench area relevant to the 


number of bedrooms proposed.  Trenches up to 30 metres long and 1 metre 
wide with 3 metre spacings are recommended.   


 
• Application of gypsum to trench base at 1kg/m².  
 
•  Installation of water saving devices in the new residence to reduce the effluent 


load for onsite disposal. 
 
•  Use of low phosphorus and low sodium (liquid) detergents to improve 


effluent quality and maintain soil properties. 
 
•  Operation and management of the treatment and disposal system in 


accordance with the recommendations made in this report. 
 


 
ANDREW REDMAN BSc. 


Principal Geologist.  


 
Australian Geomechanics Society (AGS)  
Foundation and Footings Society of Victoria (FFSV) 
Geological Society of Australia Inc (GSA)  
Housing Engineering Design and Research Association (Hedra)  
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                                                             SUBJECT SITE  


AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH 
 


Client:  LYNNE & GRAHAM NEWBERRY   
Ref. Number: 13827A 


Date: 11/02/2020 


Site:  Lot 2 Golf Course Lane, BEAUFORT  
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LOOKING NORTH FROM LAND APPLICATION AREA  


LOOKING EAST FROM LAND APPLICATION AREA 
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LOOKING SOUTH FROM LAND APPLICATION AREA  


LOOKING WEST FROM LAND APPLICATION AREA 







 


 


Page 29 of 42 
Reference Number: 13827A 


 


PROVINCIAL GEOTECHNICAL PTY. LTD. 
CONSULTING GEOLOGISTS  


A.B.N. 88 090 400 114 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


              APPENDIX vi 
 


                 GEOVIC MAP      
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


Page 30 of 42 
Reference Number: 13827A 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 







 


 


Page 31 of 42 
Reference Number: 13827A 


 


PROVINCIAL GEOTECHNICAL PTY. LTD. 
CONSULTING GEOLOGISTS  


A.B.N. 88 090 400 114 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


              APPENDIX vii 
 


                 TEST SITE LOCATION PLAN 
     


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


Page 32 of 42 
Reference Number: 13827A 


 


PROVINCIAL GEOTECHNICAL PTY. LTD. 
CONSULTING GEOLOGISTS  


A.B.N. 88 090 400 114 


 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


  


 


           
 


TEST SITE LOCATION PLAN  


      - Test Site  
 


Client:  LYNNE & GRAHAM NEWBERRY   
Ref. Number: 13827A 


Date: 11/02/2020 


Site:  Lot 2 Golf Course Lane, BEAUFORT  
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PROVINCIAL GEOTECHNICAL PTY. LTD.  
CLIENT: LYNNE & GRAHAM NEWBERRY   REFERENCE NUMBER: 13827A DATE: 11/02/2020 


PROJECT ADDRESS: Lot 2 Golf Course Lane,  GEOLOGIST: Andrew Redman 


 BEAUFORT DRILLING METHOD: 100mm diameter drill rig or hand auger 


 TEST SITE 1 
EXCAVATION METHOD: 


HYDRAULIC DRILLING RIG 


   TEST SITE 2 
EXCAVATION METHOD: 


HYDRAULIC DRILLING RIG 


   TEST SITE 3 
EXCAVATION METHOD: 


HYDRAULIC DRILLING RIG 


  


Depth SOIL PROFILE Fill CAT Depth SOIL PROFILE Fill CAT Depth SOIL PROFILE Fill CAT 


mm    mm    mm    


100 SILTY CLAY (Clay Loam)   4b 100 SILTY CLAY (Clay Loam)   4b 100 SILTY CLAY (Clay Loam)   4b 


200 weakly structured    200 weakly structured    200 weakly structured    


300 brown dry; firm    300 brown dry; firm    300 brown dry; firm    


400 SANDY CLAY (Light Clay)   5b 400 SANDY CLAY (Light Clay)   5b 400    


500 moderately structured    500 moderately structured    500 SANDY CLAY (Light Clay)  5b 


600 orange brown    600 orange brown    600 moderately structured    


700 moist; stiff    700 moist; stiff    700 orange brown    


800    800    800 moist; stiff    


900    900    900    


1000 becoming sandier    1000 becoming sandier    1000 becoming sandier    


1100    1100    1100    


1200    1200    1200    


1300    1300    1300    


1400 END BORE HOLE   1400    1400    


1500 UNABLE TO PENETRATE   1500    1500    


1600 FLOATERS    1600 END BORE HOLE    1600 END BORE HOLE   


1700    1700    1700    


1800    1800    1800    


1900    1900    1900    


2000    2000    2000    


2100    2100    2100    


2200    2200    2200    


2300    2300    2300    


2400    2400    2400    


2500    2500    2500    
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MINISTERS FORWARD


On behalf of the Victorian Government, I am pleased to present 
the Victorian Regional Renewable Energy Roadmaps. 


As we transition to cleaner energy with new opportunities for 
jobs and greater security of supply, we are looking to empower 
communities, accelerate renewable energy and build a more 
sustainable and prosperous state.


Victoria is leading the way to meet the challenges of climate 
change by enshrining our Victorian Renewable Energy Targets 
(VRET) into law: 25 per cent by 2020, rising to 40 per cent by 2025 
and 50 per cent by 2030.


Achieving the 2030 target is expected to boost the Victorian 
economy by $5.8 billion - driving metro, regional and rural industry 
and supply chain development. It will create around 4,000 full time 
jobs a year and cut power costs.


It will also give the renewable energy sector the confidence it 
needs to invest in renewable projects and help Victorians take 
control of their energy needs. 


Communities across Barwon South West, Gippsland, Grampians 
and Loddon Mallee have been involved in discussions to help 
define how Victoria transitions to a renewable energy economy. 


These Roadmaps articulate our regional communities’ vision 
for a renewable energy future, identify opportunities to attract 
investment and better understand their community’s engagement 
and capacity to transition to renewable energy. 


Each Roadmap has developed individual regional renewable 
energy strategies to provide intelligence to business, industry 
and communities seeking to establish or expand new energy 
technology development, manufacturing or renewable energy 
generation in Victoria. 


The scale of change will be significant, but so will the opportunities. 


Each community has a part to play in embracing cleaner energy 
and the benefits it brings for a brighter future.


The Hon. Lily D’Ambrosio MP
Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change
Minister for Solar Homes
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GNET CHAIRPERSONS FORWARD


As Chair of the Grampians New Energy Taskforce (GNET), I 
am delighted to present the Grampians Roadmap to Net Zero 
Emissions. This document is the culmination of an idea that 
was seeded in the early days of GNET in 2017. Our goal was to 
map our regional emissions and identify ways we could  get the 
Grampians region to net zero emission by 2050 across a range of 
key sectors.


I would like to thank the Minister for Energy, Environment and 
Climate Change, Hon Lily d’Ambrosio MP, for supporting the 
idea of the roadmap and making funds available for its delivery. 
I would also like to thank all the members of GNET, who have 
provided ideas and constructive critiques as the project has 
progressed. Your engagement with the roadmap, and grasp of 
the opportunities it represents, bodes well for its life beyond the 
printed form.


This roadmap offers a singular opportunity for the Grampians 
region to lead the way in tackling climate change, by reducing our 
carbon emissions to net zero. It aligns with Australia’s Paris target 
obligations, and the Victorian Government’s strong commitment 
to reach net zero emissions by 2050.


GNET commissioned this roadmap to demonstrate that action to 
mitigate the effects of climate change can be taken at the regional 
level. It is a highly ambitious piece of work: net zero emissions 
strategies are usually pitched at the large (state or national) or 
small (community) level. However, the research commissioned 
for this report has revealed that acting at the regional level is both 
feasible and strategically smart for the Grampians region.


Through the process, a fascinating story emerged, that agriculture 
can be a hero for the region. The ability to sink carbon as an 
offset to agriculture emisions is only part of the opportunity. As 
our largest land manager, agriculture also has the opportunity 
to provide other offsets and reductions to assist other sectors 
such as transport, that will struggle to get to net zero emissions 
by 2050 with existing technologies. With our large agricultural 
output across the entire region and particularly in the Wimmera 
Southern Mallee, the Grampians are well placed to lead the way 
for Victoria, showing how regional emissions can be reduced if 
there is a collaborative effort across government, communities, 
business and industry. In fact, if we do everything outlined in this 
roadmap the region could be a net carbon sink as early as 2044.


The net zero emissions landscape is changing fast and will 
continue to evolve in response to community expectations, 
government policy and changing technologies. This roadmap is 
not the definitive answer for the region, but it is a starting point and 
contains thought provocations and ideas that community groups, 
industry and business can pick up and run with. I would love to see 
us coming together across the region, running 
with this and getting there before 2044.


Stuart Benjamin
Chair
Grampians New Energy Taskforce
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The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) recommended in October 2018 that to minimise the effects 
of climate change, global warming must be limited to 1.5 degrees above pre-industrialised levels by achieving zero net 
greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. In the Grampians, as in every place, life revolves around weather patterns, around 
air and water quality, around animals, plants and unicellular species, and around a reliance on comfort and safety in 
the environment. Climate change threatens each of those balances.


The effects of a changing climate can be seen in longer fire seasons and more catastrophic fire events, as well as long 
term loss of farm productivity and increased vulnerability of the electricity network to extreme weather.


Recognition of the need to avoid the effects of climate change is growing. In November 2019, 11,000 climate 
scientists co-signed a letter in the journal BioScience, calling for urgently needed action worldwide. The Reserve 
Banks of Australia, England and France have all made statements in 2019 highlighting the growing financial and social 
costs of climate change that have already occurred. They have acknowledged that the global economy needs to shift 
to Net Zero Emissions. These responses are converging around a timeframe of mid-century for achieving decisive 
change. Leading governments and organisations are starting to take positive action. The Australian Capital Territory 
has legislated a target of Net Zero Emissions by 2050. Victoria’s Climate Change Act 2017 has a goal of net zero 
greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, with interim targets for 2025 and 2030. Internationally, the United Kingdom and 
New Zealand have both legislated for Net Zero Emissions by 2050.  


The Grampians region of Victoria extends from the Western edge of Melbourne, through the Central Highlands, 
Wimmera and Southern Mallee regions, all the way to the South Australian border.  It comprises eleven local government 
areas (refer figure 1), and covers 49,000 square kilometres or 21% of the land mass of Victoria.  Major towns include 
Ballarat, Bacchus marsh, Ararat, Avoca, Daylesford, Stawell, Horsham, Warracknabeal, Nhill and Edenhope.  In 2017, 
the Grampians region had an estimated resident population of just under 244,000. Ballarat was the region’s largest 
settlement, comprising over 43% of the population. Population growth is forecast for the Central Highlands area and 
population decline for the Wimmera Southern Mallee area.


1. INTRODUCTION
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The Grampians enjoys an economic gross regional product 
of $11 billion. The largest contributing sector is agriculture. 
Renewable energy production, manufacturing, construction, 
and health and education services are also major 
contributors to the economy. This reliance on agriculture 
could be regarded as a vulnerability in the face of climate 
change. The Victorian Government anticipates that in the 
coming decades the Grampians region will experience high 
temperatures year-round, more frequent and more intense 
downpours, and less rainfall in autumn, winter and spring. 


This roadmap shows how valuable it is for an agriculture-
strong region to take early and effective action on carbon 
emissions. Early movers – regions and their businesses – 
will be better placed to capitalise on market opportunities 
arising from the transition to zero. The Grampians region is 
already a national leader in renewable energy, with a strong 
track record of innovation and collaboration across sectors. 
It is well positioned to lead in delivering outcomes for its 
communities and businesses, moving towards a Net Zero 
Emissions economy.


Central HighlandsGrampians Pyrenees


Wimmera


Stawell


ARARAT


Figure 1. 
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2. VISION


The Grampians New Energy Taskforce has committed to a strategic goal of reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions from their current level (refer figure 2) to zero by the year 
2050, across the entire Grampians region, in line with Victorian Government policy for 
the whole state. 


This roadmap report explores what the Net Zero Emissions goal means, and why 
it might specifically be important for the Grampians. It discusses three different 
approaches the region might pursue – a Business as Usual approach, a Local Action 
approach, and a Collaborative Action approach. It discusses how these approaches 
might play out in key domains of the region’s economy. It also considers what the 
priorities are for action associated with these approaches.


The Grampians can achieve the Net Zero Emissions goal as early as 2044, if clear and 
targeted actions within the region are complemented by clear and targeted actions 
from government and industry beyond it. Local Action alone can achieve 76.5% of 
the target by 2050. A Business as Usual approach would achieve only 23.3% of the 
target by 2050.


This report brings together a large project of work that the Grampians New Energy 
Taskforce has led, including extensive public and expert consultations. It is 
underpinned by economic and scientific work prepared by Beyond Zero Emissions 
in partnership with Strategy Policy Research.  The technical work includes detailed 
recommendations for pursuing the local action and collaborative action approaches, 
which are summarised here.


Figure 2. 
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3. WHAT DOES ZERO EMISSIONS MEAN?


The concept of Net Zero Emissions describes a 
balance between the amount of carbon released into 
the atmosphere and the amount of carbon taken out of 
it. For the Grampians, it means human society and the 
natural environment are emitting less carbon than they 
are drawing back from the atmosphere, across the region 
as a whole. In other words, we can measure the carbon 
that a region emits into the atmosphere and the carbon 
it draws back down. When the drawdown is equal to or 
greater than the emissions, the Region has achieved Net 
Zero Emissions.


What are the region’s emissions?
 
They derive from human activity and from activity in the 
natural environment. Achieving the Net Zero Emissions 
goal requires taking account of both aspects. Typically, it 
invests in enhancing and replenishing natural resources 
and ecosystems to strengthen their drawdown of carbon, 
while at the same time reducing the greenhouse gas 
emissions that flow from human activity.


To date there has been little published work establishing 


emissions or carbon capture at a regional level. For this 
roadmap report, then, it is still necessary to use national 
figures and apply them regionally. While that leads to 
an approximation rather than an absolute measure, it 
provides an important first step in establishing priorities 
and opportunities. The same data sets will also be 
comparable over time.


For the Grampians, achieving Net Zero Emissions 
requires changing behaviour across the region—not in all 
ways but in some critical, targeted ways. It means using 
homes and workplaces differently. It means making the 
best of technology to change energy use and transport 
options. It means using land in ways that contribute to 
achieving the goal.


The research behind this roadmap report has identified 
five domains of action that correspond to main aspects 
of the Grampians’ economy. These domains structure 
the changes that we need to make, both in the region 
and with support from beyond, in order to achieve Net 
Zero Emissions. Section 5 of this report discusses them 
in detail.


5 Domains of action
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Maintaining a Business as Usual approach, without taking innovative 
action to accelerate decarbonisation of the region’s economy, would 
see the Grampians deliver only 23.3% of the emissions reductions 
needed to achieve Net Zero Emissions by 2050.


Clear and targeted action that is limited to the Grampians can deliver 
76.5% of the emissions reductions needed to achieve Net Zero 
Emissions by 2050. This is what is called the Local Action approach. 
Drawing on efforts across the region, it would represent a major 
contribution to the effort against climate change, but Local Action 
alone cannot achieve the goal of Net Zero Emissions.


Clear and targeted action across the Grampians, combined with 
complementary action from government and industry beyond the 
region, can realise the goal of Net Zero Emissions by 2044, and 
contribute more than that in the subsequent years. This is called the 
Collaborative Action approach.
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4. THREE APPROACHES TO ACHIEVING NET ZERO EMISSIONS
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4.1. THE ”BUSINESS AS USUAL” APPROACH


The world is changing in many ways, including human responses to the threat of climate change. Across the domains of action 
considered in this report, it is predicted that practices and technology mixes will tend to move towards a lower dependence 
on fossil fuels, based on current trends. These changes are uneven and not always predictable; however the overall result is a 
foreseeable reduction in carbon emissions across the Grampians for the years 2018-2050.


In this scenario, emissions are expected to fall significantly in transport and in the residential sector. Transport emissions are 
expected to fall, despite travel and freight demand growth, due to electrification of at least parts of the transport task. Abatement 
in the residential sector is due to the significant share of electricity in residential energy consumption, and the expectation that 


emissions associated with that electricity generation 
will be very low in the coming decade and beyond 
even if no further action is taken beyond what is 
already known.


This scenario is called the Business as Usual 
approach. It entails making no strategic changes that 
would particularly change the rate of decarbonisation 
in the region’s economy, beyond those changes that 
may be already observed underway. In other words, 
the Business as Usual projections up to the year 
2050 display a considered sense of the trajectory the 
region is currently on, as modelled in the technical 
work. Figure 3 plots the year-by-year changes 
projected, decreasing gradually to 23.3% of current 
emissions.


Figure 3. Business as Usual approach: Grampians Region total emissions reduction
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4.2. THE “LOCAL ACTION” APPROACH


One point of comparison is to assess what clear, targeted changes 
are realistically achievable, then project their likely consequences 
for greenhouse gas emissions. The challenge for a localised 
study like this is to acknowledge that some achievable changes 
are effectively outside the control of the region, while others are 
achievable through local decisions and behaviours alone.


For that reason, the Roadmap models two alternatives to Business 
as Usual. The first is the Local Action approach. It relies on clear 
and targeted action at a local level, but it does not rely on changes 
to Business as Usual coming from outside the Grampians. The 
emissions reductions projected for this approach over the years 
2018-2050 are much more significant than those associated with 
Business as Usual. Figure 4 shows the year projections, which 
reach 76.5% by 2050.


Figure 4. Local Action approach: 
Grampians Region total emissions 
reduction
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4.3. THE ”COLLABORATIVE ACTION” APPROACH


The third and final scenario builds on the potential offered by 
Local Action. The Collaborative Action approach goes on to 
factor in achievable changes that government and industry 
beyond the Grampians might adopt. It is an overtly optimistic 
scenario, in that it assumes state and national decision makers 
can be persuaded to complement a local campaign. 


Figure 5 projections show that the Collaborative Action approach 
would achieve Net Zero Emissions by 2044. It would then 
continue to achieve net negative emissions in the subsequent 
years—so that the figure for 2050 would represent a reduction by 
124% in relation to 2018 levels. The greatest single contribution 
of this approach is to enable very significant changes in land 
use, which ultimately leads all the domains of action in achieving 
net negative emissions by 2050 (it is projected that land use 
changes will achieve a reduction of 160.7% compared to 2018 
levels).


Figure 5: Collaborative Action approach: 
Grampians Region total emissions reduction
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5. FIVE DOMAINS OF ACTION


Each of the approaches discussed in Section 
4 revolves around behaviours and practices, 
or “domains of action” in various aspects of 
the Grampians Region and its economy. To 
understand how the respective approaches 
work, it is necessary to understand what 
changes they would drive in each of the five 
domains. This section works through each 
domain, explaining how it might be affected 
by Business as Usual, by Local Action and 
by Collaborative Action.
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5.1  ENERGY


The Grampians Region is already a leader in renewable 
energy, with major wind energy production zones and net 
renewable energy exports. These trends are set to expand in 
the future. With progressive expansion of solar uptake, and 
with a gradual increase in electrical storage, the region will 
meet most of its own electrical needs from renewables. It 
will also play a major role in enabling Victoria and the wider 
national energy market to reduce emissions.


Stationary energy means all fossil fuels (gas and coal) 
used in electricity generation and in the direct production 
of industrial heat, as well as geothermal energy. It draws 


much attention in public discussions of carbon emissions 
and climate change; however, it is the least dynamic domain 
of action when strategies for achieving Net Zero Emissions 
in the Grampians are modelled. That is because a Business 
as Usual scenario will already see a very rapid drop-off in 
emissions from stationary energy consumption before 2023.


The region’s electricity-related emissions are low, compared 
to the rest of Victoria. They will be much lower again in the 
future, given a continued expansion in renewable electricity 
generation. Figure 6 shows that emissions from electricity 
use in the Grampians are projected to fall early and 
significantly under any of the approaches discussed here. 


Figure 6: Electricity Emissions 
Intensity by Approach
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Figure 6 points to an interesting quirk of the 
Collaborative Action approach: in the years after 
2022, it will lead to higher electrical demand than 
the Local Action or Business as Usual approaches. 
This is allowing for the use of electric vehicles, and 
for the replacing of fossil fuels in stationary energy 
applications. In other words, the Collaborative Action 
approach involves sacrificing some reduction of 
electricity emissions in order to make much greater 
reductions in other domains of action.


In any case, emissions associated with electricity use 
are not expected to fall to zero under any approach 
discussed here. The largest gains under the Local 
Action and Collaborative Action approaches will be 
found in other domains.


Recommendations for Local Action


•	 The City of Ballarat continues to pursue a trial of hydrogen fuel.


•	 Households and businesses can transition from gas to electricity—
for example induction cooking, solar heat-pump hot water and 
smart timers.


•	 People can maximise energy efficiency by assessing appliances, 
hot water systems, cooking and space conditioning devices and 
the usage of these facilities.


•	 Local communities can investigate microgrid opportunities for 
self-sufficient, reliable and affordable power.


•	 People can add solar panels to their home and business buildings.


•	 Community leaders can run education programs to reduce energy 
usage.


•	 Energy providers can use data analytics to help people identify 
inefficiencies in their buildings, appliances and equipment.


Recommendations for Collaborative Action


•	 Local authorities can work with state and federal governments and 
with infrastructure providers to upgrade the region’s existing power 
grid.


•	 Local organisations can engage with governments and energy 
companies to establish community benefit programs.
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5.2. BUILDINGS


Whereas the projected carbon emissions associated with energy consumption do not vary hugely between approaches, 
those associated with the construction and usage of buildings do. The projections are based on likely changes to 
commercial and to residential buildings. For the Grampians, that involves buildings across a wide range of economic 
circumstances, as well as a wide range of climatic conditions, including the potential for bushfire. 


Importantly, it involves a growing buildings sector. Total floorspace in the Grampians is estimated to grow from 7.3 
million square metres in 2018 to almost 10 million square metres in 2050. Given the switch from fossil fuels to renewable 
sources for electricity production already underway, the main variable between the three projected approaches is the use 
of fossil fuel gas as an energy source. 


This period will see a rapidly falling intensity of emissions 
around electricity consumption, as discussed in Section 5.1. A 
great portion of this shift will be due to the uptake of rooftop 
solar electricity, which has been profound for both residential 
and commercial sectors.


Under a Business as Usual approach, greenhouse gas emissions 
associated with the construction and usage of buildings would 
be expected to fall by more than half from 2018 (504 kilotonne 
(kt) of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2-e)) to 2025 (236 kt of 
CO2-e). After 2025, however, it is likely that emissions will begin 
growing again, in line with an increased usage of gas.


In other words, from 2025 onwards, emissions from gas will 
dominate total emissions associated with building usage and 
construction. Since gas consumption is forecast to rise under 
this approach, emissions will also rise in the years 2025-2050. 
As an indication, Figure 7 sets out the Business as Usual 
projections for commercial buildings.


Figure 7: Commercial buildings greenhouse gas emissions, Business as 
Usual Approach, by local government authority







GRAMPIANS REGIONAL ROADMAP TO NET ZERO EMISSIONS 19


The medium-to-long term outlook for the Grampians is a 
region with a surplus of renewable electricity. The Local 
Action and Collaborative Action approaches are aimed at 
maximising this advantage, by looking for ways to reduce 
reliance on all fossil fuels in the usage and construction of 
buildings. A particular focus is on maximising the uptake of 
solar power.


Some people are not yet aware of the greenhouse gas 
implications of consuming fossil methane. Some may still 
associate electricity consumption with the use of brown 
coal in the Latrobe Valley, and so are inclined to assume that 
gas is a more climate-friendly option. That is a misleading 
comparison if the electricity is largely or entirely renewable 
in origin, however. By 2025, generating electricity will emit 
significantly less carbon than burning gas.


The region’s surplus of renewable electricity highlights 
that the largest, fastest and very likely most cost-effective 
abatement opportunity is to use that electricity to replace the 
burning of fossil fuels, including natural gas, in households, 
business and industry.


Other strategies for natural gas replacement are being 
explored, including hydrogen produced with renewable 


electricity. It is possible that hydrogen systems may become 
a significant feature of Australia’s future energy system. 
That said, there is a need to reduce emissions as rapidly 
as feasible. Replacing gas consumption with renewable 
electricity is an effective strategy that is available now and, 
unlike hydrogen, is a proven approach. Figure 8 projects how 
this strategy could play out, charting the likely emissions for 
commercial and residential buildings over the years to 2050.


Figure 8: Stationary Emissions, Local Action approach
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Under the Local Action approach, emissions associated with 
the construction and usage of buildings would be expected to 
fall significantly by 2050: a reduction of more than 52% for the 
residential sector and just under 50% for the commercial buildings 
sector, relative to 2018. 


An opportunity for the region would be to create regionally  
adapted information sheets and sources, and to conduct 
awareness raising and information campaigns to promote 
the benefits of renewable electricity. These would need to be 
differentiated for different sectors and markets—ultimately any 
move away from fossil fuel energy sources such as gas will 
need to be financially viable for households and businesses. 
Successful transition even on a regional scale will likely require 
policy changes and transitional support from state and federal 
governments. 


Other challenges include rented buildings, both residential 
and commercial, where the owner may have little incentive to 
install solar or improve the thermal efficiency of the building, as 
the tenant will be the primary beneficiary—at least in the short 
term. The tenant is likely to have little incentive or ability to 
invest, particularly if lease terms are short or do not allow such 
“modifications,” and if they face “make good” provisions at end of 


lease. Currently the state government offers significant subsidies 
for residential solar installations, particularly with a view to making 
rooftop solar viable for low income households. Continuing and 
promoting these subsidies would likely accelerate a move away 
from fossil fuels.


There are particular challenges for solar on apartment buildings 
or other strata-titled developments. The complexities of collective 
decision-making in such buildings can exacerbate other issues, 
such as many apartment buildings having a smaller available 
roof-area relative to their floor area and energy demand. While 
apartments represent only 2.5% of all dwellings in the Grampians 
Region, that is still over 2,200 households that may face challenges 
in accessing the benefits of solar energy.


Finally, regardless of the financial benefits of solar systems or 
improving thermal efficiency to reduce energy consumption, 
lower-income households may not be able to afford the capital 
cost. There is a case for considering how all households can be 
included within the clean energy transition, and not be excluded 
from its benefits. One of the goals of the Victorian Government’s 
Solar Homes program is to address domestic solar system 
affordability.
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By these projections, emissions reductions under the Collaborative 
Action approach would reach almost 79% for residential buildings 
by 2050 (compared to 2018 emissions), and over 74% for 
commercial buildings. 


Recommendations for Local Action


•	 Individuals and organisations can promote and facilitate solar 
uptake.


•	 Individuals and organisations can raise awareness and support 
for fuel switching.


Recommendations for Collaborative Action


•	 State government can mandate higher standards for energy 
performance in housing, including enhanced planning 
schemes and housing developments.


•	 State or federal financial support can assist landlords to meet 
rental standards for the energy usage of buildings without 
lifting rental charges.


•	 State or federal governments can support the upgrading of 
existing buildings, including business solar facilitation and 
innovative finance for solar uptake. 


Figure 9: Stationary Emissions, Collaborative Action 
approach


These are widespread challenges throughout Australia, 
which can most effectively be addressed in partnership with 
state and federal governments. With willing cooperation from 
other agencies and from industry, the extent of emissions 
reduction under the Collaborative Action approach would 
be very significant, as Figure 9 projects.
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5.3  INDUSTRY


Industry can expect to reduce its emissions in the short term, however focused action will be required to keep reducing emissions 
in the years beyond 2025. Many of the opportunities to reduce emissions will be around the use of renewable electrical power, 
rather than fossil fuel gas. This section focuses primarily on mining and manufacturing, which are industries associated with 
intensive energy use. Section 5.4 deals with transport, including the transport industry.


Much as with buildings, the Business as Usual approach will see an almost 50% reduction in emissions over the years 2018-2025, 
then a levelling out, before a gradual rise in emissions over the years 2031-2050. Combining the electricity and gas projections 
above, Figure 10 shows the greenhouse gas emissions projections for mining and manufacturing industries across the region 
under Business as Usual. Emissions will fall in the early years, due to the declining emissions intensity of electricity use, and then 
flatten out as they become dominated by emissions associated with natural gas consumption. The projections here are largely 
driven by the Australian Energy Market Operator’s expectations about gas consumption across Victoria. 


Figure 10: Industry Sector Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions, Business as Usual approach
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The Local Action approach is predicated on enabling and 
encouraging business enterprises to shift their energy usage 
from gas-sourced power to alternative energy. Initially, in 2021, 
it is modelled that ten enterprises would switch to alternative 
energy, with that number growing annually by five enterprises per 
year. By 2050, that could see almost 2,500 industrial enterprises 
moving from gas to alternative energy, out of an expected total 
of nearly 3,700 enterprises in the Region at that time. 


Based on average energy use per site, this switching could see 
a reduction in Regionwide gas consumption of more than 800 
terra joules (TJ) by 2050. That reduction, in turn, would lead to 
an increase in electricity consumption of around 270TJ by that 
time. With the significant reduction in the emissions intensity 
of electricity consumption anticipated over this timeframe, total 
emissions in the sector would be expected to fall by almost 71%, 
as Figure 11 reveals. This fall in emissions intensity of electricity 
would be supported by industry moves to generate electricity 
on-site through solar or bioenergy sources, or to procure it from 
large-scale wind and solar farms within the region. 
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Under the Collaborative Action approach, stronger policy 
settings and government incentives would lead to a faster rate 
of (electrical) energy efficiency improvement, averaging 2% per 
year. In addition, incentives under state-based schemes – on top 
of continued market and technology trends – would be likely to 
see an acceleration in fuel switching.


Collaborative Action means pursuing stronger policy incentives 
to lower emissions and accelerate efficiency improvements, 
specifically renewable energy and fuel switching. The Grampians 
can achieve emissions reductions of between 70% and 80% by 
this approach. Potentially, even greater savings – including Net 
Zero Emissions – could be achieved with further technology or 
market breakthroughs. An increase in energy storage in the Region 
would lead to fewer or no electricity imports, therefore fewer or no 
emissions.


The Collaborative Action approach would aim for 50 enterprises 
to switch to renewables in 2021. A further five enterprises would 
shift to renewables per year, meaning all the Region’s mining and 
manufacturing enterprises would switch to renewables by 2050. 
This fuel switching would be expected to increase electricity 
demand by some 400TJ by 2050. However, due to the large share 
of emissions-free electricity in the region, emissions would be 
expected to fall by nearly 80% by 2050, reaching very low levels 
(22 kt of carbon dioxide equivalent), as Figure 12 projects.


Figure 11: Industry sector greenhouse gas emissions, 
Local Action approach
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Increases in emissions from industry in the Grampians, as 
in Victoria generally, will predominantly arise from the use of 
natural gas. To date, gas has offered a lower-cost and lower-
emissions alternative to electricity generated from brown coal. 
However, gas is now a relatively high-emissions pathway when 
compared to the use of renewable electricity. The Business as 
Usual projections show that a long-term reliance on gas will lock 
the region’s industries out of meaningful emissions reductions 
beyond the year 2025. Strategies under the Local Action and 
Collaborative Action approaches are aimed to sustain the 
momentum with reductions up to 2050 and beyond.


Recommendations for Local Action


•	 Businesses can pursue “fuel switching”—to switch their 
power source from gas to renewable electricity.


•	 Industry can make wider use of renewable electricity Power 
Purchase Agreements, especially in manufacturing, and 
local organisations can promote a greater awareness of 
this option.


Recommendations for Collaborative Action


•	 The Region can work with governments, industry and 
researchers to develop innovative storage strategies, 
including potential use of renewable hydrogen or biogases.


Figure 12: Industry sector greenhouse gas 
emissions, Collaborative Action
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5.4  TRANSPORT


Transport plays a vital role in the Grampians. Transport activity is beneficial 
for economies but brings with it direct and indirect costs. The environmental 
costs of transport include the emission of greenhouse gases (along with other 
pollutants) from the petrol and diesel burnt by the internal combustion engines of 
vehicles. Some of these emissions can be reduced by changing local decisions 
and behaviour, but the most significant reductions can only come with changes to 
technology and to state and federal regulation.


Transport emissions have been generally rising across all of Australia’s regions 
for decades. This is due to increases in transport activity along with ongoing use 
of liquid fossil fuels to power the vehicles that perform transport tasks. Passenger 
transport tasks are rising with population increases and freight transport tasks 
are increasing with rising economic growth and consumption of goods. The great 
bulk of this increasing transport task is performed by diesel and petrol vehicles – 
so emissions are also increasing. 


At the same time, emissions from other sectors – such as electricity generation – 
have been falling. Transport’s share of total emissions is growing in Australia and consequently also in the Grampians. 


While motorised transport activity will continue to grow as populations and economies grow, the growth in emissions is no longer 
an automatic consequence. Transport emissions will fall significantly, even under Business as Usual, due to global shifts in vehicle 
technologies and a modest trend to use cars a little less per person.


Figure 13 projects the Business as Usual emissions for passenger and freight transport over the years 2018-2050. It shows the likely 
impact of three trends now under way:


•	 electrification of vehicles.


•	 improved efficiency standards for petrol and diesel vehicles.


•	 shifts in behaviour (from private cars to public transport, from passive to active transport, and trip avoidance).
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Local Action would involve a switch by councils to electric (EV) 
light vehicle fleets by 2025. This is assumed to prompt a slight 
increase in the rate of EV uptake among private car owners, 
responding to municipal leadership. Note that this action could 
be integrated with broader state or commonwealth government 
purchasing policy. 


On freight, Local Action could see councils working together to 
develop a procurement framework that requires local transport 
service providers (couriers, freight companies, etc) to use Net 
Zero Emissions vehicles. Councils could work with local large 
businesses to enact the same policies.


Meanwhile, Local Action also means per person use of cars 
would drop slightly as councils take measures to encourage 
active transport options. Informed by  applicability studies 
in each location across the region, more pedestrian crossings, pedestrian-friendly speed limits in towns, 
increased development of bike lanes and pathways, and some changes to urban road availability could 
encourage shifts in behaviour away from private car use. Importantly, the region could reconfigure its 
education and health precincts for people-centred and active travel outcomes rather than promoting car use. 


Figure 14 shows the region’s projected transport emissions under the Local Action approach. It shows 
a substantial improvement on the passenger travel emissions for Business as Usual, as well as some 
improvement on the freight emissions.


Figure 13: Grampians transport 
emissions under Business as 
Usual
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The Collaborative Action approach complements local efforts with 
state and federal initiatives that would change transport technology and 
behaviour very significantly. It would require the Victorian and Australian 
Governments to become major funders of active travel infrastructure. 


At the same time, the entire rail network could be electrified by 2040. 
Buses could become fully electric by 2050. Public transport networks 
could be extended, and per person charges could be reduced to drive 
increased patronage.


Collaborative Action would encourage households and industry to 
switch to Net Zero Emissions vehicles through a fast rollout of public 
EV infrastructure, as well as public planning and partial support for 


hydrogen and EV infrastructure for heavy vehicles. This could be 
matched by other incentives to promote the use of EVs, such as 
increases in fuel taxes and registration price increases for non-Net 
Zero Emissions vehicles, although these measures would need to 
minimise costs to consumers.


These Collaborative Actions are within the capacity of government 
and industry, but will need to be balanced against other policy 
considerations such as affordability. Figure 15 illustrates how 
much emissions reduction they can drive. While the end result is 
not quite zero, it represents a more than 90% drop in emissions by 
2050, compared to 2018.


Figure 14: Grampians transport emissions 
under Local Action
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Recommendations for Local Action


•	 Households and businesses can prioritise electric vehicles when 
they next purchase a car.


•	 Transport planners can develop local and regional electric 
vehicle charging networks, leading communities to install further 
charging points. 


•	 Households and workforces can give greater consideration to 
public transport options in planning their regular and incidental 
journeys.


•	 Individuals can make active travel a greater part of their lifestyles.


•	 Transport planners can create and implement a region-wide 
plan for active transport.


•	 Local industry can run community education programs about 
electric vehicles for individual and industry use.


Recommendations for Collaborative Action


•	 Regional councils can work with providers of public transport 
and other stakeholders to increase public transport options 
across the Grampians.


•	 Regional councils can work with state and federal governments 
and other stakeholders to electrify all the region’s train journeys 
by 2040 and all bus journeys by 2050.


•	 Regional councils can work with governments and industry to 
create a zero-emissions heavy vehicle task force to set targets 
for industry uptake of Net Zero Emissions heavy vehicles.


•	 Local and state transport planners can work with industry and 
researchers to develop logistics solutions based on circular 
economy principles, which involve less long-haul transport and 
more short haul transport, and which tend to use smaller electric 
vehicles.


Figure 15: 
Grampians 
transport emissions 
under Collaborative 
Action


Collaborative Action can eliminate the daily use of diesel and petrol 
vehicles by 2050. This will require concerted efforts, but some 
of the implementation measures will be popular if the consumer 
experience is superior. Public support for EV infrastructure and 
hydrogen for heavy vehicles will likely be forthcoming. There will 
be various ways of achieving zero transport emissions, but the 
task of shifting from fossil fuel to electric transport will require 
significant policy interventions at the state and national levels. 
For that reason alone, this will be a challenging approach to fulfil.







5.5. LAND - AGRICULTURE


The Grampians Region covers 48,627 square 
kilometres. Farms and the wider agricultural 
industry are a vital part of the fabric of the 
Grampians, and a key driver of the economy. 
There is no question that farming enterprises 
need to be profitable and sustainable in order 
to sustain the region’s livelihood. Not only is 
agriculture a key industry for the region, but it 
is of great significance for the roadmap report 
to reach Net Zero Emissions. In fact, land usage 
is the single most powerful element of the 
roadmap report. 
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Under the Business as Usual approach, the agricultural industry 
will need to manage the effects of increasingly variable weather 
conditions as the climate changes. This potentially includes reduced 
rainfall quantity and reliability along with hotter summers and higher 
evaporation. Farmers will continue to adapt and improve their 
practices to maintain and increase productivity. Additional challenges 
will also be presented to the industry through globalisation, such 
as international competiveness and widescale industry transitions. 
These efforts will require support at various levels of government, 
harnessing research and development to facilitate dynamic change.


At the same time, population increases and rising income in countries 
like China and India mean that global demand for agricultural product, 
such as grain and meat, is expected to rise. Rising demand will keep 
delivering an incentive to farmers to continue their enterprises even in 
the face of climatic challenges.


The Business as Usual scenario envisages changes in the emissions 
intensity associated with electricity generation, but not widespread 
changes to land use emissions. There are and will continue to be 
innovative technologies available, but Business as Usual will not see 
their increased widespread adoption in agricultural practice above the 
current rate. Figure 16 shows the emissions projections under this 
approach: rates of emissions reached an upper limit in 2018 and will 
remain more or less level from 2019 until 2050.


Figure 16: Grampians agricultural 
emissions - Business as Usual
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The greatest opportunity for the land sector to draw down 
carbon and at the same time boost ecosystem health is to 
return low to unproductive cropping and grazing land back to 
native tree and shrub species. 


The CSIRO have advocated this approach. Across Australia’s 
total agricultural lands, they envisage that land use solely 
allocated to crops and grazing needs to be reduced to less 
than 50% of current levels by 2060. Much of this usage would 
be replaced by areas of native species aimed at environmental 
improvement and carbon sinks. The CSIRO’s recommendations 
for land use to 2060 respect global settings generally, and are 
specifically in line with Paris climate change commitments to 
limit warming to 1.5 degrees. 


This outlook is based on a considerable land use change 
across the nation with the amount of cropping land dropping 
by 40%, and the allocation of land to livestock reduced by 
70%. It is important to note that this work was conducted on a 
national level, and a significant amount of further work needs 
to be undertaken to modify the logic and apply it at a regional 
level. Whilst successful implementation of this model at a 


national level would result in significant land use change, the 
amount of agricultural output is not expected to decrease—
in fact in some cases it is expected to increase, resulting in 
higher profitability for farmers.   From a regional perspective 
it is expected that given the relative rainfall, and productive 
soil types that the region is well placed to not only increase 
agricultural productivity, but also benefit from any economic 
diversification offered through carbon capture and renewable 
energy production.  


The CSIRO’s advice is for a more selective and responsive 
use of the land, in all its variety. Trees and shrubs should be 
planted on land of lesser quality, and along waterways and 
hills, to sequester carbon and increase ecosystem health. This 
is sometimes known as “mosaic farming.” Figure 17 sets it out 
graphically.


Figure 17: Land use change under CSIRO’s 
Outlook Vision (Cooperative Global 
Context). Source: CSIRO, 2019
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Land use, therefore, should be carefully allocated according 
to optimal, fit for purpose land use. This would see the most 
productive land (fertile soils in flat areas of at least medium 
rainfall) used for intensive agriculture (horticulture, orchards, 
cropping). Livestock would be the main product in areas of 
medium-productivity land (low to high rainfall on moderately 
fertile soils). The least productive land – poorer soils, shallow 
soils, steep slopes and waterways/gullies would support a 
mix of carbon and biodiversity plantings.  On a regional level, 
given the relatively ‘high’ rainfall, amount of productive soil 
and ‘mixed’ farming enterprises, successful implementation 
will require significant further work and planning on a 
localised level, coupled with further research into the carbon 
capture potential of regional soil types and crops.  In addition 
there is opportunity for industry to reduce emissions and 
diversify through production of waste to energy processes, 
and alternative fertiliser production.  Both options would 
contribute to the economy of the region, whilst reducing 
emissions.


A widely recognised example of this model is Jigsaw Farms, 
near Hamilton (www.jigsawfarms.com.au). They report the 
push for Net Zero Emissions has required no compromise to 
their venture’s commercial performance. It reached carbon 
neutrality with about 19% of the farm covered with trees.  
This approach will not be viable for other areas of the region, 
where different soil types and business models are used.  It 
is however a good example of a place based, economically 
viable model of carbon neutral farming. For other farmers, 
the answer to making a viable business out of their carbon 
sequestration appears to lie more in boosting depleted 
soil carbon and organic-matter levels.   A key to success 
will be the industry as a whole and as individuals working 
collaboratively to assist in offsetting each other’s emissions.
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As Figure 18 shows, Local Action can make a huge 
difference to agricultural emissions across the Grampians 
– comparing it with Figure 16 is very revealing – but it will 
not be enough to achieve a Net Zero Emissions target. It 
is imperative not only for implementation to be successful, 
but also for the prosperity of the regional economy that 
farms can increase their profitability.  The region’s land 
sector alone cannot bear the costs of taking up available 
opportunities. Evidence-based research, market demand 
and financial incentives are required to an extent that can 
only arise from a widespread community and government 
recognition of the economic value natural assets. 


The Collaborative Action approach means a recognition that 
state and federal governments must strengthen their resolve 
and implement holistic cross-sectoral policies. Education 
and research institutions can support the Grampians and 
its communities in understanding the challenges and the 
opportunities, of transition to a zero emissions economy 
helping the region to keep innovating and strengthening. 
National and international industries need to engage with 
change in the Grampians. The Grampians region can play a 
key role in leading and advocating for change – and is well 
positioned for energetic and determined action. 


Figure 18: Grampians 
agricultural 
emissions - Local 
Action approach
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Another important component of land use is waste management. 
Like Victoria as a whole, the Grampians region is working towards 
a circular economy attitude to waste. This attitude prioritises 
products and systems designed to use, reuse, recycle or repurpose 
people’s already-used materials in some way. It replaces the 
attitude that waste is a useless by-product of people’s activities, 
needing permanent disposal.


Under a Business as Usual approach (refer Figure 19), waste will 
continue to grow as population grows. The Local Action approach 
would extend existing good practices – such as crop stubble 
use on farms and green waste collection at some sites. It would 
also complement them with focused investments in bioenergy, 
including technologies for combustion/incineration, pyrolysis, 
gasification, transesterification and anaerobic digestion.


The Grampians region can play a key part in leading a new cultural 
consensus around land use. As a non-metropolitan region, its 
communities are more directly exposed to climate change than 
many others in Australia. The communities thus have a major 
stake in driving change to our patterns of land use. The region 
has already taken important steps – recognising that an all-sector 
approach to reach Net Zero Emissions by 2050 is needed. 


5.5. LAND - WASTE


Figure 19: Waste emissions - Business as Usual
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5.5. LAND


The benefits of a cooperative and integrated 
approach to the transition will be an extraordinary 
transformation, but it is within our collective 
abilities to collaborate to achieve it. As Figure 20 
shows, the projections for a Collaborative Action 
approach would take the region’s net agricultural 
or land emissions down to well under zero by 
2050, a reduction of 160.7% on 2018 levels. 


Figure 20 - Grampians Land Use Emissions 
- Collaborative Action Approach
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Recommendations for Local Action


•	 Landholders can pursue trials of (and research into) 
diversified farming techniques, including:


	 - Ways to make mosaic farming work in the 		
	 Grampians.


	 - The carbon capture potential of the region’s crops 	
	 and soils.


	 - Shifting intensive farming to renewable energy.


•	 Local authorities can enable and encourage the uptake 
of circular economy principles, including:


	 - Waste to Energy trials (including bio-waste).


	 - Bio-waste to Fertiliser trials.


	 - Community education on recycling and waste 	
	 reduction.


	 - Investigate the viability of locally produced 		
	 fertiliser using renewable energy.


Recommendations for Collaborative Action


•	 Local, state, and federal government can work with 
industry and researchers to develop technological 
solutions to livestock and crop emissions, including:


	 - Modifying livestock feed to lower livestock 			 
	 emissions.


	 - Converting bio-waste to fertiliser.


	 - Increasing and enhancing biodiversity 			 
	 through 	strategic projects such as 				  
	 Greening Australia’s ‘Habitat 141’ initiative.


•	 Develop science and engineering programs on food 
production and the circular economy, in conjunction with 
universities.


•	 Local, state, and federal authorities can collaborate to 
develop circular economy planning and building settings 
and standards that:


	 - Ensure the use of renewable energy. 


	 - Mandate efficiency standards for energy, water 		
	 and materials usage.


	 - Maximise opportunities to reduce and re-use 		
	 locally produced waste and by-products.
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6. CONCLUSIONS


People in the Grampians have an opportunity to reimagine their ways of life, especially their interactions with the 
region’s industries and infrastructure. While this change can be both exciting and unsettling, given the challenge that 
climate change already poses to ways of life, it is imperative the region seizes this opportunity. The region needs to 
make the most of what it offers – including major economic opportunities – while at the same time supporting the 
entire community to help drive the needed changes.


A Business as Usual approach will go some way to reducing the region’s greenhouse gas emissions, especially due 
to changes in electricity generation. Overall, it will bring year 2050 emissions down to 76.7% of their 2018 levels, a 
reduction of 23.3%.


A Local Action approach will go much further in reducing emissions. By redesigning infrastructure and encouraging 
a transition from gas power to renewable energy, it can bring year 2050 emissions down to just 23.5% of their 2018 
levels, a reduction of 76.5%.


Building on Local Action by working with governments, industries, and agencies outside the Grampians, it can bring 
the region’s emissions to zero by the year 2044. Driven especially by the potential for leadership in renewable and 
alternative energy, agriculture and land use, this approach can deliver year 2050 emissions that are reduced by 124% 
on their 2018 levels. In other words, the Grampians could serve as a global leader, by transitioning to an innovative 
Net Zero Emissions economy. 
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1 INTRODUCTION 
Council must ensure effective corporate governance through the implementation and 
application of strong and appropriate internal policies, procedures and controls which 
encompass all areas of risk management, Council’s control framework, its external 
accountability responsibilities, Council’s legislative compliance and its internal and external 
audit activities, and in particular the implementation of audit recommendations. 
 
To assist in the ongoing achievement of this objective, Council has established an Audit & 
Risk Committee, in accordance with s53 of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act).   In 
accordance with s53 of the Act the Audit & Risk Committee is not a delegated committee as 
proscribed by s63 of the Act. 


1.1 Objective 
The key objective of the Audit & Risk Committee is to provide independent assurance and 
support to the Council and Chief Executive Officer on the adequacies of Council’s controls 
by:  
 


• Monitoring compliance of Council policies and procedures with: 
o The overarching governance principles; and 
o The Local Government Act 2020 and regulations; and 
o Any Ministerial directions; 


• Monitoring Council financial and performance reporting; 


• Monitor and provide advice on risk management and fraud prevention systems and 
controls; and 


• Oversee internal and external audit functions. 


AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE CHARTER 2020 
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2 AUTHORITY 
In accordance with s53 and s54 of the Local Government Act 2020, the Pyrenees Shire 
Council authorises the Audit & Risk Committee, within the scope of its role and 
responsibilities, to: 
 


• Obtain any information it needs from any employee and/or external party (subject 
to their legal obligation to protect information); 


• Discuss any matters with the external or internal auditor, or other external parties 
(subject to confidentiality considerations); 


• Request the attendance of any employee, including the Chief Executive Officer, at 
committee meetings; and 


• Obtain external legal or other professional advice, as considered necessary to meet 
its responsibilities, at Council’s expense. 


3 COMPOSITION AND TENURE 
 


• The Audit & Risk Committee will consist of five members, comprising two 
Councillors and three independent members. 


• A committee quorum shall be three members, one Councillor and two independent 
members. 


• The Chairperson of the Committee must be an independent member. 


• The Chairperson shall be elected by Committee members annually. 
 


• The members, taken collectively, will have a broad range of skills and experience 
relevant to the operations of local government, in particular: 


• Expertise in financial management and risk; and 


• Experience in public sector management. 
 


• Independent members will be appointed for an initial period not exceeding three 
years, after which they will be eligible for two further three year extensions after a 
formal review of their performance at the conclusion of each term.  The review is to 
be undertaken by the Chief Executive Officer.  At the end of the three consecutive 
terms the position will be advertised seeking expressions of interest.  This does not 
preclude the existing member re-applying. 
 


• Councillor members will be appointed to the Audit & Risk Committee by the full 
Council on an annual basis. 
 


• No Council staff may be appointed to the Audit & Risk Committee; however, the 
Chief Executive Office shall be required and entitled to attend all meetings of the 
Committee.  The Director of Corporate & Community Services, Director of Assets & 
Engineering, Manager Finance and Manager Governance Risk & Compliance will 
attend all meetings of the Committee in an advisory capacity only unless otherwise 
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advised by the Committee Chairperson.  Other Council staff may be invited to attend 
meetings of the Committee as required. 
 


• Council’s internal and external auditors cannot be appointed to the Audit & Risk 
Committee.  The internal auditor will be required to attend and present at all 
meetings of the Committee.  The external auditor may attend all meetings of the 
Committee and may also present to any meeting of the Committee on request. 


4 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
The Audit & Risk Committee is directly responsible and accountable to Council for the 
exercise of its responsibilities.  In carrying out its responsibilities, the Committee must at all 
times recognise that primary responsibility for management of the Municipality rests with 
Council and the Chief Executive Officer. 
 
The roles and responsibilities of the Committee may be revised or expanded in consultation 
with, or as requested by, the Council from time to time; and in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 2020 or supporting Regulations. 


4.1 Individual member responsibilities and expectations 
Members of the Committee are expected to understand and observe the legal requirements 
of the Local Government Act 2020 and any transitional arrangements from the Local 
Government Act 1989 and subsequent amendments or addendums.   
 
Members are also expected to: 
 


• Contribute the time needed to study and understand the papers provided; 


• Apply good analytical skills, objectivity and good judgement; 


• Express opinions frankly, ask questions that go to the fundamental core of the issue 
and pursue independent lines of enquiry. 


4.2 Audit & Risk Committee Charter 
Pursuant to s54 of the Local Government Act 2020 Council must prepare and approve an 
Audit & Risk Committee Charter, specifying the functions and responsibilities of the Audit & 
Risk Committee.   
 
The Audit & Risk Committee Charter will be formally reviewed every two years. 


4.3 Annual requirements 
The Audit & Risk Committee must: 
 


• Adopt an annual work program. 
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• Undertake an annual assessment of its performance against the Audit & Risk 
Committee Charter and provide a copy of the annual assessment to the Chief 
Executive Officer for tabling at the next Council meeting. 


• Prepare a biannual audit and risk report that describes the activities of the Audit & 
Risk Committee and includes its findings and recommendations; and provide a copy 
of the biannual audit & risk report to the Chief Executive Officer for tabling at the 
next Council meeting. 


The Chief Executive Officer must: 


• Ensure the preparation and maintenance of agendas, minutes and reports of the 
Audit & Risk Committee; and 


• Table reports and annual assessments of the Audit & Risk Committee at Council 
meetings when required by the Local Government Act 2020 and when requested by 
the chairperson of the Audit & Risk Committee. 


4.4 Committee functions and responsibilities 
The Committee’s functions and responsibilities are to appropriately monitor compliance and 
performance, and provide advice, in the following areas: 


4.4.1 Compliance 
The Committee must: 


• Monitor the compliance of Council policies and procedures with: 
o The overarching governance principles; and 
o The Local Government Act 2020, supporting Regulations and any Ministerial 


directions. 


• Determine whether Council has appropriately considered legal and compliance risks 
as part of risk assessment and management arrangements. 


• Review the effectiveness of Council’s policy framework and control environment in 
ensuring compliance with relevant laws, regulations and associated government 
policy. 


4.4.2 Financial and performance reporting 
The Committee must monitor financial reporting and: 


• Review the financial statements and provide advice to Council (including whether 
appropriate action has been taken in response to audit recommendations and 
adjustments) and recommend their signing by Council’s delegates; 


• The Chairperson of the Audit & Risk Committee to review and approve the 
presentation of the financial statements in the Annual Report.  This approval is 
required prior to the Annual Report being submitted to the Minister of Local 
Government; and 
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• Satisfy itself that the financial statements are supported by appropriate 
management signoff on the statements and on the adequacy of the systems of 
internal controls. 


The Committee must monitor performance reporting and:  


• Satisfy itself that Council has a performance management framework that is linked 
to organisational objectives and outcomes; and 


• Review annual performance statements against Council’s stated performance 
objectives and outcomes. 


4.4.3 Risk management 
The Committee must monitor and provide advice on risk management and fraud prevention 
systems and controls including review of: 


• Whether a current and comprehensive risk management framework is in place to 
effectively identify and manage Council’s financial and business risks, including the 
risk of fraud and corruption; 


• Whether a sound and effective approach has been followed in identifying, 
monitoring and mitigating Council’s strategic risks; 


• The impact of Council’s risk management framework on its control environment and 
insurance arrangements; 


• Whether a sound and effective approach has been followed in establishing Council’s 
business continuity planning arrangements, including whether disaster recovery 
plans have been tested periodically; and 


• Council’s fraud control plan and satisfy itself that Council has appropriate controls in 
place to identify and mitigate risk of fraud and corruption; and processes and 
systems in place to capture and effectively investigate fraud related information. 


4.4.4 Control framework 
The Committee must: 


• Review whether Council’s approach to maintaining an effective internal control 
framework, including over external parties such as contractors and advisors, is 
sound and effective; 


• Review whether Council has in place relevant policies and procedures, including 
officer delegations, and that these are periodically reviewed and updated; 


• Determine whether the appropriate processes are in place to assess, at least once a 
year, whether policies and procedures are complied with; 


• Review whether appropriate policies and procedures are in place for the 
management and exercise of delegations; 


• Consider how Council identifies any required changes to the design or 
implementation of internal controls; and 
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• Review whether Council and senior management have taken steps to embed a 
culture which is committed to ethical and lawful behaviour. 


4.4.5 Internal Audit 
The Committee must oversee internal audit functions and: 


• Act as a forum for communication between the Chief Executive Officer, senior 
management and internal and external audit; 


• Review the internal audit coverage and annual work plan, ensure the plan is based 
on Council’s risk management plan and recommend approval of the plan by the 
Chief Executive Officer to Council; 


• Advise the Council and Chief Executive Officer on the adequacy of internal audit 
resources to carry out its responsibilities, including completion of the approved 
internal audit plan; 


• Oversee the coordination of audit programs conducted by internal and external 
audit and other review functions; 


• Review all audit reports and provide advice to the Council and Chief Executive 
Officer on significant issues identified in audit reports and action taken on issues 
raised, including identification and dissemination of good practice; 


• Monitor management’s implementation of internal audit recommendations; 


• Review the internal audit program and contract to ensure appropriate 
organisational structures, authority, access and reporting arrangements are in place; 


• Periodically review the performance of internal audit; and 


• Review special internal audit reports and/or other relevant internal audit 
consultancies conducted in addition to the internal audit program. 


4.4.6 External Audit 
Council must oversee external audit functions and: 


• Act as a forum for communication between the Council, senior management and 
internal and external audit’ 


• Provide input and feedback on the financial statements and performance audit 
coverage proposed by external audit and provide feedback on the audit services 
provided; 


• Review all external plans and reports in respect of planned or completed audits and 
monitor management’s implementation of audit recommendations; and 


• Provide advice to the Council on action taken on significant issues raised in relevant 
external audit reports and better practice guides. 
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5 ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 


5.1 Meetings 
The Committee will meet at least three times per year.  A special meeting may be held to 
review Council’s annual financial statements. 
 
The Chairperson is required to call a meeting if requested to do so by the Chief Executive 
Officer, or another committee member. 
 
A forward meeting plan, including meeting dates and agenda items, will be agreed by the 
Committee each year.  The forward meeting plan will cover all of the Audit & Risk 
Committee’s responsibilities as detailed in this Charter. 
 
Conduct of and behaviour at meetings will be in accordance to provisions detailed in 
Council’s Governance Rules. 


5.1.1 Confidential auditor discussions 
The Committee will be afforded opportunity at each meeting to confer confidentially with 
internal and external audit representatives present, excluding the presence of the Chief 
Executive Officer, senior management or other internal or external attendees or guests. 


5.2 Secretariat 
The Chief Executive Officer will appoint an officer to provide secretariat support to the 
Committee.   
 
The Secretariat will ensure the agenda for each meeting and supporting papers are 
circulated, at least one week before the meeting, and ensure the minutes of the meetings 
are prepared and maintained.  Minutes must be approved by the Chairperson and circulated 
within two weeks of the meeting to each member and committee observers, as appropriate. 


5.3 Committee Integrity 


5.3.1 Conflicts of Interest  
Conflicts of interest must be managed in accordance with Council’s Conflicts of Interest 
Procedure. 
 
Twice a year Audit & Risk Committee members will provide written declarations to the Chief 
Executive Officer stating they do not have any conflicts of interest that would preclude them 
from being members of the Committee. 
 
Audit & Risk Committee members must declare any conflicts of interest at the start of each 
meeting or before discussion of the relevant agenda item or topic.  Details of any conflicts of 
interest should be appropriately minuted. 
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Where members or observers at Audit & Risk Committee meetings are deemed to have a 
real, or perceived, conflict of interest it may be appropriate that they are excused from 
committee deliberations on the issue where a conflict of interest exists. 


5.3.2 Misuse of position 
A Committee member must not intentionally misuse their position to: 


• Gain or attempt to gain, directly or indirectly, an advantage for themselves or for 
any other person; or 


• Cause, or attempt to cause, detriment to the Council or another person. 


5.3.3 Confidential information 
A person who is, or has been, a member of the Audit & Risk Committee, or a member of 
Council staff, must not intentionally or recklessly disclose information that the person 
knows, or should reasonably know, is confidential information. 
 
This does not apply to information that the Council has determined should be publicly 
available or to circumstances detailed in section 6 (Definitions) of this document. 


5.4 Induction 
New members will receive relevant information and briefings on their appointment to assist 
them to meet committee responsibilities. 


5.5 Expenses 
The Independent members of the Audit & Risk Committee may receive an honorarium for 
attendance at meetings of the Committee.  The level of any honorarium paid will be set 
periodically by Council. 


5.6 Performance Assessment 
The Mayor, Councillors and Chief Executive Officer will undertake an annual review of the 
performance of the Audit & Risk Advisory Committee after receiving and considering the 
Audit & Risk Committee’s final report for a calendar year. 


6 DEFINITIONS 
Misuse of 
position 


Circumstances involving the misuse of a position by a person who is a 
member of the Audit & Risk Committee include: 


• Making improper use of information acquired as a result of the 
position the person held or holds; or 


• Disclosing information that is confidential information; or 


• Directing or improperly influencing, or seeking to direct or 
improperly influence, a member of Council staff; or 


• Exercising or performing, or purporting to exercise or perform, a 
power, duty or function that the person is not authorised to exercise 
or perform; or 
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• Using public funds or resources in a manner that is improper or 
unauthorised; or 


• Participating in a decision on a matter in which the person has a 
conflict of interest. 


Confidential 
information 


Confidential information may be disclosed in the following 
circumstances: 


• For the purposes of any legal proceedings arising out of the Local 
Government Act 2020; 


• To a court or tribunal in the course of legal proceedings; 


• Pursuant to an order of a court or tribunal; 


• In the course of an internal arbitration and for the purposes of the 
internal arbitration process; 


• In the course of a Councillor Conduct Panel hearing and for the 
purposes of the hearing; 


• To a Municipal Monitor to the extent reasonably required by the 
Municipal Monitor;  


• To the Chief Municipal Inspector to the extent reasonably required 
by the Chief Municipal Inspector; 


• To a Commission of Inquiry to the extent reasonably required by the 
Commission of Inquiry; or 


• To the extent reasonably required by a law enforcement agency. 


Conflicts of 
interest 


A relevant person has a general conflict of interest in a matter if an 
impartial, fair-minded person would consider that the person’s private 
interests could result in that person acting in a manner that is contrary to 
their public duty. 


7 REFERENCE & RELATED DOCUMENTS 
• Detail any legislation that the policy is mandated by 


• Detail any supporting Council framework documents – procedures, guidelines, forms 
etc. 


7.1 Consultation and impact 
Pyrenees Shire Council is committed to consultation and cooperation between management 
and its employees.  Council will involve elected employee health and safety representatives 
in any workplace change that may affect the health, safety or wellbeing of any of its 
employees. 
 
Development of this Policy was conducted in consultation with relevant staff and 
consultative committees prior to approval.  It is considered that this Policy does not impact 
negatively on the rights identified in the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 
(2007). 
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8 VERSION HISTORY 
Version Number Issue date Description of change 


1.0 May 2009 Initial release 


2.0 May 2011 Biennial review  


3.0 August 2013 Biennial review 


4.0 November 2015 Biennial review 


5.0 December 2017 Biennial review (not implemented) 


6.0 May 2019 Biennial review 


7.0 May 2020 Legislative requirement to review Charter as part of 
implementation of the Local Government Act 2020 (s54 
(7). 


 
 
 








Minutes - Audit and Risk Committee Meeting  
Tuesday 26 May 2020 at 3:00pm via Teleconference 
 


Members: Mr Geoff Price (Chair) 
Mr Rod Poxon 
Ms Wendy Honeyman  


  Cr Damian Ferrari 
 


Officers: Mr Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
  Mr Douglas Gowans – Director Assets and Development Services 


Ms Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services 
  Mr James Hogan – Manager Finance 
  Ms Michelle Richards – Acting Manager Governance, Risk and Compliance 


  Ms Chantelle Sandlant – Executive Assistant to the Directors  
 


Guests:  Mr Brad Ead – AFS & Associates 
  Ms Cassandra Gravenall – Crowe Melbourne (left meeting at 3.54pm) 
    
   


1. Apologies 
Cr Ron Eason 


2. Conflict of Interest Declarations 
Nil. 


3. Election of Chair 
Former Chairperson to vacate the Chair and pass to the Director Corporate & Community Services to lead 
this part of the meeting. 
 
Mr Geoff Price vacated the Chair and passed to Ms Kathy Bramwell to lead this part of the meeting. 
 
In accordance with the Audit & Risk Committee Charter the Chairperson of the Audit & Risk Committee 
is required to be elected annually.  It is therefore appropriate for the Committee to elect a Chairperson 
for the next twelve months.  Call for recommendations: 
 
Mr Geoff Price indicated that he is proposing to retire from the committee, Geoff advised that he has 
enjoyed his period as chairman and as a member of this committee and wished everyone success for the 
future. 
 
Mr Geoff Price nominated Ms Wendy Honeyman as Chair, Mr Rod Poxon agreed with this nomination. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That Ms Wendy Honeyman Be elected to the role of chairperson for a period of twelve months 
commencing 26 May 2020. 


 
Moved: Mr Geoff Price    2nd: Rod Poxon 


CARRIED 
 


 Ms Kathy Bramwell vacated the Chair and passed to Ms Wendy Honeyman to lead the meeting. 
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4. Confirmation of previous Minutes – Chair 
Meeting held 26 November 2019.  
 
(Appendix 4 – Minutes of meeting held on 26 November 2019) 


 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the minutes of the meeting held 26 November 2019, as tabled, be adopted. 


 
Moved: Mr Rod Poxon     2nd: Mr Geoff Price 


CARRIED 


5. Reports: 


5.1 VAGO Audit Strategy Memorandum 2019/20 Financial Year and Interim Management 
Letter (Cassandra Gravenall - Crowe) 
Attached is the Draft VAGO Audit Strategy Memorandum for the financial year ending 30 June 2020.  
The purpose of the memorandum is to provide an overview of the planned approach to the annual audit 
of the financial report of the Pyrenees Shire Council.  The document covers matters believed by the 
Auditors to be significant in the context of their work.  The audit will be undertaken by Crowe, 
Melbourne, a VAGO Audit Service Provider. 
 
Also attached is VAGO’s Interim Management Letter for the year ending 30 June 2020.  This letter 
provides a summary of audit findings from the interim phase of the annual financial audit and is 
provided for discussion at this meeting.  
 
(Appendix 5.1a - Pyrenees Shire Council Draft Audit Strategy Memorandum for the financial year ending 
30 June 2020) 
(Appendix 5.1b – Interim Management Letter for the year ending 30 June 2020) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee receives the Draft Audit Strategy Memorandum for the financial year 
ending 30 June 2020 and discusses the Interim Management Letter for the financial year ending 30 June 
2020. 
 


Moved: Mr Rod Poxon    2nd: Cr Damian Ferrari 
CARRIED 


5.2 Proposed 2020/21 Budget (James Hogan) 
Council has prepared a proposed budget for 2020/21 which is aligned to the vision in the Council Plan 
2017-2021.  It details the resources required over the next year to fund the large range of services 
provided to our community.  It also includes details of proposed capital expenditure allocations to 
improve and renew our Shire’s physical infrastructure, buildings and operational assets as well as 
funding proposals for a range of operating projects. 
 
The budget seeks to do this with a capped rate increase of 2%, the maximum increase allowed by the 
Victorian State Government for 2020/21.  Council resolved on 12 November 2019 not to apply for a rate 
cap increase for the 2020/21 financial year. 
 
Public consultation was completed as at 15 May 2020 and members of the public were provided 
opportunity to make submission to Council in person.  Council adoption of the final budget is scheduled 
for 9th June 2020.  A copy of the final budget will be provided to the Audit & Risk Committee in August. 
 
(Appendix 5.2 – Proposed Budget 2020-21) 
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RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee notes the information provided on the proposed 2020/21 budget and 
provides comment as applicable. 
 


Moved: Mr Geoff Price    2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 
CARRIED 


5.3 Q3 Quarterly Finance Report  
Attached is the Q3 quarterly finance report for the nine months from 1 July 2019 to 31 March 2020.  
The report compares the current budget against year-to-date actuals for each operating program and 
for all capital works in the 2019/20 financial year to-date. 
 
(Appendix 5.3a – Q3 Quarterly Finance Report) 
(Appendix 5.3b – March 2020 Q3 Quarterly Financials) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee notes the information provided in the Q3 quarterly finance report. 
 


Moved: Mr Rod Poxon    2nd: Cr Damian Ferrari 
CARRIED 


5.4 Internal Audit 2019-06 Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery (Brad Ead - AFS) 
Attached is an internal audit report following a review to assess the adequacy of Council’s Business 
Continuity and Disaster Recovery planning processes as to whether they align to best practice standards 
and are reviewed and tested. 
 
Findings identified two areas of strength (Approved Business Continuity Policy and IT disruption 
mitigation strategies in place) and eleven areas of risk – all rated as moderate – that require attention.  
These findings have been included within the Outstanding Issues Register and are in the process of being 
addressed. 
 
Committee members expressed disappointment in the findings of this report and sought response from 
officers on rectification actions to be undertaken.  Council officers advised that in the first instance 
external expertise would be sought to achieve good practice and that staff capability building would be 
attained through external training to ensure maintenance thereafter.   
 
The Internal Auditor further recommended that the Audit & Risk Committee request a further report 
on progress at a future meeting in 2020. 
 
(Appendix 5.4 - Internal Audit Report 2019-06 Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee receives the AFS – Internal Audit Report 2019-16 Business Continuity 
and Disaster Recovery. 
 


Moved: Mr Geoff Price    2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 
CARRIED 


5.5 Internal Audit 2020-02 Project Management (Brad Ead - AFS) 
Attached is an internal audit reporting following a review to ensure adequate project risk management 
exists and project management processes promote efficiency and align to e practice. 
 
The review found that no formal project management framework, policies or procedures to be in place 
to ensure a consistent approach to project management across the organisation.  Instead, reliance is 
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placed on knowledgeable and experienced staff to achieve project outcomes, identify and mitigate 
project risks and deliver to community expectations. 
 
Findings identified here areas of strength (draft project risk management framework developed; project 
manager weekly meetings and staff experience and knowledge) and eight areas of risk needing 
improvement – four rated as moderate and four as minor.  These have been included within the 
Outstanding Issues Register and are in the process of being addressed. 
 
Council is preparing to appoint a Risk Management Specialist in the latter part of 2020 whose primary 
task will be to develop a project management framework.  In the meantime, a governance oversight 
element has been introduced into regular project progress meetings.  This has been done by including 
all Executive Leadership Team members within the discussions and regular reference back to statutory 
obligations.  A project reporting template is being developed that will highlight the key governance 
areas that need to be reported against, including budget, timelines and scope compliance. 
 
(Appendix 5.5a - Internal Audit Report 2020-02 Project Management) 
(Appendix 5.5b – Draft Project Management Risk Guidelines) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee receives the AFS – Internal Audit Report 2020-02 Project Management. 
 


Moved: Cr Damian Ferrari    2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 
CARRIED 


5.6 Internal Audit 2019-05 Past Issues Review (Brad Ead - AFS) 
Attached in an internal audit report detailing a review on actions taken to address recommendations 
from previous internal audit reports.  Three recommendations were confirmed as being satisfactorily 
addressed. 
 
(Appendix 5.6 - Internal Audit Report 2019-05 Past Issues Review) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee receives the AFS – Internal Audit Report 2019-05 Past Issues Review. 
 


Moved: Mr Geoff Price    2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 
CARRIED 


5.7 Ombudsman Victoria Report May 2020 – Investigation of alleged improper conduct by 
Executive Officers at Ballarat City Council 
Attached is a report; published by Ombudsman Victoria in May 2020; of an investigation of alleged 
improper conduct by Executive Officers at Ballarat City Council.  Eight separate complaints were 
received by the Victorian Ombudsman’s Officer regarding allegations of nepotism by the council’s CEO 
and a director – i.e. alleged recruitment or promotion of former colleagues and friends.  The 
Ombudsman stated in the report that it was tabled, not because of the scale or severity of the conduct, 
but the need for senior officers to lead by example.  She also advised that local government is claimed 
to be a small world with even more reason to be mindful of conflicts, actual or perceived, and to manage 
them appropriately. 
 
The investigation found the following issues: 


• Substantiation of allegations against the director of acting improperly in connection with 
recruitment of friends and former colleagues to senior roles at Ballarat Council. [Page 34 of the 
report.] 


• Actions suggestive of procurement practices potentially designed to avoid public tender 
processes. [Page 45 of the report.] 
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• The use of council purchasing card for beverages, meals and coffees (albeit not sufficient to 
constitute ‘improper conduct’) and purchases considered to be unusual (although legitimate). 
[Page 48 of the report.] 


• The investigation did not substantiate all of the allegations against the CEO.  It did not find 
evidence that she was improperly involved in the recruitment of former colleagues or personal 
associates from former councils. [Page 63 of the report.] 


• The investigation did find evidence that the CEO was involved in certain employment decisions 
that were unwise and may have been improper.  [Pages 63 - 65 of the report.] 


 
Responses by Ballarat Council can be found on pages 69 onwards of the report. 
 
Two recommendations were made for the City of Ballarat [page 71 of the report] which relate directly 
to that individual council.  However, looking at the report from the perspective of the Pyrenees Shire 
Council it highlights the need to investigate more closely PSC operations to ensure there is no exposures 
with regard to procurement and recruitment / promotion processes.  To this end, the following has 
been arranged: 
 


1. An internal audit review of procurement governance is already underway in May 2020, and this 
report has been provided to auditors as part of investigative documents; and 


2. An internal audit review will be scheduled as part of the 2020-2022 internal audit program to 
examine the adequacy of Council’s recruitment and promotion processes and controls to 
prevent any nepotism risk. 


 
Officers reported that processes were already being examined and amended to tighten controls around 
recruitment panel conflicts of interest and management of those interests. 


 
(Appendix 5.7 – OmbudsVic Report – Ballarat Council May 2020) 


 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit and Risk Committee received the attached report published by the Victorian Ombudsman 
and endorses the actions being undertaken by Council officers to ensure adequate processes and 
controls are in place at the Pyrenees Shire Council. 


 
Moved: Mr Rod Poxon    2nd: Cr Damian Ferrari 


CARRIED 


5.8 Internal Audit Program Service Provider 2020-2021 (Kathy Bramwell) 
The current contract for internal audit services provision ends on 30th June 2020.  The current contract, 
with AFS & Associates of Bendigo, was awarded in 2017 as a result of a public tender process.   Annexure 
A of the current contract, Item 11, allows for a further term to be awarded of 1 x 1 x 1 year options.   
 
To maintain consistency of approach and building upon the organisational knowledge developed over 
the past three years by AFS & Associates, it is considered appropriate that the term extension option in 
the current contract be utilised to extend the current contract by a further 12 months to 30th June 2021.  
It is requested that the Audit & Risk Committee consider extending the current contract and making a 
recommendation to Council to this effect. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit and Risk Committee recommends that the Pyrenees Shire council extends the current 
internal audit services contract, currently with AFS & Associates, by a further 12 months to 30th June 
2021. 


 
Moved: Mr Rod Poxon    2nd: Mr Geoff Price 


CARRIED 
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5.9 Local Government Act 2020 (Kathy Bramwell) 
The Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) was proclaimed on 6 April 2020 with transition from the 
former Act being implemented in stages between 1 May 2020 and 30 June 2022.  Attached is a report 
providing information on the gradual implementation and transition from the Local Government Act 
1989 and how this is being managed by the Pyrenees Shire Council. 
 
(Appendix 5.9 – Implementation of the Local Government Act 2020) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee receives the attached reporting regarding the Implementation of the 
Local Government Act 2020 and requires Council officers to provide status updates against 
implementation progress to each meeting of the Committee in 2020 and 2021. 
 


Moved: Cr Damian Ferrari   2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 
CARRIED 


 


5.10 Audit & Risk Committee Re-establishment and Charter Review (Kathy Bramwell) 
As part of the first tranche of implementation obligations under the Local Government Act 2020, Council 
is required approve the first Audit & Risk Committee Charter and establish the first Audit & Risk 
Committee on or before 1 September 2020.    
 
It is proposed, subject to confirmation from the Audit & Risk Committee members, that Council re-
establishes the Audit & Risk Committee in the same format and structure as existing, as this meets the 
obligations under the new Act, to operate under a revised Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020. 
 
As part of the re-establishment of the Audit & Risk Committee, committee members are requested to 
consider whether the initial three year tenure of committee members should commence again from 
the date on which Council adopts the re-establishment of the Audit & Risk Committee, or whether the 
tenure timeframes continue on in accordance with former arrangements. 
 
Attached is a revised draft Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020.  The Charter remains similar to the 
document adopted in 2019 with the following changes made to comply with the 2020 Act: 
 


• Inclusion of key objectives to reflect the Act in sections 54(2) [section 1.1 of the Charter]. 


• Section 4 of the Charter and its sub-sections [roles and responsibilities] has been amended to 
ensure compliance with the wording within the Act, yet maintain the majority of the current 
Charter content. 
Section 4.3 of the Charter now includes a new requirement [under section 54(5) of the new Act] 
for the Audit & Risk Committee to provide biannual Audit & Risk Committee Activities Report 
to Council [twice per year instead of annually]. 


• Section 5 of the Charter [Administrative arrangements] has been amended to ensure 
compliance with the Act, including obligations under the Act’s integrity provisions: 


o Section 5.3.1 of the Charter [Conflicts of Interest] reflects section 53(5) of the Act, which 
requires Division 2 of Part 6 of the Act to be included within the revised Charter. 


o Section 5.3.2 of the Charter [misuse of position] reflects section 53(5) of the Act which 
requires section 123 of the Act to be included within the revised Charter. 


o Section 5.3.3 of the Charter [Confidential information] reflects section 53(5) of the Act, 
which requires section 125 of the Act to be included within the revised Charter. 


 
All other provisions within the 2020 Act remain similar to provisions already within the Audit & Risk 
Charter which remain, therefore, compliant. 


 
 (Appendix 5.10 – Draft Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020) 
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RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit and Risk Committee considers and approves the revised Audit & Risk Committee Charter 
2020 and that this be provided to the Pyrenees Shire Council for adoption in June 2020. 


 
Moved: Mr Geoff Price    2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 


CARRIED 
 


RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit and Risk Committee recommends that the Pyrenees Shire Council re-establishes its Audit 
& Risk Committee in accordance with section 54(7) of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) in the 
same format and structure as existing, as this meets the obligations under the Act; to operate under the 
revised Audit & Risk Committee Charter 2020. 


 
Moved: Mr Geoff Price    2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 


CARRIED 
 


RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit and Risk Committee recommends to the Pyrenees Shire Council that the tenure of 
Committee Members continues the timeframes originally implemented by the former Audit & Risk 
Committee established under the Local Government Act 1989. 


 
Moved: Mr Geoff Price    2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 


CARRIED 


5.11 Audit & Risk Committee Annual Work Plan 2020 
Audit & Risk Committee Annual Work Plan 2020 attached. 
 
(Appendix 5.11 – DRAFT Audit & Risk Committee Annual Work Plan 2020) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee accepts the Committee’s Annual Work Plan for 2020 and that this 
work plan be included within all future committee agendas for review. 
 


Moved: Mr Rod Poxon   2nd: Cr Damian Ferrari 
CARRIED 


 


5.12 Annual Audit & Risk Committee 2019 Performance Review (Kathy Bramwell) 
In early 2020, Council received the Annual Report on Audit & Risk Committee 2019 activities from the 
Committee Chair.  In accordance with the Audit & Risk Committee Charter, Council subsequently 
conducted an annual review of Committee performance during 2019 and, at its meeting of 19th May 
2020, Council endorsed the actions of the Committee in the way it discharged its responsibilities during 
2019. 


 
 (Appendix 5.12a – ARC Annual Report 2019) 
 (Appendix 5.12b – ARC Annual Assessment Council 2019) 
 


RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit and Risk Committee receives and notes the positive outcome of Council’s annual 2019 
performance review of its Audit & Risk Committee. 


 
Moved: Mr Rod Poxon    2nd: Mr Geoff Price 


CARRIED 
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5.13 Service Review – Frontline Services (Kathy Bramwell) 
Attached is a report of a service review undertaken in 2019/2020 of the frontline service operations of 
Council, including the customer service operations at the Beaufort Council offices, operations at the 
Beaufort and Avoca resource centres, and the second-line service teams that respond to enquiries 
received via frontline services staff.  The review was funded by a DELWP grant as a pilot program to 
develop a service review methodology within Council. 
 
The review focus established clear objectives: 


• To achieve a significant change in service outcomes 


• To deliver a financially sustainable outcome for the community 


• To build a customer-centred organisational culture 


• To deliver a ‘best value’ customer service function, and 


• Align with and leverage opportunities from the Rural Council Transformation Project 
 
The review was conducted over a period of approximately four months, with regular briefings being 
provided to, and direction received from, Council.  Key directions arising from the review are included 
within the attached report and include: 


• Adoption by Council of a ‘No Wrong Door’ policy to reinforce whole-of-organisation approach 
to customer service. 


• Consolidation of existing frontline service teams into a single business unit – as from 1 July 
2020. 


• Relationship development between frontline and second line service areas to ensure a greater 
focus on meeting customer needs. 


• Implementing a service model that encourages online delivery of information and access to 
services. 


 
To support the above, improvements in business processes, work design and policy alignment will be 
implemented. 
 


 (Appendix 5.13 – Frontline Service Review Final Report v5.0) 
  


 RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit Committee receives the Report detailing the results of the Frontline Services Review 
2020. 


   
Moved: Cr Damian Ferrari    2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 


CARRIED 


5.14 Service Review – Pyrenees Community Care (Kathy Bramwell) 
A confidential report was circulated separately to Audit & Risk Committee members only of a service 
review undertaken in late 2019 of Council’s Pyrenees home-based aged care operations. 
This review was commissioned in response to ongoing national aged and disability care reforms that 
represent a significant policy and strategy challenge for Victorian councils and demand that there is a 
considered and structured response to mitigate risk and avoid negative consequences for the 
community.   
 
The report detailed the challenges potentially faced by Victorian councils post June 2022 when the 
current block-funding arrangements end, with no certainty as to how the funding arrangements will 
continue after that time.  Council officers are currently undertaking actions directed by Council in 
February to: 
 


• Develop and deliver an engagement strategy to discuss with staff and clients the government 
reforms;  


• Understand the short and medium-term financial impact on Council’s long term financial plan;  
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• Including the impact of aged and disability reforms in the 2020 Strategic Risk Register review; and 


• Collaborating with other councils on future developments with regard to aged and disability care 
reform. 


 
It is noted that current operations at the Pyrenees Shire Council continue as business as usual. 
 


  (Circulated separately – Appendix 5.14 Confidential report – Pyrenees Community Care) 
  


 RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit Committee receives the Report detailing the results of the service review into the 
Pyrenees Community Care operations conducted in 2019/2020. 


   
Moved: Mr Rod Poxon    2nd: Mr Geoff Price 


CARRIED 


5.15 Governance, Risk & Compliance Report (Michelle Richards) 
Attached is a report providing an update on governance, risk, compliance and related activities.  A report 
on risk appetite tolerances set by Council is also tabled. 


 
 (Appendix 5.15a – Governance, Risk & Compliance Report) 


(Appendix 5.15b – Risk Appetite Tolerances) 
   


 RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee receives the Governance, Risk & Compliance Report. 
 


Moved: Mr Rod Poxon    2nd: Cr Damian Ferrari 
CARRIED 


5.16 Compliance update (Kathy Bramwell) 
Attached is a report providing information on some key legislative change that occurred in late 2019 
and early 2020 with an impact on Council, including: 
 


• Gender Equality Act 2020 


• Workplace manslaughter legislation 


• FOI Charges remain the same for 2020/21 
 
Fraud:   
There have been no identified instances of fraud since the last meeting of the Audit & Risk Committee. 
 
Protected disclosures:   
Council has not received a protected disclosure since the last meeting of the Audit & Risk Committee. 


 
(Appendix 5.16 – Legislative Change) 


 
 RECOMMENDATION: 


That the Audit Committee notes the information provided in the Compliance Update and attached 
report on legislative change. 


   
Moved: Mr Geoff Price   2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 


CARRIED 


5.17 AFS Quarterly Industry Update (Brad Ead] 
Attached is a report from AFS & Associates providing their quarterly update to councils on recent reports 
and publications of interest. 
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 (Appendix 5.17 – AFS & Associates Recent Reports and Publications of Interest to Councils) 
  


 RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit & Risk Committee notes the information in the AFS & Associates Recent Reports and 
Publications of Interest to councils. 


   
Moved: Mr Geoff Price   2nd: Mr Rod Poxon 


CARRIED 


5.18 CEO’s Report – Current Issues for Pyrenees Shire Council (Jim Nolan) 
The CEO’s Report was tabled verbally at the meeting and circulated to members following the meeting. 


 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit and Risk Committee receives the CEO’s report. 


 
Moved: Mr Rod Poxon    2nd: Mr Geoff Price 


CARRIED 


6. General Business – All 
Mr Geoff Price advised that he would not be seeking a further term on this Committee. Geoff thanked 
Council and advised that he appreciated the opportunity to Chair the committee. Geoff wished the 
committee all the best for the future. 
 
Mr Jim Nolan acknowledged and noted his appreciation of Geoff’s time and contribution to this 
committee. 


7. Opportunity for Audit & Risk Committee Members to hold closed discussions with internal 
and external auditors 
The Chairperson asks all members of the Audit & Risk Committee if they would like to discuss any matter 
in closed session with internal or external auditors. 
 
The Chairperson asks internal and external auditor representatives present if they would like to discuss 
any matter in closed session with Audit & Risk Committee members. 
 
The committee agreed that this item is an annual requirement and that it will be put to the next meeting 
due to the impracticability during a virtual meeting. 
 


8. Meeting closed 
Meeting closed at 5.05pm. 


9. Next Meeting 3.00pm Tuesday, 22 September 2020 (MO41) 
 


 


 


 


 
Reviewed and signed by the Chairperson 


 
 


------------------------------------------ 
Ms Wendy Honeyman, Chairperson 
Date:  
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Background 


I enclose for your information the audit strategy memorandum (ASM) for the year ending 30 June 2020. 


The ASM provides an overview of our planned approach to the annual audit of the financial report of the Pyrenees Shire Council. This document covers matters we believe 


to be significant in the context of our work. This ASM will be discussed at the audit committee meeting on 26 May 2020.    
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Yours sincerely 
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Introduction 
Purpose of the audit strategy memorandum  


• This document outlines our planned approach to the audit of the Pyrenees Shire Council financial report and performance statement for the financial year ending 


30 June 2020. 


• It is a key document for us to communicate with those charged with governance and management  


• This document should be read in conjunction with our engagement letter issued. 


Scope of the audit 


The Audit Act 1994 requires the Auditor-General to: 


• form an opinion on whether your financial report presents fairly in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989  


• provide a copy of my auditor’s report to the Minister responsible for your financial report and where we provide a modified audit opinion, we must provide a copy 


to the Assistant Treasurer. 


The Local Government Act 1989 requires the Auditor-General to form an opinion on whether your performance statement presents fairly in accordance with Part 6 of the 


Local Government Act 1989. 


The National Land Transport Act 2014 requires the Auditor-General to form an opinion on whether, both the total expenditure and council’s own source expenditure for the 


construction and maintenance of roads reported in the roads to recovery statement is based on and is in agreement with proper accounts and records.  


Independence  


The Auditor-General is: 


• an independent officer of the Victorian Parliament  


• appointed under legislation to examine, on behalf of Parliament and taxpayers, 


the management of resources within the public sector 


• not subject to the control or direction by either Parliament or the government.  
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New for 2019–20 
 


 


AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities  


These standards set out new requirements for revenue recognition.  


AASB 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from a contract that contains a performance obligation for an 
entity to transfer goods or services. Revenue is only recognised when the performance obligation has been satisfied. Entities will 
allocate a transaction price and recognise revenue according to when the related performance obligation is satisfied. The standard 
contains specific guidance on application for the not-for-profit sector. 


AASB 1058 establishes the accounting requirements for recognising income for government grants and other types of 


contributions, such as income from the receipt of volunteer services. 


Based upon the assessment of these standards undertaken, and disclosed annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, the 


impact noted to Council is that some capital grants which previously may have been recognised upon receipt, may need to be 


deferred until the assets are acquired. In addition, the use of volunteers will need to be assessed and quantified where applicable. 


This is covered in further detail in the ‘Key risks and areas of audit focus’ section below, including details of the intended audit 


approach. 
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AASB 16 Leases (replaces AASB 117 Leases)  


AASB 16 fundamentally changes lease accounting.  


Lessees will be required to account for most leases on their balance sheet, recording a ‘right-of-use’ asset and a corresponding 
lease liability. Previously, only finance leases were recognised on balance sheet. Lessees are also required to recognise the interest 
expense on the lease liability and depreciation expense on the ‘right-of-use’ asset. 


These requirements are not applicable to leases shorter than 12 months in term and/or leases where the underlying asset value is 
considered low value (broadly the public sector is applying a $10,000 threshold). 


Lessor accounting will be largely unchanged. 


Based upon the assessment of this standards, and disclosed annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, Council expects that the 


transition will have an immaterial impact on initial recognition. The effect of this is expected to be immaterial given the nature of the 


leases. Further assessment in relation to the waste contract will be required. 


This is covered in further detail in the ‘Key risks and areas of audit focus’ section below, including details of the intended audit approach. 
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Significant Events - Areas of audit focus  


Item 


Area of 


audit focus 


New this 


financial year Details  


1 COVID-19 
Pandemic 


Yes Governments and industries are taking significant local and global measures in response to the global pandemic COVID-19 virus, 
known as coronavirus.  There is ongoing uncertainty with rapid and evolving responses. 


Businesses are changing the way they operate and in some cases closing operations to contain the spread and to prioritise the 
health and safety of our communities.   


VAGO and our audit service providers have implemented our remote audit protocol. The objective of this protocol is to allow for 


the continuation of our audit services while minimising our impact on your operations.   


During times of significant uncertainty: 


➔ staff morale, wellbeing and decision making may be affected 


➔ key resources may be limited or be redeployed to areas of critical need, and 


➔ internal controls may not operate as intended. 


In response, we will:  


➔ monitor developments and liaise with management to understand: 


o challenges impacting your operations 


o economic, regulatory and operational responses from government 


o  impacts on your control environment. 


➔ assess impact(s) on your financial reporting (e.g. revenue sources, demand on services, impacts on your workforce and 


associated cost implications, valuation of assets and cash flows) 


➔ assess impact(s) on our planned audit approach and modify where necessary, in response to changes in risks and the nature 


and availability of evidence 


➔ schedule the best timing for our work to accommodate any additional pressure your organisation may be under in response 


to the pandemic. 


Where a significant change to your organisation from an operational, financial or economic perspective arises, we will issue a 


revised audit strategy reflecting changes to our audit approach and timing of deliverables. 
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Key changes impacting your audit 
Sector specific changes: 


Key changes to the legislation and regulations  


The Local Government Act 2020 received Royal Assent on 24 March 2020.  


The Act builds on the reforms presented in the previous proposed Local Government Bill 2018, which lapsed in parliament before the November 2018 election. The 


Bill aimed to deliver on the Victorian Government’s commitment to create a new Local Government Act and introduce a modern framework to support Victoria’s councils 


and their communities. 


We are currently assessing the impact on our audit, and will report any significant changes (if any) to our audit strategy in our interim management letter. 
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Planned audit approach 


 


Risk identification 
and assessment 


Understand your entity and its environment, to: 


• set materiality  


• identify material transactions, balances, disclosures and significant events  


• identify and assess risks of material misstatement and the controls in place to mitigate these risks 


• develop our audit strategy, including scope, timing and direction of the audit—refer to Appendix A for the 
details of our planned approach. 


 


Risk response 


• Choosing and executing appropriate procedures to obtain audit evidence, including the use of data analytics, 
where appropriate. 


 


 


Reporting 


• Provide observations and recommendations for improvements of internal controls we identify during our audit 
through our interim and final management letters. 


• Inform you of any significant findings that are not controls related (other financial reporting matters) through 
our closing report. 


• Issue an audit opinion.  
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Key risks and areas of audit focus 
Financial statements 


We identified that the following financial statement balances, disclosures and areas pose a higher risk of material misstatement to your financial report.  We will focus 


particular audit attention to these areas. In addition, we will perform procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on other material classes of transactions, 


balances and disclosures in your financial report in order to obtain assurance that they are fairly presented. 


Risk 


Key risk of material 


misstatement 


New this 


financial year Why we think it is of higher risk Our proposed audit response 


Significant 


judgements 


1. Valuation of property, 


infrastructure, plant 


and equipment  


No Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 


represents a significant part of the Council's 


total assets ($235 million in the 2018-19 


financial year), with the majority of these assets 


carried at fair value.  


Determining the fair value of these assets is a 
highly complex process that relies on numerous 
assumptions underpinning the valuation 
methodology, the engagement of valuation 
experts and the use of management’s 
judgement. 


The financial report may include a material 
misstatement if the valuation is not performed 
in line with a suitable methodology, by 
unqualified experts or is based on inappropriate 
assumptions and judgements.  


We will: 


• review the nature and extent of 


management's oversight and review of the 


fair value measurement by valuation experts  


• review the valuer's report to evaluate the 


appropriateness of the methodology 


adopted, assumptions and estimates used 


and the overall reasonableness of the 


valuation  


• assess the valuer’s competence, skills and 


experience to conduct an appropriate 


valuation  


• review any indexation calculations prepared 


by management  


• review management’s impairment 


assessments 


• review the journals posted by management to 


support the figures within the financial 


statements. 


Yes 
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Risk 


Key risk of material 


misstatement 


New this 


financial year Why we think it is of higher risk Our proposed audit response 


Significant 


judgements 


2. Carrying value of 


works in progress 


Yes There are multiple capital works projects 


underway giving rise to a material works in 


progress account.  


At 30 June 2019, the closing works in progress 


was valued at $812,000. With the current 2019-


20 budgeted capital works expenditure of $8.6 


million, this represents a material component 


to Council. 


The costs raised to be capitalised into this 


account should be scrutinised before entry as 


to whether they qualify for capitalisation.  


Further, management should periodically assess 


whether the costs going into works in progress 


are likely to exceed the fair value of the 


completed asset, and an adjustment made if 


necessary. 


The financial report may include a material 


misstatement if the valuation of capital works 


in progress is not performed in line with a 


suitable methodology or is based on 


inappropriate assumptions and judgements. 


We will: 


• gain an understanding of, and review, the controls 


and processes in place to manage works in 


progress; 


• review management’s assessment of the carrying 


value of capital works in progress; and 


• substantively test additions into capital works in 


progress. 


Yes 
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Risk 


Key risk of material 


misstatement 


New this 


financial year Why we think it is of higher risk Our proposed audit response 


Significant 


judgements 


3. Management 


override of controls 


No There is a risk of fraud due to management's 


ability to override controls. While the level of 


risk will vary from one entity to another, the 


risk is nevertheless present in all entities.  


Where an entity’s financial performance is 


subject to significant external scrutiny, this risk 


is likely to be elevated. 


Assertions, account balances and operating 


results may be materially misstated. 


We will assess the processes in place to prevent and 


detect fraud. ASA 240 imposes specific audit 


procedures including: 


• testing the appropriateness of journal entries and 


other adjustments made in preparing the 


financial report; 


• reviewing accounting estimates for biases; 


• reviewing significant unusual transactions; and 


• introduce an element of unpredictability on audit 


procedures. 


No 


4. New accounting 


standards applicable 


in 2019‒20 


Yes A number of new accounting standards will 


impact Council’s financial report for the first 


time, in 2019–20.  


These standards include: 


• AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers  


• AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-profit 
Entities 


• AASB 16 Leases. 


Council may not be adequately prepared to 


make changes to their systems, processes and 


resources to address the accounting and 


disclosure requirements of the new accounting 


standards.  


We will: 


• gain an understanding of Council’s process to 
assess and record the impact of the new 
accounting standards 


• review ‘shell’ accounts and the financial report 
against the Local Government Model Financial 
Report, the requirements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Local Government 
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014  


• review management’s estimates, judgements and 
assumptions 


• review the journals posted by management to 
support the figures within the financial 
statements. 


Yes 
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Risk 


Key risk of material 


misstatement 


New this 


financial year Why we think it is of higher risk Our proposed audit response 


Significant 


judgements 


5. Valuation of 


Employee benefits 


Yes Payroll expenditure is one of the major 


expenditures for the council. Should payroll 


records not be maintained adequately, it could 


lead to incorrect accounting for employee 


entitlements. 


The valuation of employee benefit provisions 


are complex and are based on significant 


estimation uncertainty, as well as relying upon 


management's judgements and assumptions.   


Salary expenditure and employee entitlement 


liabilities may not be complete and accurate.  


Material errors may occur due to failure to 


detect insufficient monitoring controls at the 


Council. 


We will:  


• review and assess the effectiveness of controls and 


process within the payroll function; 


• assess the reasonableness and consistency of key 


assumptions, namely the CPI rate, discount and 


probability factors; 


• review management's assessment and 


classification of annual leave as a short-term or 


long-term entitlement; 


• review the calculation of employee benefits 


provisions in accordance with the requirements of 


AASB 119 Employee Benefits; and 


• perform data analytics and substantive analytical 


procedures. 


Yes 
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Performance statements 


We have identified that the following risk to Council’s performance statement. We will focus particular audit attention to these areas.  


Risk Key risk of material misstatement  


New this 


financial 


year Why we think it is of higher risk Our proposed audit response 


1 The performance statement may not be 


prepared in accordance with applicable 


legislative requirements. 


No There is a potential risk that: 


• systems in place at the Council may not 
accurately capture the data required to support 
service performance outcomes. 


• incomplete and/or inaccurate data due to 
inadequate systems may result in material 
misstatement of the performance statement. 


• a lack of quality assurance over the preparation 
of performance statement may also result in 
significant errors or omissions. 


We will: 


• review the systems in place to capture 
the financial and non-financial data; 


• determine the reliability and 
soundness of the available records for 
compiling that indicator; 


• check the calculations of reported 
figures; 


• assess the reasonableness of 
explanations included in the report of 
significant variations; and 


• confirm that the performance 
statement complies with legislative 
requirements. 
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Materiality  
We use our professional judgement to decide what is material by considering 


qualitative and quantitative factors.  


We use materiality to make judgements about the: 


• balances and disclosures that require detailed audit attention 


• amount of audit work we perform 


• effect of misstatements. 


We start with an overall materiality for the financial report. Our view is that 
uncorrected errors above this amount, either individually or in aggregate, would 
mislead the users of the financial report.  
For your entity, we have determined that there are particular statements, 
account balances or disclosures for which misstatements of lesser amounts than 
overall materiality could reasonably be expected to mislead the users of the 
financial report. Consequently, a specific materiality threshold has been set for 
particular statements, account balances or disclosures. 


For our audit we use amounts less than overall and specific materiality, to reduce 


the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements 


exceeds overall and specific materiality. We call this ‘performance materiality’. 


We will need you to correct any errors above performance materiality before we 


issue our opinion. 


We will not need you to correct any errors that are clearly trivial -an amount 


below which we judge that misstatements are of no quantitative consequence. If 


we identify such misstatements, we will not communicate these to you. 


We will reassess materiality before providing our audit opinion. 


Our planning materiality levels are shown in the table. 


Description Benchmark Amount ($) 


Overall materiality  3% of 2020 Budgeted 


Value of Property, 


Infrastructure, Plant, & 


Equipment  


$7,028,250 


Performance materiality 70% of overall 


materiality 


$4,919,775 


Clearly trivial threshold 5% of overall materiality $351,412 


Specific materiality set for all account balances other than PIPE assets 


Specific materiality  5% of 2020 Budgeted 


Expenses  


$1,095,950 


Specific performance materiality  70% of specific overall 


materiality 


$767,165 


Specific clearly trivial threshold 5% of specific overall 


materiality 


$54,797 


For performance statements, we set materiality for each individual indicator 


reported after considering qualitative and quantitative factors influencing that 


particular indicator. The nature of performance statements means that an overall 


materiality level for the statement cannot be communicated.  
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Other audit considerations  
The following factors are also key to our audit approach and will be used at various stages of the audit process. 


Using the work of 
internal audit  


 


To deliver the most efficient audit, we consider any relevant internal audit (‘IA’) work performed.  


We have reviewed your internal audit plan and determined that there is no coverage that will directly reduce our audit program. 


Data analytics Our data analytics team will collect, analyse and interpret your data for audit purposes. Data analytics enables us to conduct a more targeted 
audit, improve the efficiency and effectiveness of our audit process and to share key insights with you.   
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Other responsibilities 
Refer to our engagement letter for a complete list of responsibilities.   


Internal control  


Management is responsible for maintaining suitable accounting records and 


designing and operating internal controls that prevent and detect fraud and error. 


The control environment is an integral part of the governance framework-. It 


represents management's commitment to establishing and executing well-


controlled business operations. Our ability to rely on systems of control is directly 


related to how effective we assess they are.  


Our preliminary assessment of your control environment is that it supports our 


reliance on your internal systems of controls.  


We will promptly write to those charged with governance on significant internal 


control deficiencies that come to our attention during the audit.   


Fraud 


During our audit we ask those charged with governance, management, and 


others to identify any known instances of fraud. We also make enquiries to 


understand where you consider fraud risks are and if you have any knowledge of 


actual or suspected fraud. This includes considering the risk of management 


override of controls. Our audit is not designed to detect fraud. However, should 


instances of fraud come to our attention, we will report them to you.  


Suspected corrupt conduct 


The Audit Act 1994 requires us to notify the Independent Broad-based Anti-


corruption Commission (IBAC) where we become aware of any matter in the 


course of our audit that we reasonably suspect involves corrupt conduct 


occurring or having occurred. If we need to notify IBAC, this will override the 


existing confidentiality provisions in the Audit Act 1994. 


Waste, probity and financial prudence 


If we become aware of any wastage of public resources or any lack of probity and 


financial prudence in the management or application of public resources, we will 


report it to management and/or Parliament via our reports. 
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Audit timetable 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 ^ date to be confirmed 


 * date subject to VAGO receipt of signed financial report and management representation letter 


 ~ to be issued no later than four weeks from date of audit report 
  


Milestone Date Responsibility 


Planning audit visit commences / Entry meeting 13 February 2020 Council / Crowe 


Draft audit strategy discussed at Audit Committee meeting 26 May 2020 Council / Crowe 


Audit strategy issued by 26 May 2020 Crowe 


Interim audit visit commences 04 - 08 May 2020 Council / Crowe 


Interim management letter issued by 30 May 2020 Council / Crowe 


Shell financial report / performance statement provided to audit 15 May 2020 Council 


Shell financial report / performance statement reviewed and feedback provided 12 June 2020 Crowe 


Draft financial report / performance statement submitted to audit after being subjected to internal quality 
assurance 


10 August 2020 Council 


Final audit visit commences 17-21 August 2020 Council / Crowe 


Closing meeting with auditors 21 August 2020 Council / Crowe 


Closing report discussed at Audit committee meeting Early September 2020^ Council / Crowe 


Financial report / performance statement adopted and signed by Council Early September 2020^ Council 


Independent Auditor’s Report signed M d September 2020* VAGO 


Annual report printers proof provided to audit for review Late-September 2020 Council 


Final management letter issued by Mid-September 2020~ Crowe 
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Audit fee and key contacts  
Fees 


• We will advise you of the estimated audit fee in separate letter. 


• Fees are based on our planned audit approach and will be billed progressively based on work complete.  


• Fees are subject to change if the scope, volume and complexity of the audit changes. 


• Fees may change if agreed milestones are not met such as limited availability of key staff to assist the audit process. 


Key contacts  


 


Signing officer   Engagement leader   Team Leader  


Sanchu Chummar  Cassandra Gravenall  Felmer Ealdama 


Acting Sector Director, Local Government  Partner – Crowe Melbourne  Manager – Crowe Melbourne 


Sanchu.Chummar@audit.vic.gov.au  cassandra.gravenall@crowe.com.au  felmer.ealdama@crowe.com.au 


(03) 8601 1636 | 0472 838 905  Phone: 03 5224 7742  Phone: 03 5224 7802 
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Other information 
Reports to Parliament 


 


Results of Financial Audits 


VAGO will table reports summarising the results of the 2019–20 financial audits, including: Auditor-General’s Report on the Annual 
Financial Report of the State of Victoria: 2019–20 (covering all sectors other than Local Government); Results of 2019¬–20 Audits: Local 


Government and Results of 2019¬–20 Audits: Technical and Further Education Institutes and Universities. 


 


 


Performance Audits 


A list of performance audits in progress are on our website 


Details of planned performance audits are in our Annual Plan 


Key VAGO links and resources 


 


Financial Audit Process 


Annual Plan 


Reports and Publications 


Audits in Progress 


Corporate Information 


Information privacy 


Complaints about VAGO 



https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/search/reports/in-progress

https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/annual-work-plan

https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/fact-sheets

https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/annual-work-plan

https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/search/reports?f%5b%5d=status:completed

https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/search/reports/in-progress

https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/our-role

https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/information-privacy

https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/complaints-about-vago
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Appendix A. Planned audit approach 


Material component 


Budget  


($ ‘000) 


Inherent risk 
assessment 
(H/M/L) 


Controls reliance 
(Yes/No) 


Planned internal 
audit reliance 
(Yes/No) 


Planned reliance on substantive 
audit procedures (H/M/L) 


Income       


Rates and charges  10,416 L No No M 


User fees & statutory fees and fines  1,036 L No No L 


Grants  10,550 L No No L 


Expenditure       


Employee costs  7,897 M Yes No L 


Materials and services  6,708 M Yes No L 


Depreciation and amortisation  7,034 M No No M 


Assets       


Cash and cash equivalents  3,597 L Yes No L 


Trade and other receivables  879 L No No L 


Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 234,275 H No No H 


Land Held for Resale  1,377 L No No M 
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Material component 


Budget  


($ ‘000) 


Inherent risk 
assessment 
(H/M/L) 


Controls reliance 
(Yes/No) 


Planned internal 
audit reliance 
(Yes/No) 


Planned reliance on substantive 
audit procedures (H/M/L) 


Liabilities       


Trade and other payables  1,120 L Yes No L 


Provisions  2,020 M Yes No M 


Equity       


Accumulated surplus  85,635 L No No L 


Statutory reserve 9 M No No M 


Asset revaluation reserve 151,480 M No No M 


Notes to the accounts      


Related parties  L No No L 


Commitments and contingencies  M No No M 
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Background 


I enclose for your information the interim management letter for the year ending 30 June 2020. This letter provides a summary of audit findings from the interim phase of 
our audit. This letter will be discussed at the Audit Committee meeting on 26 May 2020. 


Acknowledgement 
I take this opportunity to thank your executive team and staff for the time they made available to us during the interim phase of our audit.    


Yours sincerely  


 


 


CASSANDRA GRAVENALL 
Partner  
Crowe Melbourne  
VAGO Audit Service Provider 
 
Geelong  
__ May 2020     
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Introduction 
We have completed the interim phase of the 30 June 2020 audit and now bring to your attention our findings from that phase of the audit.  As part of our reporting, we 
include our assessment on the significance of the findings. The criteria we consider in this assessment is included in Appendix A. Findings can fall into the following 
categories:  


 internal control findings 


 financial reporting and performance statement reporting findings 


 business improvement opportunities. 


Internal control findings  


As part of our audit, we assess the design and implementation of internal controls relevant to financial reporting and performance statement reporting. If we intend to rely 
on these controls, we test how effectively they are operating.  


Any weaknesses in internal control identified during our audit is communicated to you through our management letters. 


Financial reporting and performance statement reporting findings   


As part of our audit, we may identify weaknesses in management’s approach to financial reporting and performance statement reporting resulting in potential material 
misstatement. This includes, but is not limited to, non-compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards and other reporting frameworks.  


Reporting and tracking internal control and financial reporting findings   


As part of this communication we include: 


 our assessment as to the significance of the finding 


 recommended actions 


 management comments (only for moderate and high rated matters) and expected implementation dates. 


We have discussed all findings with management. The nature and rating of the finding determines our expectations in relation to management acceptance and our 
monitoring of the implementation of remedial actions. 
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Business improvement opportunities  


While conducting our audit, we may identify opportunities for improving the efficiency and effectiveness of your entity’s processes and controls. We may also identify better 
practice situations from across the public sector which we would like to share with you.  


Given their nature, business improvement opportunities will not be tracked. 


Scope of our audit 


We did not carry out a comprehensive audit of all processes and systems of internal control you maintain or seek to uncover all deficiencies, breaches and irregularities in 
those systems and processes. Inherent limitations in any process and system of internal control may mean that errors or irregularities might not be detected.  


As explained in the audit strategy previously presented for 30 June 2020, the objective of the audit is for the Auditor-General to express an opinion on the financial report 
and performance statement.  Although the audit considers internal controls relevant to preparing the financial report and performance statement, this is done in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of those controls. Our planned 
approach, including level of reliance on internal controls, was communicated in our audit strategy. 


Reports to Parliament  


The Auditor-General may include items listed in this letter in a report to Parliament. We will send you a draft of the relevant material included in this report and ask for your 
comments before the report is tabled in Parliament. High rated findings may be specifically identified and reported in the Parliamentary reports. 
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Significant event impact - COVID-19 pandemic 
COVID-19 Impacts to consider in the preparation of 30 June 2020 Financial Reports  
Early identification and discussion with your audit team of COVID-19 related impacts to your financial report will help to reduce pressure during the year-end 
phase.  The areas in your financial report which may be materially impacted by COVID-19 are:  


• Recognition and measurement  


o valuation of assets: property, plant, equipment and infrastructure, receivables and associated expected credit loss 


o liabilities: financial guarantees defined benefit obligations 


• Financial report disclosure of relevant information    


o estimation uncertainty, key judgements and estimates and adverse financial performance, financial support provided/received 


o Subsequent events – disclosures should be specific to your Council, holistic and up to date. Generic disclosures reduce relevance and transparency. 
While COVID is a current event there may be future developments/uncertainties that may require disclosure. 


More difficult and complex areas such as accounting estimates may require the experience and expertise of external management experts such as asset valuers. Canvass 
early limitations on the scope of the work of experts, data access and the nature of deliverables due to uncertainties.  


Information should be produced on a timely basis and be supported by appropriate analysis and documentation including all relevant facts for the basis of judgements 
reached. Judgements are to be based on information that is available at that time.  


The provision of COVID-19 disclosures in your shell accounts will assist us work through any concerns early.  These disclosures will need to be tailored to ensure that the 
disclosure is sufficiently specific to your circumstances. As COVID-19 matters continue to rapidly evolve, your post balance date note may require updating if circumstances 
change between the initial drafting and the date of signing your financial report.           


 Information disclosed in your financial report should not be inconsistent with the information in your annual report.                
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 COVID-19 Impacts to your audit  


 Our audit approach has been impacted by the additional COVID-19 risks we communicated to you in our audit strategy document.  Key interim audit areas outstanding as 
at the date of this report include: 


a. Payroll control testing – audit is awaiting supporting documentation in order to complete timesheet authorisation control testing. This is due to documentation 
being hard copy and kept on site at Council. 


b. Shell accounts  


We will continue to liaise with management to obtain outstanding documentation and complete our work as part of the next phase of our audit process. 


Management comment (as at 12 May 2020): 


We would like to thank our Auditors for the efficient manner in which they conducted the preliminary audit under difficult circumstances with so many of the key contacts 
working from home. 


We accept that action needs to be taken on the one remaining outstanding issue from the previous audit: Impairment Assessment.  


As per Council Policy, an inspection of road, bridge and major culvert assets is required to be undertaken immediately following any significant weather or fire event. When 
the cumulative defect value of $100,000 or more is reached, applications for Natural Funding Disaster Assistance to Councils will be made. 


As part of the year-end process Council proposes to use the CPI Roads & Bridges Construction Victoria index and the Building Construction Victoria index to assess fair 
values for infrastructure assets.  


Council will formalise this by way of an annual memorandum on impairment and fair value. 


COVID-19 Impacts to the timing of your audit.  


We are equipped to conduct our financial audits remotely. We appreciate that the diversion of resources to respond to the crisis, combined with challenges posed by 
restrictions on movement and home-schooling arrangements have adversely affected the capacity of agencies to achieve pre-determined financial reporting and audit 
timelines.   


The State Government has granted an extension to Council’s deadline for 2019-2020 council annual report submissions.  VAGO surveyed the Local Government sector to 
understand your reporting timelines and year end audit cycle. Based on your responses we will work flexibly with you to deliver the 2019-20 audit program.  
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Summary of audit findings 
The table below summarises all ‘open’ (current and prior period) management letter issues, and prior period issues that have been resolved in the current period. Open 
items include all findings that are 'unresolved', 'partially resolved' or 'substantially resolved' as at the date of this letter. 


Finding first 
raised  Reference Findings  


 Classification of findings 


Financial 
statement 
areas grouping 


Resolved / 
unresolved 


Management 
acceptance  


Original agreed 
implementation 
date  Rating 


Internal 
control 


Financial / 
performance 


reporting 


Open issues 


October 2019  2019.5  Impairment assessment  Moderate  -  X  Property, plant 
and Equipment  


Unresolved  Yes  30.06.2020  


Prior period issues resolved during the period 


April 2019  2019.2  Review of IT policies  Low  X  -  Internal Control  Resolved  Yes  30.09.2019  


April 2019  2019.3  SynergySoft generic access Low  X  -  Internal Control  Resolved  No  Ongoing  


October 2019  2019.4  Credit card authorisation  Low  X  -  Internal Control  Resolved  Yes  31.12.2019  
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Detailed audit findings—moderate rated open issues 


Ref Description of finding and implication 
VAGO recommendation on new findings and 
update on open items Response from management  


2019.5  Impairment assessment  
Australian Accounting Standards require 
Councils to assess at each reporting date 
whether the carrying value of asset classes 
materially reflects fair value at reporting 
date.  
Audit inquired about the impairment 
assessment performed for the current year 
and it was noted that there as there had 
been no weather incident during the year, 
no formal impairment assessment was 
performed.  
There is a heightened risk of their carrying 
amount being materially different from fair 
value. This could lead to a material 
misstatement in the financial report.  


We recommend that the Council formalise its 
annual assessment of fair value at reporting date.  
For example, this may involve the review of relevant 
indices as a potential indicator to assess whether 
assets are not at fair value and therefore an earlier 
comprehensive revaluation is required.  


 


Recommendation accepted 


Responsible officer: <<xx>> 


Implementation date: <<xx>> 


Prior year management comment: 


Agree 


Impairment 
An inspection of road, bridge and major culvert assets is required to be  
undertaken immediately following any significant weather or fire event. When the 
cumulative defect value of $100,000 or more is reached, applications for Natural 
Funding Disaster Assistance to Councils will be made. This value is reached when 40 
defects are identified. The experienced unit rate per defect is $2500. Less than this 
number of defects will see impairments rectified under normal maintenance 
routines.  
Fair value 
Infrastructure and buildings revaluations are undertaken every 3 years. For the 
intermediate years, Council proposes to use the CPI Roads & Bridges Construction 
Victoria index and the Building Construction Victoria index for the annual 
assessment of movement between years.  
Council will formalise this by way of an annual memorandum on impairment and 
fair value.  


2019‒20 interim management comment: 


This will be performed at the year-end by Finance Manager. 


2019‒20 interim audit comment: 


Audit will review this at the final visit with the expectation that the matter will be 
fully resolved. 
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Status update on new accounting standard implementation  


New accounting standards listed below will impact Council’s financial report for the first time in 2019–20:  


 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-profit Entities 


 AASB 16 Leases. 


At the time of the interim phase of our audit, management have not prepared and assessed the impact of the new accounting standards on their financial statements, 
including any potential changes to their systems, processes and resources. 


We will follow up with management progress as part of our next audit visit and determine the extent and adequacy of management assessment. Our findings (if any) will be 
reported in our final management letter. 
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Appendix A. Rating definitions and actions 
We have rated our findings as follows: 


Rating Description of rating Management action required 


High This issue represents: 


 a material misstatement in the financial report and performance statement 
which has occurred, or an issue which could potentially result in a modified 
audit opinion if not addressed as a matter of urgency by the entity, or 


 Requires executive management to correct the misstatement in the financial report 
and performance statement, or address the issue, as a matter of urgency to avoid a 
modified audit opinion. 


  a control weakness which could cause or is causing a major disruption of the 
process or the entity’s ability to achieve process objectives in relation to 
financial and performance statement reporting and comply with relevant 
legislation. 


 Requires immediate management intervention with a detailed action plan to be 
implemented within one month. 


Moderate This issue represents: 


 a misstatement in the financial report and performance statement that is 
not material and has occurred, or that may occur, the impact of which has 
the possibility to be material, or 


 a control weakness which could have or is having a moderate adverse effect 
on the ability to achieve process objectives and comply with relevant 
legislation. 


 Requires management intervention with a detailed action plan implemented within 
three to six months. 


Low This issue represents: 


 a misstatement in the financial report that is likely to occur but is not 
expected to be material, or 


 a minor control weakness with minimal but reportable impact on the ability 
to achieve process objectives and comply with relevant legislation. 


 Requires management intervention with a detailed action plan implemented within six 
to 12 months. 
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1. Objective 


The objective was to confirm Pyrenees Shire Council’s (PSC) Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery 
Planning: 
 
 aligns to best practice standards 
 is reviewed and tested. 
 


2. Scope 


The scope included a review of PSC’s Business Continuity Management (BCM) and Disaster Recovery 
Planning including: 
 
 testing and reporting on its effectiveness 
 the implementation of continuous improvement in Business Continuity Practices 
 the extent to which the threat/risk of cybercrime is considered 
 consideration of practices applied against best practice standards, VAGO reports and Municipal 


Association of Victoria (MAV) guidance material. 
 
Scope Exclusion: 
 
Our work did not include a review PSC’s municipal Emergency Management Planning. 
 


3. Review approach 


Our work included: 
 
 discussion with: 


- Director Corporate and Community Services 
- Manager Information & Communication Technology 
- Emergency Management Co‐ordinator 


 review of the: 
- Business Continuity Policy May 2019 
- IT Recovery Plan 2015 
- Emergency Management Plan 


 review of the following draft documents and templates: 
- Local Business Continuity Plans 2017 
- Business Impact Assessments 2017 
- proposed Local Business Continuity Plan template 
- Crisis Management Plan 
- Business Continuity Plan 


 assessment of business continuity and disaster recovery training, awareness and communication 
activities. 


 


4. Acronyms 


BCM:  Business Continuity Management 
BCP:  Business Continuity Plan 
BIA:   Business Impact Assessment 
DRP:  Disaster Recovery Plan 
   







 


 
2019‐06 Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery    3 


5. Executive summary 


Overall, PSC’s current business continuity planning contains gaps and weaknesses jeopardising the:  
 
 availability of critical business processes in the event of an interruption in business 
 ability to recover and restore critical business data and business processes. 
 
An internal review of business continuity documentation commenced in May 2019 after an unsuccessful 
launch of the Business Continuity Program in 2017.  The Business Continuity Policy was approved in May 
2019. An overarching high level Business Continuity Plan (BCP) has been drafted. 
 
Nonetheless, gaps and weaknesses remain: 
 
 The Business Continuity Policy (2019) could be enhanced to better support the organisation intended 


BCP policy objectives. 
 The BCP needs to be finalised and formally approved. 
 There are no: 


- service or function‐specific BCPs 
- documented procedures to support the development of service or function‐specific BCPs. 


 There is no clear link between the BIAs and the critical functions identified in the overarching BCP 
 the IT DRP has not been: 


- updated to reflect changes in IT infrastructure and systems since May 2015 
- tested. 
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6. Summary of findings 


6.1 Areas of strength 


Observation 
Managed 


 


Approved Business Continuity Policy 
A Business Continuity Policy (the Policy) was adopted by the Risk Management Team in May 2019. 
The Policy outlines the purpose of BCM, the overarching methodology to approaching BCM and 
organisational roles and responsibilities for BCM. 
 


Managed 


 


IT disruption mitigation strategies in place 
There are a number of IT backup and redundancy procedures in place to prevent loss of key data 
or extended periods of systems being unavailable including: 
 
 disk back‐up on‐site 
 tape back‐up off‐site 
 server back‐up stored in an off‐site location. 
 
In addition PSC has implemented the following to mitigate the effect of data loss in a disruption 
event: 
 
 cyber insurance 
 an IT incident handling procedure 
 cloud migration checklist. 
 
These controls are not tested through the DRP, therefore there is no certainty of their reliability or 
effectiveness in mitigating the risk, refer to Item 9. 
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6.1.1 Identified risks and ratings 


Observation  Item No 
Moderate 


 


Business Continuity Policy 
The Business Continuity Policy (2019) could be enhanced to better support the 
organisation’s intended BCP policy objectives. 
 


Refer to item  
1 


Moderate 


 


BCP still in draft form 
PSC has drafted an overarching BCP. The BCP has not yet been approved.   


Refer to item  
2 


Moderate 


 


No service of function‐specific BCPs 
PSC has not developed BCPs for critical functions and services such as waste 
collection and home care. 
 


Refer to item  
3 


Moderate 


 


Lack of documented BCM procedures 
The Business Continuity Program relies on the knowledge and support of the 
Director Corporate and Community Services. There are no documented 
procedures to support employees responsible for developing and testing BCPs. 
 


Refer to item  
4 


Moderate 


 


No clear link between BIAs performance and critical functions identified in the 
BCP 
There is no clear link between the BIAs and the critical functions identified in the 
BCP. 
 


Refer to item  
5 


Moderate 


 


No BCP testing requirements 
Neither the Business Continuity Policy nor BCP detail the approach to testing the 
BCP.  
 


Refer to item  
6 


Moderate 


 


Lack of business continuity training 
The development and implementation of local BCPs should be accompanied by 
training for those with roles and responsibilities in the plans. 
 


Refer to item  
7 


Moderate 


 


IT DRP not current 
The IT DRP has not been reviewed or updated since May 2015. 
 
There have been significant changes to the IT infrastructure and systems since. 
 


Refer to item  
8 


Moderate 


 


No testing of the IT DRP 
The IT DRP has not been formally tested and there is no formal schedule for 
testing.  
 


Refer to item  
9 


Moderate 


 


Business continuity communication plan not approved 
A communication plan has been drafted as part of the draft BCP, this has not 
been approved. 
 
The draft communication plan would need to be supported by communication 
plans in each of the service or function‐specific BCPs to be effective. 
 


Refer to item  
10 


Moderate 


 


Need to improve linkages between Emergency Management Plan, Critical 
Incident Response Plan, BCP and IT DRP 
It is unclear in emergency management/business continuity documentation how 
each of the plans work together, the progression of the plans and the 
expectations of responsible officers. 
 


Refer to item  
11 
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7. Detailed findings  


Moderate 


 


1. Business Continuity Policy  


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
The Business Continuity Policy (2019) does not include: 
  
 the criteria for developing a BCP 
 approaches, frequency and documentation 


requirements for: 
- testing BCPs* 
- reviewing BCPs** 


 a requirement for reporting on the effectiveness of 
the Business Continuity Policy and the 
implementation of its requirements. 
 


It is important all of the above are defined to provide 
the framework for the effective management of 
business continuity risks.  
 


Risk: 
A BCP that does not support the organisation’s intended 
BCP policy objectives and requirements. 
 
Root cause: 
Lack of resourcing and knowledge of business continuity 
in the organisation 


Recommendation 
We recommend the Business Continuity Policy be updated to include: 
 
 criteria for developing a BCP 
 testing of BCPs 
 review of BCPs 
 reporting requirements for BCM. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Recommended inclusions will be entered into the BC Policy in early 2020 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: April 2020 
 


*Testing of BCPs should provide insights on the specific actions needed to strengthen existing contingency arrangements 
**Reviewing BCPs is to provide assurance to senior management and Council that BCPs are up to date and that required actions 
identified from testing have been implemented. 
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Moderate 


 


2. BCP is still in draft 
 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
PSC has drafted an overarching BCP.  
 
The BCP has not yet been approved. 
 
The draft BCP identifies the: 
 
 organisational risks of disruption to services 
 possible causes 
 preventative/detection controls 
 correction controls/actions 
 minimum resource requirements. 
 
Without approval, PSC is unable to train an employees or 
progress to developing local BCPs for critical services. 
 


Risk: 
A draft business continuity plan that does not have the 
formal endorsement cannot be implemented.  
 
Root cause: 
Lack of resources to complete and roll out the BCP. 


Recommendation 
We recommend the BCP is approved. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Recommendations will be taken on board.  BCP will be finalised in early 2020 and 
implemented. 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: April 2020 
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Moderate 


 


3. No service or function‐specific BCPS 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
PSC has not developed BCPs for critical functions and 
services such as waste collection and home care. 
 
BCPs are essential to ensuring and effective response for 
disruptions to critical functions and services. 
 
They should include: 
 
 emergency phase – the initial response 
 continuity phase – strategies and resources needed 


to continue to meet critical business objectives 
 recovery phase – focus on re‐establishing processes 


to return to optimum performance levels. 
 
Best practice components of a BCP are defined in the 
VAGO Report Business Continuity in Local Government 
2010. 
 


Risk: 
Risk exists of not being able to deliver core services 
within the required recovery time if the required 
resource cannot be obtained in a timely manner.  
 
Root cause: 
Lack of resourcing and knowledge of business 
continuity in the organisation. 


Recommendation 
We recommend fully documented and tested Business Continuity Plans are in place for all critical Council functions 
and services (as determined by a Business Impact Analysis). 


 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Critical functions specific BCPs will be included as appendices to the organisation BCP 
and approved in early 2020. 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: April 2020 
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Moderate 


 


4. Lack of documented BCM procedures 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
There are no procedures to support employees  
responsible for: 
 
 performance of a BIAs, assessment of results and 


collation of information 
 development of a BCP including identifying 


preventative controls, developing 
response/contingency plans and recovery plans 


 development of a testing approach and 
performance of testing of BCPs for the purposes of 
continuous improvement 


 document/version management to ensure that 
BCPs are available when required (e.g. maintained 
off corporate systems, accessible). 


 
The business continuity program relies on the 
knowledge and support of the Director Corporate and 
Community Services. 
 
Procedures for the processes above will ensure PSC 
approaches business continuity consistently across the 
organisation and that there is no reliance on any one 
employee to develop and maintain business continuity 
activities. 
 


Risk: 
Business continuity processes are: 
 
 inconsistent across the organisation 
 do not meet the needs of the organisation, function 


or service 
 do not reflect better practice.  
 
Resulting in an inability to quickly and appropriately 
respond to a business disruption event. 
 
Key person risk ‐ business continuity knowledge is held 
by one employee which may result in loss of 
capability/capacity should that employee leaves the 
organisation. 
 
Root cause: 
Lack of resourcing to develop supporting procedures. 


Recommendation 
We recommend: 
 
 developing procedures to support implementation of the Business Continuity Management Policy for the: 


- performance of BIAs 
- developing BCPs 
- testing and improvement plans 


 ensuring responsible officers are aware of the proceeded and have bene appropriately trained.  
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Relevant procedures will be developed in early 2020. 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: June 2020 
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Moderate 


 


5. No clear link between BIAs and critical functions identified in the BCP 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
PSC has identified critical functions in the BCP for which 
it is intended local BCPs be developed. There is no clear 
link between the BIAs performed and the critical 
activities identified in the BCP. 
 
BIAs should inform the allocation of effort to prepare, 
implement, test and improve BCPs. There is no policy 
relating to the criteria for identifying critical functions 
from the BIAs. 
 
We were unable to clearly link the critical functions 
identified to the BIAs performed. 
 
It is important BIA’s are reviewed on a regular basis, i.e. 
every two years to: 
 
 confirm their relevance 
 include assessment of any new services 
 address changes to existing services or exits from 


services. 
 


Risk: 
Possible disruptive events are not identified and 
planned for resulting in an inability to recover critical 
functions within the required time frame.  
 
Critical changes to the BCPs may not be identified or 
updated to ensure that their ongoing relevance, 
reliability and effectiveness. 
 
Root cause: 
The Business Continuity Policy does not define the 
criteria for the development of local BCPs. 
 
Most of the work was completed in 2017 however the 
resourcing wasn’t available to complete the local BCPs. 
 
 
 


Recommendation 
We recommend: 
 
 a policy is developed which defines when a BCP will be developed for critical functions identified through the 


BIA 
 BIAs performed in 2017 be reviewed to confirm that changes to services/requirements are captured and 


updated for completeness and accuracy. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed and this will be included in procedures and updates undertaken to BIAs. 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: April 2020 
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Moderate 


 


6. No BCP testing requirements 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
As there are no approved service or function‐specific 
BCPs, no testing has been performed to confirm the 
efficacy of the plans or identify opportunities of 
improvement. 
 
As mentioned in Items 1 and 2, there is no mention of 
approaches to testing, or review in either the Business 
Continuity Policy or the BCP. 
 
Testing of BCPs provide insights into specific actions 
needed to strengthen arrangements and should: 
 
 occur at least annually or be part of a schedule 
 cover a range of testing formats and include each 


major component of the BCP 
 include a debrief with all those involved in the test 


and document outcomes including learning and 
potential improvements 


 assign responsibility for the implementation of 
improvement actions and updating plans. 


 
As part of development the local BCPs, testing plans and 
action logs should also be developed. 
 


Risk: 
Inability to ensure continuous availability of critical 
business processes in the event of an interruption in 
business and recover and restore critical business data 
and business processes. 
 
Root cause: 
There are no local BCPs therefore no testing has been 
completed. 


Recommendation 
We recommend: 
 
 development of testing schedules and plans for all BCP’s 
 regularly test all BCP’s 
 ensure the BCP includes a requirement to report the outcomes of testing and any improvement actions arising. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Testing schedule will be developed and implemented.  Process will be included within 
the BCP and procedures. 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: June 2020 
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Moderate 


 


7. Lack of Business Continuity Training 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
At this stage, no staff with responsibilities within the 
BCPs have been trained to ensure they are able to fulfil 
those responsibilities in the event of a disruption event. 
 
The development and implementation of local BCPs 
should be accompanied by training for those with roles 
and responsibilities in the plans. 
Without training, reliance is placed on: 
 
 staff knowledge and experience of the organisation 
 staff commitment and loyalty to the organisation to 


do what needs to be done and when. 
 
The BCP, Sub‐Plans and IT DRP formally document the 
organisation’s agreed response to a disruption event. 
They are designed to achieve the agreed level of service 
restoration within the agreed timeframes. They are the 
organisation’s formal strategy and plan to mitigate the 
risk of not being able to continuously provide critical 
services.  
 
The effectiveness of the plans is reduced when staff are 
not: 
 
 aware of the plan  
 aware of their responsibility within the plan  
 trained to fulfil those responsibilities.  
 


Risk: 
Employees are unaware of their role in a business 
continuity event. This risks the successful 
implementation of the BCP and ability to: 
 
 ensure continuous availability of critical business 


processes in the event of an interruption 
 recover and restore critical business data and 


business processes. 
 
Root cause: 
The BCP is has not been finalised or approved.  
 
No BCPs for specific critical functions or services have 
been developed. 


Recommendation 
We recommend when performing testing of plans, include all participants with responsibilities as per the BCP. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 
Management action plan: Training will be undertaken.  Further resources are required within the organisation to 
accommodate all of the recommendations which are under discussion. 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: June 2020 
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Moderate 


 


8. IT DRP not current 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
The IT DRP has not been reviewed or updated since May 
2015. 
 
There have been changes to the IT infrastructure and 
systems since this including: 
 
 leaving the Grampians Rural Health Alliance, which 


previously supplied fibre and connectivity services 
 movement of some products to cloud environments 
 an additional resource in the IT team. 
 


Risk: 
Inability to recover business systems and data in a 
timely manner to support the ongoing operation of 
critical business functions. 
 
Root cause: 
Previously, there has only been one resource in IT which 
did not allow resourcing for updating the DRP to reflect 
changes in the IT environment.  


Recommendation 
We recommend reviewing the IT DRP annually to ensure that it reflects that current IT infrastructure, systems and 
operations. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 
Management action plan: Agreed IT DRP review is underway 
Responsible officer: Manager ICT 
Action date: April 2020 
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Moderate 


 


9. No testing of the IT DRP 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
The IT DRP has not been formally tested and there is no 
formal schedule for testing.  
 
Back up processes are tested informally through the day 
to day operations of the IT team (e.g. recovering deleted 
files if and when required). 
 
It is important to ensure there are consistent, tested 
processes for recovering from disruption events.  
 


Risk: 
Inability to recover business systems and data in a 
timely manner to support the ongoing operation of 
critical business functions. 
 
Root cause: 
Previously, there has only been one resource in IT which 
did not allow resourcing for testing the DRP.  


Recommendation 
We recommend developing and implementing a formal schedule for regular testing of the IT DRP. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Testing will be scheduled for 2020. 
Responsible officer: Manager ICT 
Action date: June 2020 
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Moderate 


 


10. Business Continuity Communication Plan not approved 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
A Communication Plan has been drafted as part of the 
draft BCP. 
 
A Communication Plan identifies: 
 
 which stakeholders will receive information and 


who has the authority to approve communications 
 content and purpose of any communications 
 the method and frequency with which information 


will be provided. 
 
Since the draft BCP has yet to be approved, the 
communication plan has not been approved.   
 
The draft Communication Plan also needs to be 
supported by communication plans in each of the 
service and function‐specific BCPs to be effective.  
 


Risk: 
Key stakeholders are not provided clear information 
regarding the disruption event resulting in confusion 
and possible extended recovery time. 
 
Root cause: 
Lack of resources to complete and roll out the BCP. 


Recommendation 
We recommend that the Communication Plan be approved as part of the BCP and responsible parties are trained. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed and will be approved as part of the final BCP 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: April 2020 
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Moderate 


 


11. Need to improve linkages between Emergency Management Plan, Critical Incident 
Response Plan, BCP and IT DRP 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
It is unclear throughout all emergency management and 
business continuity documentation: 
 
 how each of the plans work together 
 the progression of the plans 
 the expectations and roles of responsible officers. 
 
Each of the plans include the same Critical Response 
Team (CRT). This should provide for continuity across 
the stages of response.  
 
It is not always clear: 
 
 when the response moves from one phase (or plan) 


to another 
 the reporting, communication and decision making 


associated with each one. 
 
There is a diagram in the draft BCP which describes the 
response structure and the purpose of the BCP. 
 
An expanded version of the diagram and explanation 
with key points of decision to enact each response 
would provide decision makers with a clear summary of 
requirements in a disruption event, emergency or crisis. 
 


Risk: 
Decision Makers fail to enact the appropriate response 
when required reducing the likelihood of a successful 
response and resumption of critical business services. 
 
For example: 
 
 business continuity response is enacted too early 


when there remains a threat to assets, staff or the 
community 


 crisis management is maintained for too long. 
 
Root cause: 
Emergency/Business Continuity documentation is still in 
draft. 
 
Documents and Plans appears to have been developed 
in isolation of one another. 


Recommendation 
We recommend a clear description of all plans, their purpose, activation and transition is included in each plan to 
allow for appropriate decision making. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Alignment of all plans is underway and will be completed during 2020. 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: June 2020 
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Appendix 1 – Risk rating methodology  
Risk rating  Definition of audit risk ratings 


 


Major risk exposure 


High likelihood and/or consequence. Requires immediate attention, suggest within two months. 


 


Moderate risk exposure 


Medium likelihood and/or consequence. Requires attention within six months.  


 


Minor risk exposure 


Low likelihood and/or consequence. Requires attention within 12 months.  


 


Area of strong control and risk mitigation identified 


We are comfortable that the control /s identified are mitigating the associated risk. 


 
Opportunity 


An opportunity to gain an efficiency or saving exists. 


 
Our ratings are designed for simple communication of our understanding of the matter and potential 
impact on your organisation. 
 
We consider your risk management framework in allocating a rating. 
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Appendix 2 - Basis and use of report  
Our Internal Audit reports (the reports) are prepared on the basis of the limitations set out below: 
 
We are engaged by Pyrenees Shire Council (the client) to provide internal audit services and the scope of 
our activities is determined by management and reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee.  
 
The reports are prepared in accordance with the objectives and approach agreed in the engagement 
documents and subject to the following limitations: 
 
Our procedures are designed to provide limited assurance which recognises that absolute assurance is 
rarely attainable, due to such factors as the use of judgement in gathering and evaluating evidence and 
forming conclusions, and the use of selective testing, and because much of the evidence available for 
review is persuasive rather than conclusive in nature. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations in any internal control structure, it is possible that errors or 
irregularities may occur and not be detected. Our procedures are not designed to detect all weaknesses in 
control procedures as they are not performed continuously throughout a specific period and any tests 
performed will be on a sample basis. 
 
Any projection of the evaluation of the control procedures to future periods is subject to the risk that the 
systems may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
them may deteriorate. 
 
The matters raised in this report are only those which come to our attention during the course of 
performing our procedures and are not necessarily comprehensive statements of all the weaknesses that 
exist or improvements that might be made. We cannot, in practice, examine every activity or procedure, 
nor can we be a substitute for management’s responsibility to maintain adequate internal controls over all 
levels of operations and their responsibility to prevent and detect irregularities, including fraud. 
Accordingly, management should not rely on our reports to identify all weaknesses that may exist in the 
systems and procedures under examination, or potential instances of non‐compliance that may exist.  
 
Recommendations for improvement should be assessed by management for their full commercial impact, 
before they are implemented.  
 
The reports are prepared for distribution to Pyrenees Shire Council for the purposes of review by the Audit 
& Risk Committee and management. The reports are not to be used by any other party for any purpose nor 
should any other party seek to rely on the opinion, advices, or any information contained within the 
reports. In this regard, we recommend that parties seek their own independent advice.  
 
AFS & Associates Pty Ltd disclaims all liability to any other party other than the client for which the reports 
are prepared in respect of or any consequence of anything done, or omitted to be done, by any party in 
reliance, whether whole or partial, upon any information contained in the reports. Any party, other than 
the client for which they are prepared, who chooses to rely in any way on the contents of the reports, does 
so at their own risk. 
 
The information in the reports and in any related oral presentation made by AFS & Associates Pty Ltd is 
confidential between AFS & Associates Pty Ltd and the client for which it was prepared and should not be 
disclosed, used or duplicated in whole or in part for any purpose except with the prior written consent of 
AFS & Associates Pty Ltd. An Electronic copy or print of this Document is an UNCONTROLLED COPY. 


 
Liability Limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislations 
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1. Objective 


The objective of this internal audit was to ensure adequate Project Risk Management exists and project 
management processes promote efficiency and align to better practice. 
 


2. Scope 


The scope of the internal audit includes: 
 
 identifying the framework for managing projects 
 assessing how project management incorporates Risk Management and the integration with Council’s 


Risk Management Framework 
 comparing Council’s project Risk Management Framework against a best practice framework (e.g. A 


Guide to the Project Management body of Knowledge (PMBOK Guide) 6th edition, issued by the Project 
Management Institute) 


 sighting the application of the Project Risk Management Framework for a sample of projects 
 testing the application and effectiveness of controls to manage project risk 
 assessing Council’s project risk management communication of information, and risk monitoring 
 evaluating the reporting and monitoring of completed projects against budget and to ensure the 


desired outcome was achieved 
 identifying how and if quality assurance over project management occurs. 
 
Our review was conducted on 12 ‐ 13 February 2020. 
 
Scope exclusions: 
 
This project did not include coverage of the following, unless specifically included within the scope section 
above: 
 
 examination of IT application or general controls of the systems associated with any of the process or 


control areas within scope. 
 


3. Review approach 


Our work included: 
 
 discussion with key personnel 


 Chief Executive Officer 
 Director Corporate & Community Services 
 Director Assets & Development 
 Manager Works 
 Manager Finance 
 Manager Assets & Engineering 
 Manger Economic Development & Tourism 
 Manager Community Wellbeing 
 Community Wellbeing & Grants Coordinator 
 Community Wellbeing Project Officer 
 Project Coordinator 
 Project Manager 


 review of: 
 project management framework against best practice frameworks 
 project risk identification and analysis 
 project risk management plans 
 relevant policies and procedures 
 Strategic Risk Register 
 Risk Management Plan 
 Council Plan 


 review of a randomly chosen sample of five projects to assess compliance with the project 
management policies and procedures  


 examination of a sample of transactions posted to project accounts to assess the controls surrounding 
positing, calculation and capture of capital expenditure, and reporting. 







 


 
2020‐02 Project Management    3 


4. Executive summary 


There is no formal Project Management Framework, policies or procedures in place to ensure a consistent 
approach to Project Management across the organisation. Instead, reliance is placed on knowledgeable and 
experienced staff to achieve project outcomes, identify and mitigate project risks and deliver to community 
expectations. 
 
Pyrenees Shire Council (PSC) recently successfully applied for and received grant funding to deliver projects 
worth approximately $18 million. Traditionally, PSC has an overall Project Program averaging $4 million per 
calendar year. 
 
The substantial uptick in grant funding and associated number of projects represents a significant challenge 
to Council and project management resources. The spotlight will be on the effective management of these 
projects, the identification and management of the project risks and the delivery of these projects: 
 
 within budget with no unfunded, unaffordable overruns 
 within a well‐defined and approved scope 
 and on time. 
 
We found project delivery has been impacted by a lack of linkage between grant writing, application 
process and initial phases of project scoping and design. There are plans to create a centralised Project 
Specialist role to oversee the end‐to‐end delivery of projects, which could also offer oversight and control 
over the grant application process. 
 
PSC has a wealth of project management experience it can leverage to implement our recommendations. 
Many aspects of better practice project management are in use by Project Managers, however consistency 
in application will greatly enhance overall project outcomes. 
 
To achieve this our recommendations include: 
 
 implementing a formal Project Management Framework, policy and procedures 
 formalising project governance and reporting channels 
 finalising and implementing Project Risk Management as part of the Project Management Framework 
 ensuring project risks are monitored regularly and consistently 
 leveraging existing tools and templates in use for some projects for use across the organisation 
 improve the transparency and usability of project reporting 
 implement post project reviews across all PSC projects 
 ensuring a consistent approach to capturing project costs. 
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5. Summary of findings 


5.1 Areas of strength 
 


Observation 


Managed 


 


Development of Project Risk Management Framework 
Although yet to be implemented, the draft Project Risk Management Framework contains all the 
necessary elements to ensure project risk is proactively and systematically assessed across delivery 
of Council’s project program and for individual projects.   
 
It incorporates risk assessment, analysis, ongoing monitoring and communication of risk, including 
preparation of project risk management plans. 
 
Once implemented, it will form a critical part of an overall Project Management Framework.  
 
Refer to Item 3 for further discussion about project risk. 
 


Managed 


 


Implementation of weekly Project Managers meeting 
Weekly Project Managers meetings are held to discuss current infrastructure projects. Discussions 
include: 
 
 Budget and expenditure 
 Community consultation 
 Challenges, scoping issues 
 Changes in project risk. 
 
The weekly meeting could be further enhanced through a formal governance structure, as 
discussed at Item 2. 
 


Managed 


 


Staff experience and knowledge 
PSC has a number of experienced and knowledgeable staff across the organisation delivering and 
managing projects. Staff experience and knowledge provided the basis for effective project 
management.  
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5.2 Identified risks and ratings 
 


Observation  Item No 


Moderate 


 


Project Management Framework 
There is no formal Project Management Framework, policy or procedures in place 
to ensure a consistent approach to project management, project delivery and the 
management of project risks across the organisation.  
 


Refer to item  
1 


Moderate 


 


Project governance 
There is no formal structure to the centralised oversight of PSC’s project program. 
Each operational area is responsible for delivery and monitoring its own projects. 
 


Refer to item 
2 


Moderate 


 


Project risk monitoring 
Project risk assessment monitoring is not consistent, and does not document or 
communicate emerging project risks. 
 


Refer to item 
3 


Moderate 


 


Project delivery 
Project delivery has been negatively impacted by the lack of integration between: 
 
 grant application process 
 project scoping and costing processes 
 resource planning. 
 


Refer to item 
4 


Minor 


 


Project tools and templates 
The use of project management tools and templates across PSC is inconsistent 
across projects and project managers.  
 


Refer to item 
5 


Minor 


 


Project reporting 
Project reporting could be enhanced to support better clarity and oversight of the 
delivery and management of all (infrastructure and non‐infrastructure) projects 
across PSC. 
 


Refer to item 
6 


Minor 


 


Post project reviews 


Post project reviews occur informally and are inconsistently documented. There is 
no requirement to complete a post project review and capture lessons learned. 
 


Refer to item 
7 


Minor 


 


Project costing 
Project costing is not supported by documented policy procedures to ensure 
consistent and comparable capture of information. 
 


Refer to item 
8 
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6. Detailed findings  


Moderate  


 


1. Project Management Framework 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
There is no formal Project Management Framework, 
policies or procedures in place to enable a reliable, 
transparent and consistent approach to project delivery 
and management. 
 
PSC has experienced and knowledgeable staff who 
deliver and manage projects across the organisation. 
However reliance is placed on these staff rather than a 
formal framework to ensure: 
 
 projects are managed in line with expected practice 
 project risks are adequately identified and 


mitigated. 
 
We did observe elements of better practice being 
applied, however it varied from project to project and 
Project Manager to Project Manager. 
 
A Project Management Framework, policies and 
procedures would enhance on‐boarding of new Project 
Managers and ensure a consistent organisational 
approach. 
 
The recent and significant increase in the number of 
projects to be delivered in the current calendar year has 
led to PSC creating new Project Manager roles. Without 
a formal framework, the inconsistencies in approach 
and the associated risks will be spread further across 
more projects. 


Risk: 
The following core risks associated with any Council 
project may not be effectively considered or mitigated: 
 
 delivering a project: 


 on time 
 within budget 
 achieving the project objective 
 with a quality outcome. 


 
No assurance of consistency in the management of 
projects across Council. 
 
A lack of transparency in decisions made and actions 
taken throughout the life of the project. 
 
Key person risk ‐ reliance is placed on the knowledge 
and experience of individual Project Managers to 
understand project risks and deliver projects effectively.  
 
On‐boarding, induction and training of new project 
managers is likely to be inconsistent. 
 
Root cause: 
Constraints on staff resources to develop and 
implement a formal Project Management Framework. 
 
There is no Project Committee or centralised Project 
role to commit time to developing a framework. 
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Moderate  


 


1. Project Management Framework 


Recommendation 
We recommend a formal Project Management Framework is designed and implemented to support the 
management of all projects.  
 
The Framework should: 
 
 consider different requirements for managing projects based on the value and the risk inherent in the project, 


to ensure small/low risk projects are not unnecessarily burdened with requirements 
 accommodate and apply to all projects, including those that fall outside the infrastructure capital works 


program 
 refer to Council’s Risk Management Framework and Risk Appetite to set parameters for assessing project risk 
 Based on a better practice model. For example. PMBOK ‐ A Guide to the Project Management Body of 


Knowledge (PMBOK Guide) 6th edition, published by the Project Management Institute 
 Consider a project governance function and the definition of a project and establish consistency in reporting 


across projects and operational areas. Refer Item 2. 
 Ensure risk monitoring is incorporated into formalised governance and reporting channels to ensure 


emerging/changing risks are captured and communicated. Refer Item 3. 
 Clearly identify where Project Officers/teams should be involved at the early scoping and design stage.  This 


should be linked with the Grant Management Framework to ensure sufficient project scoping for grant 
applications occurs. Refer Item 4. 


 Enhance current reporting over projects across Council by establishing clear reporting channels and 
obligations. Refer Item 6. 


 Ensure the need to conduct post‐project reviews are formalised. Refer Item 7. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed.  A new role is being recruited within Council whose key initial focus will be to 
develop a project management framework.  If this does not commence within the next six months, some 
preliminary work will be undertaken to cover the key aspects of the framework.  A plan for this will be determined. 
 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services and Executive Leadership Team 
Action date: June 2021 
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6.   Detailed findings (continued) 
 


Moderate 


 


2. Project governance  


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
There is no formal project governance structure to 
support delivery and oversight of PSC’s project program. 
A Project Management Office (PMO) (or Officer if an 
individual) is often established to achieve this. 
 
The current approach to governance is decentralised. 
Each operational area is responsible for delivery and 
monitoring its own projects. Clear reporting channels 
have not been established to ensure: 
 
 project reporting from each operational team to 


the Senior Leadership Team and CEO occurs 
 consistency in project reporting within and across 


each operational area is achieved. 
 
There are plans to create a Project Specialist role to 
have oversight of the end‐to‐end delivery of all projects, 
including internal projects and those outside the assets 
and infrastructure program. The creation of this role will 
help centralise project management and project 
governance across Council and give clearer oversight 
and support for Project Managers in their day to day 
role. 
 
Further, there is no clear requirement to establish a 
Project Control Group to ensure governance and 
stakeholder engagement for individual projects, 
including when a project is delivered in conjunction/on 
behalf of a community group. Generally, only high risk, 
high value projects will have a Project Control Group 
with associated terms of reference, however there is no 
mechanism to ensure this. 
 


Risk: 
Without a formalised governance structure, there is no 
clear oversight, quality control and resource monitoring 
of Council’s project management function.  
 
Project risks may not be effectively identified, 
monitored and actioned. 
 
Root cause: 
As no Project Management Framework has been 
implemented, there is no associated formal governance 
structure for projects. 
 
Project Management is decentralised. 
 


Recommendation 
As per Item 1.  
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed, This was already identified by the Executive Leadership Team.  Will be 
addressed as per item 1.  Initial discussions will be held to consider establishment of Project Control Group to 
implement overarching governance control over major projects. 
 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services and Executive Leadership Team 
Action date: Project Control Group establishment – September 2020.  Total delivery of actions – June 2021. 
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6.   Detailed findings (continued) 
 


Moderate 


 


3. Project risk monitoring 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
We found no evidence of Risk Assessments or Risk 
Management Plans for any of the five recently 
completed projects we sampled.  
 
Project risks are discussed informally at weekly Project 
Managers’ meetings and the monthly Capital Projects 
meeting, but decisions and outcomes are not 
documented or communicated. 
 
Refer to Appendix 2 for results of testing. 
 
 


Risk: 
Project risks not addressed in project planning may 
result in: 
 
 unbudgeted, unfunded project costs 
 scope creep 
 project not being delivered on time 
 project outcomes not being achieved.  
 
Council’s reputation may be damaged when not 
delivering to community expectations.  
 
Negative impacts on staff wellbeing may occur, leading 
to potential loss of staff if ongoing. 
 
Root cause: 
The Project Risk Management Framework has not yet 
been implemented and expectations for its use has not 
been communicated. 
 


Recommendation 
We recommend the Project Risk Management be implemented as part of the Project Management Framework and 
training provided to project staff in its application and use. 
 
As per Item 1. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed, A project risk management procedure has been drafted for implementation as 
part of both the future project management framework and as part of the current review of the risk management 
framework. 
 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services and Risk Management Committee 
Action date: December 2020 
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6.   Detailed findings (continued) 
 


Moderate 


 


4. Project delivery 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
We were informed of a number of projects which are 
not expected to be delivered within the timeframes set 
by grant authorities or community expectations. 
 
The December 2019 Project Report to Council showed 
all of the five recently completed projects in our sample 
are expected to or have exceeded timeframes for 
delivery:  
 
 one project was completed 120 days after the 


planned completion date 
 one project required a time variation to extend the 


completion date to May 2020, after an initial 
planned completion in November 2017. 


 
Delays in the design phase for the Lexton Community 
Hub have resulted from poor scoping at the time of 
application for grant funding. Scoping had not 
considered the connection of sewerage to the planned 
Female Friendly Facilities and availability of three‐phase 
power at the site. The Lexton Community Hub will cost 
significantly more to deliver if the project follows the 
initial proposal.  
 
 


Risk: 
Reputation/financial loss when projects are not 
delivered on time, on budget and to community 
expectations.  
 
Negative impacts on staff wellbeing, leading to potential 
loss of staff if ongoing. 
 
Root cause: 
Lack of a formal project management framework that 
ensures all risks to the delivery of a project are 
identified. Risks such as resource shortages and poor 
scoping and design have not been identified and 
strategies implemented to mitigate these risks  
 
Project delivery has been impacted by: 
 
 A significant increase in grant funding received, 


resulting in an increased number of projects to 
deliver. The number of projects to be delivered is 
estimated to be four to five times that of an 
average year. 


 strain on staff resources and capacity to deliver 
these projects 


 Scoping and design at the grant writing stage has 
historically not considered all aspects of the project 
to be delivered. 


 


Recommendation 
Refer Item 1. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed.  Refer to recommendation 1. 
 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: June 2021 
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6.   Detailed findings (continued) 
 


Minor 


 


5. Project tools and templates 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
There is no consistency in the documentation 
maintained to support, document and provide evidence 
of the approach taken to managing projects. 
 
We reviewed the documentation associated with the 
randomly chosen sample of five projects to determine: 
 
 consistency in documentation 
 the extent of any common project management 


tools and templates being used, in the absence of a 
formal framework. 


 
One project file was not available to us when requested 
(Eurambeen‐Streatham Road Reconstruction). 
 
Of the four files we were able to review, we found: 
 
 no project had a risk plan on file 
 one project had a documented Project Control 


Group with a Terms of Reference 
 three projects did not have a milestones/project 


schedule on file 
 two projects did not have a documented estimate 


of costs to support the budget on file 
 one project did not have evidence supporting a 


variation on file 
 three projects did not have any sign off/completion 


documentation. 
 
See Appendix 2 for the full results of testing. 
 
In many cases, templates may be provided by the 
funding authority. In others, each operational area had 
developed their own set of templates to manage 
projects. 
 


Risk: 
Project risks may not be effectively identified, 
monitored and actioned. 
 
Key personnel reliance. 
 
Root cause: 
Without a formal Project Management Framework to 
guide expectations, Project Managers have used 
professional judgement and experience to develop tools 
and templates to support day to day management of 
projects. 
 


Recommendation 
We recommend leveraging existing tools and templates to assist in the creation of suite of documents to support 
the Project Management Framework. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed.  This will form part of the project management framework development by the 
Project Specialist role to be recruited. 
 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services 
Action date: June 2021 
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6.   Detailed findings (continued) 
 


Minor 


 


6. Project reporting 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
Project reporting is currently not regular, routine or 
reliable. 
 
A formal and consistently applied approach to project 
reporting has not been established for: 
 
 individual projects 
 all projects within the capital budget and program 
 projects that may not form part of the capital 


budget and program. 
 
Recent implementation of the monthly Project Report 
provided to Council has improved project reporting. 
Whilst a positive development, the effectiveness of this 
report as a tool to support project monitoring and 
governance could be strengthened by including: 
 
 percentage of completion 
 budget to actual expenditure 
 when projects are overdue 
 notes on risks, impacts/delays to delivery 
 council contributions. 
 
Further, the ability to produce accurate reporting of 
actual expenditure to budget relies on consistent and 
comparable allocation of project costs. Refer to Item 8. 
 
 


Risk: 
Ad‐hoc reporting may not give clear oversight and 
transparency over project program delivery. 
 
Project monitoring is not a reliable internal control in 
the delivery of projects. 
 
Root cause: 
No formal project management framework. 
 
Without formal project governance and clear reporting 
channels, there is no clear responsibility for producing 
reports established. 
 


Recommendation 
We recommend enhancing current reporting over projects across Council to ensure consistency. 
 
Refer Item 1. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed.  Reporting template to be developed to enable consistent project reporting.  
This will be initially and may be updated when Project Specialist Role in place. 
 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services and Executive Leadership Team 
Action date: September 2020 
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6.   Detailed findings (continued) 
 


Minor 


 


7. Post project reviews 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
Post project reviews are conducted informally, and are 
not consistently documented. 
 
In the case of the project files we reviewed, there was a 
lack of documentation available to support the 
completion of post project reviews and the capturing of 
lessons learned to apply to future projects.  
 
Project managers may complete post project reviews 
when required to by a grant authority as part of grant 
acquittal, however there is no requirement for post 
project reviews across all projects within the 
organisation, including internal projects that were not 
grant funded. 
 


Risk: 
Lessons learned are not routinely captured and 
actioned. 
 
Root cause: 
No formal project management framework, requiring 
post project reviews are conducted and documented. 
 
 


Recommendation 
Refer Item 1. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed.  As part of establishing the Project Control Group (Central) this will be part of 
the process of that Group. 
 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services and Executive Leadership Team 
Action date: September 2020 
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6.   Detailed findings (continued) 
 


Minor 


 


8. Project costing 


Observation  Risk and Root cause 
Project cost allocation is not supported by a 
documented policy or procedure. 
 
We found inconsistencies in: 
 
 establishing separate project accounts to allocate 


costs 
 closing project accounts once a project is complete 
 the allocation of staff labour costs to projects. 


 
We reviewed ledger transactions for the five sampled 
recent projects. Two of five were not allocated a 
separate account, including a budgeted $430,000 ICT 
Implementation Strategy.  
 
There is no formal process for the close of project 
accounts once projects are considered complete. This 
leaves an opportunity for further costs to be allocated 
to these accounts that may remain undetected until 
accounts are reviewed during year end roll forward 
processes.  
 
There is no consistent policy to allocate staff costs to 
projects. This is currently on a case by case basis. 
Without a consistent approach, project costs may not 
be comparable, and may not capture all associated 
costs. 
 


Risk: 
 Project costing will not be comparable and 


transparent. 
 Project costs may not be complete and accurate. 
 
Root cause: 
There is no currently defined process for the treatment 
of project costs. 
 


Recommendation 
We recommend a procedure is developed to ensure project costs are captured consistently, including timely close 
of accounts once projects are complete. 
 


☒ Agree  ☐ Partially Agree  ☐ Disagree 


Management action plan: Agreed.  Will be discussed and implemented in collaboration with Manager Finance. 
 
Responsible officer: Director Corporate & Community Services and Manager Finance 
Action date: September 2020 
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Appendix 1 – Risk rating methodology  
Risk rating  Definition of audit risk ratings 


 


Major risk exposure 


High likelihood and/or consequence. Requires immediate attention, suggest within two months. 


 


Moderate risk exposure 


Medium likelihood and/or consequence. Requires attention within six months.  


 


Minor risk exposure 


Low likelihood and/or consequence. Requires attention within 12 months.  


 


Area of strong control and risk mitigation identified 


We are comfortable that the control /s identified are mitigating the associated risk. 


 


Opportunity 


An opportunity to gain an efficiency or saving exists.  


 
Our ratings are designed for simple communication of our understanding of the matter and potential 
impact on your organisation. 
 
We consider your risk management framework in allocating a rating. 
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Appendix 2 – Results of testing 
Details  1  2  3  4  5 


Project 
Beaufort Walkability 


Plan 
Turning the heat on at 


Avoca Pools 
ICT Strategy 


Implementation 
Eurambeen‐Streatham 
Road Reconstruction 


Sustainable Community 
Hubs 


Status  Complete  Practical Completion  Practical Completion  Complete  Complete 


Budget  $299,300  $186,000  $430,000  $650,000  $348,400 


Project Ledger Account  $289,434  Not available1  Not available1  $220,119  $352,937 


Variance Over/(Under)  ($9,866)  N/A  N/A  ($429,880)  $4,538 


Council Contribution  $149,650  $62,000  Unknown  Unknown  $72,600 


Project file exists      


Project Management Plan      


Risk Plan      


Project Control Group      


Project Scope      


Milestones/schedule      


Budget      


Variations (if applicable)      


Project ledger matches budget 
and variations 


 Not available1 Not available1  


Sign off/quality assessment    N/A2   


 
 
 


                                                            
1 A separate project ledger account was not created to track costs associated with these projects 
2 This is a multiyear project – practical completion refers to the 2019/20 phase completion, with the project continuing in 2020/21 
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Appendix 3 - Basis and use of report  
Our Internal Audit reports (the reports) are prepared on the basis of the limitations set out below: 
 
We are engaged by Pyrenees Shire Council (the client) to provide internal audit services and the scope of 
our activities is determined by management and reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee.  
 
The reports are prepared in accordance with the objectives and approach agreed in the engagement 
documents and subject to the following limitations: 
 
Our procedures are designed to provide limited assurance which recognises that absolute assurance is 
rarely attainable, due to such factors as the use of judgement in gathering and evaluating evidence and 
forming conclusions, and the use of selective testing, and because much of the evidence available for 
review is persuasive rather than conclusive in nature. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations in any internal control structure, it is possible that errors or 
irregularities may occur and not be detected. Our procedures are not designed to detect all weaknesses in 
control procedures as they are not performed continuously throughout a specific period and any tests 
performed will be on a sample basis. 
 
Any projection of the evaluation of the control procedures to future periods is subject to the risk that the 
systems may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
them may deteriorate. 
 
The matters raised in this report are only those which come to our attention during the course of 
performing our procedures and are not necessarily comprehensive statements of all the weaknesses that 
exist or improvements that might be made. We cannot, in practice, examine every activity or procedure, 
nor can we be a substitute for management’s responsibility to maintain adequate internal controls over all 
levels of operations and their responsibility to prevent and detect irregularities, including fraud. 
Accordingly, management should not rely on our reports to identify all weaknesses that may exist in the 
systems and procedures under examination, or potential instances of non‐compliance that may exist.  
 
Recommendations for improvement should be assessed by management for their full commercial impact, 
before they are implemented.  
 
The reports are prepared for distribution to Pyrenees Shire Council for the purposes of review by the Audit 
& Risk Committee and management. The reports are not to be used by any other party for any purpose nor 
should any other party seek to rely on the opinion, advices, or any information contained within the 
reports. In this regard, we recommend that parties seek their own independent advice.  
 
AFS & Associates Pty Ltd disclaims all liability to any other party other than the client for which the reports 
are prepared in respect of or any consequence of anything done, or omitted to be done, by any party in 
reliance, whether whole or partial, upon any information contained in the reports. Any party, other than 
the client for which they are prepared, who chooses to rely in any way on the contents of the reports, does 
so at their own risk. 
 
The information in the reports and in any related oral presentation made by AFS & Associates Pty Ltd is 
confidential between AFS & Associates Pty Ltd and the client for which it was prepared and should not be 
disclosed, used or duplicated in whole or in part for any purpose except with the prior written consent of 
AFS & Associates Pty Ltd. An Electronic copy or print of this Document is an UNCONTROLLED COPY. 


Liability Limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislations 
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Pyrenees Shire Council 


Audit & Risk Committee Work Plan 2020 







 
Audit & Risk Committee Annual Work Plan 2020 
Action By when By whom Compliance 


1. Adopt new Audit & Risk Committee Charter Meeting 1 - May Committee & Council  


2. Elect Chairperson annually Meeting 1 - May Committee  


3. Adopt new Audit & Risk Committee Charter Meeting 1 - May Committee & Council  


4. Adopt 2020 annual work plan 
Monitor compliance against annual work plan 


Meeting 1 - May 
All meetings 


Committee  


5. Receive VAGO Audit Strategy Memorandum and Interim Management Letter Meeting 1 - May Committee  


6. Receive and review proposed 2020/21 Budget 
Receive adopted 2020/21 Budget 


Meeting 1 – May 
Meeting 2 – September  


Committee  


7. Monitor financial and performance reporting: 
Receive and review Quarterly Finance reports 


 


 
Meeting 1 – May 
Meeting 3 - November 


Committee  


8. Receive and nominate signatories for end of financial year financial and performance 
reports 


Meeting 2 - September Committee  


9. Receive annual report Meeting 2 - September Committee  


10. Receive, review and make comment / recommendations – all reports from internal 
audit reviews 


All meetings Committee  


11. Monitor completion of outstanding issues from internal audit reports All meetings Committee  


12. Monitor management of recommendations from external audit reports Meeting 2 - September Committee  


13. Monitor, review and make comment / recommendations – reports from service 
reviews undertaken 


Meeting 1 - May 
Meeting 3 - November 


Committee  


14. Approve three-year internal audit program 2020-2022 Meeting 2 - September Committee  


15. Appoint Councillors to Committee membership annually Statutory Meeting - 
November 


Council  







 
Action By when By whom Compliance 


16. Endorse reappointment of internal auditor for 2020/2021 financial year 
Re-appoint internal auditor for 2020/2021 financial year 


Meeting 1 - May 
End June 2020 


Committee 
Council 


 


17. Monitor implementation of Local Government Act 2020 in accordance with 
prescribed deadlines 


All meetings Committee  


18. Monitor implementation of business continuity plans – particularly with regard to 
COVID-19 


Meeting 2 - September Committee  


19. Monitor, review and make recommendations against Council processes for 
prevention and management of fraud & corruption; and maintaining legislative 
compliance and good governance 


All meetings Committee  


20. Monitor compliance of Council policy framework with governance principles through 
officer development of, and reporting against, a policy review schedule 


Meeting 3 - November Executive & Committee  


21. Receive the outcomes of the four-yearly review and audit of Council’s Municipal 
Emergency Management Plan 


Meeting 2 - September Committee  


22. Receive notification of local government general election outcomes Outside of meeting – 
November 2020 


Committee  


23. Biannual report against Audit & Risk Committee activities to Council 
 


24. Provide minutes of each Audit & Risk Committee meetings as part of a report to 
Council 


August 2020 
February 2021 
After each meeting 


Committee Chairperson 
Committee Chairperson 
CEO / Director CCS 


 


25. Undertake an annual assessment of Committee performance against the Audit & 
Risk Committee Charter and provide a copy of the assessment to the CEO for tabling 
at Council 


Meeting 3 - November Committee  


26. Adopt an annual work plan and meeting schedule for 2021 Meeting 3 - November Committee  


27. Review internal audit plan for adequacy and risk coverage Meeting 3 - November Executive & Committee  


28. At least once per year, discuss confidential issues in-camera with internal and 
external auditors 


Opportunity provided 
at all meetings 


Committee  







 
 
Audit & Risk Committee Meeting Schedule and Plan 
Meeting 
Number 


Date Agenda inclusions Compliance 


M040 26 May 2020 • Annual election of Committee Chairperson 
• Reports 


o VAGO Audit Strategy Memorandum 2019/20 Financial Year 
o Proposed 2020/21 Budget 
o Quarterly Finance Report 
o Internal Audit 2019-06 Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery 
o Internal Audit 2020-02 Project Management 
o Internal Audit February 2020 Review of Outstanding Issues 
o Local Government Act 2020 Implementation Status Update 
o Audit & Risk Committee Re-establishment and Charter Review 
o Audit & Risk Committee Annual Work Plan 2020 
o Annual Audit & Risk Committee 2019 Performance Review 
o Service Review – Frontline Services 
o Service Review – Pyrenees Community Care 
o Governance, Risk & Compliance Report 
o Compliance Update 


 Fraud & Protected Disclosures declaration 
 CEO credit card expenditure 


o Recent Reports and Publications of Interest to Councils – Internal Auditor 
o CEO Report – Current Issues for Pyrenees Shire Council 


• Opportunity for Audit & Risk Committee members to hold closed discussions with internal and 
external auditors. 


 


M041 22 September 2020 • Reports 
o Pyrenees Shire Year End Financials – 2019/20 Financial Year 
o Performance Report – 2019/20 Financial Year 
o Final 2020/21 Budget 
o Annual Report 2019/20 
o Audit & Risk Committee Performance Self-Assessment and Biannual Activities Report 


 







 


Meeting 
Number 


Date Agenda inclusions Compliance 


o Internal Audit 2020 Procurement Governance 
o Internal Audit May 2020 Review of Outstanding Issues 
o Status Report – Internal Audit Program 2020-2022 
o Status Report – Recommendations from external audits 


 VAGO Survey – Sexual harassment in local government 
 VAGO Audit & Survey – Maintaining local roads 


o Status Report - Local Government Act 2020 Implementation 
 Policy review update against governance principles 


o Risk Management Framework 
o 2020 Strategic Risk Register 
o Business Continuity Planning 
o Municipal Emergency Management Plan 4-year review and audit 
o Service Review Program 2020-2025 
o Governance, Risk & Compliance Report 
o Compliance Update 
o Recent Reports and Publications of Interest to Councils 
o CEO Report – Current Issues for Pyrenees Shire Council 


• Opportunity for Audit & Risk Committee members to hold closed discussions with internal and 
external auditors 


M042 24 November 2020 • Reports 
o Outcomes of local government general election 2020 
o Quarterly Finance Report 
o Internal Audit reports 2020/2021 
o Service Reviews 2020 
o Governance, Risk & Compliance Report 
o Compliance Update 
o Recent Reports and Publications of Interest to Councils 
o CEO Report – Current Issues for Pyrenees Shire Council 


• Audit & Risk Committee Work Plan and Meeting Schedule 2021 


 


Standard All meetings • Committee Members, Council Officers, Guests – Invitees  







 


Meeting 
Number 


Date Agenda inclusions Compliance 


inclusions • Apologies 
• Conflict of Interest Declarations 
• Confirmation of previous Minutes 
• Reports 
• General Business 
• Meeting closed and Date of next meeting 
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INTRODUCTION 
 
Council at its December 2016 meeting determined to undertake a review of its rate strategy 
shortly after the 2016 Council Elections. The last comprehensive review was in 2013/14. 


 
One of the objectives for Council under the Local Government Act 1989 is to ensure the 
equitable imposition of rates and charges. The rate strategy sets out to explain how Council 
determines what money will be raised from properties within the municipality, while 
acknowledging the difficulties in linking property values to an assumption about the individual 
ability to pay. 


 
In preparing the rating strategy Council considered the following: 


 
• Sources of revenue – the relationship between rates, other sources of income and 


Council expenditure. 
• Review of the current rating system to determine how well it addresses the 


issues of fairness and equity. 
• Exploration of the options available to Council to change the rating system in 


accordance with the legislation. 
• Evaluation of capital improved value (CIV) as the basis for rating. 
• Evaluation of the use of a municipal charge. 
• Review of the differential classes, their definitions and objectives. 


 
The rate strategy has now been completed and explains the issues and the rationale for 
applying rates and how the rate burden is shared by the community. 
 


 


1. WHY CHANGE THE RATING SYSTEM? 
 


Good governance requires Council to provide ongoing or periodic monitoring and review of 
the impact of major decisions. Over time, knowledge, issues and the membership of Council 
may alter. Council policies are subject to refinement and change. It is therefore incumbent 
upon council to evaluate on a regular basis whether the current rating system best satisfies 
the legislative objectives to which it must have regard and those other objectives which 
Council believes are relevant. 
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2.  CONTEXT 
 


2.1 Rates & Taxation 


Taxation revenue is used to finance a range of services provided by the various levels of 
Government. Taxation revenues generally become consolidated into a general pool of funds 
and are spent by governments on services that: 


 
• are either entirely or partially “public goods”; 


• relate to their “community service obligations” to provide support to particular 
individuals or groups; and 


• they believe are appropriate to assist the achievement of specific objectives which 


will have flow-on effects that will ultimately benefit all constituents. 


 
Public goods are services that provide a broad and often unquantifiable benefit to the 
community rather than a particular benefit to individuals, corporations or individual properties. 
They include services where it is impractical to levy user fees and charges because it is 
difficult to exclude those who do not pay from receiving the benefits provided. Council’s 
general funding of local roads, public open space and public health programs are obvious 
examples of public goods where charging users is not practical. Tax revenues are also an 
appropriate means of offsetting those costs where it is impossible to attribute costs to specific 
services and hence consider their collection through user charges. 


 
Council’s reliance on rates is influenced by policy and legislative factors that preclude or limit 
Council’s ability to charge. Council does not have discretion to set user fees and charges 
for a range of services where this is set out in State legislation or regulation, such as 
prescribed fees for planning permits, or in funding agreements with other levels of 
Government such as those applying to aged services and maternal and child health. 


 
The amount of rates collected by a council depends on conscious and considered choices 
as to the quantity and quality of services that it decides to provide and how much of 
the cost is to be recovered from other revenue sources. The amount collected in rates 
represents the difference between the total expenses required by Council to fund programs, 
maintain assets and to service and redeem debt, and the total revenue from all other 
sources. Other revenue sources include grants from other levels of government, prescribed 
and discretionary fees, fines and charges, income from the sale of assets and interest earned. 
Hence rates are the balancing item between total expenses and all other revenue sources. 


 
Rate revenue is a major source of the Pyrenees Shire’s revenues, accounting for about half 
of its annual income. 
 


2.2 The Problems with Property Taxation 


Property taxes do not recognise the situation where ratepayers are “asset rich” and “income 
poor”. In these cases ratepayers may have considerable wealth reflected in the property 
they own, but have a low level of income. Examples include pensioners, businesses subject 
to cyclical downturn, households with large families and property owners with little equity. In 
a commercial sense the argument has also been expressed in terms of the ability of 
property to generate a reasonable return. 


 
Taxes on income and consumption are much more reflective of capacity to pay, 
especially the former, in which the personal circumstances e.g. the number of dependents, 
in addition to the level of income, are taken into account. 


 
It is not possible to expect a property tax system to deal practically with the issue of capacity 
to pay based on the circumstances of individual households and businesses. 







7 


 


Adopted 15/01/2019 


 
In fact the issue takes up considerable time and resources of Governments with more diverse 
taxing and investigative powers and resources, for example, the Commonwealth 
Government uses assets as well as income tests for pensioner households. 


 
Local government rates are also the most visible of taxes – either paid in full or in four 
instalments as in the case of the Pyrenees Shire Council. This compares with income and 
consumption taxes that are being continuously paid by individuals. 
 


2.3 Rates and Pricing Policy 


Council does have discretion to levy fees and charges for some services. The 
interrelationship between fees and charges and rates means that Council’s pricing policies 
for its various services will impact its requirement for rate revenue. The contribution that rates 
and discretionary charges make toward the funding of particular services is dependent upon 
the specific pricing policies that are developed by Council for each service. 


 


Council is committed to regularly reviewing its fees, charges and leases to ensure that the 
amount to be raised via rates is influenced by a consideration of the most appropriate means 
of raising the required revenue for individual services and the level of public and private 
benefit involved. These are reviewed as part of the annual budget process. 
 


2.4 What is a Rating Strategy? 


A rating strategy is the method by which council systematically considers factors of 
importance that inform its decisions about the rating system. The rating system determines 
how Council will raise money from properties within the municipality. It does not influence 
the total amount of money to be raised, only the share of revenue contributed by each 
property. The rating system comprises the (valuation) base and actual rating instruments 
that are used to calculate property owners’ liability for rates. 


 


A rating strategy comprises a number of components including: 


 


• a review of rationales and objectives; 


• related research; 


• the development of definitions; 


• comprehensive rate modelling; 


• an education program; 


• the development of required documentation; and 


• opportunity for public review. 


 


Council identified some major issues that were reviewed as part of the rating strategy 
including: 


 


• a review of objectives concerning vacant land and how its treatment through the 
rating system may achieve these objectives; 


• a review of objectives concerning commercial/industrial land and how its treatment 
through the rating system may achieve these objectives; 


 
 


2.5 The Rating Framework 


The legislative framework set down in the Local Government Act determines Council’s ability 
to develop a rating system. This framework provides Council with significant flexibility to tailor 
a system to suit its requirements. Under the legislation Council has the power to levy: 


• municipal charge; 
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• uniform rates; 


• differential rates; 


• special rates & charges; 


• service rates & charges; 


• rate rebates and concessions; and 


• waivers & deferments. 
 


Pyrenees Shire adopted the Capital Improved Valuation (CIV) system in 1995 for rating 
purposes. CIV includes both the value of the land and any improvements on that land. 


 


Council believes the use of CIV better reflects capacity to pay than the alternatives and 
provides Council with the flexibility to levy differential rates. 
 


2.6 Review of Rationales & Objectives 


Decisions about the rating system need to be explainable, not in an ad hoc way, but in a 
considered way so that the reasoning behind the decisions that are made about the rating 
system are apparent. There should be a clear link between rating system outcomes and the 
objectives, apart from the raising of revenue, which council wishes to achieve. 


 
The two objectives which the rating system must have greatest regard are the achievement 
of equity and efficiency. The Local Government Act explicitly refers to these objectives. 
 


2.7 Equity 


There is a requirement that, where councils do not have a single rate, that the use of additional 
rates will achieve an equitable outcome. In other words an outcome that is just or fair. The 
definition of equity is not clear-cut and there is certain subjectivity to what equity means. The 
decision to adopt differential rates in preference to a system based on a uniform rate 
indicates in itself a view that equity will not be delivered by that simple system. 


 


The word equity has a legal origin where it was used to describe the delivery of natural justice 
when statute law was seen to render an unjust decision. However the lead is probably best 
given by economists’ definitions that refer to distributional, horizontal and vertical equity. 
These definitions can be extended to property taxation. 


 


Distributional equity refers to justice or fairness in the manner in which the rates burden is 
distributed between rateable properties. 


 


Horizontal equity refers to justice or fairness in the treatment of like properties, in other words, 
that similar rates are paid by similar properties. Obviously there is a fundamental importance 
on which characteristics define similarity. Horizontal equity is ensured mainly by accurate 
property valuations and their classification into homogenous property classes. 


 


Vertical equity refers to justice or fairness in the treatment of properties in different 
circumstances. It is the rationale used for the use of progressive and proportional income 
taxation. It implies a “relativity” dimension to the fairness of the tax burden. 
In the case of property taxation it may be considered equitable for one type of property to 
have to bear more or less of the rates burden than another type of property. 
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3. “WEALTH TAX”, “CAPACITY TO PAY” & “BENEFIT” 
 


PRINCIPLES 


The payment of rates entitles ratepayers to access certain services supplied by Council. What 
should be the basis for determining this entitlement? Council has wrestled with three main 
principles in answering this question - the Wealth Tax, Capacity to Pay and Benefit Principles. 
 


3.1 Real Property Tax – A Wealth Tax 


As indicated earlier, Council is limited to property taxes with which to tax 
wealth. 
Wealth can be defined as the total value reflected in property and investments and income 
directed to day-to-day living. Local government is limited to taxing one component of wealth 
– real property. Council rates tax the stored “wealth” or unrealised capital gains inherent in 
land and buildings. 


 
The “wealth tax” principle implies that the rates paid are dependent upon the value of a 
ratepayer’s real property and have no correlation to the individual ratepayer’s consumption 
of services or the perceived benefits derived by individual ratepayers from the expenditures 
funded from rates. 


 
Council holds the view that some moderation of the effect of property value on the level 
of rates paid may be required to make the rating system more equitable than it would be in 
the absence of such intervention. 
 


3.2 Capacity to Pay 


Notwithstanding the practical limitations, council can make choices about the tax 
treatment of classes of real property in so much as they believe that a class of property will 
reflect the financial position of a household or business and its capacity to pay. 


 
However, the most vexed issue related to capacity to pay is assessing it across different 
classes of property. As part of its rating strategy council specifically considered the issue 
of the relativity of rates paid by the major classes of property – residential, 
commercial/industrial, farm and vacant land. 


 
Council believes that differential rates will not deal practically with the situations of all 
individuals, businesses and households. Factors that should be taken into account by 
differential rates are: 


 
• a differential rate should apply to a substantial number of a properties; 


• lower or higher capacity to pay should exist for a majority of properties within a property 


class covered by a differential rate; and 


• there needs to be some evidence or general acceptance of a lower or higher capacity to 
pay of the property class as a whole. 
 
The first two points influence whether a differential rate or an alternative is the most 
appropriate rating instrument  to  use. The latter two  points are probably the most difficult 
practical considerations involved in decision making on capacity to pay. 


 
Council believes that ideally a rating strategy should not only establish the rationale for the 
differences, but also as far as it is possible explain the differences in the rates paid by 
different classes of property. On equity grounds it is considered appropriate that the meaning 
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and “measurement” of capacity to pay is agreed, at least from a practical point of view and 
that there is consistency in its application. 


 
However, Council has noted the considerable difficulties involved in this process. It cannot 
be expected to make an assessment about the capacity to pay of every property or numerous 
types of landholdings, particularly given the diversity in the performance of the various sectors 
and enterprises involved in farming/agriculture, commerce and industry. 


 
Analysis shows that there is tremendous variation in the prices received by different crops 
and livestock products and hence farms’ capacity to pay. Businesses, other than farms, also 
reflect considerable diversity. In a local economy they may range from small businesses with 
owner operators and few employees to large corporations. Production may cover an 
enormous range of goods and services for local, national or overseas markets. 


 
In its consideration of the issue of assessing capacity to pay Council considered possible 
criteria including income, profitability and rate of return. Council felt any attempt to 
quantitatively measure capacity to pay was not appropriate at this time given: 


 
• the diversity of land uses within each class; 


• data limitations including the currency and relevance of economic and financial 


• data pertinent to Pyrenees; 


• the problem with respect to owner-occupied residential properties which would require 
developing assumptions about their potential income, profits and returns. 


 


3.3 Benefit Principle 


A popular complaint levelled at Council is that “the rates I pay have no correlation with the 
services I consume or the benefits I receive”. This argument is based on the benefit principle 
(the opposite of the wealth tax principle) that argues there should be a nexus between 
consumption/benefit and the rate burden. 


 
Council is aware of attempts having been made by other councils to evaluate the relative 
benefits received by various classes of property. These approaches raise many practical 
difficulties, in particular, trying to trace quantifiable consumption/benefits to particular types 
of property or geographic locations and attributing varying levels of access by ratepayers to 
services that are universally available. Council accepts that any in-depth analysis of this 
issue could also be quite costly and impact efficiency. 


 
The analysis often gets reduced to arguments of what services are consumed by town versus 
rural areas, businesses versus residences versus farms, and between different towns. 
Clearly, the exercise is not clear cut – for example it might be argued that rural ratepayers 
derive less benefit from library services than their town counterparts, but the reverse 
argument may be argued with respect to the costs of repairing local roads. 


3.4 Efficiency 


Efficiency can be defined as the ratio of ends produced (output) to means used (inputs). 
In other words it can be considered directly related to the cost of administering the rates 
system. Administration costs include the issuing of assessments, collection of rates, 
including maintaining and improving collection systems, monitoring outcomes, educating and 
informing ratepayers, and enforcement and debt recovery. 


 
There is a tendency for uniformity to help minimise administration costs. A simple rating 
system is more transparent, meaning that the underlying purpose and principles behind the 
design of a tax are clearer – who is liable for a particular rate and how tax liability is calculated. 
However, it is also possible for a simple rate system to be costly if it is unpopular and results 
in increased appeals and higher collection costs. 
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There is also an effectiveness dimension related to whether the use of rating instruments, 
one rating instrument over another, or some other approach is the most appropriate to 
achieve a certain objective. 
 


3.5 Achieving Objectives other than Equity and Efficiency 


Although the legislation explicitly refers to equity and efficiency criteria the potential exists to 
facilitate other objectives related to council functions. In many cases the link between these 
other objectives and equity and efficiency may be indirect or tenuous. 


 
Council believes that the use of the rating system to facilitate other objectives like 
employment creation and environment protection should be evaluated on effectiveness 
grounds as these ends might be better achieved through other means. 
 


3.6 The Local Democratic Process & Council View 


Pyrenees Shire Council is a body that must form a corporate view on governance. The 
council consists of a number of individuals with different values and viewpoints and the 
decisions made and actions taken are normally the result of compromise. There is probably 
no other subject in local government in which there are more fundamental differences in 
views than that of rates. Council believes that any view of rating equity is subjective and is 
influenced by the both personal values of Councillors and the constituents they are 
representing. 


 
The general view of Council is that, of the information to which it has access, property value 
is the best indicator of the capacity to pay rates. Council argues that it is not possible for it to 
accurately identify and quantify the capacity to pay of its ratepayers. Its decision-making on 
this principle has been determined essentially by “feelings” of what is fair. In this vein it 
does not believe that it is different from any government agency that levies taxes on its 
constituents and makes decisions about the tax burden. 


 
Notwithstanding this, council believes that total reliance on property value in determining the 


distribution of rates may result in some outcomes that do not accord with its feelings about 


fairness 


– whether this arises because it believes the amount paid is too high or too low or 
because it believes a certain class of ratepayer receives more or less benefit from rates 
expenditures. For this reason, council supports the use of differential rates to reduce the 
impact of property values on the amount of rates paid in certain cases. 
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4. THE CURRENT RATING SYSTEM 
 
The 2013-14 rating system in Pyrenees was characterised by the following: 


 
• no municipal charge (the legislated allows for a maximum of 20% of total rate income 


to be raised by a municipal charge); 


 
• in effect, three differential rates applying to general (residential, commercial & 


industrial), farm and vacant land properties and a rate declared under the Cultural and 
Recreational Lands Act on recreational properties. 


 
The rate relativities and share of rate revenues is summarised below: 
 


Differentials 


Houses, flats etc 100% $0.004228 


Commercial 100% $0.004228 


Industrial 100% $0.004228 


Vacant Land - Less than 2 ha (Rural/Res) 320% (or 400% of lowest 
differential) 


$0.013530 


Vacant Land - other than farms 230% (or 300% of lowest 
differential) 


$0.010147 


Farms (all types) 80% $0.003382 


   
Discount Schemes 


Cultural & Recreational Land 50% $0.002114 


   


Municipal Charge Nil  $0.00 
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5. PROPOSALS 


Differential Rates  


Different rates in the dollar of CIV can be applied to different classes of property. 


 
These classes of property must be clearly differentiated and the setting of the differentials 
must be used to improve equity and efficiency. There is no theoretical limit on the number or 
type of differential rates that can be levied, however, the highest differential rate can be no 
more than four times the lowest differential rate. 


 
The effect of levying differential rates, like the municipal charge, is to reduce the impact of 
the property valuation on the amount of rates paid. The application of a differential rate means 
that one class of property is treated differently from another – either paying a higher or lower 
rate in the dollar. For each effect a differential has, it will have the opposite effect for other 
property classes. A rate discount given to one class of property can only be covered by higher 
rates paid by other classes and vice-a-versa. 


 
The relativity of the differential rate is normally expressed in terms of a comparison of the rate 
in the dollar against a nominated general rate. The general rate normally used as the 
benchmark is the particular rate in the dollar that applies to residential properties, whether it 
is a rate that applies to residential properties or a rate applying to a broader class that includes 
residential. 
 


5.1 Residential Rate (General Rate) 


 


Classification: Ratable property which is used for private residential purposes (that has 


been granted an Occupancy Certificate as determined by the Pyrenees Shire Council 


Building Department and meets the requirements of the Building Act 1993, including but not 


limited to houses, dwellings, flats, units, EXCLUDING motels, caravan parks, supported 


accommodation, accommodation houses, boarding houses, and the like as well as vacant 


land. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: The rate reflects the level of service provided and 


ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained between the residential property and 


other classes of property. 


 


5.2 Commercial 


 


Classification:  


1. Ratable properties used or adapted to be used for business and/or administrative 


purposes, including but not limited to properties used for: 


a. The sale or hire of goods by retail or trade sales, eg shops, auction rooms, 


hardware stores; 


b. The manufacture of goods where the goods are sold on the property 


c. The provision of entertainment, eg theatres, cinemas, amusement parlours 


and the like; 


d. Media/broadcasting/communication establishments, eg, television stations, 


newspaper offices, ration stations and the associated facilities; 


e. The provision of accommodation other than private residential, eg motels, 


caravan parks, camping grounds, camps, supported accommodation, 


accommodation houses, hostels, boarding houses; 
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f. The provision of hospitality, eg hotels, bottle shops, restaraunts, cafes, 


takeaway food establishments, tea rooms; 


g. Tourist and leisure industry, eg flora and flauna parks, gymnasiums, indoor 


sport stadiums, gaming establishments; 


h. Art galleries, museums; 


i. Showrooms, eg display of goods; 


j. Brothels; 


k. Commercial storage (mini storage units, wholesale distributors); 


l. Religious purposes; 


m. Public offices; 


n. Halls for commercial hire; 


o. Mixed businesses/milk bars. 


2. Properties used for the provision of health services, including but not limited to 


properties used for hospitals, nursing homes, rehabilitation, medical practices and 


dental practices. 


3. Properties used primarily as offices or for administration purposes including but not 


limited to properties used for legal practices, real estate agents, veterinary surgeons, 


accounting firms, insurance agencies or any other organization, group, association or 


respective body. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: The rate reflects the level of service provided and 


ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained between the commercial property and 


other classes of property. The differential is set higher than for other classes of land for a 


number of reasons, including: 


• Business rates are tax deductible; 


• Businesses bring a greater burden on Council with the need for public 


infrastructure; 


• Rates tend to be a lower order factor in business investment decisions. 


 


5.3 Industrial 


 


Classification: Ratable properties which are used primarily for manufacturing processes, 


including, but not limited to the following: 


a. The manufacture of goods, equipment, plant, machinery, food or beverage 


which are generally not sold or consumed on site; 


b. Warehouse/bulk storage of goods; 


c. The storage of plant and machinery; 


d. The production of raw materials in the extractive and timber industries; 


e. The treatment and storage of industrial waste materials. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: The rate reflects the level of service provided and 


ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained between the industrial property and 


other classes of property. The differential is set higher than for other classes of land for a 


number of reasons, including: 


• Business rates are tax deductible; 


• Businesses bring a greater burden on Council with the need for public 


infrastructure; 


• Rates tend to be a lower order factor in business investment decisions. 
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5.4 Farm Land 


 


Classification: Farm Land means any ratable land –  


a. That is not less than 2 hectares in area; and 


b. Is used for carrying on a business of primary production as determined by the 


Australian Taxation Office; and 


c. primarily used for agricultural production (grazing, dairying, pig farming , poultry 


farming, pig farming, fish farming, tree farming, bee keeping, viticulture, 


horticulture, fruit growing or the growing of crops of any kind); and 


d. used by a business – 
i. which has a significant or substantial commercial purpose or 


character; and 
ii. seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from 


its activities on the land; and 
iii. is making a profit from its activities on the land or has a 


reasonable prospect of making a profit from the activities on the 
land if it continues to operate in the way that it is operating. 


 
In consideration, the Council will take into account that whatever activity is being conducted 
on a property, it must be a business of primary production as opposed to a hobby or 
recreational activity. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: The rate reflects the level of service provided and 


ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained between the farming property and other 


classes of property. The farm rate is lower than for other classes of land because the 


farming operations involve large properties which have significant value and which are often 


operated as a family concerns. Agricultural producers are unable to pass on increases in 


costs like other businesses. Farm profitability is affected by the vagaries of weather and 


international markets. In this sense, farms are seen to be more susceptible or fragile than 


other commercial and industrial operations.  


 


There is also some support within Council that, by virtue of their distance from urban 
centres, farming households’ access and consumption of a range of services is lower and 
this is also an argument for lower rates. For example, there are services such as street lighting 
and street sweeping from which farm properties arguably obtain little or no direct benefit. 
 
Council adopts the Farm Properties definition for differential rating purposes be revised to 
only capture rateable properties which have primary production as its substantive use and 
exclude properties where primary production is secondary or incidental to the property use 
(commonly referred to as lifestyle properties). It was considered that the 80% differential 
farm rate should only be applicable to genuine farming operations as distinct from hobby or 
rural lifestyle properties.  
 
It was determined that the definition of Farm land for differential rating purposes be modified 
so that rural lifestyle properties are no longer defined as Farm land for differential rating 
purposes. Properties where primary production and associated improvements are secondary 
to the value of the residential home site and associated residential improvements should not 
be classified as Farm land for differential rating purposes. Similarly, vacant properties in a 
rural, semi-rural or bushland setting that have no restrictions or are not likely to encounter 
difficulties in obtaining building purposes should not be classified as Farm land for differential 
rating purposes. 
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5.5 Vacant Land < 2Ha (Urban) 


 


Classification: Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other rating 


differential, and the total property area is less than 2Ha in area. Although the majority of 


properties will fall within an urban zone, it is not compulsory. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: Pyrenees Shire Council currently has 1,212 
vacant properties across residential, rural residential, commercial and industrial sectors. 
Currently there are 335 properties within this category. 
 
Council holds the view that the vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate 
to encourage the development of land and ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable 
financial contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council.  
 
The encouragement of development is strategically important as it has a positive effect on 
local employment and income, whilst the speculative behaviour should be discouraged.  
 
Council believes a higher differential rate also assists to partly offset the costs of servicing 


new land, including major infrastructure studies and implementation of interconnecting 


infrastructure between subdivisions. The more difficult task however is determining an 


appropriate differential to the general rate. Properties under 2Ha in area tend to be within 


townships, and have a greater requirement of public infrastructure than Rural Residential 


land, therefore the differential has been set at 4 times the lowest differential. 


 


5.6 Vacant Land Between 2Ha and 40Ha (Rural Residential) 


 


Classification: Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other rating 


differential, and the total property area is between 2Ha and 40Ha in area. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: Pyrenees Shire Council currently has 1,212 
vacant properties across residential, rural residential, commercial and industrial sectors. The 
predominant category is rural residential with 751 assessments.  
 
Council holds the view that the vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate 
to encourage the development of land and ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable 
financial contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council.  
 
The encouragement of development is strategically important as it has a positive effect on 
local employment and income, whilst the speculative behaviour should be discouraged.  
 
Council believes a higher differential rate also assists to partly offset the costs of servicing 


new land, including major infrastructure studies and implementation of interconnecting 


infrastructure between subdivisions. The more difficult task however is determining an 


appropriate differential to the general rate. Properties between 2Ha and 40Ha in area tend to 


be within rural residential areas, and have a lesser requirement of public infrastructure than 


vacant urban land, therefore the differential has been set at 3 times the lowest differential. 


 


5.7 Vacant Land > 40Ha (Rural) 
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Classification: Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other rating 


differential, and the total property area greater than 40Ha in area. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: Pyrenees Shire Council currently has 1,212 
vacant properties across residential, rural residential, commercial and industrial sectors. 
Currently there is 126 properties within this category. This land usually is used by people 
who have a hobby farm that does not meet the classification requirements of the Farm 
differential, which is reserved for entities with a substantial and commercial purpose. 
 
Council holds the view that the vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate 
to encourage the development of land and ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable 
financial contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council.  
 
The encouragement of development is strategically important as it has a positive effect on 
local employment and income, whilst the speculative behaviour should be discouraged.  
 
Council believes a higher differential rate also assists to partly offset the costs of servicing 


new land, including major infrastructure studies and implementation of interconnecting 


infrastructure between subdivisions. The more difficult task however is determining an 


appropriate differential to the general rate. Properties greater than 40Ha in area tend to be 


within rural areas, and have a lesser requirement of public infrastructure than vacant urban 


land and rural residential land, therefore the differential has been set at 2 times the lowest 


differential.  


 


5.8 Undevelopable Land 


 


Classification: Land in which Pyrenees Shire Council that cannot be used for residential, 


commercial or industrial purposes (including extractive industry) due to constraints of the 


Pyrenees Shire Planning Scheme. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: The current Vacant Land differentials are set at a 


higher rate to encourage owners to develop their land, however there are instances where 


the land cannot be developed, with a legal dwelling, due to Planning and Environmental 


Health requirements. It would be unfair to continue to charge these property owners the 


higher differential, with no reasonable prospect of ever being able to reduce the differential 


by development. 
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Discount Schemes 


Recreational Land 


 


Classification: Ratable property which is used primarily for cultural, recreational or club 


purposes. 


Recreational Land is defined as follows: 


a. lands which are – 


i. vested in or occupied by anybody corporate or unincorporated 


which exists for the purpose of providing or promoting cultural or 


sporting recreational or similar facilities or objectives and which 


applies its profits in promoting its objectives and prohibits the 


payment of any dividend or amount to its members; and 


ii. is used for sporting recreational or cultural purposes or similar 


activities; or 


b. lands which are used primarily as agricultural showgrounds; or 


c. lands,. Not otherwise classified by another differential, used primarily by a not-for-


profit club* and:- 


i. is not used for the purpose of running a business on a full time 


commercial basis; and/or 


ii. the club does not pay any employees, contractors or members to 


perform duties associated with the operations of the club; and/or 


iii. is not a licensed premises. 


 


*For the purpose of this rating classification the following applies: - 


 - “Club” includes an association, society, fraternity, guild, lodge or circle; and, 


 - A club is “Not-for-profit” if: 


i. It does not, either while it is operating or upon winding up, carry on its activities for 


the purpose of profit or gain to particular persons, including its owners or members; 


and 


ii. It does not distribute its profits or assets to particular persons, including its owners or 


members, either while it is operating or upon winding up. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate:  


 


The provision of rate relief to recreational land is provided by the Cultural and 
Recreational Lands Act 1963. The Act effectively provides for properties used for outdoor 
activities to be differentially rated unless it involves land that is being leased from a private 
landowner. The discretion of whether to provide a cultural and recreational lands rate rests 
with Council. 


 
Council considers that the Cultural and Recreational Lands Act is a more appropriate 
vehicle for declaring rates on recreational land than the differential rating powers under the 
Local Government Act because: 


 
• there is no risk to the legal basis for recovery of rates from recreational 


properties which cease to be recreational land; 


• the 4:1 ratio between the highest and lowest differential rates is not a 
consideration for councils wishing to set particularly low cultural and 
recreational land rates; and 
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• the application of the cultural and recreational lands rates are generally 
provided on a property by property basis, rather than the consideration of a 
broad property class. 


 
The requirement in the Act that “the rates set must have regard to the services provided by 
the councils in relation to such lands and the community benefit derived from such 
recreational lands” has never been applied in the technical sense. Rather than calculating 
the costs that local government bears, or the benefits received by locals in relation to these 
properties, councils using recreational rates mostly set them at either 50% or 75% of the 
general/residential rate. 


 
Even an assessment of the more direct costs involved – for example, depreciation of the 
local road assets related to access, is problematic and would require collection of 
information on how much additional traffic is generated by the existence of such facilities. 
Cultural and recreational lands will also benefit indirectly from other council services 
expenditure. The quantification of the local benefits received in terms of income, 
employment, social interaction, community and physical wellbeing is also problematic. The 
resources which would be involved in attempting an accurate assessment of “benefits and 
costs” is unlikely to be justifiable on efficiency grounds, especially given the levels of rate 
income involved. 


 


Council believes that any serious attempt to quantify the costs of related council 
services and benefits to the local community is impractical and could not be justified on 
efficiency grounds. Given this, Council will provide a rebate of 50% to properties classified 
as Cultural and Recreational Land 


 


Trust for Nature Covenants 


 


Classification: Rateable land which has a Trust for Nature Covenant applying to the land. A 
Trust for Nature Covenant enables the permanent protecting of significant areas of natural 
bush habitat on private land. It is a voluntary agreement between the Ratepayer and Trust 
for Nature, an is to be recognised on Title. 


 


Reasons for the Use and Level of Rate: Council recognizes the public and environmental 
benefit that Trust for Nature covenants provide, and supports Ratepayers with these 
covenants by offering the reduction of Rates payable through its biodiversity and land 
management incentive program. All assessments in this category are on a concessional 
differential rate in accordance with Section 169 1d of the Local Government Act 1989– A 
council may grant a rebate or concession in relation to any rate or charge to assist in the 
proper development of part of the municipal district. Further to this, Sec 169 1B of the Act 
states - Council may only grant a rebate or concession-  


a. to owners of specified rateable properties not exceeding one third of the rateable 


properties in the municipal district; or 


b. to owners or rateable properties who undertake to satisfy terms that directly 


relate to the community benefit as are specified by Council 


 


The concessional difference is currently set at a 50% reduction of the General Rate. The 
discount only applies to the part of the land covered by the covenant, excluding any area 
defined in the deed as “domestic area”. 


Municipal Charge 


Another rating option available to Councils is the application of a municipal charge. Under 


Section 159 of the Local Government Act, a Council may declare a municipal charge to 


cover some of the administrative costs of the Council. The legislation is not definitive on 
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what comprises administrative costs and does not require Council to specify what is covered 


by the charge. 


 


A Council’s total revenue from a municipal charge in a financial year must not exceed 20% 


of the combined sum total of the Council’s total revenue from the municipal charge and the 


revenue from general rates. 


 


The application of a municipal charge represents a choice to raise a portion of the rates by a 


flat fee for all properties, rather than sole use of the CIV valuation method. The equity 


objective in levying in levying rates against property values is lost in a municipal charge as it 


is levied uniformly across all assessments. 


 


The municipal charge is regressive, which means that as the value of properties decrease 
the municipal charge increases as a percentage of that value. As a result, the burden is 
reduced on higher value properties. 


 


Through its effect of providing a reduction in the amount paid by higher value properties the 
municipal charge may be seen to assist certain classes of property. 


 


There is a tendency in rural municipalities for farms, as a class, to generally benefit from its 
application. The effect for residential and commercial and industrial properties is not as 
general as there is usually a greater diversity in the range of property values. It can be argued, 
however, that overall the municipal charge has an individualised impact for properties within 
a property class. It is not a targeted rating instrument like a differential rate and Council 
believes that the use of differential rates is a more transparent and accurate means of 
achieving rate outcomes for certain classes of property. 


 


Council abolished this charge in 2006/2007. It considers that Council retain the current 
position of not adopting a municipal charge. Council believes that the municipal charge has 
a regressive impact on lower valued properties, as they pay more proportionally than the 
higher valued properties. In so doing, many lower valued residential properties will benefit. 
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Service Rates and Charges 


Section 162 of the Local Government Act (1989) provides Council with the opportunity to 


raise service rates and charges for any of the following services: 


a. The provision of a water supply; 


b. The collection and disposal of refuse; 


c. The provision of sewerage services 


d. Any other prescribed service. 


Council levies a Waste Management Service Charge for the collection and disposal of 


household refuse and recyclables. The service consists of one of the following 


a. Urban Kerbside Collection areas – weekly collection of one garbage bin, the 


fortnightly collection of one recycling bin and monthly collection of one green waste 


bin; or 


b. Rural Kerbside Collection areas – fortnightly collection of one garbage bin, one 


recycling bin and 4 Green/Hard Waste Vouchers to use at one of Council’s Transfer 


Stations; or 


c. Domestic Waste Vouchers to one of Council’s Transfer Stations, equivalent to the 


amount of waste collected in a kerbside collection and 4 Green/Hard Waste 


Vouchers to use at one of Council’s Transfer Stations. 


 


All residential properties within the municipality must have a waste service. The urban and 


rural waste collection areas are declared by Council on adopted maps. 


 


The level of a service rate or charge should have some correlation to the level of service 


provided and therefore the funds raised should equate to the cost of the service provided. 


Council retains the objective of setting the service charge for waste at a level that fully 


recovers the cost of the waste function, funding operational, capital upgrade works and 


maintenance costs if Transfer Stations, including providing the cost of rehabilitation of past 


and current landfill sites and transfer stations when they reach the end of their useful life. 


Waste services are not provided to vacant land, and as a result these properties do not pay 


for this service. 


 


The advantages of the waste Management Service Charge is that it is readily understood 


and accepted by residents as a fee for a direct service that they receive. It further provides 


equality in the rating system in that all residents who receive exactly the same service level 


all pay an equivalent amount. 


 


The disadvantage of the Waste Management Service Charge is similar to the municipal 


charge in that it is regressive in nature. A fixed charge to a property with low value 


comprises a far greater proportion of the overall rates than it does to a property with a higher 


value. 


 


Special Rates and Charges 


Council has the power to levy a special rate or special charge, or combination of special 
rate and charge, to fund service provision. A special rate or charge can be used if Council 
deems that a special benefit is received by those properties on which it is levied. The 
Council need not necessarily use property value as the basis for levying a special rate or 
charge. 


 
Special rates and charges have been used by Council in the past to fund the construction 
of kerb and channelling. 
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Special rates and charges are specifically designed to address the benefit 
principle. 


 
They are very targeted rating instruments in the sense that they focus on ratepayers that 
receive an exclusive or additional benefit to other ratepayers from particular council 
expenditures. Certain council expenses and the beneficiaries of those expenses are 
required to be identified clearly and the directness of the benefit needs to be demonstrable. 


 
The consideration of such schemes needs to be considered in the pricing policies for 
services and whether revenue collection issues would be better addressed by general rates 
or user charges. 


 


Deferred Payments & Waivers 


Councils have the power to defer payment or waive part or all of any rate or 
charge. 


 
Council will consider any legitimate submissions for rate relief in cases of severe hardship. 


Council adopted a Revenue Collection Policy at its meeting on 20th July 2010. This policy 


details how Council assesses and manages rate relief in cases of severe hardship. 


 


Special Circumstances 


In the event of special circumstances, Council may review the strategy if it is warranted in 


order to consider the community needs.  Council may alter the (weighting of the set) 


differentials in accordance with Sec 161 (2) in order to provide relief from a rate for a certain 


land. This review seeks to achieve the primary objective of Section 3C(2)(f) of the Local 


Government Act 1989 to ensure “the equitable imposition of rates and charges”. Special 


circumstances will only apply to one financial year at a time, and be agreed upon by Council 


Resolution. 


.  
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6. COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 
 


In conjunction with the Pyrenees Shire Council Community Engagement Strategy, the 


following Community Consultation process is proposed: 


 


What Consultation How it was achieved 


Mail out to ratepayers advising of their 
opportunity to have a say on the rate 
strategy for upcoming years 


All ratepayers received a letter notifying them 
that Council had released a Rating Strategy, 
and inviting them to make submissions. 


Media Public Notice advising ratepayers of their 
opportunity to provide comment on proposed 
models within Ballarat Courier, Pyrenees 
Advocate, Maryborough Advocate and 
Stawell Times. 


Social Media Twice weekly posts on Council’s Social 
Media channels (Facebook, Instagram and 
Twitter) encouraging residents to participate 
in the survey. 


Our Say website Information pack overview and online survey 


Attendance of Officers at Community Events Attendance at community information 
sessions in: 


• Avoca 


• Beaufort 


• Lexton 


• Snake Valley 


• Landsborough 


Direct Communication with key advisory 
groups 


Letters were issued directly to the Business 
Boards of Avoca and Beaufort, Trust for 
Nature and Victorian Farmers Federation 
(VFF) encouraging members to complete 
survey and provide feedback. 
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7. SUMMARY OF THE RATING STRATEGY 


 


• Capital Improved Value to continue to be used as the rating base. 


 


• No Municipal Charge. 


 


• Differentials to be: 


House, Flats etc – 100% of the general rate 


 


Farm properties – 76.28% of the general rate decreased over 4 years 


 


Vacant land less than 2 ha – 305.10% (or 400% of lowest differential) 


Vacant land between 2 ha and 40ha – 228.83% (or 300% of lowest 
differential) 


Vacant land greater than 40ha – 152.55% (or 200% of lowest differential) 


 


Commercial – 110% the general rate increased over 4 years 


 


Industrial – 110% the general rate increased over 4 years 


 


Undevelopable land – 100% of the general rate 


 


• Recreational and Trust for Nature properties to receive a 50% discount on the 
general rate. 
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8. COMPARISON OF 2013 RATING STRATEGY TO 2018 RATING STRATEGY 


Category 
2013 Strategy 
(% on General Rate) 


2018 Strategy 
(% on General Rate) 


Classification Rationale 


Vacant Land < 2Ha 320% (or 400% of 
lowest differential) 


305.10% (or 400% of 
lowest differential) 


Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other rating differential, and 
the total property area is less than 2Ha in area. Although the majority of properties will fall 
within an urban zone, it is not compulsory. 


• Vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate to encourage the 
development of land. 


• Properties under 2Ha in area tend to be within townships, and have a greater requirement 
of public infrastructure than Rural Residential land, therefore the differential has been set at 
4 times the lowest differential. 


 


Vacant Land Between 
2Ha and 40Ha (previously 
named Vacant Land 
Other) 


230% (or 300% of 
lowest differential) 


228.83% (or 300% of 
lowest differential) 


Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other rating differential, and 
the total property area is between 2Ha and 40Ha in area. 


• Vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate to encourage the 
development of land. 


• Properties between 2Ha and 40Ha in area tend to be within rural residential areas, and 
have a lesser requirement of public infrastructure than vacant urban land, therefore the 
differential has been set at 3 times the lowest differential. 


 


Vacant Land >40Ha  152.55% (or 200% of 
lowest differential) 


Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other rating differential, and 
the total property area greater than 40Ha in area. 


• Vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate to encourage the 
development of land. 


• Properties greater than 40Ha in area tend to be within rural areas, and have a lesser 
requirement of public infrastructure than vacant urban land and rural residential land, 
therefore the differential has been set at 2 times the lowest differential. 


 


Commercial 100% 110% (to be increased 
by 2.5% annually –  
19/20 – 102.5% 
20/21 – 105.0% 
21/22 – 107.5% 
22/23 – 110.0%) 


1. Ratable properties used or adapted to be used for business and/or administrative 
purposes. 


2. Properties used for the provision of health services. 
3. Properties used primarily as offices or for administration purposes. 


• Reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is 
maintained between the commercial property and other classes of property. The differential 
is set higher than for other classes of land for a number of reasons, including: 
o Business rates are tax deductible; 
o Businesses bring a greater burden on Council with the need for public infrastructure; 
o Rates tend to be a lower order factor in business investment decisions. 
 


Industrial 100% 110% (to be increased 
by 2.5% annually –  
19/20 – 102.5% 
20/21 – 105.0% 
21/22 – 107.5% 
22/23 – 110.0%) 


Ratable properties which are used primarily for manufacturing processes. • Reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is 
maintained between the commercial property and other classes of property. The differential 
is set higher than for other classes of land for a number of reasons, including: 
o Business rates are tax deductible; 
o Businesses bring a greater burden on Council with the need for public infrastructure; 
o Rates tend to be a lower order factor in business investment decisions. 


 


Residential 100% 100% 
 


Ratable property which is used for private residential purposes EXCLUDING motels, caravan 
parks, supported accommodation, accommodation houses, boarding houses, and the like as 
well as vacant land. 


• Reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is 
maintained between the residential property and other classes of property. 


 


Farms 80% 76.28% (to be 
decreased by 
0.93125% annually –  
19/20 – 79.07% 
20/21 – 78.14% 
21/22 – 77.21% 
22/23 – 76.28%) 


Farm Land means any ratable land –  
e. That is not less than 2 hectares in area; and 
f. Is used for carrying on a business of primary production as determined by the Australian 


Taxation Office; and 
g. primarily used for agricultural production (grazing, dairying, pig farming , poultry farming, 


pig farming, fish farming, tree farming, bee keeping, viticulture, horticulture, fruit growing or 
the growing of crops of any kind); and 


h. used by a business – 
i. which has a significant or substantial commercial purpose or character; and 
ii. seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from its activities on the 


land; and 
iii. is making a profit from its activities on the land or has a reasonable prospect of 


making a profit from the activities on the land if it continues to operate in the way that 
it is operating. 


 
In consideration, the Council will take into account that whatever activity is being conducted 
on a property, it must be a business of primary production as opposed to a hobby or 
recreational activity. 


• Reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is 
maintained between the farming property and other classes of property.  


• The farm rate is lower than for other classes of land because the farming operations involve 
large properties which have significant value and which are often operated as a family 
concerns.  


• Agricultural producers are unable to pass on increases in costs like other businesses. 


• Farm profitability is affected by the vagaries of weather and international markets. In this 
sense, farms are seen to be more susceptible or fragile than other commercial and 
industrial operations.  


• By virtue of their distance from urban centres, farming households’ access and 
consumption of a range of services is lower and this is also an argument for lower rates. 


 


     


Undevelopable Land  100% Land in which Pyrenees Shire Council deems that cannot be used for residential, commercial 
or industrial purposes (including extractive industry) due to constraints of the Pyrenees Shire 
Planning Scheme. 


• The current Vacant Land differentials are set at a higher rate to encourage owners to 
develop their land; however there are instances where the land cannot be developed, with 
a legal dwelling, due to Planning and Environmental Health requirements. It would be unfair 
to continue to charge these property owners the higher differential, with no reasonable 
prospect of ever being able to reduce the differential by development. 
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9. 2020/21 ADDENDUM 
 


In response to the rapid increase of valuations in the Farming sector of Pyrenees Shire Council in the 2020 


Revaluation, Councillors proposed a deviation from the 2019 Rating Strategy that was adopted by Council in January 


2019. 


 


Rating authority valuations in Victoria are legislated under the provisions of the Valuation of Land Act 1960 (VLA). An 


amendment in December 2017 introduced the framework for centralised and annualised valuations, with the Valuer 


General Victoria the sole authority for all statutory valuations and revaluations, commencing in 2019. 


 


Pyrenees Shire comprises of 66% Rural land, 18% Residential land, and the remaining 16% of Commercial, Industrial 


and Specialist properties. 


 


It was previously thought that the introduction of annualised valuations would take away the sharp valuation 


increases previously experience, however the market for rural land has increased at a rapid rate with higher than 


usual prices being recorded at the point of sale. 


 


In the 2020 Revaluation the overall increase in valuation across all assessments was 15.2%. Rural properties 


experienced a sharp rise in valuation (23.8%) in comparison to the Residential property valuations (7.2%). 


Commercial, Industrial and Specialist properties experienced a decrease in valuation (-4.2%). 


 


The alteration of rating differentials allows Council to shift the burden of increased rates payable from the rural 


sector, to distribute it more evenly across all assessments.  


 


The Local Government Act (2020) stipulates that Council must adopt a Revenue and Rating Plan by 30 June following 


a general election. Hence, Council will revise and adopt a new Revenue and Rating plan by 30 June 2021.   
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10. 20/21 ADDENDUM – COMPARISON OF RATING STRATEGIES 


Category 
2013 Strategy 
(% on General Rate) 


2018 Strategy 
(% on General Rate) 


2020/21 Addendum 
(% on General Rate) 


Classification Rationale 


Vacant Land < 2Ha 320% (or 400% of lowest 
differential) 


305.10% (or 400% of 
lowest differential) 
 
(20/21 – 312.56%) 


296%  
 
 
(or 400% of lowest 
differential) 


Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other 
rating differential, and the total property area is less than 2Ha in area. 
Although the majority of properties will fall within an urban zone, it is not 
compulsory. 


• Vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate to encourage the development of 
land. 


• Properties under 2Ha in area tend to be within townships, and have a greater requirement of 
public infrastructure than Rural Residential land, therefore the differential has been set at 4 times 
the lowest differential. 


 


Vacant Land Between 2Ha 
and 40Ha (previously 
named Vacant Land 
Other) 


230% (or 300% of lowest 
differential) 


228.83% (or 300% of 
lowest differential) 
 
(20/21 – 234.42%) 


234.42% Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other 
rating differential, and the total property area is between 2Ha and 40Ha in 
area. 


• Vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate to encourage the development of 
land. 


• Properties between 2Ha and 40Ha in area tend to be within rural residential areas, and have a 
lesser requirement of public infrastructure than vacant urban land, therefore the differential has 
been set at 3 times the lowest differential. 


 


Vacant Land >40Ha  152.55% (or 200% of 
lowest differential) 
 
(20/21 - 156.28%) 


156.28% Land that has not been developed that meets the criteria of any other 
rating differential, and the total property area greater than 40Ha in area. 


• Vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate to encourage the development of 
land. 


• Properties greater than 40Ha in area tend to be within rural areas, and have a lesser requirement 
of public infrastructure than vacant urban land and rural residential land, therefore the differential 
has been set at 2 times the lowest differential. 


 


Commercial 100% 110% (to be increased 
by 2.5% annually –  
19/20 – 102.5% 
20/21 – 105.0% 
21/22 – 107.5% 
22/23 – 110.0%) 


110% 4. Ratable properties used or adapted to be used for business and/or 
administrative purposes. 


5. Properties used for the provision of health services. 
Properties used primarily as offices or for administration purposes. 


• Reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained 
between the commercial property and other classes of property. The differential is set higher 
than for other classes of land for a number of reasons, including: 
o Business rates are tax deductible; 
o Businesses bring a greater burden on Council with the need for public infrastructure; 
o Rates tend to be a lower order factor in business investment decisions. 


 


Industrial 100% 110% (to be increased 
by 2.5% annually –  
19/20 – 102.5% 
20/21 – 105.0% 
21/22 – 107.5% 
22/23 – 110.0%) 


110% Ratable properties which are used primarily for manufacturing processes. • Reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained 
between the commercial property and other classes of property. The differential is set higher 
than for other classes of land for a number of reasons, including: 
o Business rates are tax deductible; 
o Businesses bring a greater burden on Council with the need for public infrastructure; 
o Rates tend to be a lower order factor in business investment decisions. 


 


Residential 100% 100% 
 


100% Ratable property which is used for private residential purposes 
EXCLUDING motels, caravan parks, supported accommodation, 
accommodation houses, boarding houses, and the like as well as vacant 
land. 


• Reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained 
between the residential property and other classes of property. 


 


Farms 80% 76.28% (to be 
decreased by 0.93125% 
annually –  
19/20 – 79.07% 
20/21 – 78.14% 
21/22 – 77.21% 
22/23 – 76.28%) 


74% Farm Land means any ratable land –  
i. That is not less than 2 hectares in area; and 
j. Is used for carrying on a business of primary production as determined 


by the Australian Taxation Office; and 
k. primarily used for agricultural production (grazing, dairying, pig farming 


, poultry farming, pig farming, fish farming, tree farming, bee keeping, 
viticulture, horticulture, fruit growing or the growing of crops of any 
kind); and 


l. used by a business – 
i. which has a significant or substantial commercial purpose or 


character; and 
ii. seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from 


its activities on the land; and 
iii. is making a profit from its activities on the land or has a 


reasonable prospect of making a profit from the activities on the 
land if it continues to operate in the way that it is operating. 


 
In consideration, the Council will take into account that whatever activity is 
being conducted on a property, it must be a business of primary 
production as opposed to a hobby or recreational activity. 


• Reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained 
between the farming property and other classes of property.  


• The farm rate is lower than for other classes of land because the farming operations involve 
large properties which have significant value and which are often operated as a family concerns.  


• Agricultural producers are unable to pass on increases in costs like other businesses. 


• Farm profitability is affected by the vagaries of weather and international markets. In this sense, 
farms are seen to be more susceptible or fragile than other commercial and industrial operations.  


• By virtue of their distance from urban centres, farming households’ access and consumption 
of a range of services is lower and this is also an argument for lower rates. 


 


 


Undevelopable Land  100% 100% Land in which Pyrenees Shire Council deems that cannot be used for 
residential, commercial or industrial purposes (including extractive 
industry) due to constraints of the Pyrenees Shire Planning Scheme. 


• The current Vacant Land differentials are set at a higher rate to encourage owners to develop 
their land; however there are instances where the land cannot be developed, with a legal 
dwelling, due to Planning and Environmental Health requirements. It would be unfair to continue 
to charge these property owners the higher differential, with no reasonable prospect of ever 
being able to reduce the differential by development. 
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Mayor and CEO’s introduction


The Councillors and I are pleased to release to the Community the Draft Budget 2020/21. This budget
builds on our Revised Council Plan 2017-2021 vision which focuses on the following five key areas:


   • Roads and Townships


   • Relationships and Advocacy


   • Community Connection and Wellbeing


   • Financially Sustainable, High Performing Organisation


   • Development and Environment


The Revised Council Plan 2017-2021 sets out our strategic plan to deliver our vision over the full term of
the Council.


The budget details the resources required over the next year to fund the large range of services we
provide for our community. It also includes details of proposed capital expenditure allocations to improve
and renew our Shire’s physical infrastructure, buildings and operational assets as well as funding
proposals for a range of operating projects.


As Councillors, it is our job to listen to community sentiment and understand your priorities. Since we
started our term in 2016, we have consistently heard that Council’s services are valued by the community,
and that Council also needs to be financially responsible and keep its rates as low as possible. In
response, Council has initiated an enterprise wide approach to identify areas where services can be
adjusted to better meet local needs, in order to provide increased value for money to ratepayers. 


The budget includes a rate increase of 2.0%, which is the rate cap set by the Minister for Local
Government under the Fair Go Rates System. 


Rate revenue from rate increases above rate cap in the previous 4 years hav been quarantined specifically
for capital expenditure on renewing Council's road infrastructure assets. In order to balance the remainder
of the budget, Council has continued to pursue operational savings and efficiencies which has enabled it
to deliver high quality, responsive and accessible services to the community.


The 2020/21 budget has been prepared in line with the Revised Rating Strategy adopted in July 2020.


Council's waste management service is fully funded by waste service and user charges. The 2020/21
Charge includes additional costs related to Glass collection and disposal, e-Waste Collection and
Disposal, and an increase to the EPA Levy. Residents with kerbside collections will experience a 16%
increase in their garbage charges, residents on improved properties without kerbside collections will
experience a 27% increase to their garbage charges, and unimproved properties will experience a 0%
increase in their garbage charges.


The Draft Budget includes Capital Works of $7.041M. Highlights of the 2020/21 Capital Program include:
• Gravel Roads $953,000
• Reseals at various locations $846,000
• Council funded Bridge and Drainage works of $708,000
• Roads to Recovery funded works of $2.09M
• Swimming pool upgrades of $60,000
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Additionally, the draft budget includes the $1M in projects to be delivered under the second round of
Economic Stimulation Funding for Drought Effected Communities. Projects to be delivered with the
assistance of this funding include:


Round 1 Funding


• Improved water infrastructure $280,000
• Footpath improvements $150,000
• Sewer extension at Cargham Recreation Reserve $90,000
• Caravan Park Improvements $270,000
• Car Park at Natte Yallock Recreation Reserve $110,000
• Future Building in Small Towns $100,000


Round 2 Funding


• Avoca Bowls Club Facility Upgrade $275,000
• Footpath improvements $100,000
• Hall Improvements $250,000
• Beaufort Lake Foreshore amenity improvements $125,000
• Tree Planting $50,000
• Improved Water Infrastructure $95,000 
• Snake Valley Linear Park – Paths $60,000
• Waubra Recreation Reserve – Tennis Facility Upgrade $45,000


Our focus for the next year is to continue to deliver on the projects and services that make our Shire a
great place to live, work and invest in, and respond to the challenges we are currently facing. These
challenges include:
   • Rate capping
   • State government cost shifting
   • Maintaining our road infrastructure
   • Climate change impacts


Property revaluations are now done annually and, although Council’s rate increase is 2.00%, actual rate
increases of individual properties are impacted by changes in property valuations with individual rate
increases dependent on relativity to average valuation increases across the municipality. This means that
if your property value increased by more than the average property value increase for the Shire, then your
rates will increase by more than 2.00%; however, if your property value increased by less than the average
property value increase for the Shire, your rates will increase by less than 2.00% and may in fact reduce
from the previous year.


Cr Tanya Kehoe                                                 Jim Nolan


Mayor                                                                  Chief Executive Officer
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1. Link to the Council Plan


1.1  Planning and accountability framework


1.1.2  Key planning considerations
Service level planning


This section describes how the Annual Budget links to the achievement of the Council Plan within an overall
planning and reporting framework. This framework guides the Council in identifying community needs and
aspirations over the long term, medium term (Council Plan) and short term (Annual Budget) and then holding
itself accountable (Annual Report).


The Strategic Resource Plan, part of and prepared in conjunction with the Council Plan, is a rolling four-year
plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council requires to achieve the strategic
objectives described in the Council Plan. The Annual Budget is framed within the Strategic Resource Plan,
considering the services and initiatives which contribute to achieving the strategic objectives specified in the
Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the planning and accountability framework that applies to local
government in Victoria.


In addition to the above, Council has a long term plan which articulates a community vision, mission and
values.  The Council Plan is prepared with reference to Council's long term Community Plan.


Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning


The timing of each component of the planning framework is critical to the successful achievement of the
planned outcomes.


Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services— such as animal management, local
roads, food safety and statutory planning—most council services are not legally mandated, including some
services closely associated with councils, such as libraries, building permits and sporting facilities. Further,
over time, the needs and expectations of communities can change. Therefore councils need to have robust
processes for service planning and review to ensure all services continue to provide value for money and are
in line with community expectations. In doing so, councils should engage with communities to determine how
to prioritise resources and balance service provision against other responsibilities such as asset
maintenance and capital works.  


5 Pyrenees Shire Council







PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL Budget - 2020/21


1.2  Our purpose


Our mission


Our values


Strategic Objective Description


1. Roads and Townships We will plan, manage, maintain and renew infrastructure in a sustainable way that 
responds to the needs of the community.


2. Relationships and 
Advocacy


We will build and maintain effective relationships with community, government
and strategic partners, and advocate on key issues.


3. Community 
Connection and 
Wellbeing


We will engage with communities to provide responsive, efficient services that
enhance the quality of life of residents and promote connected, active and
resilient communities.


4. Financially 
Sustainable, High 
Performing Organisation


Our organisation will respond to community needs, attend to our core business,
and strive for excellence in service delivery in an ethical and financially
responsible manner.


5. Development and 
Environment


We will undertake forward planning, and facilitate growth in our local economy
while protecting key natural and built environmental values.


•           Safety - We look after our environment and the welfare of others
•           Integrity - We are open and honest and work to the best of our ability


Our vision 


“We want the Pyrenees Shire to be a healthy, vibrant, prosperous and connected community.”


Pyrenees Shire Council seeks to create an environmentally sustainable and liveable Shire that will continue
to provide a range of opportunities and choices for a diverse and prosperous community.


The role Pyrenees Shire Council will take to achieve this vision is to:


•           Provide quality road and built infrastructure for the community
•           Work with others to provide services to maintain the wellbeing of the community, and 


Pyrenees Shire Council has a clear strength in the bond and affinity between its Councillors, the community
and staff. Staff support the community leadership and governance role of Councillors, and work together to
achieve the commitments of the Council Plan. Having all Pyrenees Shire Council staff practise the following
organisational values enhances the quality of this partnership:


•           Service - Our citizens, community and service users are the focus of all our actions
•           Accountability - We are responsible for our actions, which are open to review
•           Innovation - We encourage and seek new ideas in finding solutions


•           Operate an efficient, forward looking organisation.


As an innovative and accountable organisation, Pyrenees Shire Council will promote vibrant democracy and
provide high-quality services.


•           Respect - We acknowledge the opinions of others and their rights and differences.


1.3  Strategic objectives


Council delivers activities and initiatives under 38 major strategies. Each contributes to the achievement of
one of the five Strategic Objectives as set out in the Council Plan for the 2017-2021 years. The following
table lists the five Strategic Objectives as described in the Council Plan.


•        Teamwork - We share our skills, knowledge and experience as part of a team and work together


towards achieving Council’s goals


•           Recognition - We promote the achievements and efforts of others
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2. Services and service performance indicators


Services for which there are prescribed performance indicators to be reported on in accordance with the Regulations are


shown in bold and underlined in the following sections.


Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning


This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 2020/21 year and


how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council Plan. It also describes several


initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of Council’s operations. Council is required by


legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives and service performance outcome indicators in the Budget and report


against them in their Annual Report to support transparency and accountability. The relationship between these


accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget and the Annual Report is shown below.
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Services
Expenditure
 (Revenue)


Net Cost
$'000


2,700
-2,235


465 


6,270
0


6,270 


995
-9


986 


1,863
-1,026


837 


176
0


176 


85
0


85 


Initiatives


This is the non-cash charge that reflects the value of the Council assets base


that is consumed each year. The majority of this figure relates to Council's road


network.


This service provides strategic planning, policy development and day to day


management of traffic and transport related issues in Council. The unit also


implements Local Area Traffic Management schemes and assistance with


implementation of the Road Safety Strategy.


This service includes the building maintenance for facilities that provide an


extensive range of recreational programs and opportunities accessible to


individuals of all ages, gender and abilities.


2) Improve township amenity by increased level of maintenance at town entrances by street tree replacement planting,


better signage and use of Graded Aggregate Total Treatment (GATT) seals.


4)  Deliver road and asset renewal programs.


Facilities 


maintenance


To achieve our objective of Roads and Townships, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost


effective, accessible and responsive services. The services, initiatives, major initiatives and service performance


indicators for each business area are described below.


Public 


conveniences


Description of services provided


Depreciation


Business area


This service provides Council with public convenience facilities throughout the


Shire.


This service is responsible for the maintenance of Council's road network.


This service provides swimming pool facilities services at three locations,


public halls, parks and gardens and provides a customer focused service that


caters for the cultural, educational and recreational needs of residents and


provides a focal point for the community where they can meet, relax and enjoy


the facilities and services offered. Parks Management provides management


and implementation of open space strategies and maintenance programs.


Parks and gardens maintenance provides management of all parks and


gardens.


5)  Undertake two internal audits per annum on compliance with the Road Management Plan.


Traffic and 


Transportation 


Services 


8)  Implement initiatives contained in township framework plans.
7)  Undertake condition assessments of the asset class - Buildings.


Major Initiatives


Recreation, 


public halls and 


parks and 


reserves


Road 


maintenance


2.1  Strategic Objective 1. Roads and Townships


3)  Review Council's Service and Asset Management Plans.


1) Work with appropriate authorities to prepare flood plans and/or drainage plans for Raglan, Avoca, Amphitheatre and


Natte Yallock.


6)  Implement the Gravel Road Strategy.
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Service Indicator


Roads and 


Townships


Satisfaction


Pool 


Facilities


Utilisation


Services
Expenditure
 (Revenue)


Net Cost
$'000


985
0


985 


3,340
-3,560
(220)


Initiatives


Service Indicator


Relationships 


and Advocacy


Satisfaction


2)   Implement the Community Engagement Strategy.


5)   Develop and foster strategic partnerships by actively engaging with:       


Service Performance Outcome Indicators


Number of visits to pool facilities / Municipal 


population


Performance Measure


Satisfaction with sealed local roads Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 


how Council has performed on the condition of 


sealed local roads.


Utilisation of pool facilities


Business 


area


Customer & 


Civic Services


·           Business Associations
·           Industry Sector Bodies
·           Regional Bodies


·           Beaufort Bypass


Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 


how Council has performed in making decisions 


in the interests of the community.


2.2  Strategic Objective 2. Relationships and Advocacy


ComputationPerformance Measure


This service provides a range of statutory and corporate support services and


acts as the main customer interface with the community. Services include the


coordination of financial management, insurance, revenue management, audit,


records and information management and office support services at the Council


Offices.


Description of services provided


Satisfaction with Council decisions


Service Performance Outcome Indicators


Computation


·           Moonambel Water
·           Roads to Recovery Funding
·           Improved Telecommunications


·           Sector peak bodies


6) Frontline services transformation project with a focus on providing a better service to our communities. 


1)  Work with CVRC to develop a strategy and deliver shared services.


4)   Advocate to government on key projects and issues important to our community including:


To achieve our objective of Relationships and Advocacy, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost


effective, accessible and responsive services. The services, initiatives, major initiatives and service performance


indicators for each business area are described below.


This area of governance includes the Mayor, Councillors, Chief Executive


Officer and Governance Team and associated support which cannot be easily


attributed to the direct service provision areas.


Councillors, 


Chief Executive 


and 


Governance


Major Initiatives
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Services
Expenditure
 (Revenue)


Net Cost
$'000


1,447
-916
531 


300
-215


85 


149
-125


24 


154
-3


151 


267
-131
136 


203
-66
137 


94
0


94 


25
0


25 


347
-83
264 


Initiatives


This service provides public library services at three locations and provides a


customer focused service that caters for the cultural, educational and


recreational needs of residents and provides a focal point for the community


where they can meet, relax and enjoy the facilities and services offered.


To achieve our objective of Community Connection and Wellbeing we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high


quality, cost effective, accessible and responsive services. The services, initiatives, major initiatives and service


performance indicators for each business area are described below.


This service facilitates the emergency preparedness and fire management


services of the Council. This includes the roadside slashing program that occurs 


each year, the fire prevention officer's role and the emergency preparedness


staff .


1)  Continue to use Community Action Plans to inform decision making and Council priorities.


Community 


action plans


This service assists with the preparation of the community action plans.


Description of services provided


Library 


Services


Business area


Community 


grants


Animal 


control


This service provides the animal management services of the Shire. It


maintains and improves the health and safety of people, animals and the


environment by providing animal management services including a cat trapping


program, a dog and cat collection service, a lost and found notification service,


a pound service, a registration and administration service, an afterhours service


and an emergency service. It also provides education, regulation and


enforcement of the General Local Law and relevant State legislation.


Admin and 


other


Council conducts two rounds of community grants each year. This service


combines a wide range of opportunities for the community to apply for grants for


a variety of projects which contribute to the general well being of the community.


General administration and other expenditure items in this program area.


Environmental 


Health 


This service protects the community’s health and well-being by coordinating


food safety support programs, Tobacco Act activities and smoke free dining.


The service also works to rectify any public health concerns relating to


unreasonable noise emissions, housing standards and pest controls.


4)   Implementation of the key priorities from the Health and Wellbeing Plan.


2)   Continue to participate and promote Communities of Respect and Equality (CoRE).
3)  Participate in the Children and Youth Area Partnership.


Disaster 


Management 


2.3  Strategic Objective 3. Community Connection and Wellbeing


Aged & 


Disability 


Services


This service provides a range of home and community care services for the


aged and disabled including home delivered meals, personal care, transport,


respite care, home modifications and senior citizen clubs.


Family 


Services


This service provides family oriented support services including maternal and


child health, youth services, immunisation and health and safety.
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Service Indicator


Maternal and 


Child Health 


(MCH)


Participation


Libraries Participation


Animal 


Management


Health and 


safety


Food safety Health and 


safety


Major Initiatives


Computation


Number of children who attend MCH service at 


least once (in the year) / Number of children 


enrolled in the MCH service] x100


Animal management prosecutions


Participation in MCH key ages and 


stages visits by Aboriginal children


(Percentage of Aboriginal children 


attending the MCH key ages and 


stages visits)


[Number of critical non-compliance notifications 


and major non-compliance notifications about a 


food premises followed up / Number of critical 


non-compliance notifications and major non-


compliance notifications about food premises] 


x100


Participation in MCH key ages and 


stages visits


(Percentage of children attending the 


MCH key ages and stages visits)


Performance Measure


[Number of active library members / municipal 


population] x100


Active library members


(Percentage of the municipal 


population that are active library 


members)


8)  Implementation of the key priorities from the Recreation Strategy.


Number of successful animal management 


prosecutions


[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the 


MCH service at least once (in the year) / 


Number of children enrolled in the MCH service] 


x100


Service Performance Outcome Indicators


Critical and major non-compliance 


notifications


(Percentage of critical and major non-


compliance notifications that are 


followed up by Council)


5) Construction of the Lexton Community Hub
6) Implement the 3 initiatives under the Activate Avoca Program
7) Construction of the Snake Valley skatepark, Avoca inclusive playspace and Carngham Recreation Reserve female


friendly facilities.
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Services
Expenditure
 (Revenue)


Net Cost
$'000


216
0


216 
 


Initiatives


Business area


This service provides the recruitment, training, performance evaluation and


departure of Council staff.


To achieve our objective of becoming a High Performing Organisation we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high


quality, cost effective, accessible and responsive services. The services, initiatives, major initiatives and service


performance indicators for each business area are described below.


7)  Develop an annual corporate training program.
6)  Develop an employee performance review process that incorporates self-assessment and peer review.


2)  Continuously improve organisational processes by reviewing and mapping two processes per year to eliminate waste


and inefficiency. 


8) Implementation of a new staff annual review process.


3)  Conduct an annual staff satisfaction survey and action plan.


9) Continuation of the workforce plan.
10) Finalise Enterprise Bargaining Agreement (EBA) negotiations.


2.4  Strategic Objective 4. Financially Sustainable, High Performing Organisation


Major Initiatives


Description of services provided


5)  Undertake two service reviews per year.


1)  Undertake two internal audits per year.


People and 


Culture


4)  Monitor and report on our performance in responding to Customer Action Requests against agreed standards.
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Services
Expenditure
 (Revenue)


Net Cost
$'000


257
-228


29 
365
-18
347 
621
-14
607 


710
-135
575 


1,420
-1,625
(205)


161
-56
105 


262
-48
214 


Initiatives


To achieve our objective of Development and Environment, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality,


cost effective, accessible and responsive services. The services, initiatives, major initiatives and service performance


indicators for each business area are described below.


This service provides Council with general economic development services, 


community building, events management, tourism, sponsorship, contribution


towards state funded initiatives and promotional activities throughout the Shire.


Planning


This service provides statutory building services to the community including


processing of building permits, emergency management responsibilities, fire


safety inspections, audits of swimming pool barriers and investigations of


complaints and illegal works.


Environmental 


Planning


3) Implement the new Local Laws which protect amenity and environmental values.
4)  Review and implement the Pyrenees Domestic Wastewater Management Plan.


This service provides waste collection including kerbside rubbish collections of


garbage, hard waste and green waste from households and some commercial


properties in Council. It also provides street litter bins throughout the Shire. The


net surplus here is used to fund $59,000 of Transfer Station Upgrade capital


works.


2) Build on opportunities for growth in the agricultural sector identified in the Ballarat Region Line of Sight Project.


This service develops environmental policy, coordinates and implements


environmental projects and works with other services to improve Council’s


environmental performance. It also provides roadside weeds and pest animal


management programs.


6)  Develop and implement a strategic planning program including further Planning Scheme amendments to improve its


effectiveness. 


5)  Implement actions contained in Council's Tourism Strategy.


Description of services providedBusiness area


1)  Support investigation and delivery of effective sustainability projects in partnership with Central Victorian Greenhouse


Alliance


2.5  Strategic Objective 5. Development and Environment


This statutory planning service processes all planning applications, provides


advice and makes decisions about development proposals which require a


planning permit, as well as representing Council at the Victorian Civil and


Administrative Tribunal where necessary. It monitors the Council’s Planning


Scheme as well as preparing major policy documents shaping the future of the


Shire. It also prepares and processes amendments to the Council Planning


Scheme and carries out research on demographic, urban development,


economic and social issues affecting Council.


Information 


centres


This service provides caravan park facilities for residents and visitors to the


municipality.


Economic 


development


Caravan 


parks


This service provides, supports and maintains reliable and cost effective visitor


information facilities and infrastructure to Council.


Waste 


Management 


Services


Building 


Services


7) Facilitate key water infrastructure projects including Moonambel water supply and Beaufort recycled water project.


8) Work with Grampians Wimmera Mallee Water (GWM) to develop the East Grampians water project.
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Service Indicator


Statutory 


planning


Decision 


making


Waste 


collection


Waste 


diversion


Economic 


Development


Economic 


activity


Net Cost Expenditure Revenue
$’000 $’000 $’000


(8,819) (12,089) 3,270 
(765) (4,325) 3,560 


(1,447) (2,986) 1,539 
(216) (216) 0 


(1,672) (3,796) 2,124 
(12,919) (23,412) 10,493 


0 
(12,919)


10,071
2,087


63 
12,221 


(698)


Kerbside collection waste diverted 


from landfill


(Percentage of garbage, recyclables 


and green organics collected from 


kerbside bins that is diverted from 


landfill)


[Weight of recyclables and green organics 


collected from kerbside bins / Weight of 


garbage, recyclables and green organics 


collected from kerbside bins] x100


# VCAT = Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal 


Deficit for the year


Other non-attributable 


Roads and Townships


ComputationPerformance Measure


10) Implement actions contained in Council's growth Strategy including construction of Stage 4 & 5 of Correa Park Estate


in Beaufort.


11) Facilitate and undertake the following integrated water management project - 


* Beaufort Recycled Water - Complete detailed design - Lead Council is Pyrenees Shire Council


9)  Undertake further planning scheme amendments to improve its effectiveness.


Change in number of businesses


(Percentage change in the number of 


businesses with an ABN in the 


municipality)


[Number of businesses with an ABN in the 


municipality at the end of the financial year less 


the number of businesses at the start of the 


financial year / Number of businesses with an 


ABN in the municipality at the start of the 


financial year] x100


Gain on asset sales
Total funding sources 


Funding sources:


Total services and initiatives


Relationships and Advocacy


2.6  Reconciliation with budgeted operating result


Community Connection and Wellbeing


Development and Environment


Major Initiatives


Deficit before funding 


Rates 
Capital grants


[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set 


aside Council's decision in relation to a planning 


application/ Number of VCAT decisions in 


relation to planning applications] x100


Council planning decisions upheld at 


VCAT


(Percentage of planning application 


decisions subject to review by VCAT 


and that were upheld in favour of the 


Council)


Service Performance Outcome Indicators


12) Undertake renewable energy project including the first stage of the straw to energy project.


13) Undertake sustainability projects including the Local Government Energy Saver Program.


Financially Sustainable, High Performing 


Organisation
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3. Financial statements


Comprehensive Income Statement


Balance Sheet


Pending Accounting Standards
The 2020-21 budget has been prepared based on the accounting standards applicable at the date of preparation. It has


been updated to include the impact of AASB 16 Leases, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB


1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, but pending accounting standards that will be in effect from the 2020-21 financial


year have not been considered in the development of the budget.


Standards that are likely to impact on the 2020-21 financial statements, not considered in the preparation of the budget


include:


AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors


Statement of Human Resources


This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human Resources. The


budget information for the year 2020/21 has been supplemented with projection to 2023/24 extracted from the Strategic


Resource Plan.


Statement of Changes in Equity


Statement of Cash Flows


Statement of Capital Works


This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 (the


Act) and the Local Government Planning and Reporting regulations 2014.


15 Pyrenees Shire Council







PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL Budget - 2020/21


Comprehensive Income Statement
For the four years ending 30 June 2024


Forecast
Actual


2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000


Income
Rates and charges 4.1.1 10,594 11,695 12,083 12,443 12,813


Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 219 208 223 229 235


User fees 4.1.3 845 766 891 913 936


Grants - Operating (recurrent) 4.1.4 3,777 6,598 6,762 6,932 7,105


Grants - Operating (non-recurrent) 4.1.4 2,446 1,145 145 145 145


Grants - Capital (recurrent) 4.1.4 1,395 1,395 1,395 1,395 1,395


Grants - Capital (non-recurrent) 4.1.4 2,443 697 0 0 0


Contributions - cash 4.1.5 142 0 0 0 0


Contributions - non-monetary assets 200 0 0 0 0


Net gain on disposal of property, 


infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,667 63 (68) (59) (59)


Fair value adjustments for investment 


property 200 0 0 0 0


Interest on cash invested 100 60 110 110 110


Other income 4.1.6 200 177 182 186 191


Total income 24,228 22,804 21,723 22,294 22,871


Expenses
Employee costs 4.1.7 (8,093) (8,870) (9,108) (9,335) (9,567)


Materials and services 4.1.8 (10,486) (8,088) (6,831) (7,149) (7,217)


Bad and doubtful debts (1) 0 0 0 0


Depreciation 4.1.9 (7,034) (6,270) (6,490) (6,717) (6,952)


Amortisation - intangible assets 4.1.10 0 0 0 0 0


Amortisation - right of use assets 4.1.11 0 0 0 0 0


Borrowing costs 0 0 0 0 0


Other expenses 4.1.12 (282) (274) (280) (287) (294)


Total expenses (25,896) (23,502) (22,709) (23,488) (24,030)


Surplus (deficit) for the year (1,668) (698) (986) (1,194) (1,159)


Other comprehensive income


Items that will not be reclassified to 


surplus or deficit in future periods:


Net asset revaluation increment 


/(decrement) 250 0 900 0 0


Total comprehensive result (1,418) (698) (86) (1,194) (1,159)


Strategic Resource Plan
Projections


Budget
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Balance Sheet
For the four years ending 30 June 2024


Forecast
Actual


2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000


Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 786 786 785 784 783


Trade and other receivables 1,843 1,843 1,843 1,843 1,843


Land held for resale 1,330 0 0 0 0


Other assets 1,040 1,040 1,040 1,040 1,040


Total current assets 4,999 3,669 3,668 3,667 3,666


Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 44 44 44 44 44


Property, infrastructure, plant and 


equipment 243,231 243,863 243,778 242,585 241,427


Total non-current assets 243,275 243,907 243,822 242,629 241,471


Total assets 248,274 247,576 247,490 246,296 245,137


Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1,425 1,425 1,425 1,425 1,425


Trust funds and deposits 156 156 156 156 156


Provisions 2,068 2,068 2,068 2,068 2,068


Total current liabilities 3,649 3,649 3,649 3,649 3,649


Non-current liabilities
Provisions 129 129 129 129 129


Total non-current liabilities 129 129 129 129 129


Total liabilities 3,778 3,778 3,778 3,778 3,778


Net assets 244,496 243,798 243,712 242,518 241,359


Equity
Accumulated surplus 88,607 87,909 86,923 85,729 84,570


Statutory reserve (recreational land) 9 9 9 9 9


Asset revaluation reserve 155,880 155,880 156,780 156,780 156,780


Total equity 244,496 243,798 243,712 242,518 241,359


Budget Strategic Resource Plan
Projections
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the four years ending 30 June 2024


Total


Accumulated 


Surplus


Revaluation 


Reserve


Other 


Reserves


$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2020 Forecast Actual


Balance at beginning of the financial year 245,914 90,275 155,630 9 


(Deficit) for the year (1,668) (1,668)


Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) 250 250 


Balance at end of the financial year 244,496 88,607 155,880 9 


2021 Budget


Balance at beginning of the financial year 244,496 88,607 155,880 9 


(Deficit) for the year (698) (698) 0 0 


Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) 0 0 0 0 


Balance at end of the financial year 243,798 87,909 155,880 9 


2022


Balance at beginning of the financial year 243,798 87,909 155,880 9 


(Deficit) for the year (986) (986) 0 0 


Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) 900 0 900 0 


Balance at end of the financial year 243,712 86,923 156,780 9 


2023


Balance at beginning of the financial year 243,712 86,923 156,780 9 


(Deficit) for the year (1,194) (1,194) 0 0 


Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) 0 0 0 0 


Balance at end of the financial year 242,518 85,729 156,780 9 


2024


Balance at beginning of the financial year 242,518 85,729 156,780 9 


(Deficit) for the year (1,159) (1,159) 0 0 


Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) 0 0 0 0 


Balance at end of the financial year 241,359 84,570 156,780 9 
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the four years ending 30 June 2024


Forecast
Actual


2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000


Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)


Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and service charges 10,594 11,695 12,083 12,443 12,813


Statutory fees and fines 219 208 223 229 235


User charges 845 766 891 913 936


Grants - operating 6,223 7,743 6,907 7,077 7,250


Grants - capital 3,838 2,092 1,395 1,395 1,395


Contributions - cash 142 0 0 0 0


Interest on cash invested 100 60 110 110 110


Trust funds and deposits taken 25 26 27 28 29


Other receipts 200 177 182 186 191


Net GST refund 0 0 0 0 0


Employee costs (8,093) (8,870) (9,108) (9,335) (9,567)


Materials and services (10,486) (8,088) (6,831) (7,149) (7,217)


Trust funds and deposits repaid (25) (26) (27) (28) (29)


Other payments (282) (274) (280) (287) (294)


Net cash provided by operating 


activities 3,300 5,509 5,572 5,582 5,852


Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, 


plant and equipment (15,253) (7,041) (5,775) (5,785) (6,055)


Payments for land held for resale 0 0 0 0 0


Proceeds from sale of property, 


infrastructure, plant and equipment 710 1,532 202 202 202


Proceeds from sale of land held for 


resale 0 0 0 0 0


Net cash used in investing activities (14,543) (5,509) (5,573) (5,583) (5,853)


Cash flows from financing activities 
Finance costs 0 0 0 0 0


Proceeds from borrowings 0 0 0 0 0


Repayment of borrowings 0 0 0 0 0


Net cash used in financing activities 0 0 0 0 0


Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 


cash equivalents 


(11,243) 12,029 786 12,815 13,601 


Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 


of the financial year 12,029 786 12,815 13,601 26,416


Cash and cash equivalents at end of 


the financial year 786 12,815 13,601 26,416 40,017


Projections
Strategic Resource PlanBudget
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Statement of Capital Works
For the four years ending 30 June 2024


Forecast
Actual


2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000


Property


Land 2,291 200 0 0 0


Land improvements 0 0 0 0 0


Total land 2,291 200 0 0 0


Buildings 192 158 162 166 170


Building improvements 255 0 0 0 0


Leasehold improvements 51 0 0 0 0


Total buildings 498 158 162 166 170


Total property 2,789 358 162 166 170


Plant and equipment


Plant, machinery and equipment 1,409 970 777 777 896


Fixtures, fittings and furniture 22 23 23 24 24


Computers and telecommunications 297 235 152 155 159


Library collection 55 56 58 60 62


Total plant and equipment 1,783 1,284 1,010 1,016 1,141


Infrastructure


Roads 4,594 3,407 3,442 3,411 3,521


Bridges 2,943 1,427 748 766 786


Footpaths and cycleways 162 28 28 30 31


Drainage 0 308 316 324 332


Recreational, leisure and community 2,946 70 10 10 10


Waste management 15 59 60 62 64


Other 22 100 0 0 0


Total infrastructure 10,682 5,399 4,604 4,603 4,744


Total capital works expenditure 15,254 7,041 5,776 5,785 6,055


Represented by:


New asset expenditure 2,330 206 6 6 6


Asset renewal expenditure 11,990 6,325 5,501 5,508 5,776


Asset expansion expenditure 418 0 0 0 0


Asset upgrade expenditure 515 510 268 271 273


Total capital works expenditure 15,253 7,041 5,775 5,785 6,055


Funding sources represented by:


Grants 4,112 2,092 1,395 1,395 1,395


Contributions 200 0 0 0 0


Council cash 10,231 3,417 4,178 4,188 4,458


Asset Sales 710 1,532 202 202 202


Total capital works expenditure 15,253 7,041 5,775 5,785 6,055


Budget Strategic Resource Plan
Projections


20 Pyrenees Shire Council







PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL Budget - 2020/21


Statement of Human Resources
For the four years ending 30 June 2024


Forecast
Actual


2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000


Staff expenditure


Employee costs - operating 8,093 8,870 9,108 9,335 9,567


Employee costs - capital 189 195 201 207 213


Total staff expenditure 8,282 9,065 9,309 9,542 9,780


FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE
Staff numbers


Employees 79.7 91.8 91.8 91.8 91.8


Total staff numbers 79.7 91.8 91.8 91.8 91.8


Budget
Department 2020/21 Full Time Part Time Casual Temporary


$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000


Assets & Engineering 765 732 33 0 0
CEO & Council 442 345 97 0 0
Community Wellbeing 1,608 413 1,195 0 0
Corporate & Community Services 271 239 32 0 0
Economic Development & Tourism 737 252 467 18 0
Environment & Sustainability 88 0 88 0 0
Finance 294 253 41 0 0
Fire Management 82 82 0 0 0
Governance, Risk and Compliance 963 610 353 0 0
Information Technology 408 408 0 0 0
People & Culture 139 139 0 0 0
Planning & Development 1,062 962 66 34 0
Waste & Contracts 89 89 0 0 0
Works 1,919 1,891 28 0 0
Total staff 8,867 6,415 2,400 52 0
Capitalised employee costs * 195
Total expenditure 9,062


Comprises


A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of Council is included


below:


Permanent


* These employee costs are attributable to the Works department


Budget Strategic Resource Plan
Projections
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Budget
Department 2020/21 Full Time Part Time Casual Temporary


Assets & Engineering 6.5 6.2 0.3 0.0 0.0
CEO & Council 3.0 2.0 1.0 0.0 0.0
Community Wellbeing 17.6 3.8 13.8 0.0 0.0
Corporate & Community Services 1.8 1.5 0.3 0.0 0.0
Economic Development & Tourism 7.6 2.0 5.3 0.3 0.0
Environment & Sustainability 0.8 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0
Finance 2.5 2.0 0.5 0.0 0.0
Fire Management 1.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Governance, Risk and Compliance 9.5 5.5 4.0 0.0 0.0
Information Technology 4.0 4.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
People & Culture 1.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Planning & Development 10.3 9.0 0.8 0.5 0.0
Waste & Contracts 0.8 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0
Works 23.0 22.6 0.4 0.0 0.0
Total staff 89.4 61.4 27.2 0.8 0.0
Capitalised employee costs * 2.4
Total staff 91.8


* These employees are attributable to the Works department


Comprises
Permanent


A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above expenditure is included 
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4. Notes to the financial statements 


4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement


4.1.1 Rates and charges


Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual budget.


In developing the Strategic Resource Plan, rates and charges were identified as an important source of


revenue. Planning for future rate increases has therefore been an important component of the Strategic


Resource Planning process. The Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) sets out the maximum amount councils may


increase rates in a year. For 2020/21 the FGRS cap has been set at 2.0%. The cap applies to both general


rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of council’s average rates and charges.  


The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other


sources of income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be undertaken for the community.


To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the


average general rate and the municipal charge will increase by 2.0% in line with the rate cap. 


This will raise total rates and charges for 2020/21 of $11.695 million.
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Forecast


Actual Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Waste management charges 1,419 1,625 206 14.5%
General rates* 8,566 8,859 293 3.4%
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments -7 69 76 0.0%
Interest on rates and charges 40 0 -40 -100.0%
Windfarms in lieu of rates 576 1,142 566 98.3%
Total rates and charges 10,594 11,695 1,101 10.4%


Budget Budget
2019/20 2020/21


cents/$CIV cents/$CIV
General rate for rateable residential properties 0.3998 0.3559 -10.98%


0.4098 0.3915 -4.47%
General rate for rateable industrial properties 0.4098 0.3915 -4.47%


1.2645 1.0535 -16.69%


0.9484 0.8343 -12.03%


0.6322 0.5562 -12.02%


General rate for undevelopable land 0.3998 0.3559 -10.98%


General rate for rateable farm properties 0.3161 0.2634 -16.67%
0.1999 0.1780 -10.96%


Change


* The above rates in the dollar are indicative only as they are based on the rate book as at 12 March 2020.


These rates in the dollar will be recalculated in July 2020 using the actual rate book as at 1 July 2020, in order to 


ensure compliance with the rate capping provisions of the Fair Go Rates System.


Rate concession for rateable recreational properties 


General rate for rateable commercial properties


General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land properties 


between two hectares and forty hectares


4.1.1(b) The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under Section 158 of the Act for each type or


class of land compared with the previous financial year *


Type or class of land Change


General rate for rateable vacant non-farm land properties less 


than two hectares


General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land properties greater 


than forty hectares 


4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as


follows:


*General rates are subject to the rate cap established under the FGRS
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Budget Budget
2019/20 2020/21


$’000 $’000 $’000 %
General rate for rateable residential properties 3,079 3,023 -56 -1.82%
General rate for rateable commercial properties 120 126 6 5.00%
General rate for rateable industrial properties 132 171 39 29.55%
General rate for rateable vacant non-farm land 


properties less than two hectares


189 189 0 0.00%


General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 


properties between two hectares and forty 


648 704 56 8.64%


General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 


properties greater than forty hectares 


168 171 3 1.79%


General rate for undevelopable land 0 0 0
General rate for rateable farm properties 4,215 4,461 246 5.84%
Rate concession for rateable recreational 13 14 1 7.69%
Total amount to be raised by general rates 8,564 8,859 295 3.44%


Budget Budget
2019/20 2020/21
Number Number Number %


General rate for rateable residential properties 3,074 3,079 5 0.16%
General rate for rateable commercial properties 96 96 0 0.00%
General rate for rateable industrial properties 80 82 2 2.50%
General rate for rateable vacant non-farm land 


properties less than two hectares


335 334 -1 -0.30%


General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 


properties between two hectares and forty 


690 691 1 0.14%


General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 


properties greater than forty hectares 


119 115 -4 -3.36%


General rate for undevelopable land 0 1 1 100.00%
General rate for rateable farm properties 1,594 1,635 41 2.57%
Rate concession for rateable recreational 40 40 0 0.00%
Total number of assessments 6,028 6,073 45 0.75%


Change


Type or class of land


Change


4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, 


and the estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year


Type or class of land


4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of


assessments, compared with the previous financial year
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Budget Budget
2019/20 2020/21


$’000 $’000 $’000 %
General rate for rateable residential properties 770,142 849,531 79,389 10.31%
General rate for rateable commercial properties 29,400 32,228 2,828 9.62%
General rate for rateable industrial properties 32,310 43,656 11,346 35.12%
General rate for rateable vacant non-farm land 


properties less than two hectares
14,966 17,937 2,971


19.85%


General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 


properties between two hectares and forty 
68,360 84,425 16,065


23.50%


General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 


properties greater than forty hectares 
26,556 30,723 4,167


15.69%


General rate for rateable farm properties 1,333,393 1,693,509 360,116 27.01%
Rate concession for rateable recreational 


properties 
6,705 7,744 1,039


15.50%


Total value of land 2,281,832 2,759,795 477,963 20.95%


Per Rateable 


Property


Per Rateable 


Property
Budget Budget


 Type of Charge 2019/20 2020/21 Change
$ $


Municipal Charge 0 0 0.00%


Budget Budget
2019/20 2020/21


$ $
Municipal Charge 0 0 0.00%


Per Rateable 


Property


Per Rateable 


Property
Budget Budget
2019/20 2020/21


$ $ $ %
Disposal Charge Unimproved Property 61 61 0 0.00%
Disposal Charge Improved Property 217 276 59 27.19%
Collection Charge Kerbside & Recycling 377 436 59 15.65%
Collection Charge Kerbside, Green & Recycling 377 436 59 15.65%


Number of 


Services


Number of 


Services
Budget Budget
2019/20 2020/21 $ %


Disposal Charge Unimproved Property 2,193 2,206 13 0.59%
Disposal Charge Improved Property 1,075 1,074 -1 -0.09%
Collection Charge Kerbside & Recycling 1,363 1,364 1 0.07%
Collection Charge Kerbside, Green & Recycling 1,388 1,389 1 0.07%
Total number of waste service charges 6,019 6,033 0.23%


4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land,


compared with the previous financial year


Type or class of land


 Type of Charge Change


4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges compared with the previous


financial year


Type of Charge


Change


Change


Change


4.1.1(e)  The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV)


4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of


the Act compared with the previous financial year


Type of Charge


4.1.1(j) The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the


estimated total amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial


year


4.1.1(g)  The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous financial year
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Budget Budget
Type of Charge 2019/20 2020/21


$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Waste service charges 1,404 1,631 227 16.17%
General rates 8,564 8,859 295 3.44%
Supplementary/(objections) general rates 0 69 69
Windfarms in lieu of rates 405 1,142 737 181.98%
Interest on rates 40 0 -40 -100.00%
Total Rates and charges 10,413 11,701 1,288 12.37%


4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System Compliance


Forecast
Actual Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$8,673,249 $8,845,624


              6,073          6,073 
$1,428.00 $1,456.55


2.50% 2.00%
$1,428.00 $1,456.55


-$7,000.00 $69,000.00


Pyrenees Shire Council is required to comply with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System (FGRS). The


table below details the budget assumptions consistent with the requirements of the Fair Go Rates System.


There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and


charges. However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected by:


4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous 


financial year


Change


•           Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa
•           Changes of use of land such that vacant land becomes non-vacant land and vice versa


•           The final level of valuation in the adopted Revaluation
•           The making of supplementary valuations


Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government)
Capped Average Rate


Total Rates
Number of rateable properties
Base Average Rates


Maximum General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue
Budgeted General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue
Budgeted Supplementary Rates


•           The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals)


4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and


charges


•           Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business or farm land and vice versa
•           Changes to the level of service provided to a property.


27 Pyrenees Shire Council







PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL Budget - 2020/21


4.1.1(n)  Differential rates


Rates to be levied


The rate and amount of rates payable in relation 


Non-farm vacant land properties less than two hectares


Council considers that each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of council


functions. Details of the objectives of each differential rate, the types of classes of land, which are subject to


each differential rate and the uses of each differential rate, are set out below.


· A general rate of 0.2634 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable for rateable farm properties;


Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Capital Improved Value of each rateable land


(categorised by the characteristics described below) by the relevant percentages indicated above.


· A general rate of 1.0535 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable for rateable vacant non-farm land properties


less than two hectares;


· A general rate of 0.3915 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable for rateable industrial properties;
· A general rate of 0.3915 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable for rateable commercial properties;


The 2020/21 budget has been prepared in line with the Revised Rating Strategy adopted in July 2020. The 


Revised Rating Strategy is available on Council's website. 


· A general rate of 0.3559 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable for rateable residential properties;


Vacant land in this class is any land wherever located within the Municipality that is less than two hectares in


size, on which no dwelling is erected, and which does not meet the definition of farm land as defined in the


Valuation of Land Act 1960 . 


· A general rate of 0.8343 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable for rateable non-farm vacant land properties


between two hectares and forty hectares;


The objective of this differential rate is to encourage development of vacant land. The encouragement of


development is strategically important as it has a positive effect on local employment and income, whilst the


speculative behaviour should be discouraged. 


· A general rate of 0.178 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable on for rateable recreational properties 


· A general rate of 0.5562 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable for rateable non-farm vacant land properties


greater than forty hectares ;
· A general rate of 0.3559 (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable for undevelopable land;


The differential rate will be used to fund those items of expenditure outlined in the Council budget


documentation. The level of the differential rate is that which Council considers necessary to achieve those


objectives specified above.
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Non-farm vacant land properties of between two hectares and forty hectares


Non-farm vacant land properties greater than forty hectares


Residential land


Commercial and Industrial Land


Farm Land


Recreational Land


Vacant land in this class is any land wherever located within the Municipality that is between two and forty


hectares in size, on which no dwelling is erected, and which does not meet the definition of farm land as defined


in the Valuation of Land Act 1960 . 


    (i)  that has a significant and substantial commercial purpose or character;
   (ii)  that seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from its activities on the land; and


Objective: Apply a discount to farm land properties as Council believes these properties pay disproportionately


higher rates in relation to income generated because of the higher land component.


Cultural and Recreational land is any single rateable assessment used for recreational or cultural activities


including Golf Clubs, Bowls Clubs, Scout or Guide Halls, Masonic Halls, Historical Societies, and Heritage


buildings (not for profit).


Vacant land in this class is any land wherever located within the Municipality that is greater than forty hectares in


size, on which no dwelling is erected, and which does not meet the definition of farm land as defined in the


Valuation of Land Act 1960 . 


Commercial and Industrial land is any land which is occupied for the principal purpose of manufacturing or


production of, or the trade in, goods or services.


The objective of this differential rate is to encourage development of vacant land. The encouragement of


development is strategically important as it has a positive effect on local employment and income, whilst the


speculative behaviour should be discouraged. 


The differential rate will be used to fund those items of expenditure outlined in the Council budget


documentation. The level of the differential rate is that which Council considers necessary to achieve those


objectives specified above.


(c) that is used primarily for grazing (including agistment), dairying, pig farming, poultry farming, fish farming,


tree farming, bee keeping, viticulture, horticulture, fruit growing or the growing of crops of any kind or for any


combination of these activities; and
(d)  that is used by a business


The objective of this differential rate is to encourage development of vacant land. The encouragement of


development is strategically important as it has a positive effect on local employment and income, whilst the


speculative behaviour should be discouraged. 


The differential rate will be used to fund those items of expenditure outlined in the Council budget


documentation. The level of the differential rate is that which Council considers necessary to achieve those


objectives specified above.


Residential land is any land, wherever located within the Municipality which has a dwelling that can be occupied


for the principal purpose of physically accommodating persons, and does not have the characteristics of Vacant


Land, Farm Land, Commercial Land or Industrial Land.


(iii) that is making a profit from its activities on the land, or that has a reasonable prospect of making a profit


from its activities on the land if it continues to operate.


Farm land is defined as any rateable land which meets the definition as described under the Valuation of Land


Act 1960. 


(a)  that is not less than 2 hectares in area and 
(b) Is used for carrying on a business of primary production as determined by the Australian Taxation Office;


and 


The Valuation of Land Act 1960 , defines farm land as any rateable land:
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Trust for Nature Covenants


Undevelopable Land


4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines
Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Town planning fees 126 126 0 0.0%
Environmental health fees 41 31 -10 -24.4%
Fines 27 26 -1 -3.7%
Land information and building certificate fees 24 24 0 0.0%
Total Statutory fees and fines 218 207 -11 -5.0%


4.1.3 User fees
Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Caravan park charges 287 228 -59 -20.6%
Aged care charges 141 212 71 50.4%
Animal registration charges 109 110 1 0.9%
Building charges 37 37 0 0.0%
Rental and function charges 78 25 -53 -67.9%
Delivered meals charges 50 40 -10 -20.0%
Goldfields Recreation Reserve venue hire charges 29 15 -14 -48.3%
Resource and information centre charges 3 3 0 0.0%
Transfer station waste disposal charges 21 0 -21 -100.0%
Community transport charges 12 14 2 16.7%
Planned activity group charges 8 9 1 12.5%
Other charges 71 75 4 5.6%
Total User fees 846 768 -78 -9.2%


4.1.4 Grants 
Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Grants were received in respect of the following :


Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants 5,667 7,480 1,813 32.0%
State funded grants 4,394 2,358 -2,036 -46.3%
Total grants received 10,060 9,838 -223 -2.2%


Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


(a) Operating Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Federal Assistance Grants - general purpose 1,684 3,435 1,751 104.0%
Federal Assistance Grants - local roads 1,070 2,183 1,113 104.0%
Commonwealth Home Support Program 518 467 -51 -9.8%
Recurrent - State Government


Rateable land that has a Trust for Nature Covenant on it enabling permanent protection of significant areas of


natural bush habitat on private land has a concessional rate set at 50% of the General rate. 


Land deemed not suitable for residential, commercial or industrial purposes due to Council's Planning Scheme.


Change


Change


Change


Change
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Aged care and senior citizens 145 148 3 2.1%
Maternal & child health 204 209 5 2.5%
Library 120 122 2 1.7%
Other 36 37 1 2.8%
Total recurrent operating grants 3,777 6,601 2,824 74.8%


Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Drought Funding 1,000 1,000 0 100.0%
Non-recurrent - State Government
Natural disaster 538 0 -538 -100.0%
Emergency planning 70 70 0 0.0%
Moonambel water supply 20 0 -20 -100.0%
Roadside weeds and pests management 56 56 0 0.0%
Recreation strategy 49 0 -49 -100.0%
Activate Avoca 500 0 -500 -100.0%
Community resilience 0 0 0 #DIV/0!
L2P learner driver mentor program 19 19 0 0.0%
Waste Management 0 0 0 #DIV/0!
Other 220 0 -220 -100.0%
Total non-recurrent operating grants 2,472 1,145 -1,327 -53.7%
Total operating grants 6,249 7,746 1,497 24.0%


(b) Capital grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Roads to recovery 1,395 1,395 0 0.0%
Recurrent - State Government
Nil 0 0 0 0.0%
Total recurrent capital grants 1,395 1,395 0 0.0%


Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Lexton community hub 1,000 0 -1,000 -100.0%
Roads to recovery - Additional Drought Funding 0 697 697 #DIV/0!


Bridge Renewal Program 352 0 -352 100.0%
Non-recurrent - State Government
Lexton community hub 280 0 -280 -100.0%
Local Roads to Market funded projects 27 0 -27 -100.0%
Fixing Country Roads 625 0 -625
Township amenity 0 0 0 #DIV/0!
Recreation projects 21 0 -21 -100.0%
Swimming pools 12 0 -12 -100.0%
Waste Management 0 0
Other 100 0 -100 -100.0%
Total non-recurrent capital grants 2,417 697 -1,720 -71.2%
Total capital grants 3,812 2,092 -1,720 -45.1%
Grand total grants 10,061 9,838 -223 -2.2%
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4.1.5 Contributions
Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Monetary - Operating 142 0 -142 100.0%
Monetary - Capital 200 0 -200 -100.0%
Total Contributions 342 0 -342 -100.0%


4.1.6 Other income
Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Interest on investments 100 60 -40 -40.0%
Reimbursement - State Revenue Office 47 50 3 6.4%
Legal fees - rates 30 0 -30 -100.0%
Reimbursement - Workcover wages 70 88 18 25.7%
Private works 47 38 -9 -19.1%
Other 6 1 -5 -83.3%
Total Other income 300 237 -63 -21.0%


4.1.7 Employee costs
Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Wages and salaries 7,302 8,024 722 9.9%
Superannuation 616 658 42 6.8%
Fringe benefits tax 75 68 -7 -9.3%
WorkCover insurance premium 100 120 20 20.0%
Total Employee costs 8,093 8,870 777 9.6%


4.1.8 Materials and services
Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Contractors 5,625 3,180 -2,445 -43.5%
Consumables 1,325 1,264 -61 -4.6%
Contracted service delivery 1,577 1,658 81 5.1%


Waste Collection 1,112 1,156 44 4.0%
Cleaning Contract 141 157 16 11.2%
Meals on Wheels 49 50 1 2.0%


Swimming Pool 240 265 26 10.6%
Library service 34 29 -5 -15.3%


Insurance 407 414 7 1.7%
Electricity and water 219 230 11 5.0%
Plant expenses 221 325 104 47.1%
Information technology 203 203 0 0.0%
Telecommunications 215 226 11 5.1%
Subscriptions and memberships 91 93 2 2.2%
Conferences and training 146 104 -42 -28.8%
Legal fees 89 92 3 3.4%
Advertising 96 96 0 0.0%
Stationery, postage, photocopying and printing 68 67 -1 -1.5%
Valuations 30 30 0 0.0%
Contributions and donations 160 92 -68 -42.5%
Fire services levy 15 15 0 0.0%
Total Materials and services 10,487 8,089 -2,317 -22.1%


4.1.9 Depreciation 


Change


Change


Change


Change
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Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Infrastructure 5,077 4,430 -647 -12.7%
Property 1,340 1,265 -75 -5.6%
Plant and equipment 617 576 -41 -6.6%
Total Depreciation 7,034 6,271 -763 -10.8%


4.1.12 Other expenses
Forecast


Actual


Budget


2019/20 2020/21
$’000 $’000 $’000 %


Councillors' allowances 165 168 3 1.8%
Operating lease rentals 31 17 -14 -45.2%
Auditors' remuneration - internal auditor 35 35 0 0.0%
Auditors' remuneration - external auditor # 40 42 2 5.0%
Internal audit committee 11 12 1 9.1%
Total Other expenses 282 274 -8 -2.8%


Change


Change


# Audit of the financial statements, performance statements and grant acquittals by the Victorian Auditor 


General's Office (VAGO).
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4.5 Capital works program


4.5.1 Summary


Forecast 


Actual
Budget Change %


2019/20 2020/21


$’000 $’000 $’000


Property 2789 358 -2431 -87%


Plant and equipment 1783 1284 -499 -28%


Infrastructure 10682 5399 -5283 -49%


Total 15254 7041 -8213 -54%


Capital Works Area
Project 


cost
New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants


Contri-


butions


Council 


cash


Asset 


Sales


$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000


Property 358 200 158 0 0 0 0 358 0


Plant and equipment 1284 70 1214 0 0 0 0 1082 202


Infrastructure 5399 6 4970 423 0 2092 0 3307 0


Total 7041 276 6342 423 0 2092 0 4747 202


This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2020/21 year, classified 


by expenditure type and funding source. Works are also disclosed as current budget or carried forward from prior 


year. 


Asset expenditure type Summary of funding sources
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4.5.2 Current Budget


Capital Works Area
Project 


cost
New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants


Contri-


butions


Council 


cash


Asset 


Sales


$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000


PROPERTY


Land


Strategic Land Acquisitions 200 200 200


Total Land 200 200 0 0 0 0 0 200 0


Buildings


Building Renewal Program 158            158 158


Total Buildings 158 0 158 0 0 0 0 158 0


TOTAL PROPERTY 358 200 158 0 0 0 0 358 0


Plant Purchases 674 674 554 120


Construction of new emulsion 70 70 70


Minor Plant Purchases 11 11 11


Vehicle Purchases 200 200 120 80


Bore Refurbishment 15 15 15


Total Plant, Machinery and 


Equipment
970 70 900 0 0 0 0 770 200


Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture 23 23 23


Total Fixtures, Fittings and 


Furniture
23 0 23 0 0 0 0 23 0


Computer Equipment Purchases 235 235
233 2


Total Computers and 


Telecommunications
235 0 235 0 0 0 0 233 2


Library Collection


Library Collection Purchases 56 56 56


Total Library Collection 56 0 56 0 0 0 0 56 0


TOTAL PLANT AND 


EQUIPMENT
1,284 70 1,214 0 0 0 0 1,082 202


Asset expenditure type Summary of funding sources


Plant, Machinery and Equipment


Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture


Computers and Telecommunications


PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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Capital Works Area
Project 


cost
New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants


Contri-


butions


Council 


cash


Asset 


Sales


$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000


INFRASTRUCTURE


Roads


Roads - link and collectors R2R 647 647 647


Roads - link and collectors R2R 139 139 139


Sealed Road Shoulder 


Rehabilitation 
50 50 50


Roads - resheets 702 702 702


Road Infrastructure Renewal - 


Extra Rates Variation- Resheet 
251 251 251


Roads - reseals - MAMS 735 735 735


Roads - reseals - Extra Rates 


Variation - 2016-17 
111 111 111


Roads - forward survey & design 56 56 56


Roads Other - Major Patch 80 80 80


Kerb & Channel 25 25 25


Roads - Dust Suppression GAT 


Seals 
80 80 80


Other R2R 279 279 279


Roads - pavement 252 207 45 252


Total roads 3407 0 3143 264 0 1065 0 2342 0


Bridges


Bridges - link & collectors R2R 330 330 330


Bridges - R2R Additional 697 697 697


Bridges - MAMS 400 400 400


Total Bridges 1,427 0 1,427 0 0 1,027 0 400 0


Footpaths - Renewal 22 22 22


Footpaths - New 6 6 6


Total Footpaths and 


Cycleways
28 6 22 0 0 0 0 28 0


Drainage


Drainage 158 158 158


Major Culverts 150 150 150


Total Drainage 308 0 308 0 0 0 0 308 0


Asset expenditure type Summary of funding sources


Footpaths and Cycleways
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Capital Works Area
Project 


cost
New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants


Contri-


butions


Council 


cash


Asset 


Sales


$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000


Beaufort Pool - Refurbishment 20 20 20


Avoca Pool - Refurbishment 15 15 15


Landsborough Pool - 


Refurbishment
25 25 25


Playground Equipment 


Replacement
10 10 10


Total Recreational, Leisure and 


Community Facilities
70 0 70 0 0 0 0 70 0


Transfer Station Upgrades 59 59 59


Total Waste Management 59 0 0 59 0 0 0 59 0


Directional Signage Upgrades 100 100 100


Total Waste Management 100 0 0 100 0 0 0 100 0


TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE 5399 6 4970 423 0 2092 0 3307 0


TOTAL NEW CAPITAL 


WORKS 
7,041 276 6,342 423 0 2,092 0 4,747 202


Waste Management


Other


Recreational, Leisure and Community 


Facilities


Asset expenditure type Summary of funding sources
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5. Financial performance indicators


 Indicator Measure Actual Actual Budget Trend


2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 +/o/-


Adjusted underlying 


result


Adjusted underlying deficit / 


Adjusted underlying revenue
1 10.5% -20.8% -6.3% -4.5% -5.4% -5.1% o


Liquidity


Working Capital
Current assets / 


current liabilities
2 402.7% 137.0% 100.5% 100.5% 100.5% 100.5% -


Unrestricted cash
Unrestricted cash / 


current liabilities
69.1% 17.0% 17.0% 17.0% 17.0% 16.9% -


Loans and 


borrowings


Interest bearing loans and 


borrowings / rate revenue
3 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% o


Loans and 


borrowings


Interest and principal repayments 


on interest bearing loans and 


borrowings / rate revenue
0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% o


Indebtedness
Non-current liabilities / 


own source revenue
1.1% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% o


Asset renewal
Asset renewal expenditure / 


depreciation
4 115.8% 170.5% 100.9% 84.8% 82.0% 83.1% -


Stability


Rates concentration
Rate revenue / 


adjusted underlying revenue
5 36.5% 49.4% 52.9% 55.6% 55.8% 56.0% -


Rates effort
Rate revenue / CIV of rateable 


properties in the municipality
0.47% 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 0.42% 0.41% o


Efficiency


Expenditure level
Total expenditure / 


number of property assessments
$4,090 $4,296 $3,870 $3,713 $3,814 $3,875 +


Revenue level


Residential rate revenue / 


Number of residential property 


assessments
$941 $1,002 $982 $1,009 $1,037 $1,066 +


Workforce turnover


Number of permanent staff 


resignations and terminations / 


average number of permanent 


staff for the financial year


16.3% 13.6% 7.5% 7.5% 7.5% 7.5% o


  -   Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator


 +  Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator


The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance


indicators. These indicators may provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial position and performance and should be


used in the context of the organisation’s objectives.


 o  Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady


N
o


te
s Strategic Resource Plan 


Projections


Key to Forecast Trend:


Operating position


Obligations


Forecast
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6. Expenditure Levels - Expenditure for 2018/19 is higher than forward years because of flood restoration works


undertaken. These flood restoration works are grant funded.   


5 Rates concentration - Reflects extent of reliance on rate revenues to fund all of Council's on-going services. Trend


indicates Council's reliance on rate revenue will remain relatively stable throughout the forecast period.


1 Adjusted underlying result – One indicator of the sustainable operating result required to enable Council to continue


to provide core services and meet its objectives. Steady improvement in financial performance is expected remain stable


over the period, although continued losses means reliance on capital grants to fund capital expenditure.


2 Working capital - The proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets. Working capital is forecast to


decline slightly in later years but remain at an acceptable level.


3 Debt compared to rates - Council is forecast to remain free of long term debt throughout the four of the Strategic


Resource Plan, and has a policy to minimise loan borrowings and hence interest paid on loans. 


4 Asset renewal - This percentage indicates the extent of Council's renewal expenditure against its depreciation charge


(an indication of the decline in value of its existing capital assets). A percentage greater than 100 indicates Council is


maintaining its existing assets, while a percentage less than 100 means its assets are deteriorating faster than they are 


Notes to indicators
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6. Schedule of fees and user charges


2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease
$ $ %


Penalty Unit - 2020-2021 $165.22


Fee Unit - 2020-2021 $14.81


Animal Offences
Domestic (Feral & Nuisance) Animals Regulations
10(1)- Failure to apply to register a dog or cat No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory
20(1)- Registered dog or cat not wearing council identification marker No $82.61 $82.61 0% Statutory
21- Unregistered dog or cat wearing council identification maker No $82.61 $82.61 0% Statutory
22- Person other than owner removing, altering or defacing identification 


marker


No $82.61 $82.61 0% Statutory


23(2) - Dog or cat on private property after notice of objection served No $82.61 $82.61 0% Statutory
24(1) - Dog at large or not securely confined to owner's premises during the 


daytime


No $247.83 $247.83 0% Statutory


24(1) - Dog at large or not securely confined to owner's premises during 


night time


No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


25(1) - Cat at large or not securely confined to owner's premises in restricted 


municipal district


No $82.61 $82.61 0% Statutory


26(1) - Contravening council order relating to presence of dogs and cats in 


public places


No $165.22 $165.22 0% Statutory


27(1) - Greyhound outside owner's premises not adequately muzzle or not 


effectively controlled by chain, cord or leash.


No $247.83 $247.83 0% Statutory


32(1) - Dog or cat being a nuisance No $82.61 $82.61 0% Statutory
32(4) - Not complying with order to abate nuisance No $247.83 $247.83 0% Statutory
38(1) - Failure to ensure that dangerous dog is properly confined on owner's 


residential premises


No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


38(2) - Failure to ensure that dangerous dog is properly confined on owner's 


non-residential premises


No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


41E Failure to comply with requirement to muzzle or effectively control 


menacing dog


No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


41G Failure to ensure that restricted breed dog is properly confined on 


owner's premises


No $165.22 $165.22 0% Statutory


63A Conducting a domestic animal business that does not comply with the 


relevant Code of Practice


No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


29(6) Non serious injury caused by non-dangerous dog No $413.05 $413.05 0% Statutory
29 (7)(8) Dog Rushing or chasing a person No $165.22 $165.22 0% Statutory
41G Not confining a Restricted Breed Dog No $165.22 $165.22 0% Statutory
12A(2) Advertising for sale without a microchip number No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


Animal Impounding
Impounding of Livestock Regulations 
s.25(e) A person must not impound livestock unless he or she is an 


authorised person


No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


s.25(g) A person must not drive livestock from a person's land without 


proper authority


No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


s.25A Livestock found trespassing after a notice has been served on the 


owner of the livestock under s.16A


No $330.44 $330.44 0% Statutory


s.25B Failure by an owner of livestock to comply with a notice served under 


s.16B


No $660.88 $660.88 0% Statutory


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Note: Fees shown in purple are set by Statute and are subject to change annually. 


As at 8 April 2020 Penalty Units and Fee Units have not been updated by the State so charges below are based on 2019-2020 units. 


(Penalty Units and Fee Units are set by the Victorian Treasurer in April each year)
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6. Schedule of fees and user charges


2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Animal Registration
Cat Registration - Full
Cat General *** No $31.00 $36.00 16% Non-statutory
Cat registered with an Approved Association No $31.00 $36.00 16% Non-statutory
Cat kept for Breeding on registered premises No $31.00 $36.00 16% Non-statutory
Cat NOT included above No $87.00 $126.00 45% Non-statutory


Cat Registration - Pensioner Rate
Cat General *** No $18.00 $18.00 0% Non-statutory
Cat registered with an Approved Association No $18.00 $18.00 0% Non-statutory
Cat kept for Breeding on registered premises No $18.00 $18.00 0% Non-statutory
Cat NOT included above No $46.00 $63.00 37% Non-statutory


Dog Registration - Full
Dog General **** No $36.00 $42.00 17% Non-statutory
Farm Working dog (Primary Production Only) No $36.00 $42.00 17% Non-statutory
Dog Registered with an Approved Association/Approved Training No $36.00 $42.00 17% Non-statutory
Dog kept for Breeding on Registered Premises No $36.00 $42.00 17% Non-statutory
Dog Other (Including Microchipped) No $104.00 $175.00 68% Non-statutory


Dog Registration - Pensioner Rate
Dog General **** No $21.00 $21.00 0% Non-statutory
Farm Working dog (Primary Production Only) No $21.00 $21.00 0% Non-statutory
Dog Registered with an Approved Association/Approved Training No $21.00 $21.00 0% Non-statutory
Dog kept for Breeding on Registered Premises No $21.00 $21.00 0% Non-statutory
Dog Other (Including Microchipped) No $55.00 $88.00 60% Non-statutory


*** Cat General = Desexed and Microchipped or Over 10 years
*** Dog General = Desexed and Microchipped or Over 10 years
Compulsory Microchipping for all Newly Registered Dogs
Compulsory Microchipping  & Desexing for all Newly Registered Cats


General Local Law 2019 
(Permit is per year unless otherwise stated)


Camping in a Public Place - Clause 3.3 (1) No $20.00 $21.00 5% Non-statutory
Permit required to camp in a Public Place


Camping in on Private Land - Clause 3.3 (2) No $60.00 $62.00 3% Non-statutory
Permit required to camp on Private Land 


Temporary Dwelling - Clause 3.4 No $250.00 $255.00 2% Non-statutory
Permit required to occupy a temporary dwelling on Private Land


Shipping Container - Clause 3.5 No $150.00 $153.00 2% Non-statutory
Permit required to place a Shipping Container on Private Land


Open Air Burning - Clause 3.7 No $25.00 $26.00 4% Non-statutory
Permit required to conduct open air burn in some areas


a) All animals registered with a Council, for the time, must be microchipped as per Legislation under the Domestic Animal Act 1994
b) Desexing of Cats for first time registration is compulsory under Council's adopted Local Law No. 2 (6.5), except for cats that may be exempt under 
c) Proof of microchipping and desexing is required when registering your animal.


All of the above fees include a State Government Levy of $4.00 per dog and $4.00 per cat.


d) Changes to Legislation under the Domestic Animals Act 1994 came into force in May 2012. The changes provide, after 11th April 2013, for the removal 


of reduced registration fee for any newly registered dog or cat that is microchipped.
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2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status
Storage of Vehicles - Clause 3.14 No $45.00 $46.00 2% Non-statutory


Animal Keeping - Clause 4.1 No $60.00 $62.00 3% Non-statutory


Droving of Livestock - Clause 4.3 No $120.00 $123.00 3% Non-statutory
Permit required to drove livestock on Council controlled roads


Roadside Grazing - Clause 4.4 No $80.00 $82.00 3% Non-statutory
Permit required to graze livestock on Council controlled roadsides


Horse Riding - Clause 4.5 No $0.00 $0.00 Non-statutory
Permit required to ride or lead horse on footpath or nature strip


Consumption of Liquor - Clause 6.1 No $20.00 $21.00 5% Non-statutory
Permit required to consume alcohol in Public Place


Street parties, festivals, events and commercial activities - Clause 6.3 No $150.00 $153.00 2% Non-statutory


Entertainment, busking and promotion - Clause 6.4 No $20.00 $21.00 5% Non-statutory


Collections and Fundraising - Clause 6.5 No $50.00 $51.00 2% Non-statutory


Display and Sale of Goods - Clause 6.6 No $55.00 $57.00 4% Non-statutory


Roadside and Itinerant Trading - Clause 6.7 (per trading event) No $55.00 $57.00 4% Non-statutory
Permit required for roadside and itinerant trading


Outdoor Dining Facilities - Clause 6.8 No $55.00 $57.00 4% Non-statutory


Advertising Signs - 6.9 No $35.00 $36.00 3% Non-statutory


Advertising and Bill Posting - Clause 6.10 No $35.00 $36.00 3% Non-statutory


Charity Collection Bins - Clause 6.13 No $300.00 $306.00 2% Non-statutory
Permit required to place a charity collection bin in a Public Place


Recreation Vehicles on Public Land - Clause 6.15 No $300.00 $306.00 2% Non-statutory
Permit required to use a recreation vehicle in a Public Place


Development of nature strips and road reserves - Clause 7.4 No $120.00 $123.00 3% Non-statutory
Permit required to develop a nature strip or road reserve


Heavy Vehicles - Clause 7.5 No $80.00 $82.00 3% Non-statutory


Occupation of roads, footpaths and council land - Clause 7.7 No $60.00 $62.00 3% Non-statutory


Failure to Comply with a Notice to Comply $495.66 $495.66 0% Statutory


Permit required to store more than two unregistered vehicles if reasonably visible


Permit required to place an advertising sign (i.e. A-Frame) on a footpath, road, road reserve or Public Place


Permit is per sign


Permit required to place an advertisement or poster on Council's land or property


Permit is per event


Permit required to keep or store a heavy vehicle upon a Council road or land or on any land in a General Residential Zone


Permit required to occupy a Council road, footpath or land for any works


Permit is per week


Permit required to conduct street party, festival, event or commercial activities in a Public Place.


Permit required to perform entertainment, busk, spruik or promote business in Public Place


Permit required collections and fundraising in Public Place.


Permit required to place outdoor dining tables and chairs on a road, footpath or Public Place. 


Permit required to keep more than specified animals.  


One-off fee for keeping extra animals whilst property is still in the same ownership


Permit required to display and sell goods from a footpath, road or Public Place


42 Pyrenees Shire Council







PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL Budget - 2020/21
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2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Community Safety and Amenity 
Additional Fees and Charges
Domestic Animal Business Registration $300.00 $300.00 0% Non-statutory
Replacement Dog/Cat Registration Tag $10.00 $11.00 10% Non-statutory
Declared Dangerous Dog Registration (No pension discount) $250.00 $250.00 0% Non-statutory
Restricted Breed Dog Registration (No pension discount) $250.00 $250.00 0% Non-statutory
Impounded Dog Release Fee Non-statutory
Impounded Cat Release Fee Non-statutory
Impounded Dog Release Fee (more than once in a 12 month period) Non-statutory
Impounded Cat Release Fee (more than once in a 12 month period) Non-statutory
Seized Dog Fee (Daily) $40.00 $40.00 0% Non-statutory
Large Livestock Impound Release Fee per head 


(Cows & Horses - Up to 7 days)


$100.00 $100.00 0% Non-statutory


Small Livestock Impound Release Fee per head 


(Sheep, goats & pigs- Up to 7 days)


$65.00 $65.00 0% Non-statutory


Impounded Goods Release Fee 


(Small items i.e. signs, shopping trolleys)


$55.00 $55.00 0% Non-statutory


Impounded Goods Release Fee 


(Large items)


$85 


(if cost greater 


than fee then cost 


plus 10%)


$85 


(if cost greater 


than fee then cost 


plus 10%)


Non-statutory


Impounded Vehicle Release Fee $145.00 $145.00 0% Non-statutory
Impounded Truck Release Fee At Cost plus $145 At Cost plus $145 Non-statutory


Impounded Vehicle Daily Charge Fee (after first 7 days of impounding) $25.00 $25.00 0% Non-statutory
Towing Fee At cost +10 % 


Admin
At cost +10 % 


Admin


Non-statutory


As per City of Ballarat Fees plus $40


As per City of Ballarat Fees
As per City of Ballarat Fees


As per City of Ballarat Fees plus $75
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2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Room & Hall Hire
Note: A cancellation fee of 50% of the booking charge will apply for bookings cancelled within 24 hours of the booking 


Avoca Community Centre 
Meeting room - All Day Yes $47.00 $48.00 2% Non-statutory
Meeting room - Half Day Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Meeting room - Night Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall - All Day Yes $68.00 $70.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall - Half Day Yes $47.00 $48.00 2% Non-statutory
Hall - Night Yes $47.00 $48.00 2% Non-statutory
Allied Health Room - All Day Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Allied Health Room - Half Day Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Allied Health Room - Night Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Kitchen Extra if using full facilities i.e. Meal Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Community Groups Meeting/Dance Lessons (All Day) Yes $21.00 $22.00 5% Non-statutory


Avoca Hall


Supper Room - Day OR Night Yes $21.00 $22.00 5% Non-statutory
Supper Room - Day AND Night Yes $27.00 $28.00 4% Non-statutory
Kitchen (Includes Supper Room) - Day OR Night Yes $53.00 $55.00 4% Non-statutory
Kitchen (Includes Supper Room) - Day AND Night Yes $68.00 $70.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall Only - Day AND Night Yes $80.00 $82.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall & Kitchen - Day OR Night Yes $93.00 $95.00 2% Non-statutory
Hall & Kitchen - Day AND Night Yes $134.00 $137.00 2% Non-statutory


Fete or Exhibitions
Hall Only Yes $108.00 $111.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall, Supper Room & Kitchen Yes $169.00 $173.00 2% Non-statutory


Hall Only Yes $21.00 $22.00 5% Non-statutory
Supper Room Yes $21.00 $22.00 5% Non-statutory


Kitchen (Includes Supper Room) - Day OR Night Yes $15.00 $16.00 7% Non-statutory
Hall Only - Day AND Night Yes $15.00 $16.00 7% Non-statutory


Avoca Baptist Church
Quarterly Hire Yes $852.00 $870.00 2% Non-statutory


Avoca Information Centre
Large Meeting Room -All Day Yes $60.00 $62.00 3% Non-statutory
Large Meeting Room - Half Day Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Small Meeting Room - All Day Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Small Meeting Room - Half Day Yes $21.00 $22.00 5% Non-statutory
Non Profit & Community Groups - Half Day Yes $10.00 $11.00 10% Non-statutory
Computer Room (Includes internet access) Yes $27.00 $28.00 4% Non-statutory
**** Tea & Coffee can be provided at fee of $1.15 per head 


Beaufort Community Centre
Meeting room - All Day Yes $47.00 $48.00 2% Non-statutory
Meeting room - Half Day Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Meeting room - Night Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall - All Day Yes $68.00 $70.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall - Half Day Yes $47.00 $48.00 2% Non-statutory
Hall - Night Yes $47.00 $48.00 2% Non-statutory
Allied Health Room - All Day Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Allied Health Room - Half Day Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Allied Health Room - Night Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Kitchen Extra if using full facilities i.e. Meal Yes $34.00 $35.00 3% Non-statutory
Community Groups Meeting/Dance Lessons (All Day) Yes $21.00 $22.00 5% Non-statutory


Beeripmo Centre
Meeting Space A (whole space ) Full Day Yes $162.00 $166.00 2% Non-statutory
Meeting Space A (whole space ) Half Day Yes $122.00 $125.00 2% Non-statutory
Meeting Space B & C (half space ) Full Day Yes $82.00 $84.00 2% Non-statutory
Meeting Space B & C (half space ) Half Day Yes $69.00 $71.00 3% Non-statutory


Meeting Space A Yes $81.00 $83.00 2% Non-statutory


Casual Use - Small- Dance Lessons, Exercise Class, Rehearsals, Preparation, Decorations, Deb Practice


Casual Use - Medium to Large - Reception, Concerts, Weddings, Dance, Cabaret, Ball, Conference, Shows, Meetings, Lectures, Land Sales etc.


Regular Users - weekly up to monthly booking for a minimum period of 6 months


Local School & Community Groups received a discounted rate as follows:
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2019/20 
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2020/21
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Fee 


Increase / 
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Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status
Meeting Space B & C Yes $41.00 $42.00 2% Non-statutory
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2019/20 
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Fee 
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Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Beaufort Hall


Hall Only - Day OR Night Yes $68.00 $70.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall Only - Day AND Night Yes $81.00 $83.00 2% Non-statutory
Hall & Kitchen - Day OR Night Yes $94.00 $96.00 2% Non-statutory
Hall & Kitchen - Day AND Night Yes $134.00 $137.00 2% Non-statutory
Kitchen Only Yes $53.00 $55.00 4% Non-statutory


Fete or Exhibitions
Hall Only Yes $108.00 $111.00 3% Non-statutory
Hall & Kitchen Yes $169.00 $173.00 2% Non-statutory
Kitchen Only Yes $53.00 $55.00 4% Non-statutory


Hall Only Yes $21.00 $22.00 5% Non-statutory


Kitchen (Includes Supper Room) - Day OR Night Yes $16.00 $17.00 6% Non-statutory
Hall Only - Day AND Night Yes $16.00 $17.00 6% Non-statutory


Beaufort Resource Centre
Large Meeting Room -All Day Yes $62.00 $64.00 3% Non-statutory
Large Meeting Room - Half Day Yes $35.00 $36.00 3% Non-statutory
Small Meeting Room - All Day Yes $35.00 $36.00 3% Non-statutory
Small Meeting Room - Half Day Yes $21.00 $22.00 5% Non-statutory
Non Profit & Community Groups - Half Day Yes $10.00 $11.00 10% Non-statutory
Computer Room ( Includes internet access) Yes $27.00 $28.00 4% Non-statutory
**** Tea & Coffee can be provided at fee of $1.15 per head 


Bonds/Security Deposits
Hall Hire - Security Deposit No $270.00 $276.00 2% Non-statutory
Beaufort Hall Cleaning Bond No $108.00 $111.00 3% Non-statutory
Public Liability Insurance - Halls Yes $16.00 $17.00 6% Non-statutory


Note: A cancellation fee of 50% of the booking charge will apply for bookings cancelled within 24 hours of the booking 


Casual Use - Medium to Large - Reception, Concerts, Weddings, Dance, Cabaret, Ball, Conference, Shows, Meetings, Lectures, Land Sales etc.


Casual Use - Small- Dance Lessons, Exercise Class, Rehearsals, Preparation, Decorations, Deb Practice


Regular Users - weekly up to monthly booking for a minimum period of 6 months
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2019/20 
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Fee 
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Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Building Control


Works Within the Shire
Class 1A - Dwellings - New (Inc. Garage & Verandah) Yes
     Up to $150,000 $1,860.00 $1,898.00 2% Non-statutory
     $150,001 -$200,000 $2,460.00 $2,510.00 2% Non-statutory
     $200,001 -$250,000 $2,780.00 $2,836.00 2% Non-statutory
     $250,001 -$300,000 $3,320.00 $3,387.00 2% Non-statutory
     >$300,000 By negotiation By negotiation Non-statutory


Class 1A - Dwellings - Extensions/Alterations (Inc. Demolitions) Yes
     Up to $10,000 - Maximum $685.00 $699.00 2% Non-statutory
     $10,001 -$20,000 $840.00 $857.00 2% Non-statutory
     $20,001 -$50,000 $1,160.00 $1,184.00 2% Non-statutory
     $50,001 -$100,000 $1,620.00 $1,653.00 2% Non-statutory
     $100,001 -$150,000 $2,070.00 $2,112.00 2% Non-statutory
     >$150,000


 + (Value - $150,000)/105


$2,070.00 $2,112.00 2% Non-statutory


Class 1A - Internal Alterations & Minor Works
     Up to $10,000


     (maximum)


Yes $490.00 $500.00 2% Non-statutory


     $10,001 -$20,000 Yes $700.00 $714.00 2% Non-statutory
     $20,001 -$50,000 Yes $1,015.00 $1,036.00 2% Non-statutory
     $50,001 -$100,000 Yes $1,260.00 $1,286.00 2% Non-statutory
     >$100,000


+ (Value - $100,000)/110


$1,260.00 $1,286.00 2% Non-statutory


Class 1B & 2-9 Residential & Commercial works other than Class 1A


     Up to $5,000 Yes Non-statutory
     $5,001 - $15,000 Yes Non-statutory
     $15,001 - $30,000 Yes Non-statutory
     $30,001 - $100,000 Yes Non-statutory
     $100,001 - $500,000 Yes Non-statutory
     $500,001 - $2M Yes Non-statutory
     Over $2M Yes Non-statutory


For Classes 1A, 1B and 2-9


Class 10A/10B Garages/Carports/Pools/Fences etc.
     Up to $5,000 $530.00 $541.00 2% Non-statutory
     $5,001 -$10,000 $710.00 $725.00 2% Non-statutory
     $10,001 -$20,000 $840.00 $857.00 2% Non-statutory
     $20,001 -$50,000 $1,020.00 $1,041.00 2% Non-statutory
     $50,001 -$100,000 $1,260.00 $1,286.00 2% Non-statutory
     >$100,000


 + (Value - $100,000)/110


$1,260.00 $1,286.00 2% Non-statutory


For Classes 10A and 10B works up to the value of $5,000


Pool Fence Only Yes $525.00 $536.00 2% Non-statutory


Additional Inspections
     Domestic $250.00 $255.00 2% Non-statutory
     Commercial $370.00 $378.00 2% Non-statutory


4(Value/2000+


Value)


+GST 


Minimum $860


4(Value/2000+


Value)


+GST 


Minimum $860


47 Pyrenees Shire Council







PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL Budget - 2020/21


6. Schedule of fees and user charges


2019/20 
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Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status
Building Other
Amendment and/or Extension of Building Permits, or Amendment of 


Approved Plans


No $250.00 $255.00 2% Non-statutory


Dispensation for Siting of Single Dwellings No $290.00 $290.00 0% Statutory
Building Notice (minimum*) No $660.00 $674.00 2% Non-statutory
Building Order (minimum*) No $450.00 $459.00 2% Non-statutory
Emergency Order (minimum*) $450.00 $459.00 2% Non-statutory
* - Subject to discretion of the Municipal Building Surveyor
Temporary Structure Siting Approval 


(minimum)


No $450.00 $459.00 2% Non-statutory


Places of Public Entertainment (POPE) Occupancy Permit


(minimum)


No $450.00 $459.00 Non-statutory


Subdivision Statements for Buildings - Regulation 503(2) No $290.00 $296.00 2% Non-statutory
Pool Safety Fence Inspection Yes $240.00 $245.00 2% Non-statutory
Provide Copy of Building Permit or Occupancy Permit (with owner's consent)


(minimum)


No $51.00 $53.00 4% Non-statutory


Provide Copy of Building Permit including plans (with owner's consent)


(minimum)


No $90.00 $92.00 2% Non-statutory


Post 10 Year Archival Search $150.00 $153.00 2% Non-statutory


Illegal Works/ Resolution of Works without a Permit
House/Dwelling Yes Non-statutory
Additions/Alterations Yes Non-statutory
Carports/Garages/Verandah Yes Non-statutory
Minor Alterations Yes Non-statutory


Building Miscellaneous
Private Inspections Yes $235.00 plus $0.86 


per kilometre 


travelled


$235.00 plus 


$0.86 per 


kilometre 


travelled


Non-statutory


Security Deposit for Re-erected Dwellings No $5,000.00 


maximum
$5,000.00 


maximum


Statutory


Restump Yes Non-statutory
Regulation 326(1) (2) (3) or (4) Advise (Property Information) No Statutory
Application for Demolition Consents - Section 29(A) No Statutory
Property Information No Statutory
Property Information  (over 10 years) No Statutory
Lodgement Fees ( Nil for projects under $5,000) No Statutory
Report & Consent No Statutory
BBC Levy ( All works over $10,001 +) No Statutory


Domestic Works - Outside the Shire  Not Available  Not Available 


Debt Collection
Debt collection agency lodgement fee Yes $25.00 $25.00 0% Non-statutory


Equivalent permit fee plus up to 50% 


penalty at the discretion of the 


Municipal Building Surveyor
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Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Community  Bus
Beaufort - 12 Seater Yes $78.00 $80.00 3% Non-statutory
Beaufort - 8 Seater Yes $57.00 $59.00 4% Non-statutory
Avoca - 12 Seater Yes $78.00 $80.00 3% Non-statutory
Avoca - 8 Seater Yes $56.00 $58.00 4% Non-statutory


Community Car
Avoca - travelling to Maryborough Yes $24.00 $25.00 4% Non-statutory
Avoca - travelling to Ballarat Yes $39.00 $40.00 3% Non-statutory
Avoca - travelling to Melbourne Yes $78.00 $80.00 3% Non-statutory


Community Transport 
HACC Clients - Avoca/Maryborough - flat rate Yes $15.00 $16.00 7% Non-statutory
Beaufort HACC Car - flat rate Yes $24.00 $25.00 4% Non-statutory


Fire Hazards Removal


Failure to kept property free of Fire hazards
Vacant Land - Under 1000 s.m Yes $510.00 $521.00 2% Non-statutory
Vacant Land - Under 1000 s.m to 1 Ha (10,000 s.m.) Yes $765.00 $781.00 2% Non-statutory
Vacant Land - More than 1 Ha (10,000 s.m.) to 2 Ha (20,000 s.m.) Yes $1,019.00 $1,040.00 2% Non-statutory
Vacant Land over 2 Ha & subject to size will be a minimum Yes $1,275.00 $1,301.00 2% Non-statutory
Residential sites ( with buildings) of less than 1 Ha Yes $765.00 $781.00 2% Non-statutory
Residential sites ( with buildings) of over 1 Ha & subject to size a minimum Yes $1,275.00 $1,301.00 2% Non-statutory
Commercial  and Farm sites Yes $1,275.00 $1,301.00 2% Non-statutory
Plus a Non-Compliance Infringement of - 10 Penalty Units No $1,652.20 $1,652.20 0% Statutory
Failure to comply with the conditions of a Schedule 13 permit No $1,652.20 $1,652.20 0% Statutory
Plus a Non-Compliance Fire Prevention Notice - 120 Penalty Units No $19,826.40 $19,826.40 0% Statutory
The offence of failing to comply with conditions and restrictions in a Permit 


to Light a fire issued during the Fire Danger Period is:


$0.00 $0.00 Statutory


120 Penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months or both, as determined by 


the courts


No $19,826.40 $19,826.40 0% Statutory


The offence of lighting a fire on a day of Total Fire Ban is  240 Penalty Units 


or imprisonment for 2 years or both as determined by the courts.


No $39,652.80 $39,652.80 0% Statutory


Disabled Parking Permits Yes $7.00 $7.00 0% Non-statutory


Freedom of Information
FOI Application Fee No $29.60 $29.60 0% Statutory
FOI Search & Retrieval of Document Fee


(per hour or part thereof)


No $22.20 $22.20 0% Statutory


FOI Photocopying - Black & White - A4 No $0.30 $0.30 0% Statutory
FOI Photocopying - Black & White - A3 No $0.50 $0.50 0% Statutory
FOI Photocopying - Colour - A4 No $0.50 $0.50 0% Statutory
FOI Photocopying - Colour - A3 No $0.90 $0.90 0% Statutory
FOI Supervised Inspection of documents


(per 1/4 hour or part thereof)


No $5.40 $5.40 0% Statutory


Note: A cancellation fee of 50% of the booking charge will apply for bookings cancelled within 24 hours of the booking 


Note: A cancellation fee of 50% of the booking charge will apply for bookings cancelled within 24 hours of the booking 


The rates below are for grass cutting only.  Additional charges may apply if there is significant quantities of heavy plant growth or weeds that 


cannot be cleared with a conventional mower or small slasher.  Additional charges may also apply to remove other hazardous materials not 


including vegetation.
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Food Premises & Environmental Health
Septic Tank Application Fees - Installation No $390.00 $410.00 5% Non-statutory
Septic Tank Application Fees - Alteration No $195.00 $205.00 5% Non-statutory


Septic Tank Application Fees - Alter an existing Permit to Install No $50.00 $53.00 6% Non-statutory


Septic Tank Application Fees - Extension of Time existing permit No $50.00 $53.00 6% Non-statutory


Septic Tank Inspection Fees - Additional Inspection requested for 


installation


No $50.00 $53.00 6% Non-statutory


Septic Tank Inspection Fees - Requested Inspection and Report No $215.25 $227.00 5% Non-statutory


Septic Plan Search / Archive recovery


Septic Tank Infringement Fines


Food Act, 1984
Food premises & Food vehicles


Premises selling food by retail in sealed packages only NIL NIL
Renewal of Premises
Class 1 No $370.00 $389.00 5% Non-statutory
Class 2 - Supermarkets No $400.00 $420.00 5% Non-statutory
Class 2 - Others1 No $320.00 $336.00 5% Non-statutory
Class 3 No $233.00 $245.00 5% Non-statutory
Community Groups No $120.00 $126.00 5% Non-statutory


New Premises - 150% of Renewal Fee
Transfer premises  - 50% of Renewal Fee


Mobile and Temporary Food Premises (Streatrader)
Class 2 Mobile Food Premises No $320.00 $336.00 5% Non-statutory
Class 3 Mobile Food Premises No $233.00 $245.00 5% Non-statutory
Class 2 Temporary Food Premises No $160.00 $168.00 5% Non-statutory
Class 3 Temporary Food Premises No $116.50 $123.00 6% Non-statutory
Class 2 or Class 3 Mobile Food Premises (Community Groups) No $120.00 $126.00 5% Non-statutory
Class 2 or Class 3 Temporary Food Premises (Community Groups) No $60.00 $63.00 5% Non-statutory
Dual Registration - Food Premises with another Fixed/Mobile/Temporary 


Food Registration - registration fee for each extra registration


No $90.00 $95.00 6% Non-statutory


Dual Registration - Community Group  Food Premises with 


Streatrader/Temporary Food Registration


No $45.00 $48.00 7% Non-statutory


Inspection and Report No $215.00 $226.00 5% Non-statutory


Inspection of Temporary/Itinerant Premises No NIL NIL Non-statutory


Public Health & Wellbeing Act
Premises required to be registered Pursuant to Section 366c of the Health 


Act. (Hairdressers, Ear-Piercing, Tattooists)


Prescribed Accommodation Houses ( Premises which are able to be or are 


currently registered under both the Health Act and Food Act, e.g. Hotel, only 


one registration fee to apply)
Renewal of registration No $210.00 $221.00 5% Non-statutory
New Premises - 150% of Renewal Fee


Transfer Premises - 50% of Renewal Fee
Premises with another Registration (Food &/or Accom &/or Health) - 


registration fee for each extra registration


No $87.00 $92.00 6% Non-statutory
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PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL Budget - 2020/21


6. Schedule of fees and user charges


2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status
Caravan Parks & Moveable Dwellings Act


Fees are fixed by legislation No Statutory


Transfer of Premises - fee units No $74.05 $74.05 0% Statutory


Pyreness Shire Community Care


Brokerage


Home Environment Safety Check 


(if not provided by agency. Must be updated Annually) - Per Check


Yes New $63.80 New Non-statutory


In Home Services
Domestic Assistance/Respite Care/Personal Care  - Core Hours - Per Hour Yes $51.00 $63.80 25% Non-statutory


Domestic Assistance/Respite Care/Personal Care  - After Hours  - Per Hour Yes $73.00 $127.60 75% Non-statutory


Social Support Services
Community Meal - Per Meal Yes New $30.80 New Non-statutory
Social Support Group – Short Day - Per Session Yes $48.00 $60.50 26% Non-statutory
Social Support Group – Long Day - Per Session (Lunch included) Yes $48.00 $88.00 83% Non-statutory


Transportation
Transport - Per Hour Yes New $63.80 New Non-statutory
Travel - Per Kilometre Yes $1.15 $1.49 29% Non-statutory


Staff Travel Fee
Travel - Per Kilometre Yes $1.15 $1.49 29% Non-statutory


Meal Services
Full Meal - Per Unit Yes $12.80 $13.75 7% Non-statutory
Soup - Per Unit Yes New $1.65 New Non-statutory
Main - Per Unit Yes New $9.35 New Non-statutory
Dessert - Per Unit Yes New $2.75 New Non-statutory
Light meal (Soup, sandwich and dessert) - Per Unit Yes New $8.80 New Non-statutory
Delivery Fee for Frozen Meals (if outside of scheduled service delivery) - Per 


Delivery


Yes New $11.00 New Non-statutory


Commonwealth Home Support Program/State Home and Community Care Program
Income Tested - Low
CHSP/HACC - Domestic Assistance - 7am-7pm - per hour No $6.45 $7.10 10% Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - 7am - 7pm - per hour No $4.80 $5.70 19% Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $6.60 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $10.50 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - 7am - 7pm - per hour No $3.20 $4.00 25% Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $5.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $8.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - 7am - 7pm - per hour No New $4.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $5.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $8.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Home Maintenance - per hour No New $25.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Centre-Based Social Support Group Short Day* No $8.20 $9.50 16% Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Centre-Based Social Support Group Long Day* No $8.20 $14.50 77% Non-statutory
Community-Based Social Support Group* No $8.20 $9.50 16% Non-statutory
*Excludes costs incurred on outings


Income Tested - Medium


3 year registration based on fee units 


set by State Govt. 
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6. Schedule of fees and user charges


2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status
CHSP/HACC - Domestic Assistance - 7am-7pm - per hour No New $12.90 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - 7am - 7pm - per hour No New $11.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $15.60 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $16.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - 7am - 7pm - per hour No New $6.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $7.50 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $10.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - 7am - 7pm - per hour No New $6.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $7.50 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $10.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Home Maintenance - per hour No New $35.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Centre-Based Social Support Group Short Day* No New $14.50 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Centre-Based Social Support Group Long Day* No New $19.00 New Non-statutory
Community-Based Social Support Group* No New $14.50 New Non-statutory
*Excludes costs incurred on outings


Income Tested - High
CHSP/HACC - Domestic Assistance - 7am-7pm - per hour No New $55.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - 7am - 7pm - per hour No New $55.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $75.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Personal Care - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $105.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - 7am - 7pm - per hour No New $50.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $65.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Respite Care - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $95.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - 7am - 7pm - per hour No New $50.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - 7pm - 7am - per hour No New $65.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Transport Services - Sat, Sun & PH - per hour No New $95.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Home Maintenance - per hour No New $70.00 New Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC - Centre-Based Social Support Group Short Day* No New $55.00 New Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Centre-Based Social Support Group Long Day* No New $60.00 New Non-statutory
Community-Based Social Support Group* No New $55.00 New Non-statutory
*Excludes costs incurred on outings


Non- Income Tested CHSP/HACC services
CHSP/HACC - Home Maintenance - per hour No Non-statutory
CHSP/HACC - Good & Assistive Technology - (OT approved) No Non-statutory


CHSP/HACC Meal Services
Full Meal - Per Unit Yes $9.50 $10.00 New Non-statutory
Soup - Per Unit Yes New $0.80 New Non-statutory
Main - Per Unit Yes New $7.50 New Non-statutory
Dessert - Per Unit Yes New $1.70 New Non-statutory
Light meal (Soup, sandwich and dessert) - Per Unit Yes New $7.00 New Non-statutory
Delivery Fee for Frozen Meals (if outside of scheduled service delivery) - Per 


Delivery


Yes New $11.00 New Non-statutory


Monthly Community Meal Yes New $10.00 New Non-statutory


FDC Educator Fee
Session Hire of Avoca Facility Yes $12.30 $12.60 2% Non-statutory


Land Information Certificate - Express
Immediate turnaround (<24 hours)


(Charge in addition to statutory certificate fee)


Yes $61.50 $63.00 2% Non-statutory


Land Information Certificate Charge No $26.95 $26.95 0% Statutory


Maximum contribution 50% of quote price 


(upon application)
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6. Schedule of fees and user charges


2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Library Services - (Beaufort & Avoca)
Fines - per day/per item up to $5.00 maximum Yes $0.30 $0.40 33% Non-statutory
Holds - maximum 30 per person per year Yes Free Free Non-statutory
Library Card replacements Yes $2.10 $2.20 5% Non-statutory
Lost or damaged items plus Processing fee Yes Non-statutory
Processing fee Yes $6.60 $6.80 3% Non-statutory
Inter Library Loans - Public Library Yes $3.10 $3.20 3% Non-statutory
Inter Library Loans - University  or National Libraries Yes $18.90 $19.30 2% Non-statutory
Debt collection charge Yes $15.40 $15.80 3% Non-statutory
Private Book Club - per club per year Yes $150.00 $153.00 2% Non-statutory
Library Book Club  - per person per year Yes $48.00 $49.00 2% Non-statutory
Book sales - prices upwards from Yes $0.50 $0.50 0% Non-statutory


Planning
Regulation 6 - Fees for amendments to planning schemes
6(1) Considering request & taking specified actions No $3,050.86 $3,050.86 0% Statutory


6(2) Considering submissions No  $15,121.01 - 


$40,386.87 
 $15,121.01 - 


$40,386.87 


Statutory


6(3) Adopting amendment No $481.30 $481.30 0% Statutory
6(4) Approving amendment No $481.30 $481.30 0% Statutory


Regulation 7 - Applications for permits under sect 47
Class 1 - Use only No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory


Class 2 - Develop of use Dwelling >$10,000 No $199.90 $199.90 0% Statutory
Class 3 - Develop of use Dwelling between $10,000 -$100,000 No $629.40 $629.40 0% Statutory
Class 4 - Development between $100,000 - $500,000 No $1,288.50 $1,288.50 0% Statutory
Class 5 - Development between $500,000 - $1,000,000 No $1,392.10 $1,392.10 0% Statutory
Class 6 - Development between $1,000,000- $2,000,000 No $1,495.80 $1,495.80 0% Statutory
Class 7 - VicSmart Develop of use Dwelling >$10,000 No $199.90 $199.90 0% Statutory
Class 8 - VicSmart Development more than $10,000 No $429.50 $429.50 0% Statutory
Class 9 - VicSmart to subdivide No $199.90 $199.90 0% Statutory
Class 10 - VicSmart other than class 7, 8 or 9 No $199.90 $199.90 0% Statutory
Class 11 - Develop land less than $100,000 No $1,147.80 $1,147.80 0% Statutory
Class 12 - Develop land $100,000 - $1,000,000 No $1,547.60 $1,547.60 0% Statutory
Class 13 -  Develop land $1,000,000 - $5,000,000 No $3,413.70 $3,413.70 0% Statutory
Class 14 - Develop land $5,000,000 - $15,000,000 No $8,700.90 $8,700.90 0% Statutory
Class 15 - Develop land $15,000,000 - $50,000,000 No $25,658.30 $25,658.30 0% Statutory
Class 16 - Develop land over - $50,000,000 No $57,670.10 $57,670.10 0% Statutory
Class 17 - To subdivide an existing building No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 18 - To subdivide land into two lots No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 19 - to effect a realignment of common boundaries No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 20 - To subdivide land other than class 9,16,17 or 18 No $1286.10 per 100 


lots created
$1286.10 per 100 


lots created


Statutory


Class 21 - to create vary or remove a restriction No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 22 - permit not otherwise provided for No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory


Amendments to permits under section 72 (Regulation 11) 
Class 1 - Amendment to a permit to change the use of the land allowed by 


the permit or allow a new use of land


No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory


Class 2 - Amendment to a permit (other than a permit to develop land for a 


single dwelling per lot or to use and develop land for a single dwelling per lot 


or to undertake development ancillary to the use of land for a single dwelling 


per lot) to change the statement of what the permit allows or to change any 


or all of the conditions which apply to the permit 


No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory


Cost of replacement
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2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status
Class 3 - Amendment to a class 2,3,4,5 or 6 permit if the cost of additional 


development is $10,000 or less


No $199.90 $199.90 0% Statutory


Class 4 - Amendment to a class 2,3,4,5 or 6 permit if the cost of additional 


development is between $10,000 and $100,000


No $629.40 $629.40 0% Statutory


Class 5 -Amendment to a class 2,3,4,5 or 6 permit if the cost of additional 


development is between $100,000 and $500,000


No $1,288.50 $1,288.50 0% Statutory


Class 6 - Amendment to a class 2,3,4,5 or 6 permit if the cost of additional 


development is more than $500,000


No $1,392.10 $1,392.10 0% Statutory


Class 7 - Amendment to a permit that is subject to a VicSmart application if 


the estimated cost is $10,000 or less


No $199.90 $199.90 0% Statutory


Class 8 - Amendment to a permit that is subject to a VicSmart application if 


the estimated cost is more than $10,000


No $429.50 $429.50 0% Statutory


Class 9 - Amendment to a class 9 permit No $199.90 $199.90 0% Statutory
Class 10 - Amendment to a class 10 permit No $199.90 $199.90 0% Statutory
Class 11 - Amendment to a class 11,12,13,14,15 or 16 permit if the cost of 


additional development is $100,000 or less


No $1,147.80 $1,147.80 0% Statutory


Class 12 - Amendment to a class 11,12,13,14,15 or 16 permit if the cost of 


additional development is more than $100,000 but not more than 


$1,000,000


No $1,547.60 $1,547.60 0% Statutory


Class 13 - Amendment to a class 11,12,13,14,15 or 16 permit if the cost of 


additional development is more than 1,000,000


No $3,413.70 $3,413.70 0% Statutory


Class 14 - Amendment to a class 17 permit No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 15 - Amendment to a class 18 permit No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 16 - Amendment to a class 19 permit No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 17 - Amendment to a class 20 permit No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 18 - Amendment to a class 21 permit No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory
Class 19 - Amendment to a class 22 permit No $1,318.10 $1,318.10 0% Statutory


Non Statutory Planning Fee Schedule 
Notices in local Newspapers Yes As Quoted As Quoted


A3 Notice Boards on site Yes $130.00 $133.00 2% Non-statutory
Letters to adjoining owners/occupiers Yes $5.00 $5.10 2% Non-statutory
Written Planning Advice Yes $130.00 $133.00 2% Non-statutory
Copies of Planning permits and plans Yes $175.00 $179.00 2% Non-statutory


First request for extension of time(under S.69of the P&E Act) Yes $175.00 $179.00 2% Non-statutory
Second request for extension of time(under S.69of the P&E Act) Yes $260.00 $266.00 2% Non-statutory
Subsequent requests for extension of time(under S.69of the P&E Act) Yes $385.00 $393.00 2% Non-statutory
Secondary Consent Amendment Yes $175.00 $179.00 2% Non-statutory
Certificate of Title Search Yes $98.00 $100.00 2% Non-statutory


Photocopying
A4 per copy - Black & White Yes $0.30 $0.40 33% Non-statutory
A4 per copy - Colour Yes $0.50 $0.60 20% Non-statutory


A3 per copy - Black & White Yes $0.50 $0.60 20% Non-statutory
A3 per copy - Colour Yes $0.90 $1.00 11% Non-statutory


Community Groups


A4 per copy - Black & White Yes $0.20 $0.30 50% Non-statutory
A4 per copy - Colour Yes $0.40 $0.50 25% Non-statutory
A3 per copy - Black & White Yes $0.30 $0.40 33% Non-statutory
A3 per copy - Colour Yes $0.70 $0.80 14% Non-statutory


Faxing/Emailing/Scanning
Fax sending - first page Yes $2.30 $2.40 4% Non-statutory
Fax sending - additional pages Yes $1.20 $1.30 8% Non-statutory
Fax receiving - per page Yes $0.30 $0.40 33% Non-statutory
Email/Scan - cost of confirmation report printout Yes $2.30 $2.40 4% Non-statutory
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Decrease
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Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Private Works Yes Cost of Job + 45% 


+ GST
Cost of Job + 45% 


+ GST


Rates Searches Yes $61.50 $63.00 2% Non-statutory


Tender Documents
Hard Copy Yes $61.00 $63.00 3% Non-statutory
Electronic sent in PDF form on disk Yes $36.00 $37.00 3% Non-statutory
Electronic download from Tenderlink Yes $25.00 $26.00 4% Non-statutory


Texts/Books
Flowers of the fields Yes $16.50 $17.00 3% Non-statutory
Images of the Ripon Shire Yes $16.50 $17.00 3% Non-statutory
Valley of Finest Description Yes $27.50 $29.00 5% Non-statutory


Road Opening Permit Yes


On a road with a speed limit of more than 50Kmh


Minor works conducted by a utility or public transport provider, or a 


responsible road authority - traffic impact works conducted on any part of the 


roadway, pathway or shoulder


No $137.73 $137.73 0% Statutory


Minor works conducted by a utility or public transport provider, or a 


responsible road authority - traffic impact works NOT conducted on any part 


of the roadway, pathway or shoulder


No $88.86 $88.86 0% Statutory


Works other than Minor works conducted by a utility or public transport 


provider, or a responsible road authority - traffic impact works conducted on 


any part of the roadway, pathway or shoulder


No $638.31 $638.31 0% Statutory


Works other than Minor works conducted by a utility or public transport 


provider, or a responsible road authority - traffic impact works NOT 


conducted on any part of the roadway, pathway or shoulder


No $348.04 $348.04 0% Statutory


On a road with a speed limit of NOT more than 50Kmh


Minor works conducted by a utility or public transport provider, or a 


responsible road authority - traffic impact works conducted on any part of the 


roadway, pathway or shoulder


No $137.73 $137.73 0% Statutory


Minor works conducted by a utility or public transport provider, or a 


responsible road authority - traffic impact works NOT conducted on any part 


of the roadway, pathway or shoulder


No $88.86 $88.86 0% Statutory


Works other than Minor works conducted by a utility or public transport 


provider, or a responsible road authority - traffic impact works conducted on 


any part of the roadway, pathway or shoulder


No $348.04 $348.04 0% Statutory


Works other than Minor works conducted by a utility or public transport 


provider, or a responsible road authority - traffic impact works NOT 


conducted on any part of the roadway, pathway or shoulder


No $88.86 $88.86 0% Statutory


Building information required under Building Regs 51(1), 51(2) or 51(3) No $47.24 $47.24 0% Statutory


Legal point of discharge - Building Regs 133 (2) No $144.69 $144.69 0% Statutory
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2019/20 


Fee Inc GST


2020/21


Fee Inc GST


Fee 


Increase / 


Decrease


Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's 


policy or legislation.


Basis of Fee


Description of Fees and Charges
GST 


Status


Waste 


Transfer Station Fees ( Beaufort, Avoca, Landsborough & Snake Valley)


Car/Boot Load (1/2m3 max) Yes $15.40 $29.25 90%
Utility or 6x4 Trailer (1.0m3 max) Yes $32.00 $58.50 83%
Small Truck or Tandem Trailers (2.0m3 max) Yes $62.00 $117.00 89%
Approved Greenwaste (separated) (1.0m3 max) Yes $16.00 $27.50 72%
Approved kerbside recyclables Yes No Charge No Charge


Tyres
Car Yes $11.00 $11.00 0%
Truck Yes $36.00 $66.80 86%
Tractor Yes $72.00 $75.00 4%
Rims Only Yes No Charge No Charge


Other
Oil (waste automotive oil domestic quantities only - maximum 20 litres) Yes $5.00 $6.00 20%
Single mattresses Yes $25.00 $30.00 20%
Larger than single mattress Yes $30.00 $40.00 33%
Bed base Yes $15.00 $20.00 33%
Other recyclables (mixed/commingled): Cans, cardboard, glass bottles, drink 


cartons, paper, milk cartons, plastics numbered 1-7


Yes $5.00 - $10.00


(240L bin - max 


3.0m3)


$5.00 - $10.00


(240L bin - max 


3.0m3)


E-waste
Irons, toasters etc Yes $5.00 $5.00 0%
TV's, DVD's, PC's, Printers Yes $10.00 $10.00 0%
Refrigerators & Freezers (White goods) Yes $20.00 $20.00 0%
Batteries, Scrap Steel, Car Bodies. Yes No Charge No Charge


Residents/Ratepayers are entitled to free disposal of domestic quantities of waste at transfer stations. Subject to the conditions:


• limited to one free of charge trip to the transfer station per residents/ratepayers per day;


• up to one 6x4 trailer or ute load free of charge; and


• Residents/Ratepayers will need to supply either a rate notice or driver’s licence at gate to dump for free


The below charges apply to non-residents/non-ratepayers or for comercial quantities of wate
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Community and Capital Grant Applications – Round 2 2019/20 
COMMUNITY GRANTS  


Applicant Township Project Detail Grant 
Requested 


Assessment Comments Recommendation 


Lexton Landcare Group Lexton Funding to provide landholders with a 
50/50 subsidy for weed control on 
property boundaries 


Asset protection – compliments other 
works in areas 


$1,000 26.75 score. 


Good rural project but lacked 
clarification. 


Consider what alternate funding could 
be used to develop this project. 


No 


Carngham Recreation 
Reserve 


Carngham Installation of additional outdoor bench 
seating for football oval and netball 
court. 


$1,500 43.0 score. 


$1,500 funding was received for this 
in Round 1 2019/20. 


Recommended for them to consider 
future funding applications for whole 
seating requirements. 


No 


Waubra Recreation 
Reserve S86 


Waubra Installation of a fit-for-purpose 80 litre 
electric hot water unit for use of the pre-
school – who use less water than needed 
for the current commercial scale system. 


$1,000 28.25 score. 


Good project but lacking in detail to 
justify need.   


Can see the benefit.  Would be 
benefiting a Council asset.   


Yes 


Beaufort Community 
House & Learning 
Centre 


Beaufort Publication of a collection of recipes and 
illustrations from grandparents and 
grandchildren engaging together to 
create their favourite foods. 


$1,500 47.5 score. 


Worthwhile project with avenues for 
community engagement and 
inclusion. 


Intergenerational project. 


Further 
information to be 
sought on why 
funding is 
required 


Beaufort Pyrenees Food 
Pantry 


Beaufort Purchase of new refrigerator to meet 
growth in emergency relief requirements 
and increase community availability. 


$1,376 37.5 score. 


Upgrade beneficial as a community 
service and meeting increased need 
during COVID-19. 


Lacking in some detail. 


Yes 







COMMUNITY GRANTS  


Applicant Township Project Detail Grant 
Requested 


Assessment Comments Recommendation 


Eureka Community 
Kindergarten 


Beaufort Purchase prefabricated storage shed for 
outdoor resources when not in use. 


$1,105 41.0 score. 


Does not need building permit. 


Upgrade to facility would benefit 
users. 


Yes 


Raglan Recreation 
Reserve 


Raglan Installation of an instantaneous gas hot 
water unit for the showers. 


$1,186 45.0 score. 


Upgrade would benefit community 
use of venue. 


Yes 


Avoca Cricket Club Avoca Upgrade unsafe practice cricket wickets 
(greens) to prevent closure. 


$1,500 46.0 score. 


Would benefit community use of 
venue. 


 


Yes 


TOTAL GRANTS REQUESTED $10,167 TOTAL GRANTS RECOMMENDED $7,667 
 


COMMUNITY GRANTS - EVENTS  


Applicant Township Project Detail Grant 
Requested 


Assessment Comments Recommendation 


Avoca Friends of the 
Pool 


Avoca Hold a Blue Light Disco in conjunction 
with local police. 


Strengthen youth club connection and 
use of the pool. 


$600 38.5 score. 


Good project.  Would like to check 
lighting and safety of pool after dark. 


Worthwhile for youth. 


Yes - $600 


Avoca Chinese Garden Avoca Asking for Trouble event – celebrate 6th 
anniversary of the garden – key aim to 
bring the community together following 
social distancing. 


$750 24.5 score. 


Application lacks substance but 
further consultation recommended. 


Inaugural event with potential as 
something different. 


Social community inclusion key focus. 


Yes - $750 


 


Casablanca Movie Club Avoca Seniors Week Movie Festival & old-time 
dance 


$750 41.25 score. Yes - $750 







COMMUNITY GRANTS - EVENTS  


Applicant Township Project Detail Grant 
Requested 


Assessment Comments Recommendation 


Valuable community event for 
seniors. 


Beaufort Municipal 
Band 


Beaufort Beaufort Brass in the Rotunda – perform 
six concerts once a month on Saturdays. 


$1,500 Incorrect form used.  Maximum grant 
available $750. 


33.5 score. 


Although incorrect form, believe a 
worthwhile community event. 


Yes - $750 


TOTAL GRANTS REQUESTED $3,600 TOTAL GRANTS RECOMMENDED $2,850 
 


COMMUNITY CAPITAL GRANTS  


Applicant Township Project Detail Grant 
Requested 


Assessment Comments Recommendation 


Central Grampians LLEN Pyrenees Support the L2P learner driver program 
in the Pyrenees.  Intend to relocate the 
L2P vehicle at the Beaufort Secondary 
College to increase visibility of the 
program, but for all youth of Pyrenees 
Shire. 


Car leases, insurance, L2P coordinator, 
fuel, maintenance – ongoing expenses. 


$5,000 85.5 score. 


Valuable project, proven track record 
in project delivery, needs to be made 
accessible across the Shire and not 
just Beaufort. 


Funding application, however, is for 
ongoing costs which are not usually 
accepted for grants approvals. 


No, but consider 
for alternate 
funding 
opportunities 


Lake Goldsmith Steam 
Preservation Assoc. 


Lake 
Goldsmith 


Replace electrical cabling for lights at 
Rally Arena – to carry power from new 
generator to existing light poles and 
enable night use. 


$5,000 73.5 score. 


Develop event opportunities and 
increase tourism.  Budget not quite 
right. 


Yes 


Beaufort Veggie Patch Beaufort Auspiced by the Beaufort Progress 
Association – purchase 4 additional 
raised timber veggie boxes for growing 
member numbers. 


$1,892 85.5 score. 


Good project.  Could be developed 
quickly and expanded in future. 


Yes 







COMMUNITY CAPITAL GRANTS  


Applicant Township Project Detail Grant 
Requested 


Assessment Comments Recommendation 


Beaufort Progress 
Association 


Beaufort Steel security gates for new co-working 
space and Indigenous gardens in Neill 
Street. 


$4,400 78.0 score. 


Will provide additional security to 
community area. 


Further 
information 
required 


Moonambel Arts & 
History Group 


Moonambel Stage 4 of Moonambel Heritage Policy 
Precinct – Installation of Wire Children. 


$4,000 75.5 score. 


Will increase development of the 
community area. 


Yes 


Avoca Community Arts 
& Gardens 


Avoca Lighting Avoca Avenue of Honour and 
Place of Contemplation. 


$1,500 75.75 score. 


Will further develop the area and 
provide greater security. 


Additional 
funding request 
for same group – 
Determine 
priority 


Avoca Community Arts 
& Gardens 


Avoca Sound and lighting for Avoca Silo 
Projection Project – overhead lighting 
for the event audiences.  Sounds 
systems are now required separately. 


$5,000 79.0 score. 


Project will further develop the area 
and provide greater security. 


Additional 
funding request 
for same group – 
Determine 
priority 


Moonambel Events Moonambel Solar system upgrade at Moonambel 
Pavilion (on behalf of Moonambel Rec 
Reserve) to reduce costs. 


$5,000 76.25 score. 


Development and cost saving 
opportunity.  Greater sustainability. 


Yes – subject to 
alternate funding 
availability 


Amphitheatre 
Mechanics Institute 


Amphitheatre Upgrade of hall toilet facilities. $5,000 25.50 score. 


Application received late without 
requesting an extension.  Wrong 
form, no quotes, no contribution, no 
budget.  Ineligible application. 


No 


Waubra Bowling Club Waubra Restoration of carpet edging around 
bowls green. 


$3,250 68.5 score. 


Application not strong but will 
develop club facilities. 


Yes 







COMMUNITY CAPITAL GRANTS  


Applicant Township Project Detail Grant 
Requested 


Assessment Comments Recommendation 


Avoca Country Golf 
Bowling Club 


Avoca Energy saving project – to replace 
refrigeration motor and replace lighting 
with LEDs. 


$4,350 88.5 score. 


Will upgrade club facilities for greater 
sustainability and cost savings.  


Yes 


TOTAL GRANTS REQUESTED $44,392 TOTAL GRANTS RECOMMENDED $ 


 





